
1 – Silverton City Council May 20, 2024 
 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION & REGULAR MEETING      
Monday, May 20, 2024 – 6:30 PM  

Council Chambers – 421 South Water Street and Zoom  

Americans with Disabilities Act – The City of Silverton intends to comply with the A.D.A. The meeting location 
is accessible to individuals needing special accommodations such as a sign language interpreter, headphones, 
or other special accommodations for the hearing impaired. To participate, please contact the City at 503-
874-2204 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

A copy of the full packet is available on the City’s website at https://silverton.or.us/meetings. In accordance 
with House Bill 2560 and City of Silverton Resolution 22-06, the meeting will be held in a hybrid format: in 
person, and electronically using the Zoom web conference platform. Please submit written comments to 
publiccomment@silverton.or.us by 3:00 PM on Monday, May 20, 2024. Comments received will be shared 
with the City Council and included in the record. If you wish to participate through the Zoom web conference 
platform, see meeting information below.   

 
Zoom meeting link: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84746513800 
 

Or Telephone: 
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 

Webinar ID: 847 4651 3800 
 

 
AGENDA 

6:30 PM WORK SESSION 
 

1. OPENING CEREMONIES – Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance, and Roll Call 
 

2. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

       2.1 Presentation by Republic Services, Sustainability in Action, Rate Adjustment Request 
  - Cindy Rogers, Municipal Relationship Manager for Republic Services 
 

2.2 Affordable Housing Presentations – Jason Gottgetreu, Community Development        
Director 

 
7:30 PM REGULAR MEETING  
 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENT – This is a business meeting of the City Council. The City values and 
welcomes public input. Please address the Council as a whole and not individual Council Members.  
Do not address staff or members of the audience. Council action on items brought up in Public 
Comment is limited by the Oregon Open Meeting Law. The Council may direct staff to study the 
matter and reschedule it for further consideration later. Items on the agenda will not be heard or 
discussed during Public Comment but will be accepted at that place on the agenda. Individuals are 

https://silverton.or.us/meetings
mailto:publiccomment@silverton.or.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84746513800


2 – Silverton City Council May 20, 2024 
 

limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
       4.1 Resolution 24-08 Authorizing Signers on City Bank Accounts – Kathleen Zaragoza, 

Finance Director/Deputy City Manager 
 
5. ACTION ITEMS 

 
5.1 Ordinance 24-07 An Ordinance Allowing the City of Silverton to Implement 20 MPH 

Speed Zones in Select Areas – Cory Misley, City Manager 
 

5.2 Authorize City Manager to Enter into Contract with Buildskape in the Amount of 
$258,500 for Construction and Renovation Services on the Senior Center Subject to 
Legal Revisions – Mike Dahlberg, Public Works Operations Manager 
 

5.3 Authorize City Manager to Enter into Contract with R.L. Reimers in the Amount of 
$195,765 to Replace the Head Works Bar Screen Subject to Legal Revisions – Travis 
Sperle, Public Works Director 
 

5.4 Employee Handbook Updates – Tammy Shaver, Human Resources Manager and Cory 
Misley, City Manager 

 
5.5 City Hall Construction and Opening Celebration Event Update – Cory Misley, City 

Manager 
 
6. CITY MANAGER UPDATE 

7. COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS 

8. ADJOURNMENT 



Silverton
Sustainability in Action

Cindy Rogers
Municipal Relationship Manager



Oregon’s Franchise System 

2

Franchises benefits:
ORS 459 grants service and reporting authority to Oregon Cities.

An increase in operational efficiency leading to a decrease in truck noise, street wear, 
energy waste, air pollution and public inconvenience.

Operational efficiencies help to keep the rates lower.

We help Silverton to meet DEQ’s mandated Opportunity to Recycle requirements and 
annual reporting.

Cities have an additional source of revenue, through a franchise fee. 

- Silverton’s franchise fee is 7% on gross receipts (not revenue).

Provides incentive for investment in solid waste equipment, facilities, sites and 
technology by the hauler.



2023 Silverton Service Facts

3

Republic Services has 14 drivers 
servicing your city.

Drivers are at the curbs of 3,209 homes 
12x each month (3 trucks each week). 

Approximately 385,080 carts were 
picked up last year.



Additional Silverton Community Support

4

State Opportunity to Recycle Program Compliance Assistance  

Annual support of Silverton’s Christmas Market, Fine Art Festival and 
Arts Association, Pet Parade, Homer Davenport Days, Fire 
Department’s Mothers Day Breakfast, and Christmas Tree Lighting

All Abilities Park Project Service and Disposal 

Silverton High School Career Day & Mock Interviews Events



2023 Silverton Customer Counts

5

   3,209 Single-family Customers (Not including on-call)

          34 Multi-family Customers

        211 Commercial Customers

     1,111 Industrial Hauls (Drop-boxes and Compactors) 



6

2023 Residential Customers

Residential Container Counts 

20 Gallon Cart 401 (12% of customer base)

35 Gallon Cart 1,272 (40% of customer base)

65 Gallon Cart 919 (29% of customer base)

95 Gallon Cart 617 (19% of customer base) 



7

10% Return on Revenue Target

The Solid Waste Industry target and Silverton Franchise goal are both 10%, no less than 8% nor greater than 12%. 
Does the hauling company really retain the full 10% margin? The answer is no. Before the profit can be returned to 
the owners, the following need to be distributed.

An average of 3-4% of the margin is paid in local, state, and federal taxes. Most taxing authorities, tax the profits of 
the business while some tax the personal property. These taxes are not included as an allowable expense when 
calculating the operating margin by the local jurisdiction.

An average of 3-4% is allocated to reserves used to run the day-to-day activities of the business. Every well-run 
business needs adequate cash reserves to meet payroll and daily operational expenses, vehicle maintenance, 
disposal costs, and capital investments.  

Remaining portions are then dispersed as dividends or distributions, which is then again taxed as income.



8

Cumulative Price Adjustments and WST Index
(Years 2012 - 2023) 

Silverton’s Last 
rate increase 
was effective 

January 1, 2021



Annual Review*

Financials 2022 2023 2024 2025

Revenue 2,387,973$           2,439,752$           2,451,951$           2,464,210$           

Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               171,637$               172,495$               

Cost of Operations 1,901,307$           2,062,350$           2,130,544$           2,191,537$           

Gross Profit 321,088$               209,695$               149,770$               100,178$               

Sales, General and Administrative 269,021$               304,912$               318,358$               327,909$               

Operating Income 52,067$                 (95,217)$                (168,588)$             (227,731)$             

Op Income as a % of Revenue 2.2% -3.9% -6.9% -9.2%

Income Taxes 19,432$                 -$                       -$                       -$                       

Net Income 32,636$                 (95,217)$                (168,588)$             (227,731)$             

Net Income as a % of Revenue 1.4% -3.9% -6.9% -9.2%

Actuals Forecast

9

Statement of Income
(without requested adjustment) 

*Marion County annual review process concludes each October.



10

Table of Expenses
(without requested adjustment) 

*Marion County annual review process concludes each October.

Actuals Annual Review

4Y Financial  2022 2023 2024 2025

Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               171,637$               172,495$               
Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               171,637$               172,495$               

Disposal & Recycle 826,582$               1,001,749$           1,021,784$           1,052,438$           
Labor 566,328$               553,371$               581,039$               598,471$               
Truck & Equipment Expense 420,456$               415,203$               431,092$               441,101$               
Other Direct Expense 87,942$                 92,027$                 96,628$                 99,527$                 
Cost of Operations 1,901,307$           2,062,350$           2,130,544$           2,191,537$           

Management & Administrative Expense 189,458$               214,914$               225,660$               232,430$               
Other Overhead Expenses 79,563$                 89,998$                 92,698$                 95,479$                 
Sales, General, and Administrative 269,021$               304,912$               318,358$               327,909$               

Sales, General and Administrative

Cost of Operations

Pass Through Expenses

Forecast



11

Where does my monthly payment go?
(Based on 2023 figures for a 35-gallon customer’s monthly rate: $32.01) 



12

Rate Adjustment Options

Option 1: Requested August 1, 2024, rate adjustment of 23%. This helps to level set Silverton’s 

rates and allow for smaller annual adjustments based upon the Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

Resetting the adjustment process and the next adjustment would take effect January 1, 2026.   

NEW Addition – Republic will add two annual bulky waste day events, starting in 2024. 

Option 2: Stairstep adjustment to level set Silverton’s rates with an August 2024 adjustment of 

11.5% and a February 2025 adjustment of 11.5%. 

NEW Addition – Republic will add two annual bulky waste day events, starting in 2025.

Silverton’s last adjustment was effective January 1, 2021



13

Statement of Income
(with Option 1 - 23% Effective August 1st, 2024) 

Financials 2022 2024 2025

Revenue 2,387,973$           2,439,752$           2,686,929$           3,030,979$           

Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               188,085$               212,169$               

Cost of Operations 1,901,307$           2,062,350$           2,130,544$           2,191,537$           

Gross Profit 321,088$               209,695$               368,300$               627,273$               

Sales, General and Administrative 269,021$               304,912$               318,358$               327,909$               

Operating Income 52,067$                 (95,217)$                49,942$                 299,364$               

Op Income as a % of Revenue 2.2% -3.9% 1.9% 9.9%

Income Taxes 19,432$                 -$                       18,638$                 111,723$               

Net Income 32,636$                 (95,217)$                31,304$                 187,641$               

Net Income as a % of Revenue 1.4% -3.9% 1.2% 6.2%

Actuals ForecastAnnual Review*

2023



Financials 2022 2024 2025

Revenue 2,387,973$           2,439,752$           2,569,440$           3,037,237$           

Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               179,861$               212,607$               

Cost of Operations 1,901,307$           2,062,350$           2,130,544$           2,191,537$           

Gross Profit 321,088$               209,695$               259,035$               633,093$               

Sales, General and Administrative 269,021$               304,912$               318,358$               327,909$               

Operating Income 52,067$                 (95,217)$                (59,323)$                305,184$               

Op Income as a % of Revenue 2.2% -3.9% -2.3% 10.0%

Income Taxes 19,432$                 -$                       -$                       113,895$               

Net Income 32,636$                 (95,217)$                (59,323)$                191,289$               

Net Income as a % of Revenue 1.4% -3.9% -2.3% 6.3%

Forecast

2023

Actuals Annual Review*

Financials 2022 2024 2025

Revenue 2,387,973$            2,439,752$           2,569,440$            3,037,237$            

Franchise Fees 165,578$               167,706$               179,861$               212,607$               

Cost of Operations 1,901,307$            2,062,350$           2,130,544$            2,191,537$            

Gross Profit 321,088$               209,695$               259,035$               633,093$               

Sales, General and Administrative 269,021$               304,912$               318,358$               327,909$               

Operating Income 52,067$                 (95,217)$                (59,323)$                305,184$               

Op Income as a % of Revenue 2.2% -3.9% -2.3% 10.0%

Income Taxes 19,432$                 -$                       -$                       113,895$               

Net Income 32,636$                 (95,217)$                (59,323)$                191,289$               

Net Income as a % of Revenue 1.4% -3.9% -2.3% 6.3%

Actuals ForecastAnnual Review*

2023

14

Statement of Income
(with Option 2 – 11.5% Effective August 1st, 2024 and 11.5 % February 1st, 2025) 



15

Rate Options
23% $ ∆ 11.5% $ ∆ 11.5% $ ∆

Residential Current
20 gallon $25.76 $31.68 $5.92 $28.72 $2.96 $32.03 $3.30

35 gallon $32.01 $39.37 $7.36 $35.69 $3.68 $39.80 $4.10

65 gallon $39.70 $48.83 $9.13 $44.27 $4.57 $49.36 $5.09

95 gallon $42.47 $52.24 $9.77 $47.35 $4.88 $52.80 $5.45

Commercial Current
35 gallon $22.66 $27.87 $5.21 $25.27 $2.61 $28.17 $2.91

95 gallon $36.03 $44.32 $8.29 $40.17 $4.14 $44.79 $4.62

1 yard $106.85 $131.43 $24.58 $119.14 $12.29 $132.84 $13.70

1.5 yard $142.05 $174.72 $32.67 $158.39 $16.34 $176.60 $18.21

2 yard $182.25 $224.17 $41.92 $203.21 $20.96 $226.58 $23.37

3 yard $257.50 $316.73 $59.23 $287.11 $29.61 $320.13 $33.02

4 yard $332.80 $409.34 $76.54 $371.07 $38.27 $413.75 $42.67

6 yard $484.65 $596.12 $111.47 $540.38 $55.73 $602.53 $62.14

8 yard $635.20 $781.30 $146.10 $708.25 $73.05 $789.70 $81.45

Drop Box Garbage Current
10 yard $292.93 $330.40 $37.47 $311.67 $18.74 $355.85 $44.19

20 yard $449.46 $493.04 $43.58 $471.25 $21.79 $522.63 $51.38

30 yard $610.94 $661.76 $50.82 $636.35 $25.41 $696.27 $59.92

Drop Box Recycling Current
10 yard $162.93 $200.40 $37.47 $181.67 $18.74 $202.56 $20.89

20 yard $189.46 $233.04 $43.58 $211.25 $21.79 $235.54 $24.29

30 yard $220.94 $271.76 $50.82 $246.35 $25.41 $274.68 $28.33

Option 1 Option 2

8/1/2024 8/1/2024 2/1/2025

8/1/2024 8/1/2024 2/1/2025

8/1/2024 8/1/2024 2/1/2025

$∆ represents the difference between the current rate and adjustment option.  While disposal is shown for Industrial Garbage service in this chart, 
disposal is not subject to City adjustments and is a pass through cost to the customer.

2/1/20258/1/20248/1/2024



Options Financials 2022 2023 2024 2025 2024 2025

Revenue $2,387,973 $2,439,752 $2,686,929 $3,030,979 $2,569,440 $3,037,237

Franchise Fee $165,578 $182,195 $188,085 $212,169 $179,861 $212,607

Cost of Operations $1,901,307 $2,062,350 $2,130,544 $2,191,537 $2,130,544 $2,191,537

Gross Profit $321,088 $195,207 $368,300 $627,273 $259,035 $633,093

Sales, General and Administrative $269,021 $304,912 $318,358 $327,909 $318,358 $327,909

Operating Income $52,067 -$109,706 $49,942 $299,364 -$59,323 $305,184

Op Income as a % of Revenue 2.2% -4.5% 1.9% 9.9% -2.3% 10.0%

Income Taxes $19,432 $0 $18,638 $111,723 $0 $113,895

Net Income $32,636 -$95,217 $31,304 $187,641 -$59,323 $191,289

Net Income as a % of Revenue 1.4% -3.9% 1.2% 6.2% -2.3% 6.3%

Actuals
Option 2Option 1

ForecastedAnnual 
Review*

16

Forecasted Rate Options



17

Residential Rate Comparison
Marion County 

Sparse
Marion County 

Rural
Salem             

Marion County 
Sublimity Stayton

Residential Rates 1/1/2021 8/1/2024 2024* 2024* 2024* 2024* 2024*

20 gallon $25.76 $31.68 $35.32 $31.03 $30.95 $28.91 $29.28

35 gallon $32.01 $39.37 $36.13 $31.89 $34.75 $32.33 $34.43

65 gallon $39.70 $48.83 $44.59 $39.84 $45.35 $38.64 $46.87

95 gallon $42.47 $52.24 $52.70 $48.53 Not Available $45.20 $52.52

Trash Weekly Weekly Weekly Weekly Weekly

Recycle Every Other Week Every Other Week

Glass, oils, and batteries

Yard Debris Every Other Week

Food Waste in Yard Debris Do Not Receive 

Do Not Receive 

Residential rates listed above are monthly and billed out on a bi-monthly basis.  Silverton's last rate adjustment was effective January 1, 2021.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Comparable rates are for '2024*' becuase they are under review for adjustment between now and January 2025*. Most recent Adjustments:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Marion County on 1/1/2024: Sparse 3.7% and Rural 4.9% (County adjusts rates annually)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
Salem on1/1/2023 10.54%                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
Sublimity on 5/1/2023 18%                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
Stayton on 1/1/2024 18%  (rate adjusted annually based upon CPI)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
Option 1 – rate review process would be reset and next rate adjustment effective January 1, 2026.                                                                                                                                                                          

Silverton

Weekly

Weekly Weekly Weekly

Every Other Week Every Other Week Every Other Week Every Other Week



Thank you
Sustainability in Action 

Cindy Rogers
Municipal Relationship Manager
CRogers2@republicservices.com



A R C H I T E C T U R E

RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
// SILVERTON

APRIL 9, 2024



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 2

DevNW and Ink Built are delighted to present our joint proposal for the development of affordable housing 
on the Westfield Site. With strong ties to the Willamette Valley and extensive expertise in planning, 
designing, constructing, and managing affordable housing, we are committed to addressing the pressing 
need for sustainable, equitable, and affordable housing that leverages the strengths and resources of 
communities. Our mission is to bring innovative thinking, design, and collaboration to the forefront as we 
strive not only to create exceptional buildings but also to foster justice and connection through the spaces 
we co-create.

DevNW and Ink Built envision a thriving new neighborhood for the Silverton community. The first phase on 
roughly 2 acres will begin with a multi-family rental development affordable for residents below 60% area 
median income. Our plan includes 48 units of housing and a community center, spread throughout 6 
buildings across the site. There will be a mixture of one, two, and three bedroom apartments. Later phases 
on the remaining 5 acres of the site could include affordable community land trust homes (single unit 
detached and townhomes) for homebuyers below 80% area median income, and a cottage cluster 
designed to help seniors age-in-place in a community setting. 

The design we envision focuses on creating community through the built environment, including thoughtful 
use of community spaces, green space, connectivity to neighboring resources, and the creation of 
micro-communities through cluster design. While the first phase (and we hope the majority of a future 
phase) will focus on affordable housing, we are also interested in exploring the inclusion of some market 
rate units in later phases for a truly mixed income neighborhood.

Together, DevNW and Ink Built offer a unique blend of experience, expertise, and commitment that 
positions us as ideal partners for the City of Silverton on this transformative project. We eagerly anticipate 
the opportunity to collaborate with you throughout the development process.

City of Silverton
Re: Request for Proposals Westfield Site
Attn: Jason Gottgetreu

COVER LETTER

Primary Point of Contact
Nora Cronin, DevNW

Director of Real Estate Development
nora.cronin@devnw.org

541-345-7106 x2092

2808 NE MLK BLVD // 
SUITE G // 

PORTLAND // OR // 97212

[503] 454-6793

OR WBE|ESB #11068

212 Main Street //
Springfield, OR 97477

528 Cottage St //
Salem, OR 97301

mailto:nora.cronin@devnw.org


CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 3

PHASE 1
APPROX. 2 ACRES
40 - 60 UNITS MAX 
(30/ACRE PER SB8)

(6) 2- STORY BUILDINGS
48 UNITS //

(22) 3 BEDROOM
(14) 2 BEDROOM
(12) 1 BEDROOM

83 PARKING // (1.7/UNIT)
62 SPACES (SURFACE LOT)
21 SPACES (ON STREET)

DESIGN - PHASE 1
DAVENPORT LANE

PHASE 1

8 UNITS
(4) 3-BED
(4) 2-BED

8 UNITS
(4) 3-BED
(4) 1-BED

8 UNITS
(4) 3-BED
(4) 1-BED

8 UNITS
(4) 3-BED
(4) 1-BED

10 UNITS
(4) 3-BED
(6) 2-BED

6 UNITS
(2) 3-BED
(4) 2-BED

COMMUNITY 
ROOM
2,000 SFOUTDOOR 

COMMON SPACE
NATURE PLAY 
AREA

POSSIBLE PEDESTRIAN 
CONNECTION TO DOG 
PARK

POSSIBLE PEDESTRIAN 
CONNECTION TO 
NATURE AREA

W
EST

 M
AIN

 S
TR

EET

SILVERTON 
COMMUNITY SKATE 
PARK & DOG PARK

SILVERTON 
SENIOR 
CENTER



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 4

DESIGN - PHASE 2

PHASE 2

PHASE 2
5.7 ACRES
110 - 170 UNITS MAX 
(30/ACRE PER SB8)

59 UNITS //
(6) COTTAGE CLUSTERS (1 BED) 
(22) DETACHED SINGLE FAMILY HOMES (3/4 BEDS) 
(33) TOWNHOUSES (2/3 BEDS) 
NOTE: ALL HOMES IN PHASE 2 SHALL HAVE 
PARKING AT EACH HOME (1-2 SPACES)

COTTAGE 
CLUSTER

POSSIBLE PEDESTRIAN 
CONNECTION TO DOG 
PARK + SKATE PARK

SHARED 
OUTDOOR 
SPACE

SHARED 
OUTDOOR 
SPACE

SHARED 
OUTDOOR 
SPACE

SHARED 
‘WOONERF’ 
DRIVEWAYS, 
TYP.

DAVENPORT LANE

W
EST

 M
AIN

 S
TR

EET

NEW STREET (50’ ROW)

SILVERTON 
COMMUNITY SKATE 
PARK & DOG PARK

SILVERTON 
SENIOR 
CENTER



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 5

DESIGN - UTILITIES
DAVENPORT LANE ½ STREET IMPROVEMENT

W
EST

 M
AIN

 S
TR

EET

NEW STREET (50’ ROW)

SILVERTON 
COMMUNITY SKATE 
PARK & DOG PARK

SILVERTON 
SENIOR 
CENTER

SANITARY SEWER LIFT STATION
(PUMP TO SEWER MAIN AT MAIN 
ST/DAVENPORT)

SANITARY SEWER EXTENSION

POTENTIAL 
STORMWATER 
FILTRATION FACILITY 
LOCATIONS

EMERGENCY VEHICLE ACCESS 
ONLY AT MAIN ST CONNECTION

(E) 8” SANITARY SEWER LINE

(E) 8” MAIN WATER LINE

W
EST

 M
AIN

 S
TR

EET

W
E

ST
FI

E
LD

 S
TR

E
E

T

POTENTIAL STORM 
CONNECTION TO MAIN



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 6

DESIGN



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 7

DESIGN



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 8

DESIGN



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 9

DESIGN



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 10

SUMMARY

PROGRAM

Unit Type # of 
units

Total # of 
bedrooms

Sq Ft per 
unit

Total sq ft Affordability Net rent per 
month

1 bedroom 12 12 640 7,680 60% AMI $782

2 bedroom 14 28 960 13,440 60% AMI $956

3 bedroom 22 66 1,140 25,080 60% AMI $1,116

Community Center 2,000 2,000

Total 48 106 48,200

Taking advantage of the location adjacent to the Senior Center and Robert Frost 
Elementary, we envision a mix of generations living in the development community, and 
have planned a mix of units types: smaller, single story units for seniors (or other 1-2 
person households), alongside larger 2-3 bedroom units for families. Based on community 
engagement, we would also be interested in the demand for 4-bedroom units for 
multi-generational families.

Our proposal includes 48 units of housing and a community center, spread throughout 6 
two-story buildings across the roughly 2 acre site. There will be a mixture of one, two, and 
three bedroom apartments, along with sufficient parking and ample outdoor spaces.  

DevNW will enter into a 60-year covenant with OHCS for their funding sources to keep 
these units affordable in perpetuity.

HOUSING DETAILS



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 11

UNIT AMENITIES

Unit amenities will include the following: 
● In-unit washer and dryer hookups with 

appliances included
● Secure bike parking 
● Ductless heat pumps for energy 

efficient heating/cooling
● Energy Star appliances
● Durable and easy-to-clean vinyl plank 

flooring
● Extra insulation and tight building 

envelope to provide thermal comfort 
and energy costs savings

● Three units are ADA-compliant and 
accessible to people with physical 
disabilities

● One unit is compliant with hearing and 
visually impaired regulations 

PROGRAM
COMMUNITY SPACE

Our proposed design boasts a 2,000 square foot community center complemented by 
outdoor space and a nature play area, all designated exclusively for residents. This inviting 
hub features essential amenities including restrooms, a moderate-sized kitchen, a 
community room, a manager's office, and ample storage for maintenance, cleaning, and 
supplies such as folding chairs. This space will be used for facilitating community 
gatherings, enrichment classes, and other events. Access to this space is provided to 
residents free of charge and can be scheduled to use for birthday parties or family 
gatherings.

The community center plays a pivotal role in nurturing a robust resident community. It 
offers a venue for shared meals, celebrations, and various events, while also serving as a 
convenient meeting point for residents to connect with service providers, including those 
from DevNW and other partners, for accessing essential resources.



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 12

We envision a neighborhood that offers green space, community 
gardens, and walking/biking connectivity to the skate park, Senior 
Center, and Robert Frost Elementary. It will be a shared priority to 
create inviting community space on the Westfield site, while also 
fostering easy connections with the rest of the neighborhood. We 
would work closely with the City to coordinate access to these 
neighboring sites.

Our site design includes a variety of shared, outdoors spaces that 
are stitched together with connecting corridors between 
buildings. These open spaces can be a combination of lawn and 
nature play areas. Our site design also includes a community 
garden space and smaller garden spaces woven throughout.

The 2-acre site includes approximately 23,000 SF of open 
outdoor space and 3,000 SF of stormwater filtration facilities in 
two areas which can be expanded if required. In the event 
available open space doesn’t allow for large scale, traditional 
stormwater treatment facilities (or in addition to), we’re prepared 
for and experienced in installation of alternative, compact, 
engineered treatment equipment that can be installed under 
roadways and parking facilities.

Our parking plan, including 62 onsite parking spaces and 21 
street parking spaces (on the extended Davenport Ln), attempts 
to minimize the space needed for parking lots while also 
honoring the reality that many people rely on daily use of cars: 
commuters to Salem or rural agricultural jobs, seniors with 
limited mobility, families taking kids to activities, etc. 

SHARED/SITE AMENITIES

PROGRAM



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 13

TARGET POPULATION

DevNW and InkBuilt have collaborated on a deliberately inclusive and 
community-oriented development, ensuring it caters to residents from 
diverse backgrounds.

We will provide a range of affordable housing options tailored to 
different income levels and family sizes. While our initial proposal 
targets rents affordable at 60% Area Median Income (AMI), we are 
exploring the addition of vouchers in partnership with the Marion 
County Housing Authority to accommodate households with fixed 
incomes or below 30% AMI.

Our design approach prioritizes elements of universal design, 
trauma-informed design, and cultural sensitivity. This includes creating 
spaces that are accessible to individuals with varying needs and abilities, 
fostering welcoming and calming environments, and incorporating 
architectural features and programming that celebrate diverse cultural 
identities. Language accessibility will be ensured through multilingual 
resources.

Throughout the development process, we will actively engage the 
community for input and employ affirmative marketing strategies to 
reach a broad audience, including traditionally underserved 
populations. DevNW will collaborate with community organizations and 
City staff to ensure the inclusion of underserved populations.

For instance, DevNW has initiated discussions with the Hope and Safety 
Alliance, serving Marion and Polk counties, to address the need for 
affordable rental units to support survivors of domestic violence within 
the new development.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Our proposal emphasizes our commitment to environmental 
sustainability through various strategies aimed at reducing ecological 
impact and promoting a healthy ecosystem. We are dedicated to 
pursuing the Path to Net Zero and adhering to Earth Advantage 
guidelines, seeking certification under their Multifamily Residential 
program.

The Path to Net Zero focuses on minimizing energy use in buildings and 
generating the remaining energy needed from renewable sources like 
solar power. It involves designing energy-efficient buildings with 
features such as better insulation, efficient appliances, and natural 
lighting and ventilation. This approach can lead to achieving net-zero 
carbon emissions.

At the core of our approach is optimizing density to protect valuable 
land and ecosystems. Our design incorporates energy-efficient features 
like high-performance building envelopes and HVAC systems, as well as 
carefully selected materials with recycled content and low toxicity.

Additionally, we will implement water conservation measures and 
responsible stormwater management to further enhance our 
environmental stewardship. During construction, strict protocols will be 
in place to minimize site disturbance and divert recyclable waste from 
landfills.

Moreover, our infrastructure design will include provisions for future 
solar energy generation. We will explore incentives in collaboration with 
local authorities to support this forward-thinking approach.

PROGRAM



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 14

Community-based art enhances the vibrancy of any residential setting. Leveraging Silverton's 
commendable commitment to murals, we've engaged with a local artist who has previously 
contributed to the city's artistic landscape. If selected, we plan to collaborate with additional local 
artists, fostering a diverse artistic community.

Recognizing the City's interest in both honoring history and embracing diversity, we see an 
opportunity to commission a mural acknowledging Silverton's indigenous Kalapuya and Molala 
communities, or honoring former Mayor Stu Rasmussen, the country's first transgender Mayor. 
Alternatively, a mural depicting "The Old Oak" or the Oregon Gardens could serve as a tribute to 
Silverton's heritage while engaging contemporary residents.

With our team's expertise in mural installations and knowledge of available grants, we are 
well-equipped to facilitate these projects. Furthermore, we propose incorporating art and art 
classes into community spaces, if desired by the future residents, by partnering with local artists 
and artist associations, thereby fostering creativity and community engagement.

ART

PROGRAM



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 15

PRO FORMA
2-ACRE SITE



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 16

FUNDING SOURCES

DevNW proposes to finance the initial phase of affordable rental 
housing through a combination of funding sources. These include 9% 
Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC), Oregon Housing and 
Community Services (OHCS) GHAP grant funds, and a permanent loan 
using Oregon Affordable Housing Tax Credits (OAHTC). Additionally, our 
financial projections anticipate contributions from the City of Silverton, 
including a no-cost land lease, waivers for System Development Charges 
(SDCs), and property tax exemption.

Although not currently reflected in our proforma, DevNW plans to 
leverage incentives and rebates offered by the Energy Trust of Oregon 
for implementing energy-efficient measures, as well as tax credits for 
the installation of solar energy systems. These funding sources, while 
non-competitive, align with our commitment to sustainability and 
affordability.

Furthermore, DevNW has initiated preliminary discussions with the 
Marion County Housing Authority regarding the potential utilization of 
Project-Based Housing Vouchers for a portion of the units within this 
development. Initial indications suggest a favorable outlook, prompting 
DevNW to collaborate closely with authority staff to explore and 
potentially implement this option.

CITY ROLE IN DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

DevNW proposes that the City provide a no-cost land lease and waivers 
for System Development Charges (SDCs) to facilitate the development 
of the project. Furthermore, we suggest the City take responsibility for 
financing and executing the land partition for the initial phase, 
encompassing approximately 2 acres. We request the City collaborate 
closely with our design team to ensure the partition line aligns 
harmoniously with our building and site design objectives, including 
provisions for desired outdoor space, ample parking, and appropriate 
building setbacks.

An integral role for the City would involve championing the project and 
providing steadfast support in engaging with neighbors and community 
groups. This includes advocating for the project during funding requests 
and adeptly navigating and potentially expediting City development, 
land use, and building permit processes.

DevNW has initiated preliminary discussions with Marion County 
regarding the availability of HOME or Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) funds that could be utilized for this development. 
Currently, these funds are exclusively allocated for homeownership 
initiatives by the county. We believe the City could facilitate discussions 
with the County to explore the possibility of redirecting HOME funds 
toward rental housing at the Westfield site. Collaboration between the 
City and County in this regard could unlock additional resources vital for 
the success of the project.

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE

OWNERSHIP

The first phase of affordable multi-family rental housing will uphold a 
distinct ownership structure as per the City's request to retain 
ownership of the land. To honor this request, we propose establishing a 
separate entity—a Limited Partnership (LP)—to own the rental housing 
development. Under this arrangement, the City will engage in a 99-year 
ground lease with the Limited Partnership. Ownership of the LP will 
primarily be held by the Limited Partner (Tax Credit Investor) at 99.99%, 
with a minimal 0.01% ownership held by the General Partner (DevNW). 

Additionally, DevNW has initiated discussions with the Marion County 
Housing Authority regarding potential participation as a Special Limited 
Partner within the ownership structure. This arrangement would grant 
them a fractional ownership stake in the project, facilitate negotiation 
for a portion of the developer fee, and enable the project to benefit 
from property tax exemption. The Housing Authority has shown interest 
in similar partnerships with other developers for affordable housing 
initiatives, indicating a promising opportunity for collaboration at the 
Westfield site.

17

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE
Should the remaining 5 acres be developed as Community Land Trust 
(CLT) homes, DevNW anticipates navigating complexities stemming from 
the City's retention of land ownership. Typically, in the CLT model 
operated by DevNW, the CLT owns the land and common areas, while 
homebuyers acquire the homes and pay a lease for the land. The land 
lease needs to be a renewable 99-year lease, so that the owner’s right 
to the land is never jeopardized. Collaboration with the City will be 
essential in determining the optimal ownership structure for this 
segment of the development.

The CLT model being used is innovative in ensuring permanent 
affordability of these homes in perpetuity. This model incorporates 
permanent income restrictions and imposes resale price limits, 
safeguarding long-term affordability. Upon resale, the new sales price is 
determined by a formula encompassing the homeowner's base price, 
any "qualified capital improvements" stipulated in the ground lease, and 
the homeowner's 25% share of the change in appraised value since 
their purchase.

DevNW employs this model to maintain affordability of CLT homes for 
subsequent generations of buyers while affording each homeowner to 
benefit from a portion of the appreciated value. The goal is to ensure 
these homes remain accessible to families who would otherwise be 
priced out of the market.



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 18

SITE INFRASTRUCTURE

DevNW proposes to pay for site infrastructure (the extension of 
Davenport Ln and utilities to service the first phase of rental housing) 
through the combined sources listed in the proforma (9% LIHTC, OHCS 
GHAP grant funds, and a perm loan). 

Another possibility is to apply for CDBG funding just for the Davenport 
Ln road extension. CDBG triggers prevailing wage rates so we would 
need to determine if prevailing wage rates would apply to just the road 
extension costs or if it would it apply to the entire housing 
development. Marion County staff indicated that they typically fund up 
to $350,000-$500,000 in CDBG funds per project.

If the City has access to other funding that can be used for the road 
extension, DevNW is open to exploring the viability of other sources.  

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE
PREVAILING WAGES

The deal structure presented in our proforma will not require BOLI 
prevailing wage rates for this development. 

If CDBG or other federal funding is used, federal Davis-Bacon wage 
rates would apply. This could increase the projected construction costs 
by roughly 10%. 



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 19

LIKELIHOOD OF FINANCING

OHCS is introducing a new funding application process in 2024, moving away from the 
traditional NOFA (Notice of Funding Availability) format confined to a specific time of the year. 
This innovative approach will involve multiple steps and technical assistance from OHCS staff 
as we navigate through the development process. The aim is to ensure the financial structure 
and assumptions are robust, and there is greater amount of surety, as we progress through 
the stages of development.

Unlike the conventional method of submitting an application and waiting for a year if 
unsuccessful, this new process offers flexibility. It will be an open-ended procedure, allowing 
for preliminary funding commitments early on. We can then collaborate with OHCS as we 
move through our development process and milestones until we secure a final commitment 
and close on the financing. 

Although 9% LIHTC is unavailable in 2024, it is slated to return in 2025. While the scoring 
criteria will differ in this new application process, we believe, based on the criteria from the 
2023 application for 9% LIHTC and our understanding of this new process, that this funding 
would align well with our project. The main unknown lies in the criteria related to local funding 
commitments, which OHCS anticipates, particularly from HOME Participating Jurisdictions. This 
requirement applies to all projects in Marion County, given its allocation of HOME and CDBG 
funds. We will collaborate with the City, County, and OHCS to ensure the appropriate level and 
type of funding is secured.

Another potential funding avenue from OHCS could involve utilizing LIFT Rental funding. 
However, with no 4% LIHTC and Private Activity Bonds currently available to complement LIFT 
funds, this option appears unlikely. DevNW's financial model projected a significant gap 
exceeding $1.5 million when considering LIFT funds from OHCS alone, owing to existing 
assumptions regarding allowable LIFT subsidies per unit. Should these assumptions or other 
factors change, the extensive LIFT resources available at OHCS could present a viable funding 
avenue.

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 20

FORM TEAM WITH CITY OF SILVERTON TO 
ESTABLISH DEVELOPER AGREEMENT
REVIEW POTENTIAL FUNDING OPTIONS RELATED 
TO PROGRAM DESIRES
IDENTIFY ANY CITY/COUNTY FUNDING SUPPORT
DEVELOP FUNDING APPLICATION MATERIALS

project Kick-Off meeting

MOU/ DEVELOPER 
AGREEMENT

U
N

D
ERSTAN

D
IN

G
 TH

E PRO
JECT

FUNDING 
APPLICATION 

PROCESS

W
H

AT’S TH
E BIG

 ID
EA?

DESIGN 
PROCESS

CAPTU
RE IN

TEN
T &

 D
ESIG

N

REFIN
E. REFIN

E. REFIN
E.

<< Pre-
Desi

gn >>>>>

<< Refine >
>>>>

<< Exec
ute >

>>>>

O
BTAIN

 APPRO
VALS

PERMITTING & 
BIDDING

IDENTIFY STAKEHOLDER NEEDS AND GOALS
INVESTIGATE SITE, BUILDING, & SYSTEMS
IDENTIFY CHALLENGES
CREATE PROGRAM
REFINE MASSING BASED ON PROGRAM REPORT AND 
ZONING ANALYSIS. 

Funding applications and concept design

REFINE/FINALIZE PLANS, ELEVATIONS, SECTIONS &
MAJOR CONSTRUCTION DETAILS
DEVELOP AND DOCUMENT CUSTOM 
FEATURES/FINISHES/ELEMENTS
REFLECTED CEILING PLANS & LIGHTING DESIGN
INTEGRATE MEPFP & TELECOM DESIGN & PLANS

Design Review Presentations

FINALIZE ALL PLANS, SECTIONS, AND ELEVATIONS
FINAL MATERIALS & PRODUCT SELECTIONS
DEVELOP NECESSARY CONSTRUCTION DETAILS & SCHEDULES
PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS
COMPOSITE PLANS AND INTERIOR ELEVATIONS FOR CASEWORK AND/OR 
OTHER CUSTOM ELEMENTS
COORDINATE DRAWINGS WITH CONSULTANTS
FINALIZE PERMIT DOCUMENT REQUIREMENTS PER JURISDICTION
QA/QC CHECKS

RESPOND TO QUESTIONS/REMARKS FROM 
JURISDICTION
UPDATE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS 
BASED ON JURISDICTIONAL REVIEW
COORDINATE WITH GC FOR BIDDING 
PROCESS

Submit necessary materials to 
City of Silverton for permit review

LAND USE AND 
DESIGN REVIEW

LAND USE 
PROCESS 

CONSTRUCTION &
CERT. OF 

OCCUPANCY

MAY ‘24-AUG ‘24

AUG ‘24-APR ‘25

SEP ‘24 - APR ‘25

JAN ‘25 - OCT ‘25

NOV ‘25- JAN ‘26
FEBRUARY 2026 - MARCH 2027

SCHEDULE AND TIMING



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 21

Public outreach, engagement, and education 
are crucial components of any affordable 
housing development. Here are some general 
concepts that would guide your approach:

1. Transparent Communication: Ensure 
transparency throughout all stages of the 
project, from planning to implementation. This 
includes providing clear information about the 
goals, timelines, and decision-making 
processes involved in the development. 
Maintain open and honest communication with 
the community, providing regular updates on 
the progress of the project and addressing any 
concerns or questions that arise.

2. Community Engagement: Actively engage 
with community members, stakeholders, and 
local organizations throughout the project, 
seeking input and feedback at various stages. 
This could involve holding community 
meetings, small stakeholder meetings, or 
establishing advisory committees to ensure 
that community voices are heard and 
considered in decision-making. DevNW 
recognizes the diversity within the community 
and will tailor outreach strategies to reach 
different demographics effectively. We will 
utilize various communication channels, such 
as social media, local newspapers, and 
community newsletters, to ensure broad 
engagement.

3. Education: Provide opportunities for 
education about affordable housing, including 
the benefits it brings to the community, while 
addressing common misconceptions and 
dispelling myths. DevNW would offer 
information sessions at community meetings 
to help residents understand the importance 
of affordable housing and how they can get 
involved.

4. Inclusivity and Equity: Prioritize inclusivity 
and equity in all outreach efforts, ensuring that 
marginalized voices and underrepresented 
communities are heard and valued. Create 
opportunities for meaningful participation and 
engagement for all residents, regardless of 
socioeconomic status.

5. Collaboration and Partnership: Forge 
partnerships with local stakeholders, including 
government agencies, nonprofit organizations, 
faith-based groups, and educational 
institutions, to leverage resources, expertise, 
and community networks. By working together, 
we can address the complex challenges of 
affordable housing development. DevNW has 
already engaged with several government 
agencies and community organizations to 
inform our development proposal thus far. We 
look forward to continuing to build those 
relationships and collaborating to ensure that 
this development meets the needs of the 
community. 

6. Long-Term Success: DevNW is dedicated to 
maintaining meaningful relationships with the 
community and neighbors throughout the 
lifespan of the project, fostering trust, and 
nurturing a sense of shared responsibility for 
the community's well-being. Being a good 
neighbor as a developer of affordable housing 
involves actively engaging with the community, 
maintaining open communication, 
collaborating with local organizations, 
empowering residents, promoting social 
integration, and sharing resources. This 
long-term approach ensures the continued 
success and sustainability of the affordable 
housing project.

OUR GENERAL APPROACH

PUBLIC OUTREACH/ENGAGEMENT PROCESS



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 22

DevNW envisions a collaborative approach to outreach, where city 
officials and staff work alongside our team to engage with residents and 
stakeholders in meaningful dialogue about the project. 

Prior to Formal Development Agreement:

1. Initial Discussions: Seek feedback from city staff and 
representatives to understand their priorities and concerns regarding 
our proposal and assumptions of financial commitment. Engage with 
city planning, permitting, and public works staff to identify development 
challenges, city processes and timelines, and opportunities for 
collaboration, especially regarding the Davenport road extension design 
and construction. 

2. Community Meetings: Collaborate with the city to organize 
community meetings or workshops aimed at informing residents about 
the proposed development. Address questions and concerns raised by 
community members and gather input to refine the project plan. 

3. Stakeholder Engagement: Work closely with city staff to identify 
key stakeholders, including neighborhood associations, business 
groups, and advocacy organizations. Access city’s communication 
channels, such as newsletters, social media platforms, and community 
calendars, to promote community meetings and events related to this 
project. Establish regular communication channels and opportunities 
for dialogue to ensure diverse perspectives are considered in the 
planning process.

4. Feedback Incorporation: Continuously incorporate feedback 
received from the city and community into the project design and 
development plans. Demonstrate flexibility and a willingness to adjust 
the proposal based on input from stakeholders.

After Formal Development Agreement: 

1. Public Meetings: Participate in public meetings if required by the 
formal development agreement process. Present updates on the 
project's progress, address any concerns raised by city officials or 
residents, and provide transparency about next steps.

2. Regular Progress Updates: Maintain regular communication with 
city representatives through progress updates, reports, and meetings. 
Share milestones achieved, challenges encountered, and strategies for 
addressing them to keep all parties informed and engaged.

3. Community Events and Engagements: Continue to engage with 
the community through various events and initiatives, such as 
neighborhood meetings, informational sessions, or volunteer 
opportunities. Foster a sense of ownership and pride in the project 
among residents by involving them in its implementation.

4. Mitigation and Issue Resolution: Collaborate with the city to 
address any issues or concerns that arise during the development 
process, such as zoning challenges, infrastructure needs, or community 
opposition. Work together to identify solutions and mitigate potential 
impacts on the project's timeline or budget.

5. Celebration and Recognition: Celebrate project milestones and 
achievements with the city and the community to acknowledge 
progress and foster positive relationships. Recognize the contributions 
of city officials, staff, and community members who have supported the 
project's success.

Working together with the city is critical for the success and acceptance 
of this affordable housing development. 

PUBLIC OUTREACH/ENGAGEMENT PROCESS
DEVNW AND CITY PARTNERSHIP



CITY OF SILVERTON  // REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS WESTFIELD SITE 23

1. SITE CONDITIONS

The site's conditions present significant 
uncertainties at this stage. If awarded this 
project, our immediate priority will be to 
conduct a comprehensive environmental 
assessment and a thorough geotechnical 
study. These assessments are vital as they will 
reveal any hidden conditions that may 
necessitate mitigation measures. Without a 
complete understanding of the site's 
environmental factors, we cannot confidently 
proceed with development plans.

Furthermore, without the completion of a 
geotechnical study, our ability to finalize site 
development costs is constrained. We are 
cognizant of the prevalence of Columbia River 
Basalt under Silverton, a factor that has the 
potential to significantly impact site costs. This 
emphasizes the critical importance of 
conducting a thorough geotechnical analysis to 
accurately estimate project expenses.

Additionally, the absence of a site survey raises 
concerns about potential unidentified 
elements such as easements and topographic 
constraints. Without this essential information, 
we acknowledge the possibility of encountering 
unforeseen obstacles during the development 
process.

2. SITE INFRASTRUCTURE

Connectivity to public and franchise utilities will 
require creativity and cooperation between 
DevNW and the City. We recognize the 
necessity of establishing a Lift Station and 
forced main sanitary sewer installation to meet 
the recommended sewer tap connection 
requirements to existing infrastructure at 
Main/Davenport. Plans entail extending 
electrical service and franchise utilities to 
Davenport Dr to cater to Phase 1 
requirements. Additionally, the management of 
treated Stormwater will involve routing it 
through the land earmarked for Phase 2 
development, linking it with the current 
stormwater infrastructure on Main St. 
Thoughtful consideration for the future volume 
of Stormwater generated during Phase 2 
development must be factored into the Phase 
1 installation to facilitate straightforward future 
connections to the installed stormwater 
conveyance system.

Ensuring vehicular and emergency vehicle 
access demands close cooperation between 
DevNW and Traffic Control/local Fire 
Department. The Fire Department turnaround 
has been incorporated into the parking area in 
the Phase 1 conceptual design. However, 
provision for a secondary emergency access 
may be warranted, potentially connecting to 
Main St at the southeastern corner of the 

property designated for Phase 2 development. 
The location of this access point, if not 
constrained to a specific spot, could 
significantly impact later phases of 
development. Thus, careful consideration is 
necessary to ensure seamless integration with 
the overall development plan.

Building upon the precedent established by the 
partial extension to Davenport Dr, DevNW 
proposes to continue the half-street 
improvement of Davenport, extending it to the 
northwest corner of the development. If the 
City requires a full street improvement, we 
would work with the City to see if additional 
local funding would be available to help with 
that increase in infrastructure costs.

3. POTENTIAL WETLANDS

We are concerned about potential costs linked 
to wetland mitigation if DSL approval is not 
received. Our design adjustments were made 
assuming a positive review from DSL, indicating 
no wetlands on site. If the DSL review isn't 
favorable, it's likely site density would decrease, 
or we would need to incur extra expenses for 
wetland mitigation, provided suitable off-site 
wetlands are available for credits.

OTHER ISSUES: TOP 3 CONCERNS



24

The quality of relationships we build with the people we serve is fundamental to 
the quality of design we provide.  

Restoring equity and broadening affordability in the housing system is our key 
mission and focus, and we’re working to challenge the conventions that prevent 

the fundamental changes our communities need.

We’ve designed our practice around this goal, tailoring everything we do to 
improve cost efficiency, enrich design quality, and maximize health, joy and 

livability for the individuals and families who call our projects home.

We don’t just talk collaboration, we actively empower residents, citizens, policy 
makers, owners, contractors, students, and advocates to help us make design 

better, restoring community and the planet we share.

We love the challenge of affordable housing, and the opportunity it gives us to 
stretch creativity discovering better solutions with bigger impact.  



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-

,'.%/%0+(#'"+)1%("#+
23456%78%9:9;



CONTENTS

DESIGN ............................................................................................................. 2

PROGRAM .......................................................................................................12

PROFORMA .....................................................................................................16

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE .............................................................19

TIMING ............................................................................................................24

OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT ...............................................................26

TOP CONCERNS AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS ................................28



DESIGN



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 3

COMMUNITY INFORMED DESIGN APPROACH

&<4%34=3=>?6%?5@>%A=%BC%?%4CD6CEA5=F%=D%AGC%E=@@<F5AH I>%

JC>54C>%D=4%?%BC?<A5D<68%E4C?A5KC8%?FJ%212L?EEC>>5B6C%

B<56J5FM%JC>5MF%AG?A%B6CFJ>%>C?@6C>>6H%N5AG%AGC%!5AH I>%

?C>AGCA5E8%NG56C%34C>C4K5FM%AGC%F?A<4?6%CE=6=MH%AG?A%M5KC>%

(56KC4A=F%5A>%<F5O<C%5JCFA5AHP%"F>354?A5=F%=D%AGC%JC>5MF%>AH6C%

J4?N>%D4=@%AGC%*5EA=45?F%KC4F?E<6?4%AG?A%5>%C@B6C@?A5E%

=D%(56KC4A=F%4C>5JCFEC>P%(5@365D5CJ%?4A5E<6?A5=F%=D%

=4F?@CFA?A5=F8%<A565Q5FM%F?44=N%D=4@>8%>ACC3%35AEGCJ%4==D>8%

?4EGCJ%N5FJ=N>8%?FJ%E=KC4CJ%3=4EGC>%5>%?%D4C>G%A?RC%=F%?%

A4?J5A5=F?6%4C>5JCFA5?6%>AH6CP%%

SH%?JJ5A5=F?66H%5FE=43=4?A5FM%TF5KC4>?6%1C>5MF%345FE536C>%

5FA=%=<4%36?EC@?R5FM%>A4?ACM5C>8%NC%G?KC%E4C?ACJ%

M?AGC45FM%>3?EC>8%5FD=4@?6%5FJ==4%?FJ%=<AJ==4%@CCA5FM%

?4C?>8%?%E=@@<F5AH%4==@%N5AG%?%R5AEGCF8%?FJ%=<AJ==4%

>C?A5FM%?4C?>%AG?A%?4C%NC6E=@5FM%A=%?66%5FJ5K5J<?6>P%

&<4%JC>5MF%34=EC>>%D=>AC4>%?%>CF>C%=D%E=@@<F5AH%?FJ%

5FE6<>5K5AH8%C@3=NC45FM%4C>5JCFA>%A=%3?4A5E53?AC%5F%AGC%

JC>5MF%?FJ%A=%B<56J%?%E=@@<F?6%65DCP

SUSTAINABLE FEATURES

&<4%E=@@5A@CFA%A=%><>A?5F?B565AH%5>%CK5JCFA%5F%AGC%

B<56J5FMI>%DC?A<4C>8%NG5EG%5FE6<JC%CFC4MHLCDD5E5CFA%

?3365?FEC>8%U::V%C6CEA45E%B<56J5FM%>H>AC@>8%>=6?4%3?FC6>%

?FJ%65MGA5FM8%3?>>5KC%>=6?4%JC>5MF8%A4CC>%D=4%F?A<4?6%

E==65FM8%@5F5L>365A%GC?A5FMWE==65FM8%?FJ%+*%G==R<3>%=F%

>5ACP%SH%345=45A5Q5FM%AGC>C%DC?A<4C>8%NC%G?KC%CF><4CJ%AGC%

B<56J5FMI>%6=FMCK5AH%?FJ%CDD5E5CFEH%D=4%HC?4>%A=%E=@C

(<>A?5F?B6C%JC>5MF%?334=?EGC>%5FE6<JCX

Y% !"#$%&'%()*+%',+-%##&.*+/0"#*+#$1%$*2&*#

N566%5@34=KC%GC?6AG%?FJ%NC66FC>>%?FJ%4CJ<EC%AGC%

CFC4MH%?FJ%E?4B=F%D==A345FAP%1<4?B6C%@?AC45?6>%

N566%BC%E=F>5JC4CJ%D=4%@?5FACF?FEC%?FJ%AGC%=KC4?66%

65KCLEHE6C%E=>A>P

Y% 3'*1245+%&15+%',+6%$*1+70'#*1.%$&0'+AG4=<MG%

5@36C@CFA?A5=F%=D%>A4?ACM5C>%?4=<FJ%CFKC6=3C%

JC>5MF8%CFC4MH%?FJ%N?AC4%E=F>C4K?A5=F%?FJ%5@34=KCJ%

5FJ==4%?54%O<?65AHP%#GC%AC?@%N566%<A565QC%C?46H%3G?>C%%

CFC4MH%@=JC65FM%A=%CK?6<?AC%=3A5=F>%?FJ%<FJC4>A?FJ%

65DCLEHE6C%E=>A>P

Y% 8*'*6%()*+*'*124+#$1%$*2&*#%A=%5FACM4?AC%?%4==DLA=3%

>=6?4%?44?H%?FJ%+*L4C?JH%3?4R5FMP%*?45=<>%5FECFA5KC>%

?FJ%M4?FA>%N566%BC%3<4><CJ%A=%><33=4A%AGC>C%5F5A5?A5KC>P%

0C%G?KC%?%A4?ER%4CE=4J%D=4%><EEC>>D<6%5FAC4M4?A5=F%

NGC4C%=AGC4>%G?KC%D=<FJ%AG5>%?>%?%D<FJ5FM%B<4JCFP%

Y% 910-0#*,+#4#$*:#+%',+%--)&%'7*#+6&))+(*+%))+

*)*7$1&78%C65@5F?A5FM%AGC%FCCJ%D=4%F?A<4?6%M?>%5F%

AGC%34=ZCEAP

Y% ;%<&:&=&'2+1*-*$&$&0'+%',+("&),&'2+$4-*#+A=%

MCFC4?AC%?F%CE=F=@H%=D%>E?6C%?FJ%CDD5E5CFA%<>C%=D%

@?AC45?6>%A=%@5F5@5QC%N?>ACP%.4CD?B45E?A5=F%N566%BC%

E=F>5JC4CJ%NGC4C%3=>>5B6C%A=%4CJ<EC%6?B=4%E=>A>%?FJ%

5@34=KC%E=F>A4<EA5=F%>EGCJ<6C>P

,CDC4%A=%3?MC%U;%D=4%+FK54=F@CFA?6%?FJ%(<>A?5F?B6C%M=?6>P%

DESIGN NARRATIVE

DDDDD
AAAAAAAAAAAAVVVVVVVVVVVVVV

EEEEEEEEEENN
PP

OOOOOOOOOO
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

TTTTT LLLLL
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNNN
EEEE

PP
HH

AA
SS
EE
 11

P
H

A
S
E
 2



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 4

LANDSCAPE NARRATIVE

OUTDOOR ENVIRONMENT 

!"#$%&'()*"+*,*-(../)"'0*'1,'*$,#/%+*,--%++*'(*&"-1*),'/&,#*

&%+(/&-%+*,)2*3/4#"-*,.%)"'"%+5*6/&*'%,.*/)2%&+',)2+*

'1,'*'1%*)%7*-(../)"'0*+1(/#2*4%*,*&%8#%-'"()*(8*'1"+*

$,#/%5*9%*,".*'(*3&($"2%*4%,/'"8/#*,)2*+%)+"4#%*+"'%*

2%+":)*'1&(/:1*3,&')%&+1"3*7"'1*#(-,#*#,)2+-,3%*,&-1"'%-';*

<,/&/+*=%+":)+5*6/&*3&(3(+,#*-())%-'+*3%(3#%*(8*,##*

,4"#"'"%+*'(*),'/&%*,)2*3&($"2%+*+,8%*,)2*1%,#'10*+3,-%+*

8(&*>"2+*'(*3#,0;*#%,&);*2"+-($%&;*,)2*+%'+*,*+-%)%*8(&*

%2/-,'"(),#*(33(&'/)"'"%+*")*'1%*(/'2((&+5

?*-%)'&,#"@%2*-(../)"'0*:,&2%)*-%#%4&,'%+*'1%*%-(#(:0*(8*

'1%*&%:"()*71"#%*3&($"2"):*,)*%2/-,'"(),#*(33(&'/)"'0*8(&*

&%+"2%)'+*(8*,##*,:%+5*A%,)2%&"):*#%"+/&%*'&,"#+*-())%-'*'1%*

-(../)"'0;*+'"'-1"):*)(2%+*(8*+.,##%&*-(../)"'0*3(->%'+*

'(*()%*,)('1%&5*B1%*2%$%#(3.%)'*"+*+/&&(/)2%2*40*$,&0"):*

,)2*,.%)"'0C&"-1*+3,-%+*8(&*3#,-%.,>"):*,)2*")-#/2%+*

-($%&%2*,)2*/)-($%&%2*(/'2((&*+%,'"):;*,)2*,*-%)'&,#"@%2*

-(../)"'0*:,&2%);*,)2*.(&%*")'".,'%*+%''"):+*-&%,'%2*

'1&(/:1*3,$"#"()+5*91"#%*(/&*3&(3(+,#*%D3&%++%+*'1%*")'%)'*

(8*3#,-%.,>"):*-()-%3'+;*'1%*,/'1(&+*(8*'1%*8"),#*2%+":)*

7"##*4%*'1%*-(../)"'0*'1&(/:1*8(-/+*:&(/3+5

DEFENSIBLE SPACE & FIRE RESISTANT DESIGN

6$%&*'1%*#,+'*+%$%&,#*0%,&+*'1%*&"+>*(8*7"#28"&%*,-&(++*(/&*

&%:"()*1,+*")-&%,+%2;*")*3,&'"-/#,&*8(&*-(../)"'"%+*,'*'1%*

%2:%+*(8*'1%*7"#2#,)2C/&4,)*")'%&8,-%5*B1%*9%+'8"%#2*+"'%*

"+*,'*,*1":1%&*&"+>*'1,)*+(.%*('1%&*,&%,+*(8*!"#$%&'()*2/%*

'(*'1%*3&(D"."'0*'(*'1%*-&%%>*,)2*,++(-",'%2*$%:%','"()5*

6/&*3&(3(+%2*,33&(,-1*'(*'1%*3&(E%-'+*2%+":)*")-#/2%+*

F#,++*?*&((8*-($%&"):;*.%',#*&((8*$,##%0+;*.%',#*:/''%&+*

,)2*2(7)+3(/'+;*3&('%-'%2*&((8*%,$%+;*GC1(/&*%D'%&"(&*

7,##+*7"'1*)()C-(.4/+'"4#%*8"4%&*-%.%)'*+"2"):*,)2*'&".;*

)(*-&,7#*+3,-%+;*)()C-(.4/+'"4#%*7")2(7+*,)2*2((&+5*

B1%*&%+"2%)'",#*+'&/-'/&%+*,)2*-(../)"'0*4/"#2"):*7"##*

")-#/2%*8"&%*+3&")>#%&*+0+'%.+5*

?*8"&%*4/88%&*,&(/)2*%,-1*4/"#2"):*7"##*4%*3&($"2%2*

,)2*#,)2+-,3"):*7"##*4%*),'"$%;*2&(/:1'*&%+"+',)';*,)2*

'1(/:1'8/#*")*8"&%*&%+"+',)'*2%+":)5*?22"'"(),##0;*8"&%*

&%+"+',)'*#,)2+-,3"):*7"##*4%*,22&%++%2*7"'1*():("):*

.,")'%),)-%*(8*'1%*#,)2+-,3%;*>%%3"):*'&%%+*'&"..%2*,)2*

8&%%*(8*2%,27((2;*#,)2+-,3%*8&%%*(8*#%,$%+*,)2*)%%2#%+5

ENGAGEMENT PLAN FOR OUTDOOR SPACES

H(&*-(../)"'0*%):,:%.%)'*+%++"()+*8(-/+"):*()*2%+":)*

")3/'*(8*(/'2((&*+3,-%+*7%*3#,)*'(*".3#%.%)'*'1%*

8(##(7"):*3&")-"3#%+I

!"#$#%&'()*&)*%&+,--."()/0*J(*()%*>)(7+*,*3#,-%K+*

3&(4#%.+;*7%,>)%++%+;*,)2*+'&%):'1+*4%''%&*'1,)*

'1%*-(../)"'0*"'+%#85*L2%)'"'0*,)2*$"+"()*4%-(.%*'1%*

3&(2/-'+*(8*-(../)"'0*%):,:%.%)'5*M):,:%.%)'*7"##*

-&%,'%*,*+%)+%*(8*4%#():"):*,)2*3&"2%;*8/&'1%&*3&(.('"):*

-(##,4(&,'"()*,)2*-(##%-'"$%*'1")>"):5

!1)$23(1*&$&1*$4%5&6(1(,"0*L' K+*".3(&',)'*'(*%+',4#"+1*

,*+1,&%2*$"+"()*7"'1*'1%*-(../)"'0*8(&*'1%*3#,-%*'1,'*

./+'*4%*4,+%2*()*"'+*&%,#*"2%)'"'05*6/&*'%,.*7"##*,#":)*'1"+*

$"+"()*7"'1*3#,-%*"2%)'"'0*,)2*%)+/&%*"'+*+/33(&'*40*,##*

+',>%1(#2%&+5

7*("8&2%/,"5&1)4.+).4%10&!'&/-'/&%+*-,)*4%*/)2%&+'((2*

,+*'1%*"..(4"#%*,+3%-'+*(8*,*3#,-%;*"'+*4/"#2"):+;*"'+*

,&-1"'%-'/&%;*,)2*"'+*#,)2+-,3%5*9%*4%#"%$%*,*3#,-%*"+*./-1*

.(&%*'1,)*'1,'5*N%(3#%*4&"):*/)"O/%*%D3%&"%)-%+*,)2*

-/#'/&,#*3%&+3%-'"$%+*,)2*,-'"$"'"%+*:"$%*#"8%*'(*'1%*3#,-%5*

B1"+*")*'/&)*-&%,'%+*'1%*"2%)'"'05*?*:((2*3#,-%*2(%+)K'*)%%2*

)%7*3&(2/-'+;*E/+'*,*:((2*3&(:&,.*(8*,-'"$"'"%+*(&*'1%*

3&(.('"()*(8*%D"+'"):*-/#'/&,#*-1,&,-'%&"+'"-+5

P%,2*.(&%*,4(/'*(/&*-(.3&%1%)+"$%*-(../)"'0*

%):,:%.%)'*3#,)*()*3,:%*QR5



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 5

PHASE 1 SITE PLAN

SITE DESIGN. !"#$%&'#$&%$()*+,&-#.$+)(/,.$+$0&)0/1+'&(,$+2&%3$1&,4&,*$'"#$"(/%&,*$+,.$(/'.(()$%5+0#%$6)(7$#+%'$'($

8#%'$8&'"$%&.#8+14%$+,.$9#"&0/1+)$0&)0/1+'&(,$)/,,&,*$,()'"$'($%(/'"$&,$'"#$.#9#1(57#,':$!"#$5)(5(%#.$,()'";%(/'"$

0&)0/1+'&(,$8&11$0(,,#0'$&,$+$1((5$&,$5"+%#$<$(6$'"#$5)(=#0':$!"#$#+%';8#%'$')+&1$&%$61+,4#.$>?$'"#$)#%&.#,'&+1$>/&1.&,*%$+,.$

%#9#)+1$(5#,$%5+0#%3$#+0"$8&'"$/,&@/#$0"+)+0'#):$A7#,&'&#%$&,01/.#$5+9&1&(,%$6()$0(77/,&'?$*+'"#)&,*3$51+?$%5+0#%3$

(5#,$*)##,3$0(77/,&'?$*+).#,3$+,.$*#,#)(/%$%#+'&,*

INGRESS/EGRESS. $!"#$5)(=#0'$5)(9&.#%$9#"&0/1+)$&,*)#%%$

#*)#%%$6)(7$B+9#,5()'$C+,#:$D()$5#.#%')&+,%3$.&66#)#,'&+'&,*$

%/)6+0#$7+'#)&+1%$5)(9&.#%$9&%/+1$&,'#)#%'$8"&1#$0)#+'&,*$#+%?$

8+?6&,.&,*$6()$5#.#%')&+,$%5#0&6&0$5+'"%:$E#$7&,&7&-#.$'"#$

.&%'+,0#$)#%&.#,'%$7/%'$')+9#1$8"#,$5+)4&,*$>?$%#*7#,'&,*$'"#$

%&'#$&,'($'"&).%:

PARKING. $F+)4&,*$&%$1(0+'#.$+1(,*$B+9#,5()'$C+,#$+,.$+1(,*$

'"#$&,'#)&()$%')##'%$6()$+$'('+1$(6$GH$%'+11%:$!"&%$7(9#$+11(8%$6()$

*)#+'#)$.#,%&'?$(6$/,&'%$(,$%&'#$8"&1#$5)(9&.&,*$7/0"$,##.#.$

5+)4&,*$6()$)#%&.#,'%:$F+)4&,*$%'+11$'($/,&'$)+'&($&%$H:GIH

PHASE 2

DDAAAVVEEEENNPPOOORRTT LLAAANNNEE

12

3

4

5

6

7

PHASE 1 

UNIT TYPE AND QUANTITIES

TYPE 1 BR 2 BR 3 BR TOTAL

GJK$

L,&'%
M << N OG

TOTAL 

FAMILY-SIZED UNITS
27

TOTAL UNITS 37

PHASE 1 

COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

AMENITY
SQFT/

QUANTITY

B#9#1(5#.$P/&1.&,*% O<3QRG$STD!

U5#,$S5+0# VO3JGO STD!

W(77/,&'?$X((7 H3QHRJ$STD!

F+)4&,*$S'+11% GH

2

3

4

5

6

7

1

SITE LEGEND 

F+9#.$&,'#),+1$%&.#8+14%$

0(,,#0'&,*$)#%&.#,'&+1$/,&'%$+,.$

amenities to public sidewalk

!)+%"$#,01(%/)#$Y<$5)(9&.#.Z

F+9&1&(,$Y<$5)(9&.#.Z

[+%';E#%'$0(,,#0'&,*$')+&1

W(77/,&'?$>/&1.&,*$

F1+?$%')/0'/)#%$Y<$5)(9&.#.Z

X+&%#.$*+).#,$>#.%3$5+'&(3$51+?$

+)#+3$+,.$>+)>#@/#



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 6

VARIETY OF PLACEMAKING. !"#$%&'()"*+",%&#$('"$-."%'+/'0(&#'"1,$0'1"$%'"10$(('%'."$%*2-."(3'"1&('"$-."&-"

4'(5''-"42&/.&-617"83')"$%'"*%6$-&9'."$1"+*0$/",*&-(1"&-"+%*-("*+"0*::2-$/",*%03'1"1(&(03'."(*6'(3'%"(3%*263"

:'$-.'%&-6",$(317"83'1'",/$);"6$(3'%&-6;"$-."%'+/'0(&#'"1,$0'1"5&//",%*#&.'",%&#$('"$-."1$+'"$%'$1"+*%"%'1&.'-(1"(*"6'("

(*"<-*5"*-'"$-*(3'%7"

PERSPECTIVE OF OPEN AREA



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 7

PERSPECTIVE OF COMMUNITY BUILDING

CENTRALIZED COMMUNITY BUILDING. !"#"$%#&%'"%(#)*#"$%#+%,%-)./%'"#0%#$1,%#.().)2%+#1#&)//3'4"5#

634-+4'78#9$%#&)//3'4"5#634-+4'7#04--#2%(,%#12#"$%#$%1("#)*#"$%#+%,%-)./%'"#04"$#1+:1&%'"#).%'#2.1&%#1--#-4';%+#1-)'7#

1#&%'"(1-#"(14-#&)''%&"4'7#"$%#+%,%-)./%'"#%12"#1'+#0%2"8#<4"$4'#"$%#&)//3'4"5#634-+4'7#(%24+%'"2#04--#$1,%#1&&%22#

")#1#/1'17%/%'"#)**4&%=#(%24+%'"#2%(,4&%2#)**4&%=#&%'"(1-#-13'+(5=#1'+#1#&)//3'4"5#())/#04"$#;4"&$%'#1'+#71"$%(4'7#

2.1&%8#9$%#)3"+))(#1(%1#1+:1&%'"#")#"$%#&)//3'4"5#())/#04--#4'&-3+%#61(6%&3%2=#1#&)//3'4"5#71(+%'=#1'+#.4&'4&#

2%1"4'78#



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 8

BUILDING ELEVATIONS AND BUILDING TYPES

?4-*+A+B"-)*<+3)*.%$&0'P%ULBCJ4==@%e%9LBCJ4==@X%(5JC%BH%>5JC%

<F5A>%N5AG%E=KC4CJ%D4=FA%3=4EG%?A%M4?JC%D=4%?EEC>>5B565AHP

    COMMUNITY BUILDING

#GC%+?>A%A=%0C>A%3CJC>A45?F%A4?56%E=FKC4MC>%?A%AGC%ECFA4?66H%6=E?ACJ%E=@@<F5AH%B<56J5FMP%2B=KC%5>%?%E=FEC3A%4CFJC45FM%=D%

AGC%E=@@<F5AH%B<56J5FM%A?RCF%D4=@%?%K5CN%D4=@%>=<AG%C?>A%E=4FC4P%#GC4C%5>%?F%?AA?EGCJ%J<36C\%N5AG%>A?ERCJ%D6?A%9LBCJ4==@%

<F5A>%=F%NC>A%>5JC%=D%B<56J5FMP%2%N4?3L?4=<FJ%3=4EG%34=K5JC>%E=KC4CJ%E=@@<F5AH%M?AGC45FM%>3?EC%?A%AGC%6=NC4%6CKC6%=D%AGC%

E=@@<F5AH%B<56J5FM%AG?A>%?JZ?ECFA%A=%=3CF%?4C?%?FJ%E=@@<F5AH%M?4JCF%A=%AGC%C?>A%>5JCP%#GC%>@?66%D==A345FA%AG?A%5>%E4C?ACJ%

BH%?JZ=5F5FM%AGC%E=@@<F5AH%B<56J5FM%?FJ%AGC%J<36C\%4CE=FE56C>%AGC%C\5>A5FM%M4?JC%@=4C%Cf%5E5CFA6HP%

?4-*+C+B"-)*<+3)*.%$&0'P%9LBCJ4==@%<F5A>X%g4=<FJ%

D6==4%<F5A%N5AG%>CE=FJ%D6==4%<F5A%?EEC>>%D4=@%5FAC45=4%

>A?54%?A%>5JC%=D%<F5AP

    RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS

#GC%?334=?EG%A?RCF%D=4%JC>5MF5FM%AGC%4C>5JCFA5?6%B<56J5FM>%5>%A=%E=@36C@CFA%AGC%>E?6C%=D%AGC%K?4H5FM%*5EA=45?F%>AH6C%

G=@C>%N5AG5F%(56KC4A=FP%0C%?4C%<A565Q5FM%>CKCF%J5f%C4CFA%B<56J5FM%AH3C>%A=%34=K5JC%?%J5KC4>5AH%=D%D6==436?F>P%C6CK?A5=F>8%?FJ%

EG?4?EAC4%A=%AGC%E=@@<F5AHP%266%M4=<FJ%6CKC6%<F5A8%=KC4%]_V%=D%AGC%A=A?6%<F5A>8%N566%BC%?EEC>>5B6C%=4%?J?3A?B6C%A=%3C=36C%N5AG%

J5>?B565A5C>%A=%@CCA%AGC%E=@@<F5AH%FCCJ>P%#GC%D=66=N5FM%3?MC>%566<>A4?AC%AGC%E=FEC3A%C6CK?A5=F>%=D%AGC%B<56J5FM>%AH3C>%?FJ%

<F5A%@5\C>%34=3=>CJP



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 9

?4-*+A+D0"1-)*<+3)*.%$&0'P%#G4CC%ULBCJ4==@%<F5A>%e%`LBCJ4==@%<F5AX%ULBCJ4==@%M4=<FJ%D6==4%<F5A>%D6?FR%?%ECFA4?6%CFA4H%

3=4EG%AG?A%34=K5JC>%?EEC>>%A=%?F%5FAC45=4%>A?54%D=4%AGC%>CE=FJ%D6==4%ULBCJ4==@%?FJ%`LBCJ4==@%<F5A>P

?4-*+A+?1&-)*<+3)*.%$&0'>%#N=%ULBCJ4==@%<F5A>%e%9LBCJ4==@%<F5AX%%ULBCJ4==@%?FJ%9LBCJ4==@%%M4=<FJ%D6==4%<F5A%%D6?FR%?%

ECFA4?6%CFA4H%AG?A%34=K5JC>%?EEC>>%A=%?F%5FAC45=4%>A?54%D=4%AGC%>CE=FJ%D6==4%9LBCJ4==@%<F5AP

?4-*+C+D0"1-)*<+3)*.%$&0'>+#N=%9LBCJ4==@%<F5A>%e%AN=%`LBCJ4==@%<F5A>X%9LBCJ4==@%M4=<FJ%D6==4%<F5A>%%D6?FR%?%ECFA4?6%

CFA4H%AG?A%34=K5JC>%?EEC>>%A=%?F%5FAC45=4%>A?54%D=4%AGC%>CE=FJ%D6==4%`LBCJ4==@%<F5A>P

BUILDING ELEVATIONS AND BUILDING TYPES



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 10

PHASE 2 PROPOSAL

CONCEPT SUMMARY

&<4%34=3=>?6%CFK5>5=F>%AGC%JCKC6=3@CFA%=D%3G?>C%9%?>%?%

E=FA5F<?A5=F%=D%E6<>AC4CJ%M4=<35FM>%=D%4C>5JCFEC>%?4=<FJ%

3=ERCA>%=D%M4CCF>3?EC>%N5AG%36CFA5D<6%@C?FJC45FM%A4?56>P%#GC%

G5R5FM%A4?56>%@?RC%<>C%=D%AGC%<FJCKC6=3?B6C%NCA6?FJ%B<f%C4%

AG?A%E=F><@C>%?FJ%4C>A45EA>%@<EG%=D%AGC%4C@?5F5FM%_%?E4C>%

=D%AGC%0C>AD5C6J%>5ACP%,=?J>%?FJ%E4=>>5FM%?4C%?66=NCJ%A=%BC%

B<56A%=KC4%NCA6?FJ>%N5AG%E=F>5JC4?B6C%E=>A%5@365E?A5=F>%AG?A%

NC%N=<6J%65RC%A=%4CK5CN%N5AG%AGC%E5AH%NGCF%AGC%A5@C%E=@C>P%

#GC%K5>5=F%D=4%3G?>C%9%34=K5JC>%?F%?JJ5A5=F?6%9;%<F5A>%

AG=<MG%7%?JJ5A5=F?6%B<56J5FM>%?>%?%@5\%=D%J<36C\C>%?FJ%

A4536C\C>%=4M?F5QCJ%?6=FM%AGC%F=4AGC?>A%=D%AGC%0C>AD5C6J%

>5ACP%#=%AGC%>=<AGC?>A8%7%>5FM6C%D?@56H%G=@C>%N5AG%?AA?EGCJ%

E?43=4A>%?4C%34=3=>CJP%#GC%>E?6C%=D%4C>5JCFEC>%5F%3G?>C%

U%?FJ%3G?>C%9%5FACFA5=F?66H%34=K5JC%?%E=GC>5KC%?FJ%

E=@36C@CFA?4H%>E?6C%D=4%AGC>C%>5FM6CLD?@56H%G=@C>%A=%

34=K5JC%?%J5KC4>5AH%=D%B<56J5FM%AH3C>%?FJ%G=@C=NFC4>G53P%2%

A=A?6%=D%^^%?JJ5A5=F?6%3?4R5FM%>3?EC>8%F=A%5FE6<J5FM%345K?AC%

E?43=4A>%?4C%34=3=>CJ%D=4%3G?>C%9P%#GC%3?4R5FM%A=%<F5A%4?A5=%

D=4%N=<6J%BC%9P_XUP%2>%?%34=ZCEA%A=A?68%AGC%3?4R5FM%A=%<F5A%4?A5=%

5>%UP7XU%D=4%3G?>C%U%?FJ%9%E=@B5FCJP%

SH%?EEC>>5FM%0P%[?5F%(A%NC%E?F%34=K5JC%D54C%?EEC>>%A=%AGC%

>=<AG%>5JC%=D%AGC%>5AC%N5AG%65@5ACJ%CFK54=F@CFA?6%5@3?EA>%

?FJ%?%6=NC4%E?4B=F%D==A345FA%BH%<>5FM%>5MF5D5E?FA6H%6C>>%

E=F>A4<EA5=F%@?AC45?6>%><EG%?>%E=FE4CACP%2EEC>>%A=%0P%[?5F%

(A4CCA%5>%34=3=>CJ%NG56C%AGC%,'.%>A?AC>%?EEC>>%A=%0P%[?5F%

(AP%5>%EG?66CFM5FMP%0C%AG5FR%5A%5>%?%N=4AGNG56C%J5>E<>>5=F%A=%

G?KC%?B=<A%?EEC>>%KC4><>%CFK54=F@CFAP%2>%?F%?6AC4F?A5KC%

?334=?EG8%6==3CJ%KCG5E6C%?EEC>>%E=FFCEA5FM%AGC%F=4AG%?FJ%

>=<AG%4=?J>%N=<6J%BC%4CO<54CJ%5D%?EEC>>%A=%0P%[?5F%(A4CCA%

E=<6J%F=A%BC%?EG5CKCJP%

!=FFCEA5FM%A4?56>%D4=@%AGC%>R?AC%3?4R%E=<6J%BC%?%3=ACFA5?6%

E=66?B=4?A5KC%Cf%=4A%N5AG%AGC%!5AH8%Cf%CEA5KC6H%E=FFCEA5FM%AGC%

4CE4C?A5=F%D?E565A5C>%5F%AGC%F=4AGC?>A%A=%AGC%NCA6?FJ>%?>%?%

3<B65E%3?4R%AG=<MG%345K?AC%?FJ%3<B65E%=NFC4>G53P%%%

SITE UTILITY SUMMARY

'=4%3G?>C%U%?FJ%9%NC%G?KC%3?4AFC4CJ%N5AG%]&?R>%

+FM5FCC45FM8%?%!5K56%+FM5FCC45FM%D54@%B?>CJ%5F%(56KC4A=FP%

#GCH%G?KC%34=K5JCJ%AGC%D=66=N5FM%>5AC%<A565AH%><@@?4H%D=4%

AGC%3G?>C%9%34=3=>?6X

WATER. 0C%G?KC%?>><@CJ%AG?A%AGC%!5AH%N566%4CO<54C%

AGC%65FC%5F%0P%[?5F%(A4CCA%A=%BC%C\ACFJCJ%?A%6C?>A%A=%AGC%

34=ZCEA%B=<FJ?4H8%NC%<FJC4>A?FJ%AGC%E5AH%@?H%D<4AGC4%

4CO<54C%5A%?6=FM%AGC%D<66%D4=FA?MCP#GC%!5AH%@?H%?6>=%4CO<54C%

AGC%65FC%A=%BC%C\ACFJCJ%J=NF%1?KCF3=4A%)?FC%?FJ%6==3CJ%

AG4=<MG%AGC%>5AC%5F%?%3<B65E%C?>C@CFA%?FJ%B?ER%<3%A=%0%

[?5F%(A4CCA%5F%.G?>C%9P

SEWER. 05AG%AGC%6=E?A5=F%=D%AGC%34=3C4AH8%>6=35FM%?N?H%

D4=@%B=AG%0%[?5F%(A4CCA%?FJ%1?KCF3=4A%)?FC%?%>CNC4%65DA%

>A?A5=F%G?>%BCCF%?>><@CJP

STORMWATER. S?>CJ%=F%?4C?%>=56%E=FJ5A5=F>8%NC%G?KC%

?>><@CJ%=FL>5AC%5FD56A4?A5=F%5>%F=A%DC?>5B6CP%(A=4@N?AC4%

5>%34=3=>CJ%A=%J5>EG?4MC%A=%AGC%E4CCR%34=K5JCJ%NC%

J=FIA%5FE4C?>C%AGC%4<F=DD%D4=@%.4C%A=%.=>A%1CKC6=3@CFAP%%

26AC4F?A5KC6H8%=FL>5AC%>A=4@N?AC4%B?>5F>%?A%AGC%>=<AG%h%

NC>A%CJMC%=D%AGC%34=3C4AH%E?F%BC%?EE=@@=J?ACJ%BH%

C5AGC4%4CO<54C%?JJ5A5=F?6%>5AC%?4C?%=4%?%4CJ<EA5=F%A=%>=@C%

E=@B5F?A5=F%=D%34=M4?@8%=3CF%>3?EC8%3?4R5FM%=4%B<56J5FM%

?4C?P%%

PHASE 2 UNIT TYPE AND QUANTITIES

TYPE 1 BR 2 BR 3 BR TOTAL

,CFA?6%TF5A> U9 U; : 9^

(5FM6C%'?@56H%1NC665FM 7 7

TOTAL FAMILY-SIZED UNITS 23

TOTAL UNITS 35

PHASE 2 COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

AMENITY SQFT/QUANTITY

1CKC6=3CJ%S<56J5FM> ``8^^;%(b'#

&3CF%(3?EC U]_8Ua_ (b'#

.?4R5FM%(A?66> ^^

!"#$%&'(')*+,'-.%.'/,%0*-121.1%*3%

456"78*9-'&%:#12-'11'1;%)'('$/<2-<%

'=+'$.21'%.>$*#<>%)*0/)%0*-1#)./-.1%

2-0)#&2-<%?"/@1%A-<2-''$2-<%/-&%

B/#$#1%C'12<-1%:/1'&%2-%D2)('$.*-E



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Design Page 11

PHASE 2 PHASE 2

PHASE 1 PHASE 1

LIMITATIONS OF PHASE 2 SITE DESIGN. !"#$%#&#'()*+'#$*,#*$(-$)"*.#$/0$+*.#%$(1$2"#$3#2'*1%$41-(,5*24(10$4.$-*4,'6$'4542#%7$!"#$3#2'*1%$,#)(,2$

),(&4%#%$+6$2"#$8426$9(12#1%.$2"*2$2"#$.2,#*5$(1$2"#$.42#$4.$412#,5#12$*1%$1(1:-4."$+#*,41;7$<(,$2"4.$,#*.(10$3#$"*&#$+*.#%$2"#$%#.4;1$(-$)"*.#$/$5*412*4141;$*$

=>:-((2$+?--#,$@(1#$*'(1;$#*9"$+*1A$9(1-(,541;$2($.2*2#$,#B?4,#5#12.$(-$1(1:-4."$+#*,41;$.2,#*5.7$C.$6(?$9*1$.##0$2"4.$?1%#&#'()*+'#$+?--#,$9(1.?5#.$5?9"$

(-$2"#$.42#7$D#$+#'4#&#0$"(3#&#,0$2"*2$*1$#19,(*9"5#12$412($2"#$+?--#,$2($),(&4%#$&#"49'#$9,(..41;$(-$2"#$.2,#*5$4.$3(,2"3"4'#$*1%$*''(3.$*$9(11#924(1$(-$2"#$

+?4'%*+'#$@(1#$2($2"#$.(?2"7$C$)*,A0$342"$"4A41;$2,*4'.$5*A#$?.#$(-$2"#$3#2'*1%$+?--#,$@(1#$3"49"$9*1$+#$()#1$2($2"#$;,#*2#,$9(55?1426$2($#1E(67

DESIGN INTENT AND GOAL. F?,$5*.2#,)'*1$#1&4.4(1.$2"#$%#&#'()5#12$(-$)"*.#$/$

*.$*$9(5)'#5#12*,6$#G2#1.4(1$(-$2"#$.9*'#$(-$+?4'%41;$26)#.0$*5#1424#.0$*1%$94,9?'*24(1$

(-$)"*.#$H7$I14B?#$2($)"*.#$/$4.$2"#$419'?.4(1$(-$.41;'#:-*54'6$%3#''41;$?142.$2($),(&4%#$*$

%4&#,.426$(-$"(5#$41&#12(,6$41$2"#$8426$*1%$*1$())(,2?1426$-(,$"(5#(31#,."4)7$J#12*'$?142.$

*,#$9'?.2#,#%$2($2"#$1(,2"$2($5*412*41$*$9(22*;#$.26'#$9(55?1426$-##'41;7

K*&#1)(,2$L*1#$MG2#124(1$342"$),()(.#%$(1:

.2,##2$)*,A41;0$9(1241?41;$)*22#,1$-,(5$%(;$)*,A

N*41$M12,*19#

8(55?1426$O?4'%41;$342"$()#1$.)*9#

P(9A#2$P*,A

!,*4'$8(11#924(1$2($QA*2#$P*,A

!,*4'$R#23(,A

P,()(.#%$9(11#924(1$2($D$N*41$Q2

<4,#$2,?9A$2?,1*,(?1%

MG4.241;$K(;$P*,A

MG4.241;$!,##$2($+#$

P,#.#,&#%

QA*2#$P*,A

Q
#
1
4(
,$
8
#
1
2#
,

D
#
.2
-4
#
'%
$Q
2

D
$N
*4
1$
Q2
,#
#2

C..?5#%$=>S$

D#2'*1%$O?T$#,

P,()(.#%$D#2'*1%$

8,(..41;

C..?5#%$=>S$

D#2'*1%$O?T$#,

P,()(.#%$Q41;'#:

-*54'6$"(?.41;

Q#3#,$M*.#5#12

M*.2UD#.2$!,*4'

Q2,##2$-*941;$?142.$

'4141;$K*&#1)(,2$

L*1#

P(9A#2$P*,A

MASTER PLAN - PHASE 1 & 2



PROGRAM



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Program Page 13

PROGRAM SUMMARY

HOUSING UNIT MIX AND AFFORDABILITY 

&<4%34=3=>?6%N566%=DDC4%?3?4A@CFA>%AG?A%N566%BC%?DD=4J?B6C%

A=%G=<>CG=6J>%C?4F5FM%^:V%?FJ%BC6=N%AGC%24C?%[CJ5?F%

"FE=@C%c2["dP%#GC%34=ZCEA%34=3=>C>%`]%A=A?6%<F5A>8%N5AG%

7%=FCLBCJ4==@8%99%AN=LBCJ4==@>8%_%AG4CCLBCJ4==@%

<F5A>%5FE6<J5FM%?F%=FL>5AC%@?F?MC4>%<F5A%AG4=<MG%?%@5\%

=D%J<36C\C>8%A4536C\C>8%?FJ%D=<436C\C>P%(A?AC%D<FJ5FM%

>=<4EC>%4CO<54C%AG?A%4CFA%BC%4C>A45EACJ%A=%5FJ5K5J<?6>%=4%

D?@565C>%@?R5FM%^:V%2["P%9]%c]9Vd%=D%AGC%?3?4A@CFA>%N566%

BC%9L%h%`LBCJ4==@%<F5A>%A=%?>>5>A%AGC%M=?6%=D%34=K5J5FM%

D?@56H%>5QCJ%?DD=4J?B6C%G=@C>%AG?A%?4C%@<6A5MCFC4?A5=F?68%

@<6A5E<6A<4?6%?FJ%E?AC45FM%A=%?%K?45C4AH%=D%5FE=@C%6CKC6>P

&<4%C\3C4A5>C%?FJ%3?>>5=F%5>%>C4K5FM%?%@5\%=D%5FJ5K5J<?6>%

?FJ%D?@565C>%C\3C45CFE5FM%D5F?FE5?6%FCCJ>P%2JJ5A5=F?66H8%

=<4%34=3=>?6%>G=N>%=<4%E=@@5A@CFA%A=%?EEC>>5B6C%

JCKC6=3@CFA%N5AG%=KC4%]_V%=D%AGC%A=A?6%<F5A>%BC5FM%212%

?EEC>>5B6C%=4%?J?3A?B6C%D=4%3C4>=F>%N5AG%J5>?B565A5C>P%0C%

G=3C%A=%3?4AFC4%N5AG%AGC%[?45=F%!=<FAH%i=<>5FM%2<AG=45AH%

A=%E==4J5F?AC%?EEC>>%D=4%?JJ5A5=F?6%4CFA?6%?>>5>A?FEC%

34=M4?@>%?FJ%FCCJ>%D=4%3C4@?FCFA%><33=4A5KC%G=<>5FM8%

M5KCF%AGC%=33=4A<F5AHP%(CC%<F5A%@5\%?FJ%?DD=4J?B565AH%@?A45\%

A=%BC6=N%D=4%@=4C%5FD=4@?A5=FP

PHASE 1 UNIT TYPE AND QUANTITIES

TYPE 1 BR 2 BR 3 BR TOTAL

^:V%TF5A> 7 9` _ `^

TOTAL FAMILY-SIZED UNITS 28

TOTAL UNITS 37

PHASE 1 COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

AMENITY SQFT/QUANTITY

1CKC6=3CJ%S<56J5FM> `98]a^%(b'#

&3CF%(3?EC ;`8:^` (b'#

!=@@<F5AH%,==@ U8]Ua:%(b'#

.?4R5FM%(A?66> ^U

RESIDENTIAL AMENITIES

#GC%?334=?EG%A=%4C>5JCFA%?@CF5A5C>%5>%A=%34=K5JC%>G?4CJ%

?@CF5A5C>%?>%M4C?A%?>%3=>>5B6C%A=%@?\5@5QC%<F5A>%?FJ%

34=@=AC%E=@@<F5AH%M?AGC45FMP%+@36=H5FM%TF5KC4>?6%

1C>5MF%.45FE536C>%5F%AGC>C%E=@@=F%?4C?>%N566%CF><4C%

?EEC>>%A=%><33=4A5KC%>C4K5EC>P%TF5KC4>?6%1C>5MF%.45FE536C>%

5FE6<JC%34=K5J5FM%N5JC%3?AGN?H>8%MCFC4=<>%@?FC<KC45FM%

>3?EC8%5FE4C?>CJ%?EEC>>8%?FJ%?%E=@34CGCF>5KC8%E6C?4%

N?HD5FJ5FM%>H>AC@P%2JJ5A5=F?66H8%3<B65E%4C>A4==@>%N566%BC%

MCFJC4%FC<A4?6%A=%4C>3CEA%?66%5JCFA5A5C>P

!CFA4?6%A=%AGC%>5AC%N566%BC%?%E=@@<F5AH%4==@%NG5EG%N566%

G=>A%><33=4A5KC%D<FEA5=F>%5FE6<J5FM%?%N?5A5FM%6=BBH8%?F%

=DD5EC%D=4%AGC%34=3C4AH%@?F?MC4%?FJ%4C>5JCFA%>C4K5EC%

E==4J5F?A=4P%#GC%E=@@<F5AH%4==@%5A>C6D%N566%BC%=<AD5AACJ%

N5AG%?%3<B65E%R5AEGCF%A=%G=>A%65DCLCF45EG5FM%?FJ%><33=4A5KC%

N=4R>G=3>P%"A>%E6=>C%?JZ?ECFEH%A=%AGC%=<AJ==4%E=@@<F5AH%

M?4JCF%34=K5JC>%?%M4C?A%=33=4A<F5AH%D=4%E==R5FM%

JC@=F>A4?A5=F>%?FJ%=AGC4%GC?6AG%?FJ%NC66FC>>%D=E<>CJ%

?EA5K5A5C>P%

2JJ5A5=F?6%B<56J5FM%?@CF5A5C>%?FJ%DC?A<4C>%5FE6<JCX

Y% D)*<&()*+&',001+%',+0"$,001+70::0'+#-%7*#+N5AG%

>G?4CJ%<>C>%A=%@?\5@5QC%=33=4A<F5A5C>%D=4%EG?FM5FM%

FCCJ>P%#G5>%5FE6<JC>%=<AJ==4%3?K565=F>8%N?6R5FM%A4?56>8%

?FJ%E=KC4CJ%?FJ%<FE=KC4CJ%B5RC%3?4R5FM

Y% E'F#&$*+G%"',14+H%7&)&$&*#+A=%@?\5@5QC%CDD5E5CFEH%

?FJ%C?>C%D=4%4C>5JCFA>

I+ J&D&+&'+70::0'+#-%7*#%A=%E=FFCEA%4C>5JCFA>%A=%

AGC%NCB%>=%AGCH%E?F%3?H%B566>8%GC63%EG56J4CF%N5AG%

>EG==6N=4R8%=4%Z<>A%A=%G?KC%?EEC>>%D=4%4CE4C?A5=F?6%

B4=N>5FMP%

I+ E'F#&$*+9%1@&'2+N5AG%?%4?A5=%=D%UP^XUP%

I+ K0::"'&$4+*.*'$+#-%7*%N5AG%D==J%34C3%R5AEGCF%

I+ 8*#&,*'$+!*1.&7*+EHH&7*#%D=4%UXU%@CCA5FM>P

Y% K0::"'%)+-017/*#%D=4%B<56J5FM%>3CE5D5E%4C>5JCFA>P

Y% L&@*+9%1@&'2%AG?A%5>%E=KC4CJ%?FJ%<FE=KC4CJP

I+ K*'$1%)&=*,+$1%#/+D=4%E=FKCF5CFA%@?F?MC@CFA



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Program Page 14

BUILDING NARRATIVE 

OVERALL DESIGN APPROACH SUMMARY

#GC%34=ZCEA%3<4><C>%?%G<@?FLECFAC4CJ%?334=?EG%AG?A%

E=F>5JC4>%B=AG%<F5KC4>?6%?FJ%?EEC>>5B6C%JC>5MF%345FE536C>%

AG4=<MG%?F%=<AE=@CLB?>CJ%JC>5MF%34=EC>>%D=4%B=AG%

AGC%>5AC%?FJ%B<56J5FMP%#GC%4C><6A%5>%U`%B<56J5FM>%AG?A%N566%

34=K5JC%`]%FCN%?DD=4J?B6C%<F5A>%AG?A%4C>3=FJ%A=%AGC%

E=FAC\A%=D%AGC%(56KC4A=F%E=@@<F5AHP

#GC%B<56J5FM>%N566%BC%=45CFACJ%?4=<FJ%?%ECFA4?6%E=@@<F5AH%

B<56J5FMP%#G5>%5>%J=FC%A=%?FEG=4%AGC%>5AC%?FJ%34=K5JC%

>3?E5?6%N?HD5FJ5FM%A=%C>A?B65>G%?%3CJC>A45?F%34C>CFEC%

?FJ%>E?6CP%0C%?4C%34=3=>5FM%A=%J5K5JC%AGC%>5AC%5FA=%AG4CC%

E=@3=FCFA>%>C3?4?ACJ%BH%AN=%4=?J>%=45CFACJ%F=4AG%

A=%>=<AGP%#G5>%6?H=<A%@?\5@5QC>%3?4R5FM%=33=4A<F5A5C>%

?FJ%J5>A45B<AC>%3?4R5FM%@=4C%CKCF6H%D=4%4C>5JCFAI>%

E=FKCF5CFECP%#=%D<4AGC4%5@34=KC%AGC%3CJC>A45?F%E54E<6?A5=F%

?FJ%C\3C45CFEC%NC%?4C%5FE6<J5FM%3CJC>A45?F%A4?56>%

E=FFCEA5FM%AGC%>5AC%C?>A%A=%NC>AP

SITE DESIGN AND AMENITIES

#GC%>5AC%5>%5FACFA5=F?66H%6?5J%=<A%A=%@?\5@5QC%JCKC6=3@CFA%

=33=4A<F5AH%?FJ%A=%34=K5JC%?%B?6?FEC%=D%?JCO<?AC%

3?4R5FM8%B<A%?JJ5A5=F?66H8%A=%34=K5JC%?@36C%6?FJ>E?35FM%

?FJ%=3CF%>3?EC>P%&<4%345@?4H%>A4?ACMH%D=4%JC>5MF5FM%AGC%

>5AC%5>%A=%34=K5JC%?%N5JC%K?45CAH%=D%=3CF%?FJ%?EEC>>5B6C%

>3?EC>%D=4%M?AGC45FM8%5FE6<J5FM%E=KC4CJ%?FJ%=3CF%

>C?A5FM8%?%E=@@<F5AH%M?4JCF%N5AG%4?5>CJ%BCJ>8%F?A5KC%

36?FA%6?FJ>E?35FM8%F?A<4CLB?>CJ%?EEC>>5B6C%36?HM4=<FJ>8%

3?K565=F>8%35EF5E%>A4<EA<4C>8%3CJC>A45?F%A4?56>8%?FJ%?%

AG=<MGAD<6%E=F>5JC4?A5=F%A=%D54C%4C>5>A?FA%6?FJ>E?3C%

JC>5MFP%#GC%4C><6A%5>%>E<63ACJ%4C>5JCFA5?6%>3?EC>%

?FJ%=<AJ==4%?@CF5AH%?4C?>%AG?A%B?6?FEC%3<B65E%?FJ%

345K?AC%C\3C45CFEC>P

ART APPROACH AND GOALS

&<4%?4A%?334=?EG%BCM5F>%N5AG%AGC%<FJC4>A?FJ5FM%AG?A%AGC%

B<56A%CFK54=F@CFA%4C34C>CFA>%?F%=33=4A<F5AH%A=%E<6A5K?AC%

E=@@<F5AH%?FJ%5JCFA5AHP%24A%N566%36?H%?%35K=A?6%4=6C%5F%

?EG5CK5FM%AGC>C%=BZCEA5KC>%BH%5FD<>5FM%>3?EC>%N5AG%

K5B4?FEH8%E=6=48%E<6A<4C8%?FJ%>=E5?6%5FAC4?EA5=FP%&<4%?4A%

M=?6>%?4C%A=%5FACM4?AC%?4A%>C?@6C>>6H%5FA=%AGC%D?B45E%=D%AGC%

JCKC6=3@CFA8%4CD6CEA5FM%AGC%<F5O<C%EG?4?EAC4%=D%(56KC4A=F%

NG56C%34=@=A5FM%5FE6<>5K5AH%?FJ%E4C?A5K5AHP%#G5>%N566%BC%

J=FC%BH%?%E=@B5F?A5=F%=D%@<4?6>8%3?5FA5FM>8%=4%>E<63A<4C>%

A=%E4C?AC%D=E?6%3=5FA>%D=4%>=E5?6%5FAC4?EA5=FP

2JJ5A5=F?66H8%NC%N566%5FK=6KC%AGC%E=@@<F5AH%5F%AGC%?4A%

>C6CEA5=F%34=EC>>%NGCF%DC?>5B6C%A=%E4C?AC%=NFC4>G53%?FJ%

345JC%?@=FM%4C>5JCFA>P%0C%N566%>=65E5A%A?6CFA%D4=@%AGC%6=E?6%

E=@@<F5AH%A=%C\34C>>%AGC%E<6A<4?6%GC45A?MC%=D%(56KC4A=F%

AG4=<MG%?4AN=4R%AG?A%4CD6CEA>%5A>%G5>A=4H8%A4?J5A5=F>8%

?FJ%K?6<C>P

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

&<4%34=3=>?6%E=F>5>A>%=D%AGC%D=66=N5FM%><>A?5F?B565AH%M=?6>%

?FJ%DC?A<4C>X

SITE DESIGN. 1C>5MFCJ%N5AG%.CJC>A45?F%!54E<6?A5=F%

345=45A5QCJ%65FR5FM%4C>5JCFA>%C?>AWNC>A%?FJ%A=%.G?>C%9%

N566%CFE=<4?MC%N?6R5FM%AG4=<MG=<A%AGC%>5AC%?FJ%A=%AGC%

B4=?JC4%E=@@<F5AHP

LANDSCAPE. 2J?3A5KC%?FJ%-?A5KC%36?FA>%N566%BC%<>CJ%

AG4=<MG=<A%AGC%34=ZCEAP%#<4F%N566%BC%<>CJ%5F%65@5ACJ%?4C?>%

D=4%4C>5JCFA%<>C%?66%HC?4P%#GC%6?FJ>E?3C%N566%BC%5445M?ACJ%

N5AG%N?AC4%CDD5E5CFA%>H>AC@>P

SOLAR ORIENTATIONP%#GC%@?Z=45AH%=D%B<56J5FM>%?4C%

=45CFACJ%D=4%>=<AGC4F%4==D%C\3=><4C%A=%5FACM4?AC%>=6?4%.*%

>H>AC@>P%#GC%<F5A>%MCFC4?66H%5FACM4?AC%6?4MC%N5FJ=N>%D=4%

?@36C%J?H65MGA%N5AG5F%AGC%B<56J5FM>P

HIGH PERFORMANCE BUILDING ENVELOPEP%#GC%

B<56J5FM%CFKC6=3C%N566%BC%JC>5MFCJ%D=4%G5MG%5F><6?A5=F%

K?6<C>%?FJ%?54%A5MGA%JC>5MF%A=%E=F>C4KC%CFC4MHP%i5MG%

CDD5E5CFEH%N5FJ=N>%?FJ%J==4>%N566%?6>=%BC%5FE6<JCJP%

HIGH EFFICIENCY APPLIANCES & LIGHTING. 266%

?3365?FEC>%N566%BC%+FC4MH%(A?4%4?ACJ%?FJ%?66%65MGA5FM%N566%

BC%G5MG%CDD5E5CFEH%)+1%D5\A<4C>P%)5MGA5FM%E=6=4%AC@3C4?A<4C%

N566%BC%JC>5MFCJ%D=4%4C>5JCFA5?6%DCC6%4?AGC4%AG?F%E==6C4%

E=@@C4E5?6%65MGA5FMP

ALL ELECTRIC.%#GC%JCKC6=3@CFA%N566%BC%34=3=>CJ%?>%

?66%C6CEA45E%N5AG=<A%AGC%<>C%=D%E?4B=F%B?>CJ%D<C6>P%i5MG%

CDD5E5CFEH%C6CEA45E%N?AC4%GC?AC4>%N566%BC%34=3=>CJ%N5AG5F%

C?EG%<F5AP

AIR QUALITYP%266%<F5A>%N566%BC%CO<533CJ%N5AG%D56AC4CJ%D4C>G%

?54%<>5FM%GC?A%4CE=KC4H%KCFA56?A5=F%>H>AC@>P%#GC%34=ZCEA%

N566%?6>=%5FE6<JC%?54%E=FJ5A5=F5FM%?EE=@@=J?A5=F>%A=%?66=N%

4C>5JCFA>%A=%E==6%AGC54%<F5A>%CKCF%J<45FM%3==4%?54%O<?65AH%

CKCFA>%><EG%?>%N56JD54C>P%%

DURABILITY. "FAC45=4%?FJ%C\AC45=4%@?AC45?6>%N566%BC%

>C6CEACJ%D=4%AGC54%J<4?B565AH%?FJ%?B565AH%A=%@?5FA?5F%?%G5MGL

O<?65AH%34=ZCEAP%

THIRD-PARTY VERIFICATIONP%2%E=F><6A?FA%>C3?4?AC%

D4=@%AGC%JC>5MF%?FJ%E=F>A4<EA5=F%AC?@>%N566%34=K5JC%AG54JL

3?4AH%KC45D5E?A5=F%AGC%><>A?5F?B6C%JC>5MF%>A4?ACM5C>%NC4C%

5@36C@CFACJ%?>%5FACFJCJP

EARTH ADVANTAGE CERTIFICATION =D%g=6J%=4%M4C?AC4P

SOLAR PANELS. &<4%34=ZCEA%?5@>%34=K5JC%U::V%

4CFCN?B6C%CFC4MH%34=J<EA5=F%A=%D<66H%E=KC4%CFC4MH%

JC@?FJ8%F=A%Z<>A%5F%E=@@=F%?4C?>P%#G5>%J54CEA6H%BCFCD5A>%

AGC%4C>5JCFA%BH%?66=N5FM%AGC%JCKC6=3C4%A=%E=KC4%<A565AH%

4C>5JCFA%B566>P%



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Program Page 15

SERVICES NARRATIVE 

i?E5CFJ?%!1!%5>%?%<F5O<C%=4M?F5Q?A5=F%?>%NC%?4C%B=AG%

?%JCKC6=3C4%?FJ%>C4K5EC%34=K5JC4%NG5EG%@C?F>%NC%G?KC%

J54CEA%?EEC>>%?FJ%?B565AH%A=%C\CE<AC%FCCJ>%5JCFA5D5CJ%

BH%4C>5JCFA>P%2>%?%E<6A<4?66H%>3CE5D5E%=4M?F5Q?A5=F8%?%

ECFA4?6%35CEC%=D%i?E5CFJ?I>%@5>>5=F%5>%A=%?JK?FEC%CO<5AH%

5F%?EEC>>%?FJ%=<AE=@C>%A=%34=K5JC%>C4K5EC>%AG?A%M=%

BCH=FJ%G=<>5FM%A=%><33=4A%CE=F=@5E%?FJ%CJ<E?A5=F?6%

@=B565AH%D=4%?66%4C>5JCFA>%5F%?66%?MC>8%E<6A4<?6%B?ERM4=<FJ>8%

6?FM<?MC>8%?FJ%>A?MC>%=D%65DCP%#GC%34=ZCEA%N566%5FE6<JC%

>CKC4?6%34=M4?@>%NG5EG%N566%?66=N%D=4%CFG?FECJ%4C>5JCFA%

>C4K5EC>%?A%AGC%34=3C4AH%A=%><33=4A%?FJ%C@3=NC4%?%

4C>565CFA%E=@@<F5AHP%2JJ5A5=F?66H8%=<4%D5F?FE5?6%?FJ%J5M5A?6%

65AC4?EH%34=M4?@>8%>@?66%B<>5FC>>%E=?EG5FM8%?FJ%G=<>5FM%

?>>5>A?FEC%34=M4?@>%?4C%F=A%C\E6<>5KC%A=%4C>5JCFA>8%B<A%

=3CF%A=%AGC%6?4MC4%E=@@<F5AHP%

RESIDENT SERVICES

i?E5CFJ?%JC65KC4>%?%><5AC%=D%34=M4?@>%A=%B<56J%=F%AGC%

>A4CFMAG>%=D%=<4%4C>5JCFA>%?FJ%GC63%AGC@%?EG5CKC%AGC54%

J4C?@>P%#GC%,C>5JCFA%(C4K5EC>%!==4J5F?A=4>%?4C%RCH%A=%

E=FFCEA5FM%4C>5JCFA>%A=%i?E5CFJ?I>%34=M4?@>P%2>%NC%MCA%

A=%RF=N%AGC%D?@565C>%?FJ%AGC54%FCCJ>8%NC%E?F%34=K5JC%

N?4@%5FA4=J<EA5=F>%A=%34=M4?@%>A?DD%?FJ%GC63%4C>5JCFA>%

CF4=66P%i?E5CFJ?%N566%G?KC%UP:%'#+%,C>5JCFA%(C4K5EC>%

!==4J5F?A=4%=F%>5ACP

&KC4%AGC%HC?4>8%i?E5CFJ?%G?>%JCKC6=3CJ%?%><5AC%=D%

34=M4?@>%A=%B<56J%=F%AGC%>A4CFMAG>%=D%=<4%4C>5JCFA>%?FJ%

GC63%AGC@%?EG5CKC%AGC54%J4C?@>P%#GC>C%34=M4?@>%N566%BC%

?EEC>>5B6C%A=%AG5>%E=@@<F5AH%?FJ%@?H%5FE6<JCX%%

PATH TO HOME PRGORAM. %'5F?FE5?6%E=?EG5FM%?FJ%

G=@C%=NFC4>G53%34C3?4?A5=F%BH%i?E5CFJ?I>%iT1LEC4A5D5CJ%

G=<>5FM%E=<F>C6=4>P

SOWING SEEDS PROGRAM. i?E5CFJ?I>%C?46H%

EG56JG==J%CJ<E?A5=F%34=M4?@%B45FM>%EC4A5D5CJ%3?4CFA%

CJ<E?A=4>%5FA=%AGC%G=@C>%=D%D?@565C>%N5AG%EG56J4CF%?MC%

:L_P%&<4%+?46H%!G56JG==J%+J<E?A=4>%C@3=NC4%3?4CFA>%A=%

6C?4F%?B=<A%AGC54%EG56JI>%JCKC6=3@CFA8%GC63%3?4CFA>%@CCA%

AGC%FCCJ>%=D%AGC54%EG56J%?>%AGCH%M4=N%?FJ%34C3?4C%A=%CFAC4%

>EG==6P%

EXPRESSIONS PROGRAM. i?E5CFJ?%=DDC4>%

=<AL=DL>EG==6%34=M4?@@5FM%D=4%H=<AG%5F%M4?JC>%

jLaP%(A<JCFA>%4CEC5KC%?E?JC@5E%A<A=45FM8%?EEC>>%A=%

CF45EG@CFA%=33=4A<F5A5C>8%3?4CFA%CFM?MC@CFA8%?FJ%

4C>=<4EC%5JCFA5D5E?A5=F

ABC’S OF SMALL BUSINESS. 0=4R>G=3>%N5AG%=FCL

=FL=FC%B<>5FC>>%?JK5>=4>%D=4%D5F?FE5?6%E=?EG5FM8%?EEC>>%A=%

6CM?6%E65F5E>8%?FJ%?EEC>>%A=%E=FEC3ALA=LE=F><@C4%><33=4A%

A=%D=>AC4%CFA4C34CFC<4>G53%?FJ%CE=@=@5E%JCKC6=3@CFA%5F%

AGC%E5AH%D4=@%AGC%M4=<FJ%<3P%



PROFORMA



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Proforma Page 17

CONCEPTUAL FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

SOURCES AND USES SUMMARY

������� ��	
� ������	 ��	��

��������	
�� ������������������������ ���������������������� ��������������������������� �

�������������������
�� �������������������������� � ����������������������� ������������������������������ �

 ��!�������"�� ������������������������ ��#������������������ ��������������������������� �

$%&� �������������������������� ����#������������������� ����������������������������� �

���������	���"'�$���"� �������������������������� � ������������������������� � ������������������������������ �

$��(����� ������������������������� ��������������������� ���������������������������� �

)�'������)�*��"+������ ������������������������� �����#����������������� ���������������������������� �

�),-��	��� ���#��������������������� ����������������������� ���#������������������������ �

()��.�
*�� �������������������������� ����������������������� ����������������������������� �

������������ ���������� ������� ����������

���� ��	
� ������	 ��	��

/0�	
�
�
"� ������������������������������� � ��������������������������� � ����������������������������������� �

�"����	0�
"� ����#������������������ ��������������������� ����#�����������������������

("'���"��� ������������������������ �����#����������������� ��������������������������� �

�
���0
����"��� ������������������������ ����������������������� ��������������������������� �

%����*�� �������������������������� ������������������������ ����������������������������� �

)�*��"+������ ������������������������� ���������������������� ���������������������������� �

��������� ���������� ������� ����������

(	�+�	��12��+34 2�3����������������������������� � 2�3��������������������������������� �

�"����	0�
"���"����!"	�� ���������������������������������

,"����!"	�� ���������������������������������



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Proforma Page 18

PROJECT PROFORMA

PLEASE SEE DIGITAL ATTACHMENT FOR PROFORMA WORKBOOK

(PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)



DEAL STRUCTURE 

AND FINANCE



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 20Deal Structure 

PRIMARY FUND SOURCE PURSUED 

2DD=4J?B6C%G=<>5FM%5>%34CK?6CFA6H%D<FJCJ%N5AG%)=NL"FE=@C%

i=<>5FM%#?\%!4CJ5A%c)"i#!d%S=FJ>8%NG5EG%?4C%?66=E?ACJ%

BH%AGC%DCJC4?6%M=KC4F@CFA%?FF<?66H%A=%AGC%>A?AC>P%"F%

&4CM=F8%&4CM=F%i=<>5FM%?FJ%!=@@<F5AH%(C4K5EC>%

c&i!(d%?J@5F5>AC4>%?FJ%?N?4J>%AGC>C%D<FJ>8%?@=FM%=AGC4%

DCJC4?6%?FJ%>A?AC%D<FJ5FM%>=<4EC>P%#GC>C%)"i#!%D<FJ>%?4C%

>C3?4?ACJ%5F%AN=%J5DDC4CFA%E?ACM=45C>k%7V%)"i#!8%NG5EG%

?4C%@=4C%E=@3CA5A5KC%J<C%A=%AGC%G5MG%><B>5JH%BCFCD5A8%

B<A%65@5ACJ%?N?4J%E?FJ5J?AC>k%?FJ%;V%)"i#!8%NG5EG%G?>%

?%6?4MC4%3==6%A=%J4?N%D4=@8%B<A%N5AG%?%>@?66C4%><B>5JH%

BCFCD5AP%#GC>C%)"i#!%E4CJ5A>%4CO<54C%?DD=4J?B6C%G=<>5FM%A=%

>C4KC%5FJ5K5J<?6>%?FJ%D?@565C>%@?R5FM%^:V%2FF<?6%[CJ5?F%

"FE=@C%c2["d%?FJ%BC6=NP%2DD=4J?B6C%i=<>5FM%4C65C>%=F%

AGC>C%>=<4EC>%=D%CO<5AH8%BCE?<>C%N5AG=<A%AGC@%AGC4C%

N=<6J%F=A%BC%CF=<MG%5FE=@C%MCFC4?ACJ%?A%AGC%34=3C4A5C>%

A=%><33=4A%AGC%34=ZCEA%JCBA%=F%AGC%34=3C4AH%=4%A=%?AA4?EA%

345K?AC%@?4RCA%5FKC>A=4>P%

'=4%9:9;8%AGC4C%?4C%F=%7V%=4%;V%A?\%E4CJ5A>%?K?56?B6C%

D=4%J5>B<4>C@CFAP%i=NCKC48%NC%C\3CEA%AG?A%AGC4C%N566%

BC%A?\%E4CJ5A>%?K?56?B6C%5F%9:9_%?FJ%9:9^P%#GC%A5@5FM%

D=4%AG5>%34=ZCEA8%G=NCKC48%?65MF>%NC66%N5AG%AGC%D<FJ5FM%

>=<4EC>P%.4CJCKC6=3@CFA%?EA5K5A5C>8%5FE6<J5FM%?4EG5ACEA<4?6%

J4?N5FM>8%B5JJ5FM8%3C4@5AA5FM8%6?FJ%<>C%4CK5CN8%

CFK54=F@CFA?6%4CK5CN8%CAEP8%N=<6J%3=>5A5=F%AG5>%34=ZCEA%D=4%

?%9:9_%=4%9:9^%A?\%E4CJ5A%?66=E?A5=FP%i=NCKC48%AGC4C%?4C%

9:9;%?66=E?A5=F>%=D%34CJCKC6=3@CFA%M4?FA>%?FJ%E?3?E5AH%

B<56J5FM%M4?FA>%AG?A%i?E5CFJ?8%?>%?%F=FL34=D5A%E<6A<4?66H%

>3CE5D5E%JCKC6=3C48%N=<6J%BC%?B6C%A=%?336H%D=4%?FJ%4?FR%

E=@3CA5A5KC6H%G5MG%?>%E=@3?4CJ%A=%F=FL%E<6A<4?66H%>3CE5D5E%

JCKC6=3C4>P%%

#G5>%HC?48%&i!(%5>%4CE=FD5M<45FM%AGC%-=A5EC%=D%'<FJ5FM%

23365E?A5=F>%D=4%A?\%E4CJ5A>P%0G56C%AG5>%FCN%34=EC>>8%

RF=NF%?>%AGC%&4CM=F%!CFA4?65QCJ%23365E?A5=F%c&,!2d8%

?5@>%A=%>A4C?@65FC%AGC%?3365E?A5=F%34=EC>>%D=4%?66%?K?56?B6C%

D<FJ5FM%>A4C?@>8%5A%N566%EC4A?5F6H%34C>CFA%>=@C%<FRF=NF>%

D=4%D<FJ5FM%J5>A45B<A5=FP%i=NCKC48%&,!2%N566%?66=N%

JCKC6=3C4>%A=%MCA%34C65@5F?4H%?334=K?6%D4=@%&i!(%D=4%

34=ZCEA>%345=4%A=%3<4><5FM%D5F?FE5FM8%AG5>%5F%A<4F%4CJ<EC>%

AGC%F<@C4=<>%4=<FJ>%=D%D5F?FE5?6%3?3C4N=4R%?FJ%N?5A%

A5@C>%D=4%D<FJ5FM%A=%BC%4CEC5KCJP%0C%?4C%C\E5ACJ%A=%>CC%

&i!(%>G5DA5FM%A=%?%@=4C%E=66?B=4?A5KC%?334=?EG%A=%

?DD=4J?B6C%G=<>5FM%JCKC6=3@CFAP%

PROPOSED FUNDING STRUCTURE

'=4%AG5>%34=ZCEA8%NC%G?KC%?4C%34=3=>CJ%?%D<FJ5FM%>A4<EA<4C%

AG?A%<A565QC>%;V%)"i#!P%'=4%D<FJ5FM%E=FA5FMCFEH8%NC%?4C%

?6>=%E=F>5JC45FM%?%7V%)i#!%>A4<EA<4C8%?>%NC%J=%F=A%HCA%

RF=N%NG?A%AGC%A?\%E4CJ5A%?66=E?A5=F>%?FJ%EG?FM5FM%4<6C>%?A%

&i!(%N566%G=6J%5F%9:9_%?FJ%BCH=FJP%

&<4%;V%)"i#!%JC?6%E=@B5FC>%AGC%)=E?6%"FF=K?A5=F%

?FJ%'?>A%#4?ER%c)"'#d%G=<>5FM%D<FJ>%D4=@%&i!(%?FJ%?%

3C4@?FCFA%6=?F8%N5AG%`]%<F5A>%=D%UL8%9L8%?FJ%`LBCJ4==@>%

?A%^:V%2["P%#GC%3C4@?FCFA%6=?F%N=<6J%BC%>CE<4CJ%D4=@%

?%3?4AFC4%6CFJC4P%#G5>%E?35A?6%>A?ER%5>%>5@36C%?FJ%CDDCEA5KC%

?FJ%JC>5MFCJ%D=4%;V%)"i#!%?FJ%)"'#%A=%G?4@=F5=<>6H%

N=4R%A=MCAGC4P%0C%N566%?6>=%3<4><C%M4?FA>%?>%3C4A5FCFA%A=%

AGC%34=ZCEA%><EG%?>%&4CM=F%[<6A5D?@56H%+FC4MH%.4=M4?@%

c&,[+.d8%+FC4MH%#4<>A%=D%&4CM=F%c+#&d8%?FJ%=AGC4%

3G56?FAG4=35E%M4?FA5FM%=33=4A<F5A5C>P%0G56C%5A>%F=A%D?54%A=%

>?H%D=4%EC4A?5F%AG?A%NC%N566%BC%?N?4JCJ%D<FJ>%D4=@%AGC>C%

>=<4EC>8%NC%E?F%N5AG%E=FD5JCFEC%>?H%AG?A%NC%G?KC%?%G5MG%

A4?ER%4CE=4J%D=4%><EEC>>P%SH%F?A<4C8%BCE?<>C%i?E5CFJ?%

5>%?%F=FL34=D5A%?FJ%E<6A<4?66H%>3CE5D5E%=4M?F5Q?A5=F%?FJ%

?%E=@@<F5AH%JCKC6=3@CFA%E=43=4?A5=F8%NC%@CCA%@?FH%

=D%AGC%D<FJ5FM%>=<4EC>%4CO<54C@CFA>%D=4%JCKC6=3C4%

O<?65D5E?A5=F>P%2JJ5A5=F?66H8%=<4%[0+(S%3?4A5E53?A5=F%

3C4ECFA?MC>%=D%34=DC>>5=F?6%D54@>8%E=FA4?EA=4>8%?FJ%

><BE=FA4?EA=4>%E=FA4?EACJ8%G?>%G5>A=45E?66H%C\ECCJCJ%

34=ZCEA%M=?6>P%[0+(S%3?4A5E53?A5=F%3C4ECFA?MC>%?4C%?%

4CO<54C@CFA%?FJ%@CA45E%@C?><4CJ%BH%AGC%>A?AC%D<FJ5FM%

?MCFE5C>P%0C%BC65CKC%i?E5CFJ?8%(?6?Q?48%?FJ%!=6?>I%G5MG%

A4?ER%4CE=4J%M5KC>%<>%?F%?JK?FA?MC%5F%3=>5A5=F5FM%D=4%

D<FJ%?66=E?A5=F>P

2JK?FA?MC>%=D%=<4%34=3=>CJ%D<FJ5FM%>A4<EA<4CX%

Y% ;V%A?\%E4CJ5A>%?4C%36CFA5D<6%?FJ%?K?56?B6C%@=>A%HC?4>P

Y% #GC%=F6H%4C>A45EA5=F%D=4%3=ACFA5?6%4C>5JCFA>%5>%?F%

5FE=@C%4C>A45EA5=F8%NG5EG%KC45D5C>%D5F?FE5?66H%B<4JCFCJ%

D?@565C>%4CEC5KC%?EEC>>%A=%G=<>5FMP

Y% #GC4C%5>%F=%=EE<3?A5=F?6%4C>A45EA5=F%<F65RC%<FJC4%

D<FJ5FM%>=<4EC>P

Y% '<FJ5FM%4CO<54C@CFA>%6C?>A%E=@36C\%?>%E=@3?4CJ%A=%

=AGC4%D<FJ5FM%>=<4EC>P%

Y% )"'#%D<FJ5FM%JC>5MFCJ%A=%3?54%C?>56H%N5AG%;V%A?\%

E4CJ5A>P%

Y% 2K?56?B565AH%=D%E4CJ5A>%@?H%6C?J%A=%?%>G=4AC4%

34CJCKC6=3@CFA%A5@C65FCP%

DEAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCE



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 21Deal Structure 

CONTINGENT/ALTERNATE FUNDING 

STRUCTURE 

!"#$#%&'()'*+'(#,-'.)'*#"&-/%+0#1+#"++#(2$(#34#56789#)"#

$#"-)($:;+#$;(+/'$()<+#,)'$'%)$;#"(/-%(-/+=#>2);+#34#56789#

2$"#(/$.)()&'$;;?#:++'#%&@A+()()<+0#(2+#'+1#B79C#BD9!#

A/&%+""0#@$?#$;;&1#(2)"#,-'.#(&#:+%&@+#@&/+#$%%+""):;+=#

82+#:+'+,)(#&,#$#34#56789#"(/-%(-/+#*/$'("#$#.++A+/#

"-:").?#(&#(2+#A/&A+/(?#,)'$'%+"0#+;)@)'$()'*#(2+#'++.#,&/#

$#"+%&'.$/?0#;$/*+#,-'.)'*#"&-/%+0#E++A)'*#(2+#%$A)($;#

"($%E#$"#")@A;+#$"#A&""):;+=#

6'%/+$"+.#")@A;)%)(?#+F-$(+"#(&#;+""#:-/.+'#&,#

$AA;)%$()&'"0#%&@A;)$'%+0#/+A&/()'*#$'.#$#A&(+'()$;#,&/#$#

"(/+$@;)'+.#A/&G+%(#,)'$'%)'*#"%2+.-;+=#H+1+/#,-'.)'*#

"&-/%+"#A-/"-+.#$;"&#;+$."#(&#;+""#,)'$'%)$;#/)"E#,&/#

(2+#A/&G+%(=

H&/#34#56789#A/&G+%("0#7$%)+'.$#(?A)%$;;?#")*'"#@-;()?+$/#

@+@&/$'.-@#&,#-'.+/"($'.)'*#1)(2#(2+#;$'.I&1')'*#

+'()(?#(&#$%%&@@&.$(+#$..)()&'$;#,-'.)'*#%?%;+"#(&#

%&@A+(+#,&/#%/+.)(#$;;&%$()&'"#,/&@#B79C=#7$%)+'.$#)"#

2&1+<+/#-')F-+;?#"-)(+.#(&#"%&/+#1+;;#,&/#34#($J#%/+.)("#

$"#(2+/+#$/+#"+A$/$(+#"+(#$").+#$;;&%$()&'"#,&/#D-/$;#$'.#

,&/#9-;(-/$;;?#CA+%),)%#&/*$')K$()&'"=#6'#+""+'%+0#1+#1&-;.#

F-$;),?#,&/#(1&#.),,+/+'(#A&&;"#&,#(2+"+#34#56789#,-'."0#

.&-:;)'*#&-/#%2$'%+"#&,#"-%%+""=##

OWNING ENTITIES

>+#:+;)+<+#*+'+/$()&'$;#1+$;(2#)"#.+/)<+.#,/&@#(2+#

+F-)(?#&,#$AA/+%)$:;+#$""+("=#6'#/+$;#+"($(+0#2&@+"#$/+#

%&'").+/+.#$#.+A/+%)$:;+#$""+(0#12);+#(2+#;$'.#(2+?#")(#

&'#$AA/+%)$(+"#)'#<$;-+=#H&/#(2)"#/+$"&'0#1+#.&'L(#:+;)+<+#

$#%&@@-')(?#;$'.I(/-"(#@&.+;#)"#$'#$AA/&A/)$(+#(&&;#

,&/#(2+#>+"(,);+.#")(+=#6'"(+$.0#7$%)+'.$#A/+,+/"#56789#

.+$;"#12)%2#$;;&1#,&/#(2+#$AA/+%)$:;+#$""+("#(&#/+@$)'#

$%%+""):;+#1)(2#%&@@-')(?=

82+#(?A)%$;#+'()(?#"(/-%(-/+#,&/#56789#.+$;"#)'<&;<+#$#

,&/@$()&'#&,#$#;)@)(+.#;)$:);)(?#A$/('+/"2)A#12)%2#*)<+"#

)'<+"(&/"#33=334#&1'+/"2)A#&,#(2+#A/&G+%(#$'.#*)<+"#

(2+#/+@$)')'*#=MN4#&1'+/"2)A#(&#(2+#'&'IA/&,)(#A$/('+/0#

'$@+;?#7$%)+'.$0#,&/#NO#?+$/"=#!(#(2+#+'.#&,#NO#?+$/"#$#

,)'$'%)$;#+J)(#($E+"#A;$%+#)'#12)%2#(2+#)'<+"(&/#+J)("#(2+#

A$/('+/"2)A#$'.#(/$'",+/"#(2+)/#"2$/+#&,#&1'+/"2)A#(&#(2+#

'&'IA/&,)(=#C&@+#@$?#(2)'E#(2)"#A&"+"#$'#&AA&/(-')(?#

,&/#'&'IA/&,)("#(&#,;)A#(2+#A/&A+/(?#,&/#@$/E+(#/$(+#

.+<+;&A@+'(0#:-(#)'#,$%(0#B79C#/+F-)/+"#(2$(#.++."#

@$)'($)'#$#PMI?+$/#$,,&/.$:;+#2&-")'*#-"+#%;$-"+#,&/#

A/&G+%("#,-'.+.=#7$%)+'.$L"#%-//+'(#:-")'+""#@&.+;#)"#(&#

2&;.#A/&A+/()+"#)'#A+/A+(-)(?#I#1+#1$'(#(&#:+#$#A+/@$'+'(#

/+"&-/%+#,&/#(2+#%&@@-')(?Q#

PROJECT ASSUMPTIONS AT AT GLANCE

H&/#:&(2#,)'$'%+#"(/-%(-/+"0#(2+#,&;;&1)'*#,)'$'%)$;#

$""-@A()&'"#1+/+#-"+.#,&/#&-/#A/&,&/@$=#R;+$"+#'&(+#

(2$(#(2+"+#$/+#+"()@$(+"#:$"+.#&'#/+"+$/%2#$'.#7$%)+'.$#

2)"(&/)%$;#.$($S#

T# 56789#+F-)(?#A/)%)'*#$(#=UP#$'.#=U3#,&/#+'+/*?#%/+.)("0#

,/&@#%&'"-;()'*#1)(2#@-;()A;+#($J#%/+.)(#)'<+"(&/"#

&'#A/&G+%(+.#$AA+()(+#,&/#$/+$#$'.#@$%/&+%&'&@)%#

%&'.)()&'"#

T# 9&'"(/-%()&'#;&$'#1)(2#P=VO4#/$(+0#:$"+.#&'#/+%+'(#

A/&A+/(?#,-'.)'*=#

T# R+/@$'+'(#;&$'#1)(2#O=U4#/$(+#$'.#WM#?+$/#

$@&/()K$()&'#$'.#N=NO#@)')@-@#?+$/#N#X+:(#C+/<)%+#

9&<+/$*+#D$()&0#:$"+.#&'#/+%+'(#A/&A+/(?#,-'.)'*#

T# 56H8#$;;&%$()&'#1)(2)'#B79C#VMVY#D-/$;#*-).+;+""#,&/#

@$J)@-@"#A+/#-')(#")K+#

T# X+<+;&A+/#,++#-'.+/#@$J)@-@#NU4#&,#(&($;#

.+<+;&A@+'(#%&"("#A+/#B79C#"($'.$/.#,&/#A/&A+/(?#

")K+##

T# CX9#$'.#1$)<+/#+"()@$(+.#:?#C$;$K$/#!/%2)(+%("#

T# 9&'"(/-%()&'#%&"("#+"()@$(+.#:?#9&;$"#9&'"(/-%()&'#

T# C&;$/#%&"("#+"()@$(+.#:?#")K+#$'.#%&"(#&,#A/)&/#"&;$/#

)'"($;;$()&'"=#

T# B(2+/#A/&,+"")&'$;#$'.#,)'$'%)$;#"+/<)%+#,++"#:$"+.#

&,,#&,#%-//+'(#$%(-$;#.+<+;&A@+'(#%&"("0#/+")K+.#,&/#

A/&G+%(#"%&A+#12+'#'+%+""$/?=#

T# D+'("#$'.#)'%&@+"#:$"+.#&,,#7ZX#VMVY#"%2+.-;+#,&/#

[$/)&'#9&-'(?#

T# D+'("#$/+#A-/A&"+;?#'&(#/+.-%+.#:?#$#Z();)(?#

!;;&1$'%+0#$"#7$%)+'.$#1);;#%&<+/#>C\#$'.#+;+%(/)%#

-"$*+#&<+/#12$(#)"#A/&.-%+.#:?#C&;$/#!//$?#]'&#*$"^#

T# BA+/$()'*#%&"("#:$"+.#&'#7$%)+'.$#%-//+'(#A&/(,&;)&#

A+/,&/@$'%+#$'.#/+%+'(#,)'$'%)$;#$'$;?")"#&,#")@);$/#

/-/$;#.+<+;&A@+'(#)'#B/+*&'#&,#_P0MMO#A+/#-')(#A+/#

?+$/#A;-"#_WOM#/+A;$%+@+'(#/+"+/<+"#A+/#-')(#A+/#?+$/=#

BA+/$()'*#%&"(#$""-@+"#%)(?#%-//+'(;?#2$"#)'#A;$%+#

&/#)"#$:;+#$'.#1);;)'*#(&#$.&A(#BDC#YM =̀OWM#&/#")@);$/#

"($(+#($J#+J+@A()&'#@+$"-/+#,&/#$#,-;;#A/&A+/(?#($J#

+J+@A()&'=#

T# BA+/$()'*#/+"+/<+#")K+.#&'#P#@&'(2"#+JA+'"+"#A;-"#

.+:(#"+/<)%+#A+/#B79C#$'.#)'<+"(&/#*-).+;)'+"=##

T# D+A;$%+@+'(#/+"+/<+#:$"+.#&'#_WOMa-')(b#'&(+#(2$(#

(2)"#)"#@&/+#(2$'#B79C#*-).+;)'+=#

T# 6',;$()&'#,&/#6'%&@+#$'.#cJA+'"+"#$'.#d$%$'%?#

D$(+"#$/+#)'#%&@A;)$'%+#1)(2#!769#-'.+/1/)()'*#

/+F-)/+@+'("#-"+.#:?#($J#%/+.)(#)'<+"(&/"#$'.#;+'.+/"=



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 22Deal Structure 

ROLE OF THE CITY

!"#$%&'($)*$+&,-#.')/$01/$2344).'$'"#$5#-#,)46#/'$#**).'2$

'".)37"$1$-1.&#'($)*$81(29$!"#$*&.2'$&2$'".)37"$4#.6&''&/7$

1$*3,,$+:%$81&-#.$8"&0"$"#,42$32$6&/&6&;#$4.)<#0'$0)2'29$

+:%$*##2$1.#$'(4&01,,($"&7"#.$'"1/$61.=#'$.1'#$0)2'2$

53#$')$155&'&)/1,$,#-#,2$)*$)-#.2&7"'$1/5$53#$5&,&7#/0#$

.#>3&.#5$?($2'1'#$1/5$*#5#.1,$2)3.0#29

!"#$2#0)/5$4.)-&2&)/$8)3,5$?#$0&'($0)3/0&,$15)4'&)/$)*$

1$@AB(#1.$6&/&636$4.)4#.'($'1C$#C#64'&)/$*).$1**).51?,#$

")32&/7D$'1C#2$1.#$)3.$2&/7,#$,1.7#2'$,&/#$&'#6$&/$1//31,$

)4#.1'&)/1,$#C4#/2#29$E2$&/0)6#2$01//)'$?#$&/0.#12#5F$

'"#$)/,($81($1**).51?,#$")32&/7$5#-#,)4#.2$01/$&/0.#12#$

4.)4#.'($/#'$)4#.1'&/7$&/0)6#$&2$?($5#0.#12&/7$#C4#/2#2$

G$")8#-#.F$&'$&2$"1.5$')$5#0.#12#$#C4#/2#2$'))$*1.$8&'")3'$

0)64.)6&2&/7$#**#0'&-#$4.)7.166&/7$1/5$4.)4#.'($

34=##4$1/5$>31,&'(9$$!1C$#C#64'&)/2$1,,)8$32$')$5#0.#12#$

#C4#/2#2$8&'")3'$5#0.#12&/7$>31,&'(9$H&'"$'"#$5#0.#12#5$

#C4#/2#2F$)3.$/#'$)4#.1'&/7$&/0)6#$&/0.#12#2F$8"&0"$

&2$'"#/$,#-#.17#5$1'$1$@I@J$0)-#.17#$.1'&)$')$&/0.#12#$

4#.61/#/'$,)1/$01410&'(F$.#530&/7$*3/5&/7$7142$'"1'$

8)3,5$)'"#.8&2#$?#$&/23.6)3/'1?,#$')$1$6&/&61,$).$

/)/#C&2'#/'$,#-#,$1/5$1,,)8&/7$4.)<#0'$*&/1/0&1,$*#12&?&,&'(9$

K12',(F$'"#$%&'($01/$2344).'$'"&2$5#-#,)46#/'$?($)**#.&/7$

63,'&4,#$K1/5$L2#$M#-&#8$4.#B144,&01'&)/$).$8).=&/7$

2#22&)/2$8&'"$'"#$<3.&25&0'&)/$"1-&/7$13'").&'($4.&).$')$'"#$

*&/1,$144,&01'&)/$1'$/)$).$,)8$0)2'9$!"&2$1,2)$0)/'.&?3'#2$

')$'"#$1223.1/0#$'"1'$'"#$4.)<#0'$&2$'.3,($5#-#,)4#5$<)&/',($

8&'"$'"#$5#2&.#2$1/5$0)/0#./2$)*$'"#$0)663/&'(9$H#$

'(4&01,,($2##$1$/##5$*).$@$).$N$4.#B144,&01'&)/$2#22&)/29$

O&/1,,(F$4#.$'"#$MOPF$8#$8)3,5$12=$'"#$0&'($')$8).=$

8&'"$32$')$144,($*).$%:QR$*3/5&/7$*).$>31,&*&#5$43?,&0$

&64.)-#6#/'2F$12$&'$&2$)3.$3/5#.2'1/5&/7$+&,-#.')/$&2$/)'$

1/$#/'&',#6#/'$0)663/&'($8&'"$SL:$1/5$8)3,5$/##5$')$

0)64#'#$&/$'"#$'8&0#B(#1.,($+'1'#$*3/5&/7$*).$%:QR9$$

ASSUMPTIONS ON PRIMARY SITE 

INFRASTRUCTURE

O).$122364'&)/2$)/$4.&61.($2&'#$&/*.12'.30'3.#F$8#$1.#$

01..(&/7$1$T$M&7"'$)*$H1($&64.)-#6#/'$)/$:1-#/4).'$

K1/#9$H&'"$'"#$7.15&/7$)*$'"#$2&'#$2")8&/7$'"1'$&'$&2$

2,)4&/7$181($*.)6$?)'"$H$U1&/$+'.##'$1/5$:1-#/4).'$

K1/#$1$2#8#.$,&*'$2'1'&)/$"12$?##/$12236#59$O).$81'#.$

3'&,&'&#2$8#$"1-#$12236#5$'"1'$'"#$,&/#$8&,,$/##5$')$?#$

#C'#/5#5$5)8/$:1-#/4).'$K1/#9$H#$1/'&0&41'#$2&'#$

&/*.12'.30'3.#$1/5$.&7"'$)*$81($&64.)-#6#/'2$1.#$1/$

144.)4.&1'#$1/5$#,&7&?,#$#C4#/2#$')$3'&,&;#$0)663/&'($

5#-#,)46#/'$?,)0=$7.1/'$*3/529

O).$6).#$2&'#$&/*.12'.30'3.#$122364'&)/2$.#*#.$')$417#$@A9

PREVAILING WAGE ASSUMPTIONS

E'$'"&2$'&6#$8#$1.#$/)'$1/'&0&41'&/7$4.#-1&,&/7$817#$.1'#29$

V*$QWKVX:1-&2BQ10)/$0)66#.0&1,$817#2$1.#$'.&77#.#5$8#$

01/#C4#0'$')$155$@AY$')$'"#$')'1,$4.)<#0'$?357#'9$



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 23Deal Structure 

ANNUAL MEDIAN INCOME AND RENT AFFORDABILITY

!"#$%"&'($)#*+,$-**./('&(#/$#0&12*#/$+3$("#$"+./#"+*4$-5%+1#$*#6#*/$&($789$:;<$&54$*#//$(+$%+56#=$("#$&33+'4&)-*-(=$

&54$&%%#//$(+$"+./-5>$2'+6-4#4$)=$&33+'4&)*#$"+./-5>$2'+?#%(/$.(-*-@-5>$A<B!C$3.54/D$$



TIMING AND ANTICIPATED 

PROJECT SCHEDULE



Pre-Development

  City/Developer Agreements executed July 2024

  Community Engagement Kickoff August 2024

  Design Phase Begins August 2024

  Site Acquisition September 2024

  Site Analysis September 2024

  Design Review (Type I or Type II) December 2024

  Building Permits & Fees Submitted April 2025

  Design Phase Ends/ Plans Completed May 2025

  Building Permit Completed August 2025

  Final Bids September 2025

Financing Construction Loan

  CDBG Application January 2025

  Proposal April 2025

  Firm Commitment September 2025

  Syndication/Partnership Agreement (LIHTC) October 2025

  Partnership Agreement (LIFT) October 2025

  Closing/Funding of Loan October 2025

Development / Construction

  Contractor Selected April 2024

  Construction Begins October 2025

  Certifi cate of Substantial Completion January 2027

  Construction Completed February 2027

  Construction Duration 16 months

  Community Engagement Completed January 2027

Financing Permanent Loan

  Proposal January 2027

  Firm Commitment October 2027

  Closing/Funding of Loan November 2027

Unit Availability 

  Lease Up Begins January 2027

  Lease Up Completed June 2027

  Unit Absorption 8 units per month

!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Timing and Anticipated Project Schedule Page 25

ANTICIPATED PROJECT SCHEDULE

!"#$%$&'#()*&+,-(%#*.%/()01(*'..02(.*'"*(3(%0#()*'4'+)*'5+((2("#*$"*6017*898:;



OUTREACH AND 

ENGAGEMENT PROCESS



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 27Outreach and Engagement Process

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT MODEL

i?E5CFJ?%?FJ%(?6?Q?4%G?>%BCCF%JCC36H%5FK=6KCJ%5F%

AGC%JC>5MF%?FJ%C\CE<A5=F%=D%C\ACF>5KC%E=@@<F5AH%

CFM?MC@CFA%?4=<FJ%?DD=4J?B6C%G=<>5FM%D=4%@?FH%HC?4>P%

&<4%34=KCF%@=JC6%D=6J>%CFK54=F@CFA?6%CO<5AH8%>=E5?6%

Z<>A5EC8%?FJ%3=65EH%?JK=E?EH%5FA=%AGC%GC?4A%=D%AGC%34=EC>>%

A=%B<56J%3C=36CLD54>A8%4C>565CFA8%?FJ%6?>A5FM%E=@@<F5A5C>P%

&<4%3C=36CLD54>A%?334=?EG%JC>E45BC>%E=@@<F5AH%

CFM?MC@CFA%AG?A%E?F%BC%J5>A566CJ%J=NF%A=%o65>ACF%?FJ%

C\CE<ACpP%&<4%M=?6%5>%A=%JCC3CF%E=66?B=4?A5=F%BCANCCF%AGC%

!5AH8%E=@@<F5AH8%?FJ%D<A<4C%4C>5JCFA>%A=%>G?3C%AGC%C\AC45=4%

?FJ%5FAC45=4%JC>5MF%=D%=<4%B<56J5FM>P%

&<4%CFM?MC@CFA%>A4?ACMH%N566%5FE6<JC%E=FKCF5FM%AN=%

>C3?4?AC%D=E<>%M4=<3>%J<45FM%C?EG%3G?>C%=D%JC>5MF%c(18%

118%!18%!2d%>=%E=@@<F5AH%@C@BC4>%?FJ%34=>3CEA5KC%

4C>5JCFA>%E?F%6C?4F%@=4C%?B=<A%AGC%34=3=>CJ%JC>5MFP%"F%

D?EA8%BCE?<>C%i?E5CFJ?%N566%?6>=%BC%AGC%,C>5JCFA%(C4K5EC%

.4=K5JC48%AG5>%N566%6?H%AGC%M4=<FJN=4R%D=4%<>%A=%<FJC4>A?FJ%

AGC%>3CE5D5E%FCCJ>%=D%D<A<4C%4C>5JCFA>8%NG5EG%N566%BC%E?445CJ%

F=A%=F6H%5FA=%AGC%D5F?6%JC>5MF8%B<A%BCH=FJP%

THE CITY’S ROLE IN ENGAGEMENT

#GC%!5AH%E?F%G?KC%?%>5MF5D5E?FA%4=6C%5F%AG5>%34=EC>>%BH%

5JCFA5DH5FM%?FJ%E=FFCEA5FM%<>%N5AG%E=@@<F5AH%6C?JC4>8%

>HFEG4=F5QC%34C>>%4C6C?>C%FCN>%?FJ%?FF=<FEC@CFA>%A=%

D<4AGC4%B4=?JE?>A%=<4%4C?EG%=D%E=@@<F5AH%CFM?MC@CFA%

CKCFA>8%?FJ%G=>A5FM%FC5MGB=4G==J%@CCA5FM%>3?EC>%?A%

3<B65E%E5AH%D?E565A5C>P%#GC%M=?6%=D%CFM?MC@CFA%5>%A=%?445KC%

?A%?%JC>5MF%AG?A%G=F=4>%AGC%JC>5MF%345FE536C>%=D%AGC%!5AH%

NG56C%B45FM5FM%FCN%3C4>3CEA5KC>%?FJ%45EGFC>>%A=%(56KC4A=FP

M%7&*',%+6&))+*'2%2*+70::"'&$4+:*:(*1#+%10"',+

H&'%)+,*#&2'+*)*:*'$#+%',+%:*'&$&*#+%#+6*))+%#+H"$"1*+

-1021%::&'2+0'+#&$*>

ONGOING ENGAGEMENT

2>%?%N?H%A=%34=K5JC%=FM=5FM%CFM?MC@CFA8%NC%N566%E4C?AC%

?%34=ZCEA%NCB>5AC%>=%AG?A%?66%NG=%?4C%5FAC4C>ACJ%5F%AGC%

34=ZCEA%E?F%>A?H%5FD=4@CJP%(CC%?F%C\?@36C%=D%AG5>%BH%

K5>5A5FM%=FC%=D%=<4%E<44CFA%34=ZCEAI>%CFM?MC@CFA%NCB%

3?MCX%+FM?MC05AG)?RCg4=KCPE=@

266%i?E5CFJ?%E=@@<F5AH%CFM?MC@CFA%5FE6<JC>%AGC%

D=66=N5FM%@?5F%345FE536C>%AG?A%NC%BC65CKC%4CJ<EC%B?445C4>%

?FJ%?66=N%D=4%?<AGCFA5E%CFM?MC@CFAX

COMPENSATION. i?E5CFJ?%E=@3CF>?AC>%?66%

E=@@<F5AH%@C@BC4>%NG=%3?4A5E53?AC%5F%E=@@<F5AH%

CFM?MC@CFA%?EA5K5A5C>%?>%5D%AGCH%NC4C%E=F><6A?FA>P

LANGUAGE NEEDS AND MULTILINGUAL 

RESOURCES. %0C%?>>C>>%5FAC434CA?A5=F%?FJ%A4?F>6?A5=F%

FCCJ>%BCD=4C%CFM?MC@CFA%?EA5K5A5C>P%0C%?4C%E=@@5AACJ%

A=%G=>A5FM%B=AG%K54A<?6%?FJ%5FL3C4>=F%CFM?MC@CFA%

>C>>5=F>%5F%@<6A536C%6?FM<?MC>%?FJ%34=K5J5FM%@<6A565FM<?6%

4C>=<4EC>%CF><4C%AG?A%F=FL+FM65>G%>3C?R5FM%5FJ5K5J<?6>%

E?F%?EEC>>%=<4%>C4K5EC>P%

MEETING FORMAT AND VIRTUAL OPTIONS.

"FE6<JCJ%5F%=<4%E=@@<F5AH%CFM?MC@CFA%CDD=4A%NC%36?F%

A=%34=K5JC%K54A<?6%34=M4?@@5FM%A=%>C4KC%3C=36C%NG=%@?H%

F=A%BC%?B6C%A=%?AACFJ%5FL3C4>=F%CKCFA>P%26AG=<MG%=<4%

34=ZCEA>%G?KC%><EEC>>D<66H%5F>A5A<ACJ%K54A<?6%E=@@<F5AH%

CFM?MC@CFA%>C>>5=F>8%i?E5CFJ?%?ERF=N6CJMC>%AG?A%

@CCA5FM%5F%3C4>=F%5>%AGC%BC>A%N?H%A=%B<56J%4C6?A5=F>G53>%

?FJ%E=@@<F5AHP%

PARTNERSHIP WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS. 

.?4?@=<FA%A=%AGC%><EEC>>%=D%=<4%CFM?MC@CFA%5>%

3?4AFC4>G53>%N5AG%6=E?6%=4M?F5Q?A5=F>P%i?E5CFJ?%N566%D54>A%

4C?EG%=<A%A=%=AGC4%6=E?6%4C>=<4EC>%?FJ%3?4AFC4>%A=%?@365DH%

K=5EC>8%D=E<>%4C?EG8%?FJ%>C4KC%>3CE5D5E%E=@@<F5A5C>%AG?A%

NC%=AGC4N5>C%E=<6J%F=AP%

!F'%:')2'('%.>/.%/%&2('$1'%#1'%*3%

,'.>*&1%*3%0*,,#-2.G%'-</<','-.%

0/+.#$'1%/%&2('$12.G%*3%'=+'$2'-0'HE

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT



TOP CONCERNS AND 

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Page 29Top Concerns and other Considerations

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS

!"#$%&'($")*$'+,-($&.#/'&0&#.$)/$),*1&2&3,*$3113+',/&'($03+$)003+.)4-#$"3,*&/5$&/$'"#$%&'($30$6&-7#+'3/8$9"&2"$&*$

#:1")*&;#.$4($&'*$,/&<,#$)22#**$'3$'+)/*13+')'&3/$)/.$2-3*#$1+3=&:&'($'3$1-)2#*$30$-#&*,+#$)/.$1-)(>$?#$)+#$#/'",*&)*'&2$

)43,'$'"#$13**&4&-&'&#*$)/.$9#$")7#$)**#:4-#.$)$*3:#$)..&'&3/)-$'"3,5"'*$03+$'"#$.#7#-31:#/'$30$'"&*$23::,/&'($03+$

'"#$%&'( @*$23/*&.#+)'&3/>

TOP CONCERNS

RECONFIGURATION OF STATE FUNDING PROCESSES

A' @*$93+'"$/3'&/5$'")'$B+#53/@*$C3,*&/5$)/.$%3::,/&'($6#+7&2#*$DBC%6E$0,/.&/5$1+35+):*$)+#$,/.#+53&/5$

+#*'+,2',+&/5>$?"&-#$'"&*$*"3,-.$*'+#):-&/#$'"#$.#-&7#+($30$)003+.)4-#$"3,*&/5$,/&'*$&/$B+#53/8$9#$'"&/F$'")'$'"#+#$9&--$4#$

)/$&/"#+#/'$.&*+,1'&3/$'3$'"#$1+#.&2')4&-&'($30$0,/.&/5$3113+',/&'&#*>$?#$")7#$)..&'&3/)--($"#)+.$'")'$'"#+#$9&--$/3'$4#$

GH$3+$IH$J39$A/23:#$C3,*&/5$!)=$%+#.&'*$)--32)'&3/*$03+$'"#$KLKG$0&*2)-$(#)+>$

?"&-#$9#$2)/$/3'$*)($03+$2#+')&/$'")'$9#$9&--$4#$)9)+.#.$0,/.*$03+$'"#$KLKM$0&*2)-$(#)+8$9#$+#)-&;#$'")'$3,+$3+5)/&;)'&3/$

")*$*3:#$).7)/')5#*$37#+$3'"#+$0&+:*$'"+3,5"$'"#$/#9$1+3N#2'$#7)-,)'&3/$*')/.)+.*$'")'$9&--$4#$&:1-#:#/'#.$9&'"$'"#$

+#23/0&5,+)'&3/$30$'"#$BC%6$0,/.&/5$1+32#**>$O+3N#2'$P7)-,)'&3/$6')/.)+.*$+#<,&+#$'")'$)--$1+3N#2'*$:,*'$:##'$'93$

30$'"#$03--39&/5Q$2,-',+)--($*1#2&0&2$3+5)/&;)'&3/$39/#+*"&18$RAOB%$39/#+*"&18$1-)/*$03+$RAOB%$4,*&/#**$,'&-&;)'&3/8$

2,-',+)--($*1#2&0&2$+#*&.#/'$*#+7&2#*8$+)2&)--($#<,&')4-#$'#/)/'$131,-)'&3/8$'#/)/'$3,'23:#*$4($+)2#$)/.$#'"/&2&'(>$

C)2&#/.)$&*$1+3,.$'3$*)(8$)*$)$2,-',+)--($*1#2&0&2$"3,*#+$)/.$*#+7&2#$1+37&.#+8$'")'$9#$:##'$'"#*#$+#<,&+#:#/'*S$

B,+$'#):$&*$23::&''#.$'3$/)7&5)'&/5$'"#$#7#+T2")/5&/5$0,/.&/5$-)/.*2)1#$)/.$9#$-33F$03+9)+.$'3$23--)43+)'&/5$)/.$

*")+&/5$+#*3,+2#*$9&'"$'"#$%&'($'"+3,5"$'"&*$.#7#-31:#/'>

WETLAND MITIGATION

!"#$9#'-)/.$+#13+'$23/'#/.*$'"#$*'+#):$&*$&/'#+:#/'$)/.$/3/T0&*"$4#)+&/58$,/'&-$'"#$*')'#$)22#1'*$'"#*#$0&/.&/5$'"#+#$

&*$+&*F$'"#$:)N3+&'($30$'"#$O")*#$K$1+31#+'($&*$,/.#7#-31)4-#>$!(1&2)--($)$:&/&:,:$KLL$033'$4,00#+$&*$+#<,&+#.$3/$#)2"$

4)/F$30$)$1#+#//&)-$3+$0&*"$4#)+&/5$*'+#):8$*3:#$30$9"&2"$2)/$4#$&/'#+:&''#/'>$?#$")7#$1+313*#.$)$.#*&5/$4)*#.$3/$

)$MLT033'$4,00#+$;3/#$)-3/5$#)2"$4)/F$4)*#.$3/$*')'#$+#<,&+#:#/'*$30$/3/T0&*"$4#)+&/5$*'+#):*>$P/2+3)2":#/'*$&/'3$

'"#$4,00#+$)/.$2+3**&/5$'"#$*'+#):$9&--$+#<,&+#$:&'&5)'&3/$9"&2"$&*$23*'-($*3$9#$")7#$*,55#*'#.$-&:&'&/5$&:1)2'*$)/.$

2+3**&/5*>$!"#$1#+:&''&/5$'&:#$-&/#$03+$9#'-)/.$&:1)2'*$2)/$4#$-3/5$'"+3,5"$'"#$*')'#$*3$'"&*$&*$)/3'"#+$+&*F$'")'$9&--$

/##.$'3$4#$:3/&'3+#.$)*$.#*&5/*$)+#$+#0&/#.8$&/$1)+'&2,-)+$&/$O")*#$K$9"#+#$2+3**&/5$'"#$2+##F$&*$1+313*#.>

STORMWATER

U/'&-$)$5#3'#2"/&2)-$+#13+'$&*$23:1-#'#.$9&'"$*&'#$*1#2&0&2$&/0&-'+)'&3/$'#*'&/5$9#$2)/$3/-($:)F#$)**,:1'&3/*$4)*#.$3/$

1)*'$#=1#+&#/2#$&/$6&-7#+'3/>$?#$)**,:#$&/0&-'+)'&3/$3/T*&'#$&*$,/-&F#-($*3$'93$31'&3/*$93,-.$-&F#-($4#$#=1-3+#.>$$P&'"#+$

)$*'3+:9)'#+$4)*&/D*E$3/$'"#$9#*'V*3,'"$*&.#$30$'"#$*&'#$3+$.&*2")+5#$'3$'"#$2+##F$D1+37&.#.$9#$.3/@'$&/2+#)*#$'"#$

+,/300$0+3:$O+#$'3$O3*'$W#7#-31:#/'E>$$A/2-,.&/5$3/T*&'#$*'3+:9)'#+$4)*&/*$:)($#&'"#+$+#<,&+#$)..&'&3/)-$*&'#$)+#)$3+$)$

+#.,2'&3/$&/$*3:#$23:4&/)'&3/$30$1+35+):$T$31#/$*1)2#8$1)+F&/58$4,&-.&/5$)+#)>$

INDUSTRY WIDE PROCUREMENT DELAYS

!"#$-)+5#*'$23/2#+/$'")'$93,-.$)00#2'$'"#$'&:#-($.#-&7#+($30$)003+.)4-#$"3,*&/5$,/&'*$&*$'"#$1+32,+#:#/'$1#+&3.$03+$

4,&-.&/5$1+3.,2'*$)/.$#<,&1:#/'>$X-34)-$0)2'3+*$")7#$0)+$+#)2"&/5$#00#2'*$'")'$.&*+,1'$:)'#+&)-$.#-&7#+(>$?"&-#$9#$2)/@'$

4#$2#+')&/$'")'$23/.&'&3/*$9&--$*')4&-&;#8$9#$2)/$#:1-3($*#7#+)-$+&*F$:)/)5#:#/'$*'+)'#5&#*$'3$)4*3+4$#<,&1:#/'$.#-)(*$

)*$4#*'$)*$13**&4-#>

Y$ O+3)2'&7#$Z&*F$)**#*:#/'$)/.$23/'&/5#/2($1-)//&/5$T$R($.#7#-31&/5$23/'&/5#/2($1-)/*$)/.$)-'#+/)'&7#$*3,+2&/5$

*'+)'#5&#*8$9#$:&/&:&;#$'"#$&:1)2'$30$13'#/'&)-$.#-)(*$)/.$:)&/')&/$1+3N#2'$:3:#/',:>

Y$ P)+-($3/T43)+.&/5$30$*,423/'+)2'3+*$T$R($&/73-7&/5$*,423/'+)2'3+*$.,+&/5$'"#$&/&'&)-$1-)//&/5$)/.$.#*&5/$1")*#*8$

9#$5)&/$7)-,)4-#$&/*&5"'*$&/'3$1+3N#2'$+#<,&+#:#/'*$)/.$13'#/'&)-$2")--#/5#*

Y$ [+#<,#/'$23::,/&'2)'&3/$9&'"$7#/.3+*$T$P**#/'&)-$03+$4,&-.&/5$'+,*'8$9#$:)&/')&/$31#/$-&/#*$30$23::,/&2)'&3/$

'"+3,5"3,'$'"#$23/*'+,2'&3/$1+32#**8$)/.$9&'"$1+32,+#:#/'8$*,423/'+)2'3+*$)+#$1+37&.#.$9&'"$'&:#-($,1.)'#*$3/$

1+3N#2'$'&:#-&/#*8$*1#2&0&2)'&3/*8$)/.$)/($2")/5#*$3+$).N,*':#/'*>



!"#$%&'%(")*+,#&-%./0%

Top Concerns and other Considerations Page 30

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE CITY

COMPLETION OF DAVENPORT LANE

&<4%AC?@%G?>%B<JMCACJ%D=4%`W;%4=?J%45MGA%=D%N?H%c,&0d%5@34=KC@CFA%=D%1?KCF3=4A%)?FC%5F%=<4%34=D=4@?P%0G56C%AG5>%

>E=3C%C\ECCJ>%AH35E?6%c,&0d%4C>3=F>5B565AH%D=4%?%JCKC6=3C48%AGC4C%5>%>A566%?%>5MF5D5E?FA%>A4CAEG%=D%1?KCF3=4A%)?FC%>G=<6J%

BC%5@34=KCJP%#GC%C\5>A5FM%>A4CCA%E=FJ5A5=F%5F%D4=FA%=D%AGC%J=M%3?4R%NG5EG%34=K5JC>%E=FFCEA5K5AH%A=%AGC%0C>AD5C6J%>5AC%

5>%E<44CFA6H%M4?KC6P%0CIJ%65RC%A=%3<A%D=4N?4J%AG?A%AGC%!5AH%E=F>5JC4>%5@34=K5FM%AGC%M4?KC6%4=?J%A=%?F%?>3G?6A%><4D?ECP%

!=66?B=4?A5=F%N5AG%AGC%E=FA4?EA=4>%E=F>A4<EA5=F%>EGCJ<6C%D=4%,&0%5@34=KC@CFA>%N=<6J%EC4A?5F6H%6C?J%A=%?%><EEC>>D<6%

?FJ%E=@36CAC%>A4CCA%E=FFCEA5=FP%

LOW INCOME HOUSING TAX CREDIT 4% VS. 9% 

&<4%34=3=>?6%5>%B?>CJ%=F%AGC%?FA5E53?A5=F%=D%;V%)=N%"FE=@C%i=<>C%#?\%!4CJ5A%c)"i#!d%CO<5AH%?N?4JP%#G5>%A?\%E4CJ5A%5>%

F=A%E=@3CA5A5KC%NG5EG%34=K5JC>%?%JCM4CC%=D%EC4A?5FAH%D=4%D<FJ5FM%?>><@3A5=F>%D=4%AGC%34=ZCEAP%#G5>%?334=?EG%?66=N>%<>%

A=%@?\5@5QC%AGC%<F5A%JCF>5AH%=D%AGC%>5AC%NG56C%?6>=%@?5FA?5F5FM%3?4R5FM%4?A5=%M=?6>%=D%UP^XUP%

26AC4F?A5KC6H8%=<4%AC?@%G?J%?6>=%D=<FJ%AG?A%?%7V%)"i#!%?334=?EG%D=4%D5F?FE5FM%AGC%34=ZCEA%N=<6J%BC%DC?>5B6CP%7V%

)"i#!%ACFJ>%A=%MCFC4?AC%?4=<FJ%]:V%=D%?%JCKC6=3@CFAI>%CO<5AH%NG56C%?%;V%A?\%E4CJ5A%MCFC4?AC>%?4=<FJ%`:V%=D%?%

JCKC6=3@CFAI>%CO<5AHP%"D%AGC%34=ZCEA%NC4C%A=%3<4><C%?%7V%)"i#!%34=D=4@?%AG5>%N=<6J%4C><6A%5F%6C>>%D<FJ5FM%>=<4EC>%

4CO<54CJ%D=4%AGC%34=ZCEA%NG5EG%N=<6J%5F%A<4F%34=K5JC%M4C?AC4%34CJ5EA?B565AH%D=4%AGC%D<FJ%>=<4EC>%<>CJ%AGC%E?KC?A%5>%AGC4C%

5>%M4C?AC4%45>R%?>>=E5?ACJ%N5AG%AG5>%?334=?EG%?>%7V%A?\%E4CJ5A>%?4C%KC4H%E=@3CA?A5KCP

7V%A?\%E4CJ5A>%G?KC%4CM5=F?6%>CA%?>5JC>%?>%NC66%?>%>CA%?>5JC>%D=4%E<6A<4?66H%>3CE5D5E%F=F34=D5A%JCKC6=3C4>%><EG%?>%

i?E5CFJ?8%M5K5FM%?%7V%?3365E?A5=F%?%<F5O<C%CJMC%D=4%AG5>%E=@3CA5A5KC%E4CJ5A%NC4C%NC%A=%3<4><C%5AP%2JJ5A5=F?66H8%AGC%

<FEC4A?5FAH%=D%)=E?6%"FF=K?A5=F%?FJ%'?>A%#4?ER%D<FJ>%?K?56?B6C%D=4%9:9_8%NG5EG%NC%?4C%G=6J5FM%?>%?F%?>><@3A5=F%5F%=4%

E<44CFA%34=D=4@?8%N=<6J%3=>5A5=F%AGC%7V%)"i#!%?334=?EG%?>%?%E=F>5JC4?B6C%?6AC4F?A5KCP

PROJECT PHASING AND PHASE 2 CIRCULATION

#GC%JCKC6=3?B6C%?4C?%=D%.G?>C%98%B?>CJ%=F%AGC%NCA6?FJ%5FD=4@?A5=F8%5>%D?546H%65@5ACJP%'=4%6=FM%AC4@%E=>A%CDD5E5CFEH%?FJ%

A=%@5F5@5QC%J5>4<3A5=F%A=%.G?>C%"%4C>5JCFA>%AGC%<A565A5C>%D=4%B=AG%3G?>C>%>G=<6J%BC%@?>AC4%36?FFCJ%?FJ%E=F>A4<EACJ%A=%?A%

6C?>A%?%>A<B%=<A%D=4%.G?>C%9P%#G5>%5>%?%E=>A6H%B<4JCF%D=4%AGC%.G?>C%U%34=ZCEAP

2EEC>>%A=%0P%[?5F%(A4CCA%5>%34=3=>CJ%NG56C%AGC%,'.%>A?AC>%?EEC>>%A=%0P%[?5F%(AP%5>%EG?66CFM5FMP%0C%AG5FR%5A%5>%?%

N=4AGNG56C%J5>E<>>5=F%A=%G?KC%?B=<A%?EEC>>%KC4><>%CFK54=F@CFAP%SH%?EEC>>5FM%0P%[?5F%(A%NC%E?F%34=K5JC%D54C%?EEC>>%

A=%AGC%>=<AG%>5JC%=D%AGC%>5AC%N5AG%65@5ACJ%CFK54=F@CFA?6%5@3?EA>%?FJ%?%6=NC4%E?4B=F%D==A345FA%BH%<>5FM%>5MF5D5E?FA6H%6C>>%

E=F>A4<EA5=F%@?AC45?6>%><EG%?>%E=FE4CACP%%



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation:  
Adopt Resolution No. 24-08 authorizing signers on City bank accounts. 
 
 
Background:  
The City of Silverton is required to change bank signers as our Police Chief, Jim Anglemier has 
retired effective May 17, 2024, and the Captain, Todd Engstrom has taken over the position. 
 
Once the resolution is adopted, the signers will also need to complete the required documents with 
Citizens Bank to finalize who has been approved to sign. This will provide continuation of ongoing 
City operations regarding banking transactions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution No. 24-08 
 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
4.1  

Resolution No. 24-08 – 
Authorizing signers on City 

bank accounts 
Agenda Type: 

Consent 
Meeting Date:  
May 20, 2024 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Sheena Lucht Cory Misley Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 N/A 



City of Silverton Resolution No. 24-08      Page 1 of 2  

CITY OF SILVERTON 
RESOLUTION 

 24-08 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING SIGNERS ON 
CITY BANK ACCOUNTS 
 
WHEREAS, it is now necessary to change authorized signers on the City bank accounts with the 
following banks due to the change in the Chief position; and  
 
WHEREAS, Resolution No. 23-29. A resolution currently authorizing signatures on City bank 
accounts shall be repealed.   
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF SILVERTON, AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1:  That the following persons are authorized signers and whose signatures appear 

above the respective authorized offices as follows: 
  
CITIZENS BANK          

         
__________________________________________________ 
Jason Freilinger, Mayor 

 
__________________________________________________ 
Elvi Cuellar Sutton, Council President 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Cory Misley, City Manager  

    
__________________________________________________ 
Kathleen Zaragoza, Deputy City Manager/Finance Director 
                                  
__________________________________________________ 
Todd Engstrom, Police Chief 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Sheena Lucht, Assistant Finance Director  
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 

 
__________________________________________________ 
Sarah Crofts, Accounting Manager  
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 
 
 

 
 
 



City of Silverton Resolution No. 24-08      Page 2 of 2  

OREGON STATE TREASURY ACCOUNT:  
Local Government Investment Pool 
 

__________________________________________________ 
Cory Misley, City Manager  
                                       
__________________________________________________ 
Kathleen Zaragoza, Deputy City Manager/Finance Director 

 
__________________________________________________ 
Sheena Lucht, Assistant Finance Director 
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Sarah Crofts, Account Manager  
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 
 

XPRESS ECHECKING: 
__________________________________________________ 
Cory Misley, City Manager   
                                  
_________________________________________________ 
Kathleen Zaragoza, Deputy City Manager/Finance Director 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Sheena Lucht, Assistant Finance Director 
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 

 
_________________________________________________ 
Sarah Crofts, Account Manager  
(ACH TRANSACTIONS & INQUIRY ABILITY) 
 

Section 2:   Resolution No. 23-29 is hereby repealed. 
 
Section 3:  That this resolution is and shall be effective beginning May 20, 2024. 
 
Resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Silverton, this 20th day of May 2024. 

 
 

        ______________________________ 
        Mayor, City of Silverton 
ATTEST        Jason Freilinger   
   
__________________________________________ 
City Manager/Recorder, City of Silverton 
Cory Misley 



ORDINANCE NO. 24-07 

AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOW THE CITY OF SILVERTON (“City”) TO IMPLEMENT 
20 MPH SPEED ZONES IN SELECT AREAS 

WHEREAS, ORS 810.180 authorizes cities to designate by ordinance a speed that is five MPH 
lower than statutory speed on non-arterial streets in “residence districts” under their jurisdiction: 
and 

WHEREAS, reduced vehicle speeds supports Goal 1, Policy d of the adopted Transportation 
System Plan: the City shall protect neighborhoods from excessive through traffic and travel 
speeds while providing reasonable access to and from residential areas. Streets shall be 
designated to minimize speeding; and 

WHEREAS, reduced vehicle speeds supports Goal 1, Policy e of the adopted Transportation 
System Plan: the City shall develop and maintain street design standards and neighborhood 
traffic management criteria. These regulations will be used in the design of new development 
and addressing neighborhood traffic concerns; and   

WHEREAS, reduced vehicle speeds supports Goal 2, Policy a of the adopted Transportation 
System Plan: the City shall plan for, design, and build streets, sidewalks, pathways, bicycle 
lanes, and other transportation facilities to ensure mobility and connectivity for a full range of 
travel modes, including pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorized vehicles traveling to, through, and 
between residential areas, schools, parks, commercial areas, and major employment centers; and  

WHEREAS, reduced vehicle speeds supports Goal 3, Policy a of the adopted Transportation 
System Plan: the City shall strive to improve traffic safety through a comprehensive program of 
engineering, education, traffic calming, access management, regulation, and enforcement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SILVERTON ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Consistent with ORS 810.180, the City of Silverton establishes a designated speed 
of 20 MPH, 5 MPH lower than the statutory speed of 25 MPH, on local streets in 
“residence districts” as defined by ORS 801.430 and 810.180(12). 

Section 2. Per ORS 810.180, the designated speed established by this Ordinance will take 
effect on a segment of a local street upon the City’s removal of any 25 MPH signs 
and installation of 20 MPH signs on that street segment.  The City Manager will 
have the authority to approve eligible locations and direct staff to install necessary 
signage. 

Section 3. This Ordinance shall be effective 30 days after its passage by the council, 
signature by the mayor, and posting by the city recorder. 

 

Ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Silverton, this __ day of ___, 2024. 



 
 
       __________________________ 
       Mayor, City of Silverton 
       Jason Freilinger 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Cory Misley, City Manager/City Recorder 

 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: Staff makes recommendations to allow City Manager to enter into a contract 
with Buildskape in the amount of $258,500.00 with an additional $50,000.00 in contingency 
totaling $308.500.00 
 
 
Background: 
In January the Silverton Senior Center succumbed damage from a broken fire sprinkler system 
due to freezing. To date City Staff has worked with CIS to complete the mitigation portion of the 
damage. City Staff has published an Invitation to Bid (ITB) looking for Tier 1 contractors to 
obtain bids for the reconstruction of the building. CIS has given approval to accept the bid given 
by Buildskape. 
 
The City will pay for the work and reimbursed to be made whole by CIS. The work will be 
completed by September 1st, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. Email from CIS Accepting Buildskape Bid 
2. Contract with Buildskape for Construction and Renovation Services on the Senior Center  

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
5.2  

 
Senior Center Reconstruction 

Contract Award 
Agenda Type: 

Action 
Meeting Date:  
May 20, 2024 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Mike Dahlberg Kathleen Zaragoza Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
$258,500 FY 2023-24 & 24-25 010-190-82100 





{00884464; 1 }Page 1 of 53 

 
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACT 
between 

CITY OF SILVERTON, OREGON 
and 

Buildskape LLC 
 
THIS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACT ("Contract") is made by and between the City of Silverton, 
a municipal corporation of the State of Oregon ("City"), and Buildskape LLC ("Contractor") to provide 
[construction, renovation, etc.] services on the following Facility Reconstruction Silverton Senior Center 
renovation, briefly described below: 

Restoration of Silverton Senior Center 

The parties agree as follows: 

1. WORK. 
Contractor shall execute fully the Work described by the Contract Documents, unless specifically 
indicated in the Contract Documents to be the responsibility of others. “Work” means the public 
improvement services and any related services required by or reasonably inferable from the 
Contract Documents, whether completed or partially completed, including (except as otherwise 
expressly stated in this Contract) all other labor, materials, equipment, tools, permits, fees, licenses, 
facilities, taxes, transportation, supervision, temporary constructions of every nature, and all other 
services, management, and facilities of every nature whatsoever necessary to fulfill Contractor’s 
duties by executing and completing this Contract within the Contract Time. The Work may 
constitute the whole or a part of the Project. 

2. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERMINATION DATE.  
The effective date of this Contract shall be the Contract Start Date identified in Section 2.1. or the 
date on which each Party has signed this Contract, whichever is later. Unless earlier terminated as 
provided below, the termination date shall be the Contract End Date, subject to extension as 
provided in the Contract Documents. 

Offer and Contract Dates 

2.1. Contract Start Date:  May 22, 2024 

“Work” Time Dates 

2.2. Anticipated Notice to Proceed Date:  May 21, 2024 

2.3. Anticipated Substantial Completion Date:  August 15, 2024 

2.4. Anticipated Final Completion Date:  September 1, 2024 

2.5. Contract End Date:  September 1, 2024 

2.6. “Work” Time in Calendar Days:  101 

PLEASE NOTE: Contractor shall not commence Work under this Contract until the Notice to 
Proceed has been issued. 

3. ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  
The “Contract Documents” include the following:  

• This Contract with these terms and conditions. 

• EXHIBIT A: City's General Conditions to the Contract - included in this form 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 2 of 52 
 

• EXHIBIT B: Insurance Requirements - included in this form  

• EXHIBIT C: BOLI Prevailing Wage Rates:  ORS 279C.800-ORS 279C.870 

• EXHIBIT D: Contractors Bid 

• EXHIBIT E: Form of Warranty Bond 

• EXHIBIT F: N/A 

• EXHIBIT G: N/A  

• EXHIBIT H: N/A 

• EXHIBIT I: N/A  

4. CONTRACT; CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
This Contract and the other Contract Documents forms the entire and integrated agreement between 
the parties. Unless the context requires otherwise, any reference to the “Contract” includes the 
Contract Documents. In the event of a conflict between the Contract Documents, the Contract 
Documents shall be given precedence in the order listed in Section 3. 

5. THE CONTRACT TIME.  
Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion of the Work under this Contract within 
______94____ consecutive calendar days (“Contract Time”) from the date specified in City's 
Notice to Proceed, subject to adjustments of this Contract Time as provided in the Contract 
Documents.  

6. THE CONTRACT TOTAL.  
6.1. The Contract Total is $ 258,500.00. The Contract Total is the total amount payable by the 

City to Contractor for the completion of the Work in its entirety under the Contract 
Documents. 

6.2. The following bid alternates are included in the Contract Total:   

6.3. Unit prices if any:   

6.4. Allowances included in the Contract Total, if any:  List or refer to Exhibit 
6.5. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract or the Contract Documents, the 

Contract Total includes all construction contingencies for existing site conditions other 
than for pre-existing Hazardous Materials. Contractor is thoroughly acquainted with and 
has inspected the Project site without restriction, understands the potential risks in this 
construction Work, and accepts the full risk of construction contingencies to complete the 
Work within the Contract Time and Contract Total set out in this Contract. 

7. PROGRESS PAYMENTS. 
7.1. The Contractor will submit an application for payment to the City Representative as 

provided in the General Conditions. The City Representative may require the Contractor 
to simultaneously submit an application for payment to the Design Professional working 
on the Project. 

7.2. Each application for payment shall be for one calendar month ending on the last day of the 
month. 

7.3. Payments are due and payable 30 days following receipt of the Contractor’s complete 
Application for Payment or 15 days from the date after payment is approved by the City 
Representative, whichever is earlier. Payments due and unpaid under the Contract shall 
bear interest from the date payment is due at the rate set forth in ORS 279C.570(2). 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 3 of 52 
 

7.4. The amount of each progress payment shall be determined as provided in the General 
Conditions, less retainage of 5% pursuant to ORS 279C.550 to 279C.565, ORS 701.420 
and 701.430, and less liquidated damages, if any. 

7.5. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor elects to have the City 
deposit the retainage as accumulated in an interest-bearing account in a bank, savings bank, 
trust company, or savings association as outlined in ORS 279C.560(5) and OAR 137-049-
0820(3), from which earnings on such account shall accrue to the Contractor. 

8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  
By its signature on this contract, Contractor certifies that the service or services to be performed 
under this Contract are those of an independent contractor as defined in ORS 670.600, and that 
Contractor is solely responsible for the work performed under this Contract. Contractor represents 
and warrants that Contractor, its subcontractors, employees, and agents are not "officers, agents, or 
employees" of the City within the meaning of the Oregon Tort Claims Act (ORS 30.260 through 
30.300). Contractor shall be responsible for all federal, state, and local taxes and any and all fees 
applicable to payments for services under this Contract. 

9. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW.  
Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws applicable to the Work under this 
Contract, and all regulations and administrative rules established pursuant to those laws, including 
without limitation, the following requirements of the Oregon Public Contract Code: 

9.1.  ORS 279A.110 (Non-discrimination Certification): Contractor shall certify that 
Contractor has not discriminated and will not discriminate against a Subcontractor in the 
awarding of a subcontract because the Subcontractor is a minority, women, or emerging 
small business enterprise (certified under ORS 200.055.), or a business that is owned or 
controlled by, or employs a disabled veteran (as defined in ORS 408.225). 

9.2. ORS 279C.380 (Performance and Payment Bonds): Unless exempted by the City in writing 
pursuant to the City's local public contracting rules, prior to starting Work under this 
Contract, Contractor or its Subcontractor shall execute and deliver to City a good and 
sufficient performance bond, in a form acceptable to City, in a sum equal to 100% of the 
construction portion of the Contract Price, and Contractor or its Subcontractor shall execute 
and deliver to City a good and sufficient payment bond, in a form acceptable to City, in a 
sum equal to 100% of the construction portion of the Contract Price, solely for the 
protection of claimants under ORS 279C.600. 

9.3. ORS 279C.505 (Prompt Pay Requirement, Liens, Taxes, and Drug Testing): Contractor 
shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to such Contractor labor or 
material for the performance of the Work provided for in such Contract; pay all 
contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund from such Contractor or 
Subcontractor incurred in the performance of the Contract; not permit any lien or claim to 
be filed or prosecuted against the state or a county, school district, municipality, municipal 
corporation or subdivision thereof, on account of any labor or material furnished; and pay 
to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant to ORS 316.167. 
Contractor shall further demonstrate that an employee drug testing program is in place. 

9.4. ORS 279C.510 (Recycling/Composting): If this Contract includes demolition work, the 
Contractor shall salvage or recycle construction and demolition debris, if feasible and cost-
effective. If this Contract includes lawn or landscape maintenance, the Contractor shall 
compost or mulch yard waste material at an approved site, if feasible and cost-effective.  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 4 of 52 
 

9.5. ORS 279C.515 (Failure to Pay Promptly): If Contractor fails, neglects, or refuses to make 
prompt payment of any Claim for labor or services furnished to the Contractor or a 
Subcontractor by any person in connection with this Contract as such Claim becomes due, 
the City may pay such Claim to the person furnishing the labor or services and charge the 
amount of the payment against funds due or to become due the Contractor by reason of this 
Contract. The payment of a Claim in the manner authorized in this Section shall not relieve 
the Contractor or the Contractor's surety from any obligation with respect to any unpaid 
Claims. Unless the payment is subject to a good-faith dispute as defined in ORS 279C.580, 
if Contractor or any first-tier Subcontractor fails to pay any Claim for materials or labor 
furnished under this Contract within 30 days after being paid by City, interest shall be due 
on such claim as specified in ORS 279C.515(2) at the end of the 10-day period that 
payment is due under ORS 279C.580(4). A person with any such unpaid Claim may file a 
complaint with the Construction Contractor's Board unless the complaint is subject to a 
good-faith dispute as defined in ORS 279C.580. 

9.6. ORS 279C.520 and 279C.540 (Hours of Labor, Holidays, and Overtime): Except as 
otherwise provided in an applicable collective bargaining agreement with a labor 
organization, Contractor shall not employ and shall require that its Subcontractors not 
employ any person to perform construction work for more than ten hours in any one day, 
or 40 hours in any one week, except in cases of necessity, emergency, or where the public 
policy absolutely requires it, and in such cases, except in cases of Contracts for personal 
services as defined in ORS 279A.055, the laborer shall be paid at least time and a half pay: 

9.6.1. For all overtime in excess of eight hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when 
the work week is five consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and  

9.6.2. For all overtime in excess of ten hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the 
work week is four consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and 

9.6.3. For work performed on Saturday and on any legal holiday specified in any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement or ORS 279C.540(1)(b). 

9.6.4. The requirement to pay at least time and a half for all overtime worked in excess 
of 40 hours in any one week shall not apply to individuals who are excluded under 
ORS 653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 U.S.C. Section 201 to 209 from receiving 
overtime. Contractor shall and shall require its Subcontractors to give notice in 
writing to their employees who work under this Contract, either at the time of hire 
or before commencement of Work on the Contract, or by posting a notice in a 
location frequented by employees, of the number of hours per day and days per 
week that the employees may be required to work. 

9.7. ORS 279C.525 (Notice of Environmental Regulations): State law requires that solicitation 
documents for a public improvement contract make specific reference to federal, state, and 
local agencies that have enacted ordinances, rules, or regulations dealing with the 
prevention of environmental pollution or the preservation of natural resources that may 
affect the performance of this Contract. These agencies include, but are not limited to: 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 5 of 52 
 

9.7.1. Federal Agencies: Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Soil and Water 
Conservation Service, Coast Guard, Department of Defense, Army Corps of 
Engineers, Department of Emergency, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 
Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Health and Human Services, 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, Solar Energy and Energy 
Conservation Bank, Department of Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Bureau 
of Indian Affairs, Bureau of Mines, Bureau of Reclamation, Geological Survey, 
Minerals Management Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of 
Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration, Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration, Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, 
and Water Resources Council. 

9.7.2. State Agencies: Department of Administrative Services, Department of 
Agriculture, Soil and Water Conservation Commission, Columbia River Gorge 
Commission, Department of Energy, Department of Environmental Quality, 
Department of Fish and Wildlife, Department of Forestry, Department of Geology 
and Mineral Industries, Department of Human Resources, Department of 
Consumer and Business Services, Land Conservation and Development 
Commission, Department of Parks and Recreation, Division of State Lands, and 
Department of Water Resources. 

9.7.3. Local Agencies: City councils, county courts, county boards of commissioners, 
metropolitan service district councils, design commissions, historic preservation 
commissions, planning commissions, development review commissions, special 
district boards of directors, and other and special governmental agencies such as 
Tri-Met, urban renewal agencies, and Port districts.  

9.7.4. Tribal Governments. 

9.8. ORS 279C.530 (Payment for Medical Care and Workers' Compensation): Contractor shall 
promptly, as due, make payments to any person, co-partnership, association, or corporation 
furnishing medical, surgical, and hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident 
to sickness or injury, to the employees of such Contractor, of all sums which the Contractor 
agrees to pay for such services and all moneys and sums which the Contractor collected or 
deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract, or agreement for the 
purpose of providing or paying for such service. All employers, including the Contractor, 
that employ subject workers who work under this Contract in the State of Oregon shall 
comply with ORS 656.017 and provide the required workers' compensation coverage, 
unless such employers are exempt under ORS 656.126. Contractor shall ensure that each 
of its Subcontractors complies with these requirements. 

9.9. ORS 279C.545 (Time Limitations on Claims for Overtime): Construction workers 
employed by the Contractor or its Subcontractor shall be foreclosed from the right to collect 
for any overtime under this Contract unless a claim for payment is filed with the Contractor 
or Subcontractor within 90 days from the completion of the Contract, providing the 
Contractor or Subcontractor has: 

9.9.1. Caused a circular clearly printed in blackface pica type and containing a copy of 
this Section to be posted in a prominent place alongside the door of the 
timekeeper's office or in a similar place which is readily available and freely visible 
to any or all workers employed on the Work; and 

9.9.2. Maintained such circular continuously posted from the inception to the completion 
of the Contract on which workers are or have been employed. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 6 of 52 
 

9.10. ORS 279C.580(3) (Prompt Payment of First-Tier Subcontractors): Contractor shall include 
in each subcontract for property or services with a first-tier Subcontractor a clause that 
obligates the Contractor to pay the first-tier Subcontractor for satisfactory performance 
under its subcontract within ten days out of such amounts as are paid to the Contractor by 
the City. Contractor shall also include in each subcontract a clause that states that if the 
Contractor fails to pay any claim for materials or labor furnished under this Contract within 
30 days after being paid by City, interest shall be due on such claim as specified in ORS 
279C.515(2) at the end of the ten-day period that payment is due under ORS 279C.580(3). 
Contractor shall require each first-tier Subcontractor to include a payment clause and 
interest clause conforming to the requirements of ORS 279C.580 in each of its 
subcontracts, and to require each of its Subcontractors to include a similar clause in each 
contract with a lower-tiered subcontractor or supplier. 

9.11. ORS 279C.605 (Notice of Claim on Bond): Any person claiming a right of action under 
ORS 279C.600 must file a notice of claim as provided in ORS 279C.605. 

9.12. ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 (Payment of Prevailing Wage Required): 

9.12.1. The hourly rate of wage to be paid by Contractor or any Subcontractor to workers 
in each trade or occupation required for the public works employed in the 
performance of this Contract shall not be less than the specified minimum rate of 
wage in accordance with ORS 279C.838 and ORS 279C.840 for each trade or 
occupation as defined by the Commissioner of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and 
Industries in the applicable publication entitled Definitions of Covered 
Occupations for Public Works Contracts in Oregon available at 
https://www.oregon.gov/boli/employers/pages/prevailing-wage-rates.aspx.  

9.12.2. This Contract is subject to the prevailing wage rates published as specified in the 
City’s procurement document, which are included in this Contract as Exhibit C.  

9.12.3. Contractor and all Subcontractors shall keep the prevailing wage rates for this 
Project posted in a conspicuous and accessible place in or about the Project. 

9.12.4. The City shall pay a fee to the Commissioner of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and 
Industries as provided in ORS 279C.825. The fee shall be paid to the 
Commissioner under the administrative rule of the Commissioner. 

9.12.5. If Contractor or any Subcontractor also provides for or contributes to a health and 
welfare plan or a pension plan, or both, for its employees on the Project, it shall 
post notice describing such plans in a conspicuous and accessible place in or about 
the Project. The notice shall contain information on how and where to make 
claims and where to obtain future information. 

9.13. ORS 279C.836 (Public Works Bond Required): Contractor shall: 

9.13.1. File a public works bond with the Construction Contractors Board pursuant to 
ORS 279C.836 before starting Work on the Project, unless exempt under ORS 
279C.836(2), (7) or (8); and 

9.13.2. Include in every subcontract a provision requiring the Subcontractor to file a 
public works bond with the Construction Contractors Board pursuant to ORS 
279C.836 before starting work on the Project, unless exempt under ORS 
279C.836(2), (7) or (8). 

9.14. ORS 279C.845 (Prevailing Wage Certification; Additional Retainage): 

https://www.oregon.gov/boli/employers/pages/prevailing-wage-rates.aspx


 

{00884464; 1 }Page 7 of 52 
 

9.14.1. Contractor and every Subcontractor shall file certified statements with City in 
writing in the form prescribed by the Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and 
Industries, certifying the hourly rate of wage paid each worker whom Contractor 
or Subcontractor has employed upon such public work, and further certifying that 
no worker employed upon such public work has been paid less than the prevailing 
rate of wage or less than the minimum hourly rate of wage specified in the 
Contract, which certificate and statement shall be verified by the oath of 
Contractor or Contractor's surety or Subcontractor or Subcontractor's surety that 
Contractor and any Subcontractor has read such statement and certificate and 
knows the contents thereof, and that the same is true to Contractor or 
Subcontractor's knowledge. The certified statements shall set out accurately and 
completely the payroll records for the prior week including the name and address 
of each worker, the worker's correct classification, rate of pay, daily and weekly 
number of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid. 

9.14.2. The certified statement shall be delivered or mailed by Contractor or Subcontractor 
to City. Certified statements for each week during which the Contractor or 
Subcontractor employs a worker upon the public work shall be submitted once a 
month, by the fifth business day of the following month. Information submitted 
on certified statements may be used only to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Contract and in addition to any other retainage required under this Contract, the 
City shall retain 25% of any amount earned by the Contractor until the Contractor 
has filed the certified statements with the City as required by this Section. The 
City will pay the retainage required under this Section within 14 days after 
Contractor files the certified statements required by this Section. 

9.14.3. Contractor and each Subcontractor shall preserve the certified statements for a 
period of three years from the date of completion of the Contract. 

9.15. ORS 671.560, 701.026 (Landscape/Construction Contractors License Required): If 
Contractor is performing work as a landscape contractor as defined in ORS 671.520(2), 
Contractor must have a current, valid landscape contractor's license issued under ORS 
671.560. If Contractor is performing work as a Contractor as defined in ORS 701.005(2), 
Contractor must have a current, valid construction contractor's license issued under ORS 
701.026. Contractor shall further certify that all Subcontractors performing Work described 
in ORS 701.005(2) are registered with the Construction Contractors Board or licensed by 
the State Landscaping Contractor's Board as required by the above-noted statutes before 
they commence Work under this Contract. Contractor shall maintain in effect all licenses, 
permits, and certifications required for the performance of the Work. Contractor shall 
notify City immediately if any license, permit, or certification required for performance of 
this Contract shall cease to be in effect for any reason. 

9.16. Oregon Tax Law Compliance: Contractor must, throughout the duration of this Contract 
and any extensions, comply with all tax laws of this state and all applicable tax laws of any 
political subdivision of this state. Contractor (to the best of Contractor’s knowledge, after 
due inquiry), for a period of no fewer than six calendar years preceding the date of this 
Contract, represents and warrants that it has faithfully has complied with, and will continue 
to comply with during the term fo this Contract:  

9.16.1. All tax laws of this state, including but not limited to ORS 305.620 and ORS 
chapters 316, 317, and 318; 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 8 of 52 
 

9.16.2. Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied to 
Contractor, to Contractor’s property, operations, receipts, or income, or to 
Contractor’s performance of or compensation for any work performed by 
Contractor; 

9.16.3. Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied to 
Contractor, or to goods, services, or property, whether tangible or intangible, 
provided by Contractor; and 

9.16.4. Any rules, regulations, charter provisions, or ordinances that implemented or 
enforced any of the foregoing tax laws or provisions. 

Failure to comply with this section is a default for which the City may terminate the 
Contract and seek damages and other relief available under the terms of the Contract or 
under applicable law. 

9.17. Foreign Contractor. If Contractor is not domiciled in or registered to do business in the 
state of Oregon, Contractor shall promptly provide to the Oregon Department of Revenue 
and the Secretary of State Corporation Division all information required by those agencies 
relative to this Contract.  Contractor shall demonstrate its legal capacity to perform these 
services in the state of Oregon prior to entering into this Contract. 

10. NOTICE. 
Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Contract, any communications between the parties 
hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by personal delivery or mailing 
with postage prepaid to Contractor or City at the address set forth below. Any communication or 
notice so addressed and mailed shall be deemed to be given five (5) days after mailing. Any 
communication or notice by personal delivery shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. 

For the City of Silverton 
Contract Administrator Name, Title: Cory Misley, City Manager 
Address, City, State and ZIP Code: 306 S. Water St, Silverton, OR, 97381 
Telephone: 503-873-2205 
Email: cmisley@silverton.or.us 

For the Contractor 
Contract Administrator Name, Title: Peter Chilico Chief Executive Officer 
Address, City, State and ZIP Code: 8285 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 113 Beaverton OR 97008 
Telephone: 503-351-6126 
Email: Pete@Build-skape.com 

11. CONTRACTOR INFORMATION AND CERTIFICATION. 
Contractor shall provide Contractor's Social Security number or Contractor’s federal tax ID 
number and the additional information set forth below. This information is requested pursuant to 
ORS 305.385 and OAR 125-246-0330. Social Security numbers provided pursuant to this 
paragraph will be used for the administration of state, federal and local tax laws. 
 
Legal Name: Buildskape LLC 

Address, City, State and ZIP Code: 8285 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 113, Beaverton, OR, 97008 

Citizenship, if applicable: Non-resident alien?  ☐ Yes ☐ No  

 Business Designation (check one): 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 9 of 52 
 

☐ Professional Corporation  ☐ Partnership  ☐ Limited Partnership   
☐ Limited Liability Company  ☐ Limited Liability Partnership  ☒ Sole Proprietorship  ☐ Other 

Federal Tax ID#: 85-4144353 or SSN: Enter SSN if no Federal Tax ID 

Oregon CCB License Number: 233943 

City may report the information set forth above in conjunction with any reports it makes to the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) under the name and Social Security number or taxpayer identification number 
provided. Contractor shall be responsible for all federal, state, and local taxes and any fees 
applicable to payments for Work under this Contract. 

[Remainder of this page is intentionally left blank; signatures are on the following page.] 

 
 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 10 of 52 
 

  

The individual signing on behalf of Contractor hereby certifies and swears under penalty of perjury that: (a) 
the number shown on this form is Contractor’s correct taxpayer identification; (b) Contractor is not subject 
to backup withholding because (i) Contractor is exempt from backup withholding, (ii) Contractor has not 
been notified by the IRS that Contractor is subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all 
interest or dividends, or (iii) the IRS has notified Contractor that Contractor is no longer subject to backup 
withholding; (c) s/he is authorized to act on behalf of Contractor, s/he has authority and knowledge 
regarding Contractor’s payment of taxes, and to the best of her/his knowledge, (d) Contractor is not in 
violation of any Oregon tax laws named in ORS 305.380(4). Contractor is an independent contractor as 
defined in ORS 670.600; and (e) the supplied Contractor data is true and accurate. 

Contractor has the power and authority to enter into and perform this Contract. The persons executing this 
Contract on behalf of Contractor have the actual authority to bind Contractor to the terms of this Contract. 

 
FOR THE CITY OF SILVERTON: 
 
 
      
Cory Misley City Manager 
 
________________________________ 
Name (Printed) 
 
________________________________ 
Title 
 
 ________________________________ 
Date 
 
 
 

FOR Buildskape LLC: 
 
 
      
Signature 
 
      
Name (Printed) 
 
      
Title 
 
________________________________ 
Date 

 
  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 11 of 52 
 

EXHIBIT A 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACT 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
1.1. Architect/Engineer. The “Architect/Engineer” is N/A. If no Architect/Engineer is included 

for the Project, the City shall bear the responsibilities of the Architect/Engineer pursuant 
to this Contract. 

1.2. Contract Documents. The “Contract Documents” are enumerated in Section 3 of the 
Contract. 

1.3. Contract Schedule. The “Contract Schedule” is the graphical representation of the practical 
plan for carrying out the Work and completing the Work within the Contract Time as set 
forth in the Contract Documents. The Contract Schedule provides a list of intended events 
and times to complete each event as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

1.4. Drawings. The “Drawings” are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract 
Documents showing the design, location and dimensions of the Work, generally including 
plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules, and diagrams. 

1.5. Knowledge. The terms “knowledge,” “recognize” and “discover” their respective 
derivatives and similar terms in the Contract Documents, when used in reference to the 
Contractor, means that which the Contractor knows or should know, recognizes or should 
recognize and discovers or should discover. Analogously, the expression “reasonably 
inferable” and similar terms in the Contract Documents means reasonably inferable by a 
contractor familiar with the Project and exercising the care, skill and diligence required of 
the Contractor by the Contract Documents. 

1.6. Modification. A “Modification” is 

1.6.1. a written amendment to this Contract signed by both parties; 

1.6.2. a Change Order; 

1.6.3. a Construction Change Directive; or 

1.6.4. a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by the Architect/Engineer. 

1.7. Organization of Drawings and Specifications. “Organization of Drawings and 
Specifications” into divisions, sections, articles, or otherwise arranged will not control 
Contractor in dividing the Work among subcontractors or in establishing the extent of 
Work to be performed by any trade subcontractor. 

1.8. Project. The “Project” is the total construction of which the Work performed under the 
Contract Documents may be the whole or a part and which may include construction by 
City and by separate Contractors. 

1.9. Project Site. The “Project Site” is the property upon which the Project lies and City’s 
property that surrounds the Project, extending to the City’s property boundary. 

1.10. Specifications. The “Specifications” are that portion of the Contract Documents consisting 
of the written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship 
for the Work and performance of related services. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 12 of 52 
 

2. CITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
2.1. Authorized Representative. City shall designate a person in writing to be the authorized 

representative with express authority, to the extent permitted by law, to bind and 
communicate on behalf of City with respect to all matters requiring City’s approval or 
authorization (“City Representative”). The term “City” includes City Representative. 

2.2. Contract Administration. City shall provide contract administrative services for the Project 
through City’s authorized representative. The City Representative may engage and 
delegate authority to such additional staff and professional and technical consultants as 
City deems necessary to assist in perform its administrative tasks. Contractor shall direct 
all Project communications to City and in accordance with the Contract Documents, or as 
City directs in writing. 

2.2.1. City may engage professional architects or engineers to assist City during 
construction of the Project to interpret technical contract provisions and to 
determine the amount, quality, acceptability, and fitness of the Work. Such 
architects or engineers will be authorized to act on behalf of City only to the extent 
expressly provided in the Contract Documents or as City otherwise directs in 
writing. 

2.2.2. City may engage a consulting construction manager to provide Project 
administrative services on City’s behalf. Such construction manager will be 
authorized to act on behalf of City to the extent expressly provided in the Contract 
Documents or as City otherwise directs in writing. 

2.2.3. City may retain certain project inspectors to monitor compliance with Drawings 
and Specifications for the Project, as well as applicable codes and ordinances. Such 
project inspectors will be authorized to act on behalf of City to the extent expressly 
provided in the Contract Documents or as City otherwise directs in writing. 

2.3. Access to the Work. City and its designated representatives shall have free access to the 
Work at all times. Contractor shall not carry on Work except with the knowledge of City 
and its designated representatives. City may require special inspection or testing of any 
portion of the Work, whether it has been fabricated, installed, or fully completed. 
Inspection or observation of Work shall not relieve Contractor from any obligation to fulfill 
the Contract. 

2.4. Right to Stop or Reject Work. City may reject Work that fails to conform to the Contract 
Documents, as determined by City. If Contractor fails to promptly correct such defective 
Work, City may issue a written order directing Contractor to stop the Work, or designated 
portion thereof, until the cause for such order is eliminated. The right of City to stop the 
Work shall not give rise to a duty on the part of City, or any of its representatives, to 
discover nonconforming Work or to exercise the right to stop the Work for the benefit of 
Contractor or any other person or entity. 

2.5. Permits and Access. Except for permits and fees that are Contractor’s responsibility under 
the Contract Documents, City shall secure and pay for all other necessary approvals, 
easements, assessments and charges required to complete the Work. 

2.6. Subsurface Surveys. City shall make available to Contractor, and Contractor shall study, 
the results of such test borings and information that City has concerning subsurface 
conditions and site geology. Contractor shall inform City of any other site investigation, 
analysis, study, or test conducted by or for Contractor or its agents and shall make the 
results available to City upon City’s request. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 13 of 52 
 

2.7. City’s Rights. The rights stated in this Section and elsewhere in the Contract Documents 
are cumulative and do not limit any rights City may have under the Contract Documents, 
at law or in equity. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, any right City 
has under the Contract Documents to compel Contractor to fix defective Work, up to and 
including any warranty period the Contract Documents may establish, does not operate to 
shorten or otherwise limit statutes of limitations applicable to the Work. 

3. CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
3.1. General Responsibilities. 

3.1.1. Authorized Representative. Contractor shall designate a person in writing to be the 
authorized representative with express authority to bind and communicate on 
behalf of Contractor with respect to all matters requiring Contractor’s approval or 
authorization (“Contractor Representative”). The term “Contractor” means the 
Contractor or the Contractor Representative. 

3.1.2. Materials, Equipment, and Services. The Contractor will provide all labor, 
materials, equipment, and services necessary to complete the Work, all of which 
will be provided in full accord with the Contract Documents. 

3.1.3. Supervision and Coordination. Unless otherwise expressly provided in the 
Contract Documents, the Contractor will be solely responsible for the supervision 
and coordination of the Work, including the construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures utilized. 

3.1.4. Project Correspondence. Contractor shall provide City with a copy of all written 
communications between Contractor and City’s consultants at the same time as 
that communication is made to such consultants, including, without limitation, all 
requests for information, correspondence, submittals, notices, and change order 
proposals. Contractor shall confirm oral communications in writing. 

3.1.5. Project Boundary. Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted 
by law, ordinances, permits, and the Contract Documents and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the site with materials or equipment. 

3.1.6. Taxes. Contractor shall pay all applicable taxes for the Work provided by 
Contractor that are legally applicable at the time the bid is submitted, whether or 
not yet effective or merely scheduled to go into effect. 

3.1.7. Permits, Fees and Notices. Except as otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents, Contractor shall secure and pay for all permits, licenses, and 
certificates that are the Contractor’s responsibility under the Contract Documents 
and that are necessary for prosecution of Work before the date of the 
commencement of the Work or before the permits, licenses, and certificates are 
legally required to continue the Work without interruption. Contractor shall obtain 
and pay, when legally required, for all licenses, permits, inspections, and 
inspection certificates required by any authority having jurisdiction over any part 
of the Work included in the Contract. Contractor shall deliver all final permits, 
licenses, and certificates to City before demand is made for final payment. 

3.2. Worksite Conditions. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 14 of 52 
 

3.2.1. Benchmarks and Monuments. Contractor shall protect and preserve established 
benchmarks and monuments and shall not change locations of benchmarks and 
monuments without City’s prior written approval. Contractor shall replace any 
benchmarks or monuments that are lost or destroyed subsequent to proper 
notification of City and with City’s approval. 

3.2.2. Field Verification. Prior to the commencement of the Work, Contractor shall 
review the Project Site with City in detail and identify the area of the Work, staging 
areas, connections or interfacing with existing structures and operations, and 
restrictions on the Work site area. Contractor shall ensure that all forces on the 
Project Site are instructed about the acceptable working and staging areas and 
restrictions on use of the site. Contractor, with advance consent of City, shall erect 
such barriers and devices as are necessary to restrict access within the Work site 
to authorized areas and to prevent unauthorized access to non-Work areas. 

3.2.3. Utility Locates. Contractor will be responsible to locate existing utilities and 
underground facilities that are indicated in the Contract Documents or that are 
known or reasonably should be known to exist in proximity to the Work. 
Contractor shall provide timely notice and locate requests with any affected utility 
or through contact with appropriate notification centers before commencing 
excavation or demolition Work that Contractor knows or reasonably should know 
is in proximity to such utilities or facilities. Contractor assumes the sole risk and 
will be responsible for all delay and expense arising out of Contractor’s failure to 
do so. Contractor acknowledges that utility companies and other third parties 
owning or managing facilities that may need to be relocated are not City’s agents 
and do not act for the City.  

3.3. Responsibility for Performance. 

3.3.1. Before beginning the Work, Contractor shall examine and compare the drawings 
and specifications with information furnished by City that are Contract 
Documents, relevant filed measurements made by the Contractor, and any visible 
conditions at the worksite affecting the Work. 

3.3.2. Reporting Inconsistencies. Contractor is not required to ascertain that the Contract 
Documents are in accordance with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, building 
codes, and rules and regulations, but Contractor shall promptly report any 
nonconformity it discovers to City. Contractor will be liable to City for damages 
if it fails, in the exercise of normal diligence, to recognize any error, inconsistency, 
omission or difference between field conditions and the Contract Documents. 
Contractor shall promptly report any errors, inconsistencies, or omissions it 
discovers, as a request for information, in such a form as City or 
Architect/Engineer may require. Contractor will not be entitled to any modification 
in Contract Total or Contract Time solely by the request for information. 
Contractor shall carefully study and compare all Contract Documents, including 
Drawings, Specifications, and other instructions and shall at once report, in writing 
to City any error, inconsistency, or omission that Contractor or its employees or 
subcontractors may discover. In the event of an inconsistency within or between 
parts of the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and 
applicable law, and regardless of whether Contractor reports the inconsistency to 
the City, the Contractor must: (i) provide the better quality or greater quantity of 
Work; or (ii) comply with the more stringent requirement as applicable. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 15 of 52 
 

3.3.3. Unnecessary Inquiries. Contractor is liable for costs incurred by City for 
professional services for interpretations or decisions of matters where the 
information sought is equally available to the party making the request. 

3.4. Construction Materials and Supplies. 

3.4.1. Quantities of Materials. Contractor shall provide materials in sufficient quantities 
on hand at such times as to ensure uninterrupted progress of Work and shall store 
materials properly and protect materials as required. 

3.4.2. Complete Assembly. For all materials and equipment specified or indicated in the 
Drawings, Contractor shall provide all labor, materials, equipment, and services 
necessary for complete assemblies and complete working systems, functioning as 
intended. Contractor shall furnish incidental items not indicated on Drawings, nor 
mentioned in the Specifications, that can be legitimately and reasonably inferred 
to belong to the Work described, or necessary in good practice to provide a 
complete assembly or system, as though itemized here in every detail. In all 
instances, Contractor shall install material and equipment in strict accordance with 
each manufacturer’s most recent published recommendations and specifications. 
Contractor shall be responsible for appropriately sequencing the Work and for 
verification of suitability of prior work before subsequent construction activities. 

3.4.3. Timely Ordering of Materials. Contractor shall coordinate submittal approvals and 
place orders for materials and/or equipment so that delivery of same will be made 
without delays to the Work. Contractor shall, upon City’s reasonable request, 
provide documentary evidence that orders have been placed. 

3.4.4. No Right to Lien. Contractor warrants good title to all material, supplies, and 
equipment installed or incorporated in Work and agrees upon completion of all 
Work to deliver the site to City, together with all improvements and appurtenances 
constructed or placed thereon by it, and free from any claims, liens, or charges. 
Because City’s property is public property, Contractor and any person, firm, or 
corporation furnishing any materials or labor for any Work covered by this 
Contract, will not have any right to lien any portion of the Project Site or any 
improvement or appurtenance thereon. 

3.4.5. Storage. Contractor and its subcontractors shall obtain City approval before 
delivering or storing materials or tools on City’s premises. Upon approval, 
Contractor shall store materials and tools so that they do not hamper the operation 
of equipment or persons and do not present a fire or safety hazard. 

3.5. Construction Personnel and Supervision. 

3.5.1. Supervision. During progress of the Work, Contractor shall keep on the Project 
Site, and at all other locations where any Work related to this Contract is being 
performed, a competent project manager, construction superintendent and staff, 
who are employees of Contractor, to whom City does not object and at least one 
of whom is fluent in English, written and verbal. Contractor shall provide efficient 
supervision to the Work, using its best skill and attention. Before commencing the 
Work, Contractor shall give written notice to City of the name of its project 
manager and construction superintendent. Contractor is bound by all directions 
given to Contractor’s project manager and/or construction superintendent as if 
such direction was given to Contractor. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 16 of 52 
 

3.5.2. Replacement of Supervision. Contractor shall not otherwise remove or replace the 
construction superintendent or project manager for any reason, including their need 
to work on other projects, or to take extended vacations, without submitting thirty 
(30) days’ written notice to City. If Contractor’s project manager, construction 
superintendent, or support staff member is no longer employed by Contractor, 
Contractor shall provide City with notice of the termination of the employment 
relationship and shall consult with City with respect to replacement personnel. 

3.5.3. Discipline and Removal. Contractor shall at all times enforce strict discipline and 
good order among its subcontractors and employees and shall not employ or work 
any unfit person, or anyone not skilled in work assigned to that person. City may 
require Contractor to permanently remove unfit persons from Project Site. 
Contractor shall not employ any person whom City may deem incompetent or unfit 
on the Project except with the prior written consent of City. City may require 
removal and replacement of any or all construction superintendents or project 
managers upon ten (10) days’ notice to Contractor. 

3.5.4. Acts or Omissions. Contractor is responsible to City for acts and omissions of 
Contractor’s employees, subcontractors and their agents and employees, and other 
persons or entities performing portions of the Work for or on behalf of Contractor 
or any of its subcontractors. 

3.5.5. Identification Badges. The Contractor and its subcontractors, and the employees 
and the agents of any of them shall comply with City’s policies and requirements 
to obtain, display, and return identification badges at any time while they are 
present on City’s property. 

3.6. Contractor’s Construction Master Schedule. 

3.6.1. Schedule Required. Within no more than ten (10) days of being awarded the 
Contract, and before commencing the Work, Contractor shall prepare and submit 
to City for City’s approval a construction master schedule for the Work. The 
construction schedule shall be in a detailed precedence-style critical path method 
(CPM) type format, which will include any interim dates that are critical in 
ensuring the timely completion of the Work as provided in the Contract 
Documents. City shall provide approval or comment on the submitted schedule 
within seven (7) days. Contractor shall be responsible for amending construction 
schedule in response to City comments. 

3.6.2. Logic. Schedule shall use retained logic during the development and updating of 
the schedule. Any function that would cause the retained logic of the logic network 
to be overridden is prohibited unless approved, in writing and in advance, by the 
Architect/Engineer and City. 

3.6.3. Schedule shall include: date of Notice to Proceed, date of Substantial Completion, 
and date of Final Completion in accordance with Contract Documents. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 17 of 52 
 

3.6.4. Schedule Maintenance. The schedule shall not exceed the Contract Time for the 
Work. Contractor shall revise and update the schedule at appropriate intervals, no 
greater than monthly, or as required by City or the conditions of the Work and 
Project. Should the Contractor fail to meet any scheduled date as shown on the 
current Construction Progress Schedule, the Contractor shall promptly notify the 
City, and if requested, be required at its own expense to submit within five (5) days 
of the request an updated Construction Progress Schedule. If the Contractor's 
progress indicates to the City that the Work will not be Substantially Completed 
within the Contract Time, the Architect/Engineer and City may require the 
Contractor develop a Recovery Schedule that adequately demonstrates how the 
Contractor will, at its own expense, increase its work force and/or working hours 
to bring the actual completion dates of the activities into conformance with the 
Construction Progress Schedule and Substantial Completion within the Contract 
Time. Neither the City nor the Architect/Engineer will, however, be obligated to 
review the substance or sequence of the Construction Progress Schedule or 
otherwise determine whether it is correct, appropriate or attainable. 

3.6.5. Submittal Schedule. Contractor shall prepare and keep current, for City’s review 
and acceptance, a schedule of submittals that is coordinated with the construction 
schedule and allows City and its consultants reasonable time to review submittals 
and to provide information necessary for procurement and installation of Work for 
which allowances are provided under the Contract Documents. City may require 
Contractor to include preparation of Contract submittals as a line item payment in 
the schedule of values. 

3.6.6. Execution of Schedule. Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance 
with the most recent schedules submitted to and accepted by City. Contractor shall 
indicate in the schedule updates any Work that is not proceeding according to the 
schedule and shall provide a written plan of action to bring the Work into 
compliance with the schedule or to otherwise ensure that the Work will be 
completed within the Contract Time. 

3.7. Documents and Records. 

3.7.1. Record Documents. Contractor shall update at least weekly, at the Project Site, or 
at such other location as City may authorize in writing, one legible copy of all 
Contract Documents annotated with all changes (“Record Documents”), including 
but not limited to Addenda, RFIs, ASIs, and Change Orders. Contractor shall also 
maintain on site a complete record and copy of all approved submittals, shop 
drawings and product samples. Failure to update in a timely manner as required by 
this Section may result in withholding payment by City. Contractor shall keep 
these documents in good order and available to City’s consultants or 
representatives and all authorities having jurisdiction. Contractor shall coordinate 
with City’s representatives and consultants and shall submit its verified report(s) 
according to Oregon law or as required by authorities having jurisdiction. The 
Contractor shall submit the completed and finalized project record to City in 
accordance with the contract documents prior to Final Acceptance.  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 18 of 52 
 

3.7.2. Daily Job Reports. Contractor shall maintain at least one (1) set of reports on the 
Project prepared by Contractor’s employee(s) present on site, and which includes 
following information: a brief description of all Work performed on that day; a 
summary of all pertinent events and/or occurrences on that day including records 
of all tests and inspections; a list of all subcontractor(s) working on that day; a list 
of each Contractor employee working on that day; the total hours worked for each 
employee; a complete list of all equipment on the Project that day, whether in use 
or not; the time Work commenced and ended; weather conditions; accidents or 
injuries; and Work progress made for that day (“Daily Job Reports”). Contractor 
shall keep the Daily Job Reports current and in good order and shall make current 
copies available to City upon request. 

3.7.3. Maintenance of Records after Final Payment. Contractor shall make available at 
its office at all reasonable times the materials described in this paragraph for the 
examination, audit, or reproduction until six (6) years after final payment under 
this Contract: (a) all Daily Job Reports or other Project records of Contractor’s 
project manager(s), construction superintendent(s), and/or project foreperson(s); 
(b) all certified payroll records and/or related documents including, without 
limitation, payroll, payment, timekeeping and tracking documents; (c) all books, 
estimates, records, contracts, documents, bid documents, bid cost data, subcontract 
job cost reports, and other data of Contractor, any subcontractor, and/or supplier, 
including computations and projections related to bidding, negotiating, pricing, or 
performing the Work or Contract modification, in order to evaluate the accuracy, 
completeness, and currency of the cost, manpower, coordination, supervision, or 
pricing data at no additional cost to City. These documents may be duplicative 
and/or be in addition to any bid documents held in escrow by City. 

3.7.4. Submittals. Contractor shall submit shop drawings, product data, samples and 
mock ups as required by the Contract Documents that have been verified and 
coordinated with the requirements of the Work and of the Contract Documents. 
Contractor shall not perform any portion of the Work until the submittals for that 
portion have been approved by City. 

3.7.5. Professional Design Services. City will not require Contractor to perform 
professional services which constitute the practice of architecture, engineering, or 
surveying unless such services are specifically required by the Contract 
Documents as a part of the Work or unless Contractor must provide such services 
in order to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities under the Contract. City shall 
specify performance and design criteria that such professional services must 
satisfy. 

3.7.6. Ownership of Documents. All copies of Drawings, Specifications, and copies of 
other incidental architectural and engineering work, or copies of other Contract 
Documents furnished by City or generated by Contractor, including those in 
electronic form, are the property of City. 

3.7.7. Copyright and License. Neither Contractor nor any subcontractor, or material or 
equipment supplier, will own or claim a copyright in the documents prepared by 
the City’s consultants. City hereby grants Contractor, subcontractors, sub-
subcontractors, and material or equipment suppliers a limited license to use 
applicable portions of the Drawings and Specifications prepared for the Project in 
the execution of their Work under the Contract Documents. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 19 of 52 
 

3.7.8. Royalties, Licenses and Copyrights. Contractor shall obtain and pay, when 
required by law, all royalties and license fees necessary for prosecution of Work 
before the earlier of the date of the commencement of the Work or the date the 
license is legally required to continue the Work without interruption. Contractor 
shall defend suits or claims of infringement of patent, copyright, or other rights 
and shall hold City, City’s consultants, and City’s representatives harmless and 
indemnify them from loss on account of claims for infringement to the extent 
Contractor knew, or with reasonable diligence should have known, that the use of 
a specified design, process, or product would constitute infringement. 

3.7.9. Intellectual Property. The review by City or Architect/Engineer of any method of 
construction, invention, appliance, process, article, device, or material of any kind 
is limited to a review for adequacy for the Work and is not approval for use by 
Contractor in violation of any patent or other rights of any person or entity. 

3.8. Tests and Inspections. 

3.8.1. Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required 
by the Contract Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, 
rules and regulations or lawful orders of public authorities. 

3.8.2. Unless otherwise provided, Contractor shall arrange for such tests, inspections, and 
approvals, and shall bear the associated costs. Contractor shall notify City of 
scheduled tests and/or inspections and approvals, so that City or its designated 
representative may be present for such procedures, which presence shall be at 
City’s expense. 

3.8.3. Contractor shall not incorporate any material into the Work that has not satisfied 
all testing, inspection, or approval requirements of the Contract Documents. 

3.8.4. Contractor shall secure and promptly deliver required certificates of testing, 
inspection or approval to City, unless otherwise provided by the Contract 
Documents. 

3.8.5. If testing, inspection, or approval required by the Contract Documents, or 
otherwise required by City, reveal failure of the Work to comply with requirements 
of the Contract Documents, all costs made necessary by such failure, including 
those of repeated procedures and compensation of City’s costs, shall be at 
Contractor’s expense. 

3.9. Work Under the Contract. 

3.9.1. Defective Work. At City’s sole option, Contractor shall repair or replace any and 
all Work, together with any other Work that may be displaced in doing so, that 
may prove defective in workmanship and/or materials within a one (1) year period 
from Substantial Completion of the Work without expense whatsoever to City. In 
the event Contractor fails to commence and diligently pursue such replacements 
or repairs within ten (10) days after being notified in writing, Contractor hereby 
acknowledges and agrees that City may correct such defects, without voiding any 
guarantee or warranty, at Contractor’s expense. Payment shall become due upon 
City’s demand, and shall be an obligation secured by Contractor’s performance 
bond. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 20 of 52 
 

3.9.2. Correction of Work. If, in the opinion of City, defective Work creates an exigent 
or dangerous condition or requires immediate correction or attention to prevent 
injury to persons or property or to prevent interruption of City operations, City 
may, upon making a good faith attempt to notify Contractor, proceed to make some 
or all replacements or repairs as may be reasonably required in the circumstances. 
The costs of such work will be charged against Contractor and shall become due 
upon City’s demand. 

3.9.3. Manufacturer’s Warranties. The above provisions do not in any way limit the 
guarantees on any items for which a longer guarantee is specified or on any items 
for which a manufacturer gives a guarantee for a longer period. Contractor shall 
furnish to City all appropriate guarantee or warranty certificates as indicated in the 
Specifications or upon request by City. Contractor shall obtain and preserve for the 
benefit of City, manufacturer’s warranties on material, fixtures, and equipment 
incorporated into the Work. Contractor shall furnish City with all guarantee or 
warranty certificates as indicated in the Specifications or upon City’s request. 

3.9.4. Cutting and Patching. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, patching, and 
preparation of Work as required to make its several parts come together properly, 
to fit it to receive, or be received by work of other Contractors, and to coordinate 
tolerances to various pieces of work, showing upon, or reasonably implied by, the 
Drawings and Specifications for the completed structure, and shall conform them 
as City may direct. 

3.9.5. Alteration of Work by Contractor or Others. Contractor shall not endanger any 
Work performed by it or anyone else by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering 
Work and shall not cut or alter Work of any other Contractor except with consent 
of City. 

3.9.6. Cleaning up. Contractor shall keep the Project Site and surrounding area, including 
public rights of way, free from dust, mud, dirt, or accumulation of waste materials 
or rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, 
Contractor shall clean the site, streets, and sidewalks and shall remove from the 
Project waste materials, rubbish, Contractor’s tools, construction equipment, 
machinery, and surplus materials. 

3.9.7. Access to Work. Contractor shall provide City and its representatives access to the 
Work in preparation and progress wherever located. 

3.10. Allowances. 

3.10.1. Contractor shall include all allowances stated in the Contract Documents in the 
Contract Total. Unless the Contract Documents provide otherwise, Contractor 
shall include in the Contract Total, separate from allowances, amounts necessary 
to cover the cost of materials and equipment delivered at the site and all required 
taxes, less applicable trade discounts, Contractor’s costs for unloading and 
handling at the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, profit and other expenses 
contemplated for stated allowance. City shall adjust the Contract Total through a 
Change Order whenever costs are more than allowances. City shall provide a 
Change Order amount that reflects the difference between the actual cost and the 
allowance. 

3.11. Warranty. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 21 of 52 
 

3.11.1. Contractor warrants to City and Architect/Engineer that materials and equipment 
furnished under the Contract will be of good quality and new unless otherwise 
required or permitted by the Contract Documents, that the Work will be free from 
defects not inherent in the quality required or permitted, and that the Work will 
conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Work not conforming to 
these requirements, including substitutions not properly approved and authorized, 
may be considered defective. Contractor’s warranty excludes remedy for damage 
or defect caused by abuse, modifications not executed by Contractor, improper or 
insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear and normal 
usage. If required by Architect/Engineer or City, Contractor shall furnish 
satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 

3.11.2. Contractor guarantees all work against defects in material or workmanship for a 
period of one (1) year from the date of substantial completion. 

3.11.3. If, after 10 days’ notice, Contractor fails to proceed to cure any breach of this 
warranty, City may have the defects corrected and Contractor and its surety shall 
be liable for all expenses incurred. In case of an emergency, where, in the opinion 
of City or Architect/Engineer, delay would cause serious loss or damage, 
corrective work may be undertaken without advance notice to Contractor; but 
Contractor and its surety shall remain liable for all expenses incurred. The 
remedies stated in this subsection are not exclusive, but are cumulative of any other 
remedies City may have. 

3.11.4. Contractor shall assign, and shall obtain from subcontractors and assign, all 
manufacturers’ warranties to City and all guarantees and warranties of goods 
supplied under this Contract shall be deemed to run to the benefit of City. 
Contractor shall provide City with all manufacturers’ warranty documentation and 
operations and maintenance manuals not later than the date of Final Acceptance of 
the Work by the City. 

4. SUBCONTRACTORS. 
4.1. Subcontractor Disclosure. Contractor shall provide City a list of all subcontractors and 

major suppliers with a name, address, telephone and fax numbers, Oregon license 
number(s), classification, and monetary value of each subcontract for labor, material, or 
equipment. If City objects, City shall promptly provide a written notice of objection. 
Contractor shall not contract with a proposed person or entity to which City reasonably 
objects or that is ineligible to receive a subcontract under ORS 279C.860, and shall procure 
a replacement subcontractor that is acceptable to City. City shall provide a Change Order 
before commencement of substitute subcontractor’s Work for the increase or decrease in 
the Contract Total and Contract Time occasioned by such change, unless the subcontractor 
is ineligible under ORS 279C.860, and Contractor shall be fully responsible for 
performance of the substituted subcontractor under the Contract Documents. Contractor 
shall be solely responsible to determine whether any proposed subcontractor is eligible. 

4.2. Pass-Through. Contractor shall require each subcontractor, by written agreement, to be 
bound to Contractor by terms of this Contract to the extent it applies to the Work performed 
by subcontractor. Contractor shall provide copies of subcontract agreements upon City’s 
request. 

4.3. No Waiver. City’s consent or failure to object to any subcontractor does not relieve 
Contractor of any obligations under this Contract and is not a waiver of any provisions of 
this Contract. A waiver is not effective unless it is in writing and is signed by the City. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 22 of 52 
 

4.4. Substitution and Assignment. Contractor shall not, without City’s written consent: 

4.4.1. Substitute any person as a subcontractor in place of the subcontractor designated 
in the original bid. 

4.4.2. Permit any Subcontract to be assigned or transferred, or allow any portion of the 
Work to be performed by anyone other than the subcontractor listed in the original 
bid; or 

4.4.3. Sublet or subcontract any portion of the Work in excess of one-half of one percent 
(1/2 of 1%) of Contractor’s total bid as to which his original bid did not designate 
a subcontractor. 

4.5. Coordination of Work. Contractor shall coordinate the trades, subcontractors, sub-
subcontractors and material or equipment suppliers working on the Project. 

4.6. Subcontractor Dispute Resolution. Contractor shall settle any difference between 
Contractor and its subcontractor(s) or between subcontractors. 

4.7. Assignment. Contractor shall include assignment provisions in each subcontract as 
indicated in the termination provisions set forth in these General Conditions. 

4.7.1. Contingent Assignment of Subcontractors. Contractor shall assign to City each 
subcontract agreement for a portion of the Work provided that: 

4.7.1.1. Assignment is effective only after termination of this Contract by City 
for cause or stoppage of the Work by City, and only for those subcontract 
agreements which City accepts in its sole discretion by notifying the 
subcontractor and Contractor in writing; and  

4.7.1.2. Assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated 
under bond relating to this Contract. 

4.7.2. Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than thirty (30) 
days, City shall equitably adjust subcontractor’s compensation for increases in cost 
resulting from the suspension. 

4.8. Prompt Payment of Subcontractors. Contractor shall promptly pay subcontractors as 
required by the Contract. 

5. CONSTRUCTION BY CITY. 
5.1. Other Contractors. City may let other contractors perform work with its own forces, in 

connection with the Project. Contractor shall afford other contractors reasonable 
opportunity for introduction and storage of materials and execution of their work and shall 
properly coordinate and connect the Work with the work of other contractors. If Contractor 
claims that delay or additional cost is involved because of such action by City, Contractor 
shall make such claim in the manner provided in the Contract Documents. 

5.1.1. Contractor shall protect the work of other contractors that it encounters while 
working on the Project. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 23 of 52 
 

5.1.2. If any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon completion of the work of City or 
others for proper execution, Contractor shall inspect and promptly report to City 
any discrepancy or defective condition in such work. Contractor’s failure to inspect 
and report will be deemed acceptance of all work of others as fit and proper for 
reception of Contractor’s Work. Contractor is liable for damages for work of others 
that Contractor failed to inspect, except for defects that were not discoverable and 
may develop in City’s or any other contractor’s work after execution of 
Contractor’s Work. 

5.2. Mutual Responsibility. Contractor shall reimburse City for costs incurred by City which 
are payable to a separate contractor because of delays, improperly timed activities or 
defective construction of Contractor. City shall reimburse Contractor for costs incurred by 
Contractor because of delays, improperly timed activities, and damage to the Work or 
defective construction of a separate contractor. 

5.3. City’s Right to Clean Up. If a dispute arises among Contractor, separate contractors and 
City as to the responsibility under their respective contracts for maintaining the premises 
and surrounding area free from waste materials and rubbish, City may clean up and the 
City shall allocate the cost among those responsible. 

6. CHANGES IN THE WORK. 
6.1. Change Orders. 

6.1.1. Change Order. A document prepared by the City Representative and signed by the 
City, the City Representative, the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor or 
assigned designee, stating their agreement upon all of the following: (1) a change 
in the Work; (2) the amount of the adjustment in the Contract Total, including all 
costs, overhead and profit, if any; and (3) the extent of the adjustment in the 
Contract Time, if any, issued after the effective date of the Contract. 

6.1.2. A Proposed Change Order (PCO) is a document prepared by the Contractor to seek 
additional compensation and/or time from the City. The Contractor shall provide 
a written PCO narrative explaining its reasons for requesting additional 
compensation or time. The written PCO narrative shall reference all related 
schedule activities and contract specification sections and drawings directly 
pertaining to the PCO, include all costs, overhead and profit. 

6.1.3. Change Pricing. In the absence of applicable unit prices or other agreement, the 
changed work will be priced in accordance with the following provisions: 

6.1.3.1. In no case shall the sum of the individual markups applied to a General 
Contractor’s Modification exceed fifteen percent (15%), regardless of the 
number of Subcontractor tiers involved in performing the Work. 

6.1.3.2. The total combined mark-up for a Subcontractor and his lower-tier 
Subcontractor shall not exceed ten percent (10%). Costs of tax and 
insurance shall not be marked up. 

6.1.3.3. For work perform by a subcontractor, the subcontractor will receive 10% 
markup for direct costs. The General Contractor shall receive a five 
percent (5%) of the subcontractor's direct costs for processing.  

6.1.3.4. For self-performed work by the General Contractor, the markup shall 
equal fifteen percent (15%) of the direct cost as defined herein.  

6.1.3.5. Bonding may be increased a maximum of one percent (1%) provided the 
Contractor demonstrates to the City a requirement to increase bonding. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 24 of 52 
 

6.1.3.6. If the net value of a change results in a credit from the Contractor or 
subcontractor, the credit shall be the actual net cost, plus five percent (5%) 
for overhead and profit. When both additions and credits covering related 
work or substitutions are involved in any one change, the allowance for 
overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of the net increase or 
decrease, if any, with respect to the change.  

6.1.4. Equipment Costs:  

6.1.4.1. The allowance for equipment costs (both rental as well as Contractor 
owned equipment) shall be based on actual and verified rental company 
rates. Hourly, daily, weekly, or monthly rates shall be used, whichever is 
lower. Hourly rates including operator shall not be used. Unless otherwise 
specified, manufacturer’s ratings and manufacturer approved 
modifications shall be used to classify equipment for determination of 
applicable rental rates.  

6.1.4.2. The actual time to be paid for equipment shall be the time that the 
equipment is in productive operation on the Work under Contract 
Modification. In computing the hourly rental of equipment, any time less 
than thirty (30) minutes shall be considered one half (1/2) hour. No 
payment will be made for time while equipment is inoperative due to 
breakdown, or for non-workdays. In addition, the rental time shall not 
include the time required to move the equipment to and from the project 
site. No mobilization or demobilization will be allowed for equipment 
already on site. If such equipment is not moved by its own power, then 
loading and transportation costs will be paid in lieu of rental time thereof. 
However, neither moving time nor loading and transportation costs will be 
paid if the equipment is used on the Project Site in any other way than 
upon the work directly related to the Contract Modification. 

6.1.5. Small Tools. Individual pieces of equipment having a replacement value of two 
thousand dollars ($2,000) or less shall be considered to be small tools or small 
equipment, and no payment will be made since the costs of these tools and 
equipment is included as part of the markup for overhead and profit defined herein. 

6.1.6. Labor rates will not be recognized when in excess of the applicable prevailing 
wage rate pursuant to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 or wage established in any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement, whichever is higher. The costs for all 
supervision, including general superintendents and foreman, shall be included in 
the markup defined herein. Working foreman will be considered a direct cost if the 
individual is on the project site only installing Work under Contract Modification 
with no other work being performed at the time. A breakdown of the payroll rates 
for each trade used for Contract Modifications shall be furnished to the City within 
thirty (30) calendar days of the Contract Notice to Proceed. 

6.1.7. Premium Time Rate. Shall be the difference between the Overtime Hourly Rate 
and Straight Time Rate per specific trade and classification as more fully defined 
herein. City will pay taxes on the Premium Time Rate only. The Premium Time 
Rate shall be paid without overhead and profit calculated against the differential. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 25 of 52 
 

6.1.8. Material costs directly required for the performance of the Contract Modification. 
Such costs may include the cost of transportation. If a trade reduction by an actual 
supplier is available to the Contractor, it shall be credited to the City. If the 
materials are obtained from a supplier or source owned wholly by or in part by the 
Contractor, payment thereof will not exceed the current wholesale price for the 
materials. The term trade reduction includes the concept of cash discounting. 

6.1.9. Agreement on Change Order. Agreement on any Change Order is a final settlement 
of all matters relating to the change in the Work that is the subject of the Change 
Order, including, but not limited to, all direct and indirect costs associated with 
such change and any and all adjustments to the Contract Total and the construction 
schedule. 

6.1.10. Additional Credits. Contractor shall credit all trade discounts, rebates, refunds, and 
returns from the sale of surplus material to City 

6.1.11. Cost Accounting Records. Contractor shall provide all cost accounting records to 
City upon City’s request. 

6.2. Construction Change Directives. A Construction Change Directive is a written order signed 
by City, directing a change in the Work prior to agreement on adjustment, if any, in the 
Contract Total or Contract Time, or both. City may by Construction Change Directive, 
without invalidating the Contract, order changes in the Work within the general scope of 
the Contract, the Contract Total and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly. City and 
Contractor may use a Construction Change Directive in the absence of total agreement on 
the terms of a Change Order. Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, Contractor 
shall promptly proceed with the change in Work directed and shall advise City of 
Contractor’s agreement or disagreement with the proposed method, if any, provided in the 
Construction Change Directive for adjustment in the Contract Total or Contract Time. 

6.2.1. Force Account. When a definite price has not been agreed upon in advance and it 
is to be paid on a force account basis, City may establish a not-to-exceed budget. 
Contractor shall submit daily all direct costs necessarily incurred and paid for 
labor, material, equipment, permit fees, taxes, and increased costs of bonds and 
insurance related to the Work for approval by City. Contractor shall not exceed the 
budget unless City specifically authorizes the overrun in writing. City shall pay 
only for actual costs verified in the field by City on a daily basis. When City and 
Contractor reach agreement upon the adjustment for price and time, Contractor and 
City shall prepare and execute an appropriate Change Order. 

6.2.2. Negotiating Changes. If City and Contractor are unable to agree upon change order 
terms, or if in the opinion of City the Work must proceed before an agreement can 
be negotiated, City may order Contractor to proceed with the changes, and 
Contractor shall comply. In such event, Contractor shall keep detailed daily records 
as to all labor employed in connection with the changes. Contractor’s records will 
itemize costs for labor, materials, equipment rental, and transportation. Contractor 
shall submit the records for approval to the City. If Contractor fails to keep such 
records, all such Work will be deemed to have been performed at Contractor’s own 
expense. City and Contractor shall attempt to negotiate fair and reasonable 
adjustments to the Contract for changes in the Work. Contractor shall submit to 
City all evidence in support of Contractor’s proposals. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 26 of 52 
 

6.2.3. Markup. No fee or other markup of any kind will be applicable to any premium 
portion of wages, taxes, or related benefits. In the event of addition or deletion of 
like items in a change order or change directive, the like item quantity will be 
summed and the unit prices or the percentage fee will be applied to the total. 

6.2.4. Written Authorization Required. In no event shall Contractor proceed with changes 
in the Work without a written order from City to so proceed. City will be under no 
obligation to pay for unauthorized extra, additional, or changed Work performed 
by Contractor without a written Change Order, Construction Change Directive, or 
other written order to proceed duly authorized and executed by City. 

6.2.5. Minor Changes. Contractor shall promptly carry out minor changes in the Work 
issued through written order of City’s representative, through the authority granted 
to it by City, not involving adjustment in the Contract Total or extension of the 
Contract Time, and not inconsistent with the intent of the Contract Documents. 

7. TIME. 
7.1. Time is of the Essence. Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of 

the Contract. Contractor shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve 
Substantial Completion within the Contract Time. 

7.2. No Work Without Insurance. Contractor shall not, except by written direction by City, 
prematurely commence operations on the site or elsewhere prior to the effective date of 
insurance to be furnished by City and Contractor pursuant to Exhibit B. The date of 
commencement of the Work is not changed by the effective date of insurance. 

7.3. Notice to Proceed. City shall issue a Notice to Proceed within a reasonable time following 
the date of execution of this Contract. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Contractor 
is not entitled to additional compensation as a result of a postponement of the issuance of 
Notice to Proceed. The Parties acknowledge the sole remedy for the Contractor in such 
circumstances is an extension of Contract Time to achieve Substantial Completion. 

7.4. Working Hours. Contractor shall perform Work during regular working hours as permitted 
by City. Contractor shall, when required to achieve Substantial Completion within the 
Contract Time, Work outside of regular working hours such as evenings and/or weekends 
at no additional cost to City. Contractor shall perform all evening and/or weekend work 
only upon City’s advance approval and in compliance with all applicable rules, regulations, 
laws, and local ordinances including, without limitation, all noise and light limitations. 

7.5. Delays and Extensions of Time. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 27 of 52 
 

7.5.1. Float and Slack. Float or slack is the amount of time between the early start date 
and the late start date, or the early finish date and the late finish date, of any activity 
in the schedule.  Any float time to activities not on the critical path shall belong to 
the Project, and may be used by the Project to optimize its construction process. 
Any float time between the end of the final construction activity and the final 
completion date shall belong to the City, and may be used by the City in 
determining if additional contract days are to be awarded for changes in the 
contract or for delays to the contract caused by the City. The Contractor will not 
be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Time, the Construction Schedule, or 
the Contract Total, or to any additional payment of any sort by reason of the City's 
use of float time between the end of the final construction activity and the final 
completion date or by reason of the loss or use of any float time, including time 
between the Contractor's anticipated completion date and end of the Contract 
Time, whether or not the float time is described as such on the Construction 
Progress Schedule. 

7.5.2. Adverse Weather. Contract Time is determined with consideration given to the 
average climate weather conditions prevailing in the County in which the Project 
is located during any given month as published by the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and averaged over the past 10 years. 
Contractor may request a time extension for adverse weather if it causes delays 
that unreasonably increase the labor required to complete the scheduled tasks on 
the day affected by adverse weather not reasonably anticipated. Contractor shall 
not be allowed an increase in Contract Total for the delay. Contractor shall work 
additional days, if necessary, at no cost to City, irrespective of adverse weather, to 
maintain access and the Contract Schedule, and to protect the Work from the 
effects of Adverse Weather. 

7.5.3. Extensions of Time. Extensions of Contract Time will be permitted for a delay 
only to the extent the delay: (1) is not caused or could not have been anticipated 
by the Contractor; (2) could not be limited or avoided by the Contractor’s timely 
notice to the City of the delay or reasonable likelihood that a delay will occur; and 
(3) is of a duration not less than one day. Such occurrences may include industry-
wide labor dispute, fire, unavoidable casualties, adverse weather conditions not 
reasonably anticipated, or other occurrences that City determines may justify 
delay. Any extension the City grants will be net of any delays caused by or due to 
the fault or negligence of Contractor, and net of any contingency or “float” 
allowance included in the Progress Schedule. Contractor will not be allowed an 
increase in Contract Total for an extension of Contract Time. The Contractor shall 
be deemed to have control over the supply of labor, materials, equipment, methods, 
techniques and over the Contractor’s subcontractors and suppliers. 

7.5.4. Requests for Extension. Contractor shall submit requests for extension of time in 
writing and shall include (a) the duration of the activity relating to changes in the 
Work and the resources, including manpower, equipment, and material, required 
to perform the activities within the stated duration; (b) specific logical ties to the 
Contract Schedule for the proposed change showing the activities that are affected 
by the change and/or delay; and (c) recovery schedule. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 28 of 52 
 

8. PROTECTION OF PERSONS, PROPERTY, AND THE ENVIRONMENT. 
8.1. Safety Program. Contractor shall initiate, maintain, and supervise all safety precautions and 

programs in connection with performance of the Contract. Contractor is solely and 
completely responsible for conditions of the Work site, including safety of all persons and 
property during performance of the Work, including the property of third-parties and real 
and personal property outside the Project area. This requirement will apply continuously 
and is not limited to normal working hours. 

8.2. City’s Policies. This Contract and all individual contracts and purchase orders incorporate 
by this reference City’s safety policies current as of the date of commencement of Work, 
which have been or will be made available to Contractor.  

8.3. Subcontractor Safety. Contractor shall review with all subcontractors the methods, 
materials, tools, and equipment to be used to verify their compliance with all safety 
standards and laws and Contractor shall comply with them, to ensure safe, hazard-free 
conditions for all persons visiting or working on the entire Project Site and City’s adjoining 
facilities. Contractor shall implement and maintain a safety program that is specifically 
adapted for the Project and complies with all applicable requirements of Oregon OSHA. 
Contractor shall furnish a copy of the safety program to City before commencing Work. 

8.4. MSDS Sheets. Contractor shall provide Material Safety Data Sheets to City for all 
chemicals used on the Project Site as required by law. 

8.5. Safety Coordinator. Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization on 
the Project, whose duty is to post information regarding protection and obligations of 
workers and other notices required under occupational safety and health laws, to comply 
with reporting and other occupational safety requirements, and to protect the life, safety, 
and health of workers. Contractor shall report the name and position of person so 
designated to City. 

8.6. Correction of Unsafe Conditions. Contractor shall correct any violations of safety laws, 
rules, orders, standards, or regulations. Contractor shall correct violations promptly upon 
the issuance of a citation or notice of violation by the Division of Occupational Safety and 
Health. 

8.7. Personal Protection Equipment. Contractor’s personnel and all workers shall wear personal 
protective equipment at all times. Contractor shall maintain supplies of protective 
equipment sufficient to properly equip all employees and visitors. 

8.8. Safety Devices. Contractor shall take, and require subcontractors to take, all reasonably 
necessary precautions for safety of workers on the Project. Contractor shall furnish, erect, 
and properly maintain at all times, all necessary safety devices, safeguards, construction 
canopies, signs, nets, barriers, lights, and watchmen for protection of workers and the 
public and shall post danger signs warning against hazards created by such features in the 
course of the Work. 

8.9. Barricades and Signage. Contractor shall post necessary warning signs and barricades to 
ensure the safety of all occupants. Contractor shall not display any signs not required by 
law or the Contract Documents without City’s prior written approval. 

8.10. Labeling of Containers. Contractor shall ensure proper labeling of substances on the Project 
Site. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 29 of 52 
 

8.11. Storage. Contractor shall confine apparatus, the storage of materials, and the operations of 
workers to limits indicated by law, ordinances, permits, or directions of City, and shall not 
interfere with the Work or unreasonably encumber the Project Site or overload any 
structure with materials. Contractor shall enforce all instructions of City regarding signs, 
advertising, fires, and smoking, and require that all workers comply with all regulations 
while on Project Site 

8.12. Protection of Work. Contractor shall protect the Work, including stored materials and 
equipment, from all damage or harm, including damage from heat, cold, rain, snow, wind, 
flooding, and dampness. Contractor shall provide and maintain temporary roofs, window 
and door coverings, enclosures, or other construction reasonably required to protect the 
Work at all times during the course of construction. Contractor shall take all additional 
steps reasonably necessary, or as directed by City, to protect the Project, the Site, and the 
Work from damage associated with anticipated extreme weather events. Contractor shall 
not be entitled to additional payment or time to the extent its costs or delays would have 
been avoided if Contractor had complied. 

8.13. Protection of Existing Structures. Contractor shall protect existing structures, walks, curbs, 
pavements, roads, trees, landscaping, survey markers, monuments, or other devices 
marking property boundaries or corners, and/or improvements in working areas, utilities, 
and adjoining property (including, without limitation, protection from settlement or loss of 
lateral support). Contractor shall replace same at his expense with same kind, quality, and 
size of Work or item if temporary removal is necessary, or damage occurs due to the Work. 

8.14. Water Quality. Contractor shall comply with all applicable water quality laws and 
regulations, including permitting, monitoring, and reporting of storm water discharge 
applicable to the Work, at no additional cost to City. Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
City harmless from loss, cost, or liability arising out of Contractor’s violation of such laws 
or regulations. 

8.15. Neighborhood Impacts. Contractor shall take all reasonable precautions to protect 
neighborhood property from damage or nuisance associated with the Work. Contractor 
shall promptly respond to complaints by neighbors or authorities concerning impacts to 
neighboring properties and public facilities and shall be solely responsible for cleaning, 
repair, or replacement of property soiled or damaged by Contractor’s operations and 
settlement of claims or demands of neighbors associated with conduct of its personnel.  

8.16. Housekeeping. Contractor shall maintain good housekeeping practices to reduce the risk 
of fire damage and shall make a fire extinguisher, fire blanket, and/or fire watch, as 
applicable, available at each location where cutting, braising, soldering, and/or welding is 
being performed or where there is an increased risk of fire. 

8.17. Security and Site Access. Contractor shall ensure that all existing or operating systems, 
utilities, existing on-site services and access avenues are on and in operating condition 
before leaving the Project Site each day. If any system, utility, or access avenue is not 
operable, Contractor shall notify City before Contractor leaves the Project Site that day. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 30 of 52 
 

9. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. 
9.1. With respect to Hazardous Materials to be used during the course of the Work, the 

Contractor will implement and enforce a program to inventory and properly store and 
secure all Hazardous Materials that may be used or present on the Project site, maintain 
available for inspection at the Project site all material safety data sheets, and comply with 
all regulations required by law for the storage, use, and disposal of Hazardous Materials. 
The program must provide for notification of all personnel of potential chemical hazards. 
Review of these hazards must be included in the Contractor’s safety training program. The 
Contractor shall submit to the City a list of all Hazardous Materials to be brought by the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors onto the City’s property, including the purpose for their 
use on the Project. 

9.2. In the event of a release or discovery of a preexisting release of Hazardous Materials, or if 
it is foreseeable that injury or death to persons may occur because of any material or 
substance (including without limitation Hazardous Materials) encountered on the Project 
site, the Contractor shall immediately (a) stop the Work or the portion of the Work affected; 
(b) notify the City orally and in writing; and (c) protect against exposure of persons to the 
Hazardous Materials. The Contractor shall provide all written warnings, notices, reports, 
or postings required at law or by contract for the existence, use, release, or discovery of 
Hazardous Materials. 

9.3. With respect to any Hazardous Materials or other material or substance reported to the City 
under the above that was not introduced to the Project site by the Contractor or its 
Subcontractors of any tier, the City shall obtain the services of a qualified environmental 
consultant to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the 
Contractor and, in the event such material or substance is found to be present, to verify it 
to be rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, the City 
shall furnish in writing to the Contractor and Architect/Engineer the names and 
qualifications of persons or entities who are to perform tests verifying the presence or 
absence of such material or substance or who are to perform the task of removal or safe 
containment of such material or substance. The Contractor and the Architect/Engineer will 
promptly reply to the City in writing stating whether or not either has reasonable objection 
to the persons or entities proposed by the City. If either the Contractor or 
Architect/Engineer has an objection to a person or entity proposed by the City, the City 
shall propose another to whom the Contractor and the Architect/Engineer have no 
reasonable objection. When the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work 
in the affected area shall resume upon written agreement of the City and Contractor. By 
Change Order, the Contract Time may, subject to agreement by the City and the Contractor, 
be extended appropriately and the Contract Total shall be increased in the amount of the 
Contractor’s reasonable additional costs of shut-down, delay and start-up, which 
adjustments shall be accomplished as provided in the Contract. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 31 of 52 
 

9.4. With respect to any Hazardous Materials or other material or substance reported to the City 
under the above that was introduced to the Project site by the Contractor or its 
Subcontractors of any tier, the Contractor shall be responsible to carry out the duties of (a) 
proposing to the City and the Architect/Engineer a qualified environmental consultant; (b) 
obtaining and paying for the services of the environmental consultant; and (c) verifying 
that the material is rendered harmless, as otherwise set forth in the above. The Contractor 
will not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Total if the Contractor or its 
Subcontractors of any tier are responsible for the condition requiring the testing of the 
material and the stoppage of the Work. Remediation work must be conducted by properly 
qualified contractors approved in advance by the City. Generally, the City may at its option 
contract directly with environmental consultants, and remediation contractors, regardless 
of whether the work will be performed at the Contractor’s expense. 

9.5. To the extent permitted by the Oregon Constitution and the Oregon Tort Claims Act, the 
City shall indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, Subcontractors, 
Architect/Engineer, Architect/Engineer’s consultants and the agents and employees of the 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Architect/Engineer, and Architect/Engineer’s consultants from 
and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including without limitation attorney 
fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the affected area if in fact 
the material or substance was not introduced to the Project site by the Contractor or its 
Subcontractors of any tier, presents the risk of bodily injury or death, and has not been 
rendered harmless. No indemnification provided by the City under this Section will be 
required to indemnify the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their employees or agents to the 
extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in 
whole or in part by the Contractor’s own negligence, but will require indemnity to the 
extent of the fault of the City or its agents or representatives. 

9.6. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless 
the City, the City’s Representatives, and the employees of the City from and against claims, 
damages, losses, and expenses, including without limitation attorney fees, arising out of or 
resulting from performance of the Work in the affected area if in fact the material or 
substance was introduced to the Project site by the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any 
tier, presents the risk of bodily injury or death, and has not been rendered harmless. No 
indemnification provided by the Contractor under this Section will be required to 
indemnify the City or its agents or representatives to the extent of liability for death or 
bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by the City’s own 
negligence, but will require indemnity to the extent of the fault of the City or its agents or 
representatives. 

9.7. Hazardous Materials are any substance defined or designated as being radioactive, 
infectious, hazardous, dangerous, or toxic by any federal, state, or local statute, regulation, 
or ordinance presently in effect or subsequently enacted. For purposes of Article 9, the term 
“introduce” means the physical placement or transportation of Hazardous Materials in or 
on the Project site regardless of whether the Hazardous Material was specified, required, 
or otherwise addressed in the Contract Documents. 

10. INSURANCE AND BONDS. 
10.1. Contractor’s Insurance. Contractor shall procure, prior to commencement of Work, and 

maintain for the duration of this Contract, or such longer time as may be provided, 
insurance as required by Exhibit B.  

10.2. Performance Bond and Payment Bond. Contractor shall provide a performance bond and a 
payment bond as required by the Contract prior to start of Work. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 32 of 52 
 

11. UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK. 
11.1. Uncovering of Work. If a portion of the Work is covered without Project Inspector and/or 

Architect/Engineer approval or not in compliance with the Contract Documents, 
Contractor shall, if required in writing by City, Project Inspector, or Architect/Engineer, 
uncover the Work for observation and replace it at Contractor’s expense without change in 
Contract Total or Contract Time. 

11.2. Correction of Work. Contractor shall, at its own expense, promptly correct Work that is 
rejected by City, Architect/Engineer, or any governmental authority or otherwise fails to 
conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents, regardless of when it is discovered 
and regardless of whether the Work is fabricated, installed or completed. Contractor shall 
pay for all additional testing, inspection, or other compensation including City and 
Architect/Engineer’s additional services required for the correction of Work. 

11.3. Correction of Work after Substantial Completion. If, after Substantial Completion, any 
Work is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, City shall 
provide Contractor with written notice to correct the Work promptly after discovery of the 
condition. Contractor shall correct the nonconforming Work within a reasonable time after 
receipt of notice. 

12. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES. 
12.1. No Waiver. The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and rights and 

remedies available are in addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations, rights, and 
remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by any party 
shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded the party under this Contract, nor does 
any act or omission constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach, except as may be 
specifically agreed in writing. 

12.2. Independent Contractor. 

12.2.1. Contractor is engaged as an independent Contractor. Although City reserves the 
right: (a) to determine (and modify) the delivery schedule for the Work; and (b) to 
evaluate the quality of the completed performance, City cannot and will not control 
the means or manner of Contractor’s performance, nor provide any tools or 
equipment for the performance of the Work, except as provided elsewhere in this 
Contract. Contractor shall determine the appropriate means and manner of 
performing the Work. 

12.2.2. Contractor is wholly responsible for the manner in which it and its subcontractors 
perform the Work required of it by the Contract Documents. City may monitor 
Contractor’s activities to determine compliance with the terms of this Contract. 

12.2.3. Contractor shall pay all federal, state and local taxes applicable to compensation 
or payments paid to Contractor under this Contract and, unless Contractor is 
subject to backup withholding, City shall not withhold from such compensation or 
payments any amount(s) to cover Contractor’s tax obligations. 

12.2.4. Contractor is not an employee of the federal government or the State of Oregon. 

12.2.5. Contractor is not a contributing member of the Public Employees Retirement 
System. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 33 of 52 
 

12.2.6. Neither Contractor, nor any of Contractor’s subcontractors, agents or employees 
are “officers,” “employees,” or “agents” of City or any of City’s employees or 
agents, as those terms are used in ORS 30.265. Contractor bears exclusive 
responsibility for the acts of its employees as they relate to the services to be 
provided during the course and scope of their employment. Contractor, its 
subcontractors, agents, and its employees are not entitled to any rights or privileges 
of City employees. 

13. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. 
13.1. Contractor shall comply with all laws, codes, regulations, and applicable requirements 

imposed by governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work, including but not 
limited to, environmental, zoning, building code, public contracting, and other related laws. 

13.2. Environmental Mitigation. Contractor shall comply with all applicable mitigation 
measures, if any, adopted by any public agency with respect to this Project pursuant to the 
environmental protection laws of the State of Oregon. 

13.3. Work Performed Illegally. Contractor will bear all costs arising from Work performed that 
it knew, or through exercise of reasonable care should have known, was contrary to any 
applicable laws, ordinance, rules, or regulations. 

13.4. Prior Approvals. Contractor shall obtain approval of material, processes, or procedures by 
the Oregon state agencies or other body or agency where required by the Specifications or 
Drawings. 

14. CLAIMS AND DISPUTES. 
14.1. Claim. A Claim is a demand or assertion by a party seeking, as a matter of right, adjustment 

or interpretation of Contract terms, payment of money, extension of time, or other relief 
with respect to the terms of the Contract. Claim includes other disputes and matters in 
question between City and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract. Parties will 
initiate Claims only by written notice. The party making the Claim is responsible for 
substantiating the Claim. 

14.2. Time to Initiate Claim. The party making a Claim shall initiate the Claim within fourteen 
(14) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or within fourteen (14) 
days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is 
later. The party making the Claim shall submit written notice to the other party that 
identifies the known bases for each Claim and the nature and amount of relief sought. 

14.3. Written Notice of Claim. If Contractor claims that any instructions issued after the effective 
date of this Contract, by Drawings or otherwise, involve extra costs, Contractor will be 
entitled to reimbursement for such extra costs only to the extent Contractor so notifies City 
in writing before proceeding to execute the affected Work and within five (5) days after 
receipt of such instructions. Claims and demands for any other cause, whatsoever, by 
Contractor against City must be served in writing upon City within five (5) days from the 
occurrence of the cause giving rise to the claim. Timely compliance with the written claim 
requirements of this Contract is a condition precedent to Contractor’s right to payment on 
account of any claim and failure to provide such written claim or demand or notice will 
constitute a waiver of such claim. 

14.4. No Work Stoppage. Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of this Contract 
and City shall continue to make payments in accordance with the Contract Documents 
pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing or provided for 
in this Contract. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 34 of 52 
 

14.5. Differing Site Conditions. A party shall give notice to the other party promptly, and in no 
event later than five (5) days after first observation, before conditions encountered at the 
site are disturbed that are: (a) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that 
differ materially from those indicated on the Contract Documents; or (b) unknown physical 
conditions of an unusual nature that differ materially from those ordinarily found to exist 
and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for 
in the Contract Documents. The parties shall promptly investigate such conditions, and if 
they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease in the cost of or time required for 
performance of any part of the Work, City will propose an equitable adjustment in the 
Contract Total, Contract Time, or both. If City does not find that the conditions differ 
materially and cause an increase or decrease in the cost of or time required for performance 
of any part of the Work, City will notify Contractor in writing. If Contractor disputes City’s 
determination, Contractor shall proceed with the Work and may initiate a Claim no later 
than twenty-one (21) days after receiving notice of the decision. 

14.6. Claim for Additional Cost. Contractor shall file a Claim for additional cost under this 
Section if Contractor believes additional cost is involved for reasons including: (a) City’s 
written interpretation of the Contract Documents; (b) City’s order to stop Work where 
Contractor is not at fault; (c) written order for a minor change in Work issued by City’s 
consultant or representative; (d) failure of payment by City; (e) termination of Contract by 
City; (f) City’s suspension; or (g) other reasonable grounds. 

14.7. Claim for Delay. If Contractor wishes to make a Claim for a delay, written notice shall be 
given within fourteen (14) calendar days of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the 
delay. Contractor’s Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of delay 
on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary. 
Contractor will not be entitled to additional Contract Time for delays that do not affect the 
critical path of the Work. 

14.8. Claim for Additional Time (Adverse Weather). If adverse weather conditions are the basis 
for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented by data substantiating that 
weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably 
anticipated, and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction. Contractor shall not 
be entitled to additional compensation for delays caused by adverse weather conditions or 
any causes beyond City’s control. If the Oregon Office of Emergency Management orders 
Contractor to halt the Work for reasons beyond Contractor’s control and that were not 
reasonably anticipated, the Contract Time shall be equitably extended by Change Order,  

but only on condition that Contractor provides City with written notice of the delay in 
accordance with the notice requirements of this Contract. 

14.9. Claim for Injury or Damage to Person or Property. If any person suffers physical injury or 
property damage arising from the Work, regardless of the cause, the party shall 
immediately give notice of such injury or damage, whether or not insured, to City and 
Contractor with sufficient detail to enable City and any other party affected to investigate 
the matter. 

14.10. Acceptance of Claim. Upon timely receipt of a properly completed Claim and all 
documentation and/or evidence necessary to substantiate the Claim, City shall evaluate the 
Claim and provide Contractor with its written decision either accepting the Claim (in whole 
or in part) or rejecting the Claim (in whole or in part) within twenty (20) days. Should City 
reject the Claim in whole or in part, City shall generally explain the reasons for such 
rejection. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 35 of 52 
 

14.11. Mediation. Contractor and City agree that any dispute that may arise under the Contract 
will be submitted to a mediator agreed to by both parties as soon as such dispute arises, but 
in any event prior to commencement of arbitration or litigation. This provision shall be 
specifically enforceable in any arbitral or judicial proceeding through stay or abatement of 
the proceeding upon petition of a party. Mediation shall be conducted in Silverton, Oregon, 
and the mediation fee and expenses shall be shared equally by the parties who agree to 
exercise their best efforts in good faith to resolve all disputes in mediation. 

15. TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION BY CONTRACTOR. 
15.1. Termination by Contractor for Work Stoppage. Contractor may terminate this Contract if 

the Work is stopped for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days through no act or fault of 
Contractor, subcontractor, or sub subcontractor, or their agents or employees, or any other 
persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with 
Contractor, for any of the following reasons: (a) issuance of an order of a court or other 
public authority having jurisdiction which requires all Work to be stopped; (b) an act of 
government, such as a declaration of a national emergency which requires all Work to be 
stopped; (c) because the Architect/Engineer has not issued a Certificate of Payment and 
has not notified Contractor of the reason for withholding certification, or because City has 
not made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Contract 
Documents; or (d) City failed to furnish to Contractor reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to fulfill City’s obligations under this Contract. 

15.2. Termination by Contractor for Work Interruption. Contractor may terminate this Contract 
if, through no act or fault of Contractor, subcontractor, or sub subcontractor, or their agents 
or employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct 
or indirect contract with Contractor, repeated suspensions, delays or interruptions of the 
entire Work by City constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the total number 
of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365 day period, whichever is less, or 
if Work is stopped for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days. 

15.3. Compensation. Contractor may recover from City payment for Work executed and for 
proven loss with respect to materials, equipment, tools, and construction equipment and 
machinery including reasonable profit and overhead if it provides seven (7) days’ written 
notice to Architect/Engineer and City prior to termination for the reasons set forth above. 

16. TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION BY CITY. 
16.1. Termination by City for Cause. City may terminate Contract and/or terminate Contractor’s 

right to perform the Work of this Contract without prejudice to any other rights or remedies 
by providing seven (7) days’ written notice to Contractor and Contractor’s surety if 
Contractor: 

16.1.1. refuses or fails to execute the Work or any separable part with sufficient diligence 
to ensure its completion within the time specified or any extension; 

16.1.2. persistently or repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers 
or proper materials; 

16.1.3. fails to make payment to subcontractors in accordance with respective agreements; 

16.1.4. persistently disregards laws, ordinances, or rules, regulations or orders of a public 
authority having jurisdiction; 

16.1.5. files a petition for relief as a debtor, or a petition is filed against Contractor without 
its consent, and the petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days; 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 36 of 52 
 

16.1.6. makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, or a receiver is 
appointed on account of its insolvency; or 

16.1.7. is otherwise guilty of a substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents 
or fails to observe the training, safety, and other precautions including City’s 
policies and Contractor’s own safety policies for the Project. 

16.2. City’s Right to Take Possession. Upon termination for cause, City may take possession of 
the site and of all materials, equipment, tools, and construction equipment and machinery 
on the site owned by Contractor, accept assignment of subcontracts, and finish the Work 
by whatever reasonable method City may deem expedient. Upon request, City shall provide 
Contractor a detailed accounting of the costs incurred in finishing the Work. 

16.3. Compensation. Contractor will not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is 
finished. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Total exceeds City’s costs to finishing the 
Work, including compensation for City’s consultants and representatives for services made 
necessary by Contractor’s default, and other damages incurred by City which have not been 
expressly waived, City shall pay the excess to Contractor. If City’s costs and damages 
exceed the unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to City. 

16.4. Suspension for Convenience. City may, without cause, order Contractor in writing to 
suspend, delay, or interrupt the Work in whole or in part for such period of time as City 
may determine. City shall adjust Contract Total and Contract Time for increases in the cost 
(including profit) and time caused by the suspension, delay, or interruption referenced in 
Section 16.3, so long as the performance would not have been suspended, delayed, or 
interrupted by another cause for which Contractor is responsible and City has not already 
made or denied another equitable adjustment under another provision of this Contract for 
the suspension, delay, or interruption. 

16.5. Termination for Convenience. City may terminate all or part of this Contract for City’s 
convenience at any time and without cause. Contractor shall, upon written notice of such 
termination, cease operations as directed by City, take actions necessary to protect and 
preserve the Work, and terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders that are not 
required to perform the Work up to the effective date of termination and the portion of 
Work not terminated, and enter into no further subcontracts or purchase orders for the 
portion of this Contract that was terminated. City shall pay Contractor for Work executed 
and costs reasonably incurred by reason of such termination, along with reasonable 

overhead and profit on the Work completed. City will not pay profit or overhead allocable 
to Work which is not performed at the time of termination. If the City terminates Contractor 
for cause and a court or other tribunal finds that City did not have cause to terminate 
Contractor, then the court or other tribunal will deem the City’s termination a termination 
for convenience under this Section. 

17. PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION. 
17.1. Contract Total. The Contract Total is stated in the Contract, and including authorized 

adjustments, is the total amount payable by City to Contractor for performance of Work 
under the Contract Documents. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 37 of 52 
 

17.2. Schedule of Values. Prior to submission of the first Application for Payment, Contractor 
shall submit a preliminary schedule of values for all of the Work, including quantities and 
prices of items aggregating the Contract Total and subdividing the Work into component 
parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during construction. 
Contractor shall include, at a minimum: (a) overhead and profit; (b) supervision; (c) general 
conditions; (d) layout; (e) mobilization; (f) scheduling; (g) submittals; (h) bonds and 
insurance; (i) close-out documentation; (j) demolition; (k) installation; (l) rough-in; (m) 
finishes; (n) testing; and (o) punch list and acceptance (“Schedule of Values”). 

17.3. Applications for Payment. Contractor shall submit an itemized and notarized application 
for payment for operations completed in accordance with the Schedule of Values and 
reflecting applicable retainage (“Application for Payment”). Applications for Payment 
shall be prepared using forms provided by the City. Contractor shall submit data 
substantiating Contractor’s right to payment where required, such as copies of requisitions 
from subcontractors and material suppliers, Construction Change Directives, Change 
Orders, and/or force account information. Contractor shall provide: 

17.3.1. The amount paid to the date of the Application for Payment to Contractor, all its 
subcontractors, and all others furnishing labor, material, or equipment for this 
Contract; 

17.3.2. The amount being requested by Contractor on its own behalf and separately stating 
the amount requested on behalf of each of the subcontractors and all others 
furnishing labor, material, or equipment for this Contract; 

17.3.3. The balance that is due to each of such entities after payment is made; 

17.3.4. Certification that the Record Documents are current; 

17.3.5. Itemized breakdown of Work done for the purpose of requesting partial payment; 

17.3.6. Updated construction schedule; 

17.3.7. Additions and subtractions from the Contract Total and Contract Time; 

17.3.8. Total of retainage held; 

17.3.9. Material invoices, evidence of equipment purchases, rentals, and other support 
City may request; 

17.3.10. Percentage complete of Contractor’s Work by line item; 

17.3.11. A Schedule of Values updated from the preceding Application for Payment; and 

17.3.12. Contractors’ Certified Payroll. 

17.4. Waivers and Releases. Contractor shall submit conditional waivers and releases upon 
progress payment from Contractor and each subcontractor of any tier and supplier to be 
paid from current progress payment along with an unconditional waiver and release upon 
progress payment from Contractor and each subcontractor of any tier that received payment 
from the previous progress payment. Contractor shall certify as follows: “Contractor 
warrants title to all Work performed and materials purchased as of the date of the payment 
application; and Contractor warrants that all Work performed and materials purchased as 
of the date of the payment application are free and clear of liens, claims, security interests, 
or encumbrances in favor of any persons or entities making a claim by reason of having 
provided labor, materials, or equipment relating to the Work, except those of which City 
has been informed.” 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 38 of 52 
 

17.5. False Claims. Contractor is subject to the False Claims Act set forth under ORS Chapter 
180 for information provided with any Application for Payment. 

17.6. Certificates for Payment. 

17.6.1. City shall review the Contractor’s Application for Payment within a reasonable 
time after receipt not to exceed seven (7) days for the purpose of determining that 
it is properly submitted. City shall either return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor with a document setting forth the reasons why the Application for 
Payment is not proper, or shall issue a Certificate for Payment for the amounts 
properly due. 

17.6.2. City’s issuance of a Certificate for Payment is a representation by City, based upon 
City’s evaluation of the Work and the data comprising the Application for 
Payment, that Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified because the 
Work has progressed to the point indicated and that the quality of the Work is in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. City’s approval of the certified 
Application for Payment is based on Contractor complying with all requirements 
for a fully complete and valid certified Application for Payment. 

17.7. Decisions to Withhold Certification. 

17.7.1. City shall notify Contractor in writing if any amounts are not due, and the reasons 
for withholding certification in whole or in part. If Contractor and City cannot 
agree on a revised amount, City shall promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for 
the amount for which City determines that Contractor is entitled to payment. City 
may withhold Certificate for Payment or nullify the whole or part of a Certificate 
for Payment previously issued, to such extent as may be reasonably necessary to 
protect City from loss for which Contractor is responsible, including loss resulting 
from acts and omissions because of defective Work not remedied, third party 
claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claim unless 
security acceptable to City is provided by Contractor, failure of Contractor to make 
payments properly to subcontractors or for labor, materials, or equipment, 
reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of 
the Contract Total, damage to City or another contractor, reasonable evidence that 
the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid 
balance would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated damages for the 
anticipated delay, persistent failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, or failure to maintain Record Documents. 

17.7.2. Contractor shall not receive any interest on any retainage or amounts withheld due 
to the failure of Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

17.7.3. City may apply any withheld amount to pay outstanding claims or obligations on 
behalf of Contractor, without prior judicial determination of the claim or 
obligation. If any payment is made by City, that amount is deemed a payment made 
under this Contract by City to Contractor. 

17.7.4. City shall promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for amounts previously 
withheld when the reasons for withholding certification are removed. 

17.8. Progress Payments. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 39 of 52 
 

17.8.1. City shall make payment in the manner and within the time provided in the 
Contract Documents. City may withhold the portion of any progress payment for 
which certified payroll statements have not been received until such certified 
statements are submitted. 

17.8.2. Contractor shall promptly pay each subcontractor, upon receipt of payment from 
City, out of the amount City paid to Contractor on account of each subcontractor’s 
portion of the Work. Contractor shall, by written agreement, require each 
subcontractor to make payments to sub-subcontractors in a similar manner. 

17.8.3. City may issue joint checks made payable to Contractor, subcontractor(s) and 
material or equipment suppliers. Joint check payees are responsible for the 
allocation and disbursement of funds included as part of any such joint check 
payment. Joint check payment does not create a contract, rights, or obligations 
between City and any subcontractor or material or equipment supplier. 

17.8.4. Certificate for Payment, progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of 
the Project does not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

17.9. Substantial Completion. 

17.9.1. Substantial Completion. Substantial completion is the stage in the progress of the 
Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is sufficiently complete in 
accordance with the Contract Documents so that City can occupy or utilize the 
Work for its intended purpose. 

17.9.2. Punch List. When Contractor considers the Work or a designated portion of the 
Work to be substantially complete, Contractor shall prepare and submit to City a 
comprehensive list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment 
(“Punch List”). The Punch List does not alter Contractor’s responsibility to 
complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

17.9.3. Certificate of Substantial Completion. Upon receipt of Contractor’s Punch List, 
City shall make an inspection to determine whether the Work or designated portion 
thereof is substantially complete. If City determines that the Work is not 
substantially complete, City shall notify Contractor of any Work to be completed 
in accordance with the Contract Documents before the Work or designated portion 
can be certified as such, and Contractor shall complete all such items. Upon 
determining that the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, 
City and Contractor shall execute a Certificate of Substantial Completion. 

17.9.4. Commencement of Warranty. Contractor’s general and special warranties shall be 
effective as of the date that the Work is deemed finally complete. 

17.9.5. Close-Out Documentation. Contractor shall assemble for City’s approval within 
thirty (30) days of Substantial Completion all close-out documentation as required 
by the Contract Documents, including the required number of copies of operating, 
maintenance, and warranty data from all manufacturers whose equipment is 
installed in the Work, and Record Documents of the Work. 

17.10. Final Completion. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 40 of 52 
 

17.10.1. The Work will be deemed finally complete when all conditions set out in the 
Contract Documents are satisfied and City accepts such Work. Final completion 
is achieved when all punchlist work is complete, all close-out documentation has 
been received, all final testing, equipment calibration and training have been 
completed, and the Contractor is entitled to Final Payment. Unless special 
circumstances exist that are defined at the time of Punch List creation, Contractor 
shall achieve Final Completion within 45 days of Substantial Completion. 

17.10.2. Final Inspection. When Contractor considers all of the Punch List Work to be 
complete, Contractor shall notify City which shall inspect such Work. 

17.10.3. Final Application for Payment. If City finds the Punch List Work complete and 
acceptable under the Contract Documents, City shall notify Contractor, who shall 
then submit its Final Application for Payment. 

17.10.4. Payment of Retainage. City shall make payment of retainage applying to such 
Work or designated portion thereof after receiving all Close Out Documentation, 
an affidavit that bills for indebtedness connected with the Work for which City’s 
property might be encumbered have been satisfied; a certificate to indicate that 
insurance required by the Contract Documents shall remain in force after final 
payment is in effect and will not be cancelled or expire until thirty (30) days’ prior 
written notice is given to City and that Contractor knows of no substantial reason 
that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period required by the 
Contract Documents; the consent of surety to final payment; and valid waivers of 
all construction lien claims, bond claims, and other claims by Contractor and each 
subcontractor in a form acceptable to City. 

17.10.5. Bond in Lieu of Waiver. If a subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or waiver 
required by City, Contractor may furnish a bond satisfactory to City to indemnify 
City against such lien. If such lien remains unsatisfied after payments are made, 
Contractor shall refund to City all money that City may be compelled to pay in 
discharging such lien, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

17.10.6. Delay in Final Completion. City shall make payment of the balance due for any 
portion of the Work fully completed and accepted if final completion is materially 
delayed through no fault of Contractor or by issuance of Change Orders affecting 
final completion. In the event that final completion is not accomplished within 
thirty (30) days after the date of Substantial Completion due to any fault of 
Contractor, City may withhold from the final payment 150 percent of the 
reasonable cost to complete the unfinished Work and to attain final completion. 
In the event Contractor fails to complete the Work necessary to attain final 
completion after forty-five (45) days from Substantial Completion, City may, 
without waiving other remedies it may have, complete the Work and deduct the 
actual cost thereof from the funds withheld. 

17.10.7. Contractor’s Waiver of Claims. Contractor’s acceptance of final payment 
constitutes a waiver of claims except those previously made in writing and 
identified by Contractor as unsettled at the time of final Application for Payment. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 41 of 52 
 

18. INDEMNITY AND LIABILITY. 
18.1. To the fullest extent permitted by Oregon law, Contractor shall indemnify, defend with 

legal counsel reasonably acceptable to City, and hold harmless City and its consultants and 
separate contractors, and their respective council members, board members, officers, 
representatives, agents, trustees, volunteers, and employees, in both individual and official 
capacities (“Indemnitees”), against all suits, claims, damages, losses, and expenses, 
including but not limited to attorney’s fees, caused by, arising out of, resulting from, or 
incidental to, the performance of the Work under this Contract by Contractor, its 
subcontractors, vendors, or suppliers, including, without limitation, any such suit, claim, 
damage, loss, or expense attributable to, without limitation, bodily injury, sickness, disease, 
death, alleged patent violation or copyright infringement, or to injury to or destruction of 
tangible property (including damage to the Work itself) including the loss of use resulting 
therefrom, except to the extent caused by the sole negligence, active negligence, or willful 
misconduct of the Indemnitees, and/or to any extent that would render these provisions 
void or unenforceable. This agreement and obligation of Contractor will not be construed 
to negate, abridge, or otherwise reduce any right or obligation of indemnity that would 
otherwise exist as to any party or person described herein. This indemnification, defense, 
and hold harmless obligation includes any failure or alleged failure by Contractor to 
comply with any provision of law, any failure or alleged failure to timely and properly 
fulfill all of its obligations under the Contract Documents in strict accordance with their 
terms. 

18.2. Contractor shall fully indemnify, defend, and hold harmless City, and each person, entity, 
firm, or agency that owns or has any interest in adjacent property in any action arising out 
of any agreement between Contractor and adjacent property owners that is made for the 
purpose of entering upon the adjacent property to perform the Work. Contractor shall 
obtain City’s approval of the form and content of the agreement prior to the commencement 
of any Work on or about the adjacent property. 

18.3. Severability of Indemnity Provisions. Contractor shall give prompt notice to City in the 
event of any injury (including death), loss, or damage included herein. Without limitation 
of the provisions herein, if Contractor’s agreement to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 
the Indemnitees as provided herein against liability for damage arising out of bodily injury 
to persons or damage to property caused by or resulting from the negligence of any of the 
Indemnitees will to any extent be or be determined to be void or unenforceable, it is the 
intention of the parties that these circumstances will not otherwise affect the validity or 
enforceability of Contractor’s agreement to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the rest 
of the Indemnitees, as provided herein, and in the case of any such suits, claims, damages, 
losses, or expenses caused in part by the default, negligence, or act or omission of 
Contractor, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and in part by any of the Indemnitees, 
Contractor shall be and remain fully liable on its agreements and obligations herein to the 
full extent permitted by law. 

18.4. In any and all claims against any of the Indemnitees by any employee of Contractor, any 
subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose 
acts any of them may be liable, Contractor’s indemnification obligation herein shall not be 
limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or 
benefits payable by or for Contractor or any subcontractor under workers’ compensation 
acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts, unless it is limited by ORS 
30.140. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 42 of 52 
 

18.5. Contractor’s defense and indemnification obligations survive the completion of Work, 
including any warranty period and/or termination of this Contract. 

19. SECURITY. 
19.1. Security. Contractor shall not use or disturb City’s property, materials or documents except 

for the purpose of responding to City’s request for proposal or invitation to bid or pursuant 
to completion of the Work under this Contract. Contractor shall treat all documents as 
confidential and shall not disclose such documents without approval from City. Any 
unauthorized disclosure of documents or removal of City property will be deemed a 
substantial breach of this Contract. Contractor shall bear sole responsibility for any liability 
including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, resulting from any action or suit brought 
against City as a result of Contractor’s willful or negligent release of information, 
documents, or property contained in or on City property. City hereby deems all 
information, documents, and property contained in or on City property privileged and 
confidential. 

19.2. Employee Removal. At City’s request, Contractor shall immediately remove any employee 
from all City properties in cases where City determines in its sole discretion that removal 
of that employee is in City’s best interests. 

20. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
20.1. Non-Appropriation; Adequate Funding. City shall, at Contractor’s written request, prior to 

commencement of Work, provide Contractor with reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to fulfill City’s obligations under the Contract. If payment 
for Work under this Contract extends into City’s next fiscal year, City’s obligation to pay 
for such Work is subject to approval of future city council appropriations to fund this 
Contract. Continuation of this Contract at specified levels is specifically conditioned on 
adequate funding under City’s budget adopted in June of each year. City may adjust the 
Work provided for in this Contract in accordance with funding levels adopted by the City 
Council.  

20.2. Law and Venue. Any dispute under this Contract or related to this Contract is governed by 
all provisions of the Oregon Constitution and laws of Oregon governing, controlling, or 
affecting City, or the property, funds, operations, or powers of City, which are incorporated 
herein by reference. This Contract is deemed to include any provision that the law requires 
to be included. Any litigation arising out of this Contract shall be conducted in in the Circuit 
Court for Marion County, Oregon. The Contractor consents to the personal jurisdiction of 
this court.  

20.3. Severability. If any term or provision of this Contract is declared by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and 
provisions are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties are construed and 
enforced as if this Contract did not contain the particular term or provision held to be 
invalid. 

20.4. No Waiver. The failure of City in any one or more instances to insist upon strict 
performance of any of the terms of this Contract or to exercise any option herein conferred 
is not a waiver or relinquishment to any extent of the right to assert or rely upon any such 
terms or option on any future occasion. No action or failure to act by City, 
Architect/Engineer, or Construction Manager waives any right or duty afforded City under 
this Contract, nor does action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in 
any breach, except as specifically agreed in writing. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 43 of 52 
 

20.5. Non-discrimination. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
laws, rules and regulations regarding nondiscrimination in employment because of race, 
color, ancestry, national origin, religion, sex, marital status, age, medical condition, or 
disability. 

20.6. No Third Party Beneficiaries. City and Contractor are the only parties to this Contract and 
are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this Contract provides any 
benefit or right, directly or indirectly, to third persons unless they are individually identified 
by name in this Contract and expressly described as intended beneficiaries of this Contract. 
The Contract Documents shall not be construed to create a contractual relationship of any 
kind: (a) between Contractor and City’s representatives or consultants, (b) between City 
and a subcontractor or a sub-subcontractor, (c) between City and a supplier; or (d) between 
any persons or entities other than City and Contractor. 

20.7. Media Contacts. Contractor shall issue no news release, press release, or other statement 
to members of the news media or any other publication regarding this Contract or the 
Project within one (1) year of Project completion without City’s prior written authorization. 
Contractor shall not post or publish any textual or visual representations of the Project 
without approval of City. 

20.8. Successors in Interest. This Contract will bind, and inure to the benefit of, the parties, their 
successors, and approved assigns, if any. 

20.8.1. Contractor shall not assign all or any part of this Contract including, without 
limitation, any services or money to become due under this Contract without the 
prior written consent of City. Assignment without City’s prior written consent is 
null and void. Any assignment of money due or to become due under this Contract 
is subject to a prior lien for services rendered or material supplied for performance 
of Work called for under this Contract in favor of all persons, firms, or corporations 
rendering services or supplying material to the extent that claims are filed pursuant 
to Oregon law, and is also subject to deductions for liquidated damages or 
withholding of payments as determined by City in accordance with this Contract. 
Contractor shall not assign or transfer in any manner to a subcontractor or supplier 
the right to prosecute or maintain an action against City. 

20.8.2. Contractor shall first notify City prior to any change in the name or legal nature of 
Contractor’s entity. City shall determine if Contractor’s intended change is 
permissible while performing this Contract. 

20.9. Liquidated Damages.  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 44 of 52 
 

20.9.1. Failure to complete the Project by the specified time will result in damages to the 
City. The parties to this Contract agree that establishing the exact amount of 
damages the City will incur will be difficult. In order to compensate the City, the 
parties to this Contract have estimated the amount the City would be damaged for 
every calendar day completion is delayed. Consequently, the Contractor agrees to 
pay the City the sum of [$500] per calendar day, not as a penalty but as liquidated 
damages, for each day elapsed beyond the Substantial Completion date set forth in 
the bid document. The total liquidated damages shall be deducted from the final 
payment due the Contractor. The City may waive its right to claim part or all of 
the liquidated damages due under this provision, but such full or partial waiver 
shall not negate or abridge any other right of action the City may have to enforce 
the provisions of this Contract. Contractor will not contest such sums as being 
other than a reasonable measure of delay damages in the event those damages 
become payable under these provisions.  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 45 of 52 
 

EXHIBIT B 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACT 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

1. INSURANCE. 
Contractor shall procure, prior to commencement of Work, and maintain for the duration of this 
Contract, or such longer time as may be provided, all insurances required of it by law and the 
following:  

1.1. Required Coverage. Without waiver of any other requirement of the Contract Documents, 
the Contractor will provide, pay for, and maintain in full force and effect at all times during 
the performance of the Work until final acceptance of the Work or for such further duration 
as required, the following policies of insurance issued by a responsible carrier. All of the 
Contractor's insurance carriers shall be rated A VII or better by A.M. Best's rating service, 
unless otherwise approved by the City. 

1.1.1. Workers Compensation. Contractor and its subcontractors, if any, are subject to 
Oregon Workers' Compensation Law, which requires all employers that employ 
subject workers who work under this Contract in the State of Oregon to comply 
with ORS 656.017 and provide the required Workers' Compensation coverage, 
unless such employers are exempt under ORS 656.126. Contractor shall ensure 
that each of its subcontractors, if any, complies with these requirements (ORS 
279B.230(2)). Unless otherwise exempt, Contractor shall provide the City with 
certification of Workers’ Compensation Insurance and shall maintain Employers’ 
Liability Insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 for each accident, 
$1,000,000 for disease each employee and $1,000,000 each policy limit 

1.1.2. Employer's Liability. The Contractor shall purchase and maintain employer's 
liability insurance in addition to its workers' compensation coverage with at least 
the minimum limits in Section 1.2 below. 

1.1.3. Commercial General Liability. The Contractor shall purchase and maintain 
commercial general liability ("CGL") insurance for off-site exposures on an 
occurrence basis, written on ISO Form CG 00 01 (12/04 or later) or an equivalent 
form approved in advance by the City. CGL coverage shall include all major 
coverage categories including bodily injury, property damage and 
products/completed operations coverage. The CGL insurance will also include the 
following: (1) separation of insureds; (2) incidental medical malpractice; and (3) 
per-project aggregate for premises operations. 

1.1.4. Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions. To the extent that the Contractor 
accepts design or design/build responsibilities, the Contractor shall purchase and 
maintain professional liability/errors and omissions insurance or cause those 
Subcontractors providing design services do so. 

1.1.5. Automobile Liability. The Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile 
liability insurance with coverage for owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles on ISO 
form CA 00 01 or an equivalent form approved in advance by the City. The 
automobile liability insurance shall include pollution liability coverage resulting 
from vehicle overturn and collision. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 46 of 52 
 

1.2. Limits. The insurance required by this exhibit shall be written for at least the limits of 
liability specified in this Section or required by law, whichever is greater. 

Workers' Compensation  Statutory Limits 

Employer's Liability 
Each Accident: $1,000,000 
Each Bodily Injury Disease:  $1,000,000  
Aggregate Bodily Injury Disease: $1,000,000 

Commercial General Liability 
Each Occurrence:  $1,000,000 
General Aggregate: $2,000,000 
Product/Completed Operations: $2,000,000 
Personal & Advertising Injury: $1,000,000 
Fire Damage Limit:  $100,000 
Medical Expense Limit:  $5,000 
Automobile Liability  
Combined Single Limit:  $1,000,000 

Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions 
Single Limit:  $1,000,000  
Aggregate:  $1,000,000 

1.3. Additional Insureds. The Contractor's third-party liability insurance policies shall include 
the City and its officers, employees, and agents as additional insureds. The policy 
endorsement must extend premises operations and products/completed operations to the 
additional insureds. The additional insured endorsement for the CGL insurance must be 
written on ISO Form CG 20 10 (11/85), a CG 20 37 (07/04) together with CG 20 33 (07/04), 
or the equivalent; but shall not use the following forms: CG 20 10 (10/93) or CG 20 10 
(03/94). 

1.4. Joint Venture. If the Contractor is a joint venture, the joint venture shall be a named insured 
for the liability insurance policies. 

1.5. Primary Coverage. The Contractor's insurance shall be primary insurance coverage and 
may not seek contribution from any insurance or self-insurance carried by the City or the 
Architect/Engineer including any property damage coverage carried by the City. 
Contractor's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom a claim is made 
or suit is brought. The Contractor's insurance shall not include any cross-suit exclusion or 
preclude an additional insured party from asserting a claim as a third party. 

1.6. Contractor's Failure to Maintain Insurance. If the Contractor for any reason fails to 
maintain required insurance coverage, such failure shall be deemed a material breach of 
the Contract and the City, at its sole discretion, may suspend or terminate the Contract 
pursuant to Section 16 of the General Conditions. The City may, but has no obligation to, 
purchase such required insurance, and without further notice to the Contractor, the City 
may deduct from the Contract Total any premium costs advanced by the City for such 
insurance. Failure to maintain the insurance coverage required by this exhibit shall not 
waive the Contractor's obligations to the City. 

1.7. Certificates of Insurance. Prior to commencement of the Work, and before bringing any 
equipment or construction equipment on to the project site, the Contractor shall provide 
Certificates of Insurance, to the City Representative, for the insurance policies required by 
this contract.  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 47 of 52 
 

 
1.7.1. Additional Certificates. To the extent that the Contractor's insurance coverages are 

required to remain in force after final payment and are reasonably available, an 
additional certificate evidencing continuation of such coverage shall be submitted 
with the final Application for Payment. Information concerning reduction of 
coverage on account of revised limits or claims paid under the general aggregate, 
or both, shall be furnished by the Contractor with reasonable promptness in 
accordance with the Contractor's information and belief. 

1.7.2. Prohibition Until Certificates Received. The City shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to prohibit the Contractor and its Subcontractors from entering the 
Project site until the required certificates (or other competent evidence that 
insurance has been obtained in complete compliance with this exhibit) are received 
and approved by the OCIP Administrator and or City. 

1.7.3. Deductibles/Self-Insured Retentions. Payment of deductibles or self-insured 
retentions is a Cost of the Work within the Guaranteed Maximum Price and does 
not justify a Change Order. Satisfaction of all self-insured retentions or deductibles 
will be the sole responsibility of the Contractor. 

1.8. Subcontractors Insurance. The Contractor shall cause each Subcontractor to purchase and 
maintain in full force and effect policies of insurance as specified in this exhibit, except for 
coverage limits, which will be agreed upon between the City and the Contractor. The 
Contractor will be responsible for the Subcontractors' coverage if the Subcontractors fail 
to purchase and maintain the required insurance. When requested by the City, the 
Contractor will furnish copies of certificates of insurance establishing coverage for each 
Subcontractor. 

1.9. Limitations on Coverage. 

1.9.1. No insurance provided by the Contractor under this exhibit will be required to 
indemnify the City, the Architect/Engineer, or their employees or agents to the 
extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property 
caused in whole or in part by their own negligence, but will require indemnity to 
the extent of the fault of the Contractor or its agents, representatives, or 
Subcontractors. 

1.9.2. The obligations of the Contractor under this exhibit shall not extend to the liability 
of the Architect/Engineer or its consultants for (1) the preparation or approval of 
maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or 
specifications, or (2) the giving or failure to give directions or instructions, to the 
extent that the directions, or failure to provide directions, are the cause of the injury 
or damage. 

1.9.3. By requiring insurance, the City does not represent that coverage and limits will 
necessarily be adequate to protect the Contractor. Insurance in effect or procured 
by the Contractor will not reduce or limit the Contractor's contractual obligations 
to indemnify and defend the City for claims or suits that result from or are 
connected with the performance of the Contract. 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 48 of 52 
 

2. PROPERTY INSURANCE. 
2.1. Builder's Risk: (For new construction or building additions) During the term of this 

Contract, the Contractor shall maintain in force, at its own expense, Builder's Risk 
insurance on an all risk form, including earthquake and flood, for an amount equal to the 
full amount of the Contract. Any deductible shall not exceed $50,000 for each loss, except 
the earthquake and flood deductible shall not exceed 2 percent of each loss or $50,000, 
whichever is more. The policy will include as loss payees the City, the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors as their interests may appear. 

2.2. Builder's Risk Installation Floater: (For other than new construction) The Contractor shall 
obtain, at the Contractor's expense, and keep in effect during the term of this Contract, a 
Builder's Risk Installation Floater for coverage of the Contractor's labor, materials and 
equipment to be used for completion of the Work performed under this Contract. The 
minimum amount of coverage to be carried shall be equal to the full amount of the Contract. 
This insurance shall include as loss payees the City, the Contractor and its Subcontractors 
as their interests may appear. 

2.3. Such insurance shall be maintained until the City has occupied the facility. 

2.4. Contractor must provide insurance for its own machinery, tools, equipment, or supplies 
that are not to become a part of the Project. 

 

 
 
 
 
  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 49 of 52 
 

EXHIBIT C PREVAILING WAGE RATES (BOLI) 
 

Silverton Senior Center Reconstruction 
 

PREVAILING WAGES 
 
 
 
 
This Public Works Project is subject to the applicable prevailing wage rates. If a contractor fails to pay for 
labor and services, the City can withhold these amounts from payments due the contractor. 
 
The latest Prevailing Wages applicable to this project can found electronically at: 
https://www.oregon.gov/boli/employers/Pages/prevailing-wage-rates.aspx. 
 
 
 
  

https://www.oregon.gov/boli/employers/Pages/prevailing-wage-rates.aspx


 

{00884464; 1 }Page 50 of 52 
 

EXHIBIT D 
FORM OF WARANTY BOND 

  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 51 of 52 
 

 
 



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 52 of 52 
 

EXHIBIT E 

CONTRACTORS BID  



 

{00884464; 1 }Page 53 of 52 
 

 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation:  
Authorize City Manager enter into a contract with R.L. Reimers Company in the amount of 
$195,765 to replace head works bar screen. 

Background: 
In January 2024, during the Ice Storm the Bar Screen froze up causing severe damage and needs 
to be replaced before high flows return. Staff is recommending to replace the bar screen rather than 
repairing it as it is to be replaced within the next few years.  The project will be done in the 2024-
2025 fiscal year as the equipment will take approximately 11 weeks to be delivered.   

Staff will be requesting a budget amendment of $195,765 at the Budget Committee meeting to 
provide the additional appropriation authority in the 2024-2025 Budget. A portion of the 
replacement cost will be from insurance proceeds.  

Attachments: 
1. R.L Reimer Quote
2. Staff Memo
3. Contract

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
5.3 

Authorize City Manager to 
Enter into Contract with R.L 
Reimers in the amount of 
$195,765 to Replace the 
Head Works Bar Screen. 

Agenda Type: 
Action 

Meeting Date: 
May 20, 2024 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Brad Jensen Travis Sperle/Kathleen Zaragoza Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
$195,765 2024-2025 Sewer Fund 



 

 

Working in a Proactive Partnership with Our Community to Solve Problems and Enhance the Quality of Life for Our Citizens 

CITY OF SILVERTON Water Quality 

400 Schemmel Lane | Silverton, Oregon 97381  

 

May 15, 2024 

Travis 
On the morning of January 16th my operators found the old bar screen had tripped out in the motor 
control center. Upon investigation into why the screen tripped they found that the rake arm and 
drive system had bent and was frozen solid. We had heat trace on the system to prevent it from 
freezing but the amount of freezing rain and low temperatures didn’t help at all. Attached are a few 
pictures showing the bent drive system.  RL Reimers is currently on site working on the blowers 
and I had them take a look into fixing the bar screen.  This needs to be fixed ASAP, the new screen 
is designed for a flow of 4 mgd and our current flows are well over 6 mgd.  Without this old screen 
working we are letting rags and other debris through the headworks and this can cause major 
issues downstream in the treatment process. My recommendation is to get this screen fixed as soon 
as we possibly can.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Working in a Proactive Partnership with Our Community to Solve Problems and Enhance the Quality of Life for Our Citizens 

CITY OF SILVERTON Water Quality 

400 Schemmel Lane | Silverton, Oregon 97381  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

 AGREEMENT 
 

WWTP Headworks Screen 
 
This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Silverton, hereinafter referred to as the 
“City”, and R.L. Reimers Company, hereinafter called the “Contractor”, to provide the services 
described in the Invitation to Bid for the WWTP Headworks Screen, SILVERTON, OREGON, which 
by this reference is hereby made part of this Agreement. Contractor shall complete all Work as 
specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally described as follows: 
 
The project includes installation of a Mechanical Bar Screen system at the Silverton Wastewater 
Treatment Plant in the channel upstream of the UV disinfection system. 
 
5.1 CONTRACT TIMES: 
 
The Work will be substantially completed on or before February 15, 2025, and completed and ready 
for final payment on or before March 1, 2025. 

The anticipated issuance date of the Notice to Proceed is the 8thth of July, 2024. 
 
5.2 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 
Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence and that the Owner will suffer financial 
and other losses if the Work is not completed and Milestones not achieved within the times 
specified in 5.1 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with the Contract. The 
parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration 
proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, 
instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for 
delay (but not as a penalty): 
 
• Substantial Completion: Contractor shall pay Owner $100 for each day that expires after the 

time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified in Paragraph 5.1 above for Substantial 
Completion until the Work is substantially complete. 

• Completion of Remaining Work: After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse, 
or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time (as duly adjusted pursuant to 
the Contract) for completion and readiness for final payment, Contractor shall pay Owner $200 
for each day that expires after such time until the Work is completed and ready for final 
payment. 

Liquidated damages for failing to timely attain Substantial Completion and final completion are 
not cumulative and will not be imposed concurrently. 



 

  

 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

 
5.3 COMPENSATION: 
 
The City agrees to compensate the Contractor on a fee-for-services basis as outlined in these 
Documents. This agreement covers the period listed above. Work shall be performed in accordance 
with an approved schedule provided to the City by the Contractor as part of this document. Invoices 
submitted for payment in connection with this agreement shall be properly documented and shall 
indicate pertinent City contract and/or purchase order numbers. All invoices shall be consistent with 
the bid amount accepted by the City and shall reflect any savings or reductions provided for in the 
bid amount. The City will retain 5% from progress payments. The retainage will be released with the 
final payment after the project has been accepted as complete by the City. The compensation 
authorized under this contract is found under subsection 5.11 Contract Price. 
 
The Contractor is engaged hereby as an independent contractor and will be so deemed for purposes 
of the following: 
 
1. The Contractor will be solely responsible for payment of any Federal or State taxes required as a 

result of this agreement. 
 
2. This contract is not intended to entitle the Contractor to any benefits generally granted to City 

employees. Without limitation but by way of illustration, the benefits which are not intended to 
be extended by this contract to the Contractor are vacation, holiday and sick leave, other leaves 
with pay, tenure, medical and dental coverage, life and disability insurance, overtime, Social 
Security, Workers’ Compensation, unemployment compensation, or retirement benefits (except 
insofar as benefits are otherwise required by law if the Contractor is presently a member of the 
Public Employees Retirement System). 

 
3. The Contractor is a sole proprietor or a partner or is an insured employer for purposes of the 

Oregon Workers’ Compensation law (ORS Chapter 656) and is solely liable for any Workers’ 
Compensation coverage under this contract. If the Contractor has the assistance of other 
persons in the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall qualify and remain qualified 
for the term of this contract as an insured employer under ORS 656.017 and ORS 656.407. 

 
The Contractor, if an individual, certifies that he or she is not a program, City, or Federal employee.  
The Contractor, if an individual, certifies that he or she is not a member of the Public Employees 
Retirement System. 



 

  

 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

5.4 SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED: 
 
The Contractor shall provide all materials and services required for the Project; as set forth in the 
Contract Documents, and the documents it references. 
 
5.5 CONTRACTOR OBLIGATIONS 
 
This contract is expressly subject to all applicable State contracting laws and further, is expressly 
subject to the constitutional and charter debt limitation, and incorporates by reference all 
provisions required by applicable ORS 279A and ORS 279C and Oregon Administrative Rule Divisions 
47 and 49 (i.e., OAR 137-049-0200(c)(A) through and including OAR 137-049- 0200(c)(V) (2006). 
The contract is contingent upon funds being appropriated therefore. 
 
1. The Contractor shall comply fully with all statutory requirements for payment of prevailing wage 

rates on public works projects. The hourly rate of wage to be paid workers on this project shall not 
be less than the prevailing wage for an hour’s work in the same trade or occupation in the 
locality of the project. This requirement shall apply to all workers employed on the project by 
the prime contractor, subcontractors, or other persons doing, or contracting to do the whole or 
any part of the work required for the project. The existing prevailing rates of wages as 
established by the Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and Industries pursuant to ORS 
279.359 are hereby incorporated into these Specifications. A reference to the Prevailing Wage 
Rates is attached to this Contract in Section 8. When a contractor or subcontractor is a party to a 
statewide collective bargaining agreement in effect with any labor organization, the rate of 
wages provided for in such agreement shall be considered to be the prevailing rate of wage to 
be paid to the workers on this project. 

 
2. The Contractor shall indemnify, save harmless and defend the City, its officers, councilors, 

agents and employees from and against all claims and actions, and all expenses incidental to the 
investigation and defense thereof, arising out of or based upon damage or injuries to persons or 
property caused by the errors, omissions, fault or negligence of the Contractor or the 
Contractor’s employees and agents. 

 
3. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation 

statutes, rules, and regulations. Contractor shall maintain valid all required licenses and 
certificates required by law. 

 
4. If the Contractor fails to pay for labor and services, the City can pay for them and withhold those 

amounts from payment to the Contractor. ORS 279C.515; OAR 839-025-0020(2)(a) 
 



 

  

 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

5. The Contractor must pay daily, weekly and holiday overtime as required. ORS 279C.520; OAR 839-
025-0020(2)(b) 

 

6. The Contractor must make prompt payment for all medical services for which the Contractor 
has agreed to pay, and for all amounts for which the Contractor collects or deducts from workers 
wages. ORS 279C.530; OAR 839-025-0020(2)(d) 

 
7. The Contractor must submit a Public Work Contract Fee form (WH-39) and pay a prevailing wage 

rate fee to BOLI. ORS 279C-830 (2); OAR 839-025-0020(2)(e) 

 
8. The Contractor must pay the workers not less than the applicable state or federal prevailing 

wage rate, whichever is higher. ORS 279C3830 (1)(c); OAR 839-025- 0020(3) 
 
9. The Contractor must have a public works bond filed with the Construction Contractors Board 

before commencement of any work on the project. ORS 279C.830(3)(a) 
 
10. The Contractor shall include in every subcontract a provision requiring the Subcontractor to 

have a public works bond filed with the Construction Contractors Board before commencing any 
work on the project. ORS 279C.830(3)(b). 

 
Contractor warrants all installed materials or systems to be free from design, material or 
construction defects and the systems shall perform to the City’s satisfaction for two years from the 
date the City accepts the work. Contractor warrants that the renovation work shall be 
performed consistent with professional standards found to be prevalent in the State of Oregon. 
 
5.6 INSURANCE COVERAGES: 
 
Required Insurance Coverages are found in Section 00170.70 of the General Conditions. 
 
5.7 SUBCONTRACTS: 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible to the City for the actions of persons and firms performing 
subcontract work. 
  



 

  

 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

5.8 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT: 
 
The City may terminate the whole or any part of this contract in any one of the following 
circumstances. 
 
1. The City may terminate this Agreement if sufficient funds are not appropriated for the 

completion of this project. 

 
2. If the Contractor fails to make delivery of the supplies or to perform the services within the time 

specified (to be determined) herein or any extension thereof; or 
 
3. If the Contractor fails to perform any of the other provisions of this contract, or so fails to make 

progress as to endanger performance of this contract in accordance with its terms, and in either 
of these two circumstances does not cure such failures within a period of ten (10) days (or such 
longer period as the City may authorize in writing) after receipt of notice from the City specifying 
such failure. 

 
4. In the event the City terminates this contract in whole, or in part, the City may procure, upon 

such terms and in such manner as the City may deem appropriate, supplies or services similar to 
those terminated, and the Contractor shall be liable to the City for any excess costs for such 
similar supplies or services; provided, that the Contractor shall continue the performance of this 
contract to the extent not terminated under the provisions of this clause. 

 
5. Except with respect to defaults of subcontractors, the Contractor shall not be liable for any 

excess costs if the failure to perform the contract arises out of causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the Contractor(s). Such causes may include, but are not 
restricted to, acts of God or of the public enemy, acts of the City in either its sovereign or 
contractual capacity, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes 
and unusually severe weather; but, in every case, the failure to perform must be beyond the 
control of both the Contractor and subcontractor, and without the fault or negligence of either 
of them, the Contractor shall not be liable for excess costs for failure to perform, unless the 
supplies or services to be furnished by the subcontractor were obtainable from other sources in 
sufficient time to permit the Contractor to meet the required delivery schedule. 

 
6. The rights and remedies of the City provided in this clause shall not be exclusive and are in 

addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this contract. 
 
7. As used in paragraph (5) of this clause, the terms "subcontractor" and "subcontractors" mean 

subcontractor(s) at any tier. 



 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

5.9 PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND 
 
The Contractor will be required to file with the City Performance and Labor and Material Payment 
bonds in the full amount of the contract price at the time of execution of the contract. The surety 
company furnishing this bond shall have a sound financial standing and a record of service 
satisfactory to the City and shall be authorized to do business in the State of Oregon. The Attorney-in- 
Fact (Resident Agent) who executes this performance and payment bond in behalf of the surety 
company must attach a copy of his power-of-attorney as evidence of his authority. A notary shall 
acknowledge the power as of the date of the execution of the surety bond, which it covers. The forms for 
the Performance and Labor and Material Payment bonds are in the bid documents. 
 
5.10 WARRANTY BOND 
 
At the completion of the project and prior to received final acceptance by the City, the Contractor 
shall provide the City with a Warranty Bond in the amount of 15% of the contract amount, which 
covers any defects in either materials or workmanship, for a period of two years from the date of 
acceptance. AIA forms will be used for the Warranty Bond. 
 
5.11 CONTRACT PRICE: 
 
Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
the amounts that follow, subject to adjustment under the Contract: 
 

 ITEM QNTY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE 

1. Purchase and Install New UV 
Mechanical Bar Screen 

1 LS $189,765.00         $189,765.00 

2. Install New Controller and 
Transducer for UV Screen 

1 LS $5,000.00         $  5,000.00 

3. Commissioning and Startup 1 LS $    1,000.00 $    1,000.00 

 BID TOTAL    $195,765.00 
 
5.12 PAYMENT PROCEDURES: 
 
Payment procedures are defined in section 00195 of the Supplemental Conditions. 
 
5.13 INTEREST: 
 
All amounts not paid when due shall be subject to terms listed on invoice. 
 



 

Silverton WWTP Headworks Screen Agreement  5/13/2024 
 

 
 
5.14 TERMINATIONS AND AMENDMENTS: 
 
This contract and any amendments thereto will not be effective until approved in writing by the City 
of Silverton. 
 
This contract supersedes and cancels any prior contracts between the parties hereto for similar 
services. 

 
In the event of litigation arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the prevailing party in such suit 
or action shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees as may be awarded by the court 
in which such suit or action is tried, heard or decided, and on any appeal therefrom. 
 

5.15 SIGNATURES: 
 
By their signatures below, the parties to this contract agree to the terms, conditions, and content 
expressed herein. 
 
CONTRACTOR      CITY OF SILVERTON 
 
               
Authorized Signature   Date  Cory Misley City Manager 
 
 
               
Printed Name and Title    Date 
 
        
Telephone/Fax Number 
 
93-0677013      
Federal Tax I.D. Number 
 
60891        
CCB Number 
 
 
         



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: Adoption of the administrative and legal revisions to the Employee 
Handbook. 
 
Background:  
On December 5, 2016, Council adopted a City of Silverton Employee Handbook, this was 
substantially revised from the original document titled Personnel Policies. The Employee 
Handbook has continued its evolution in the years since, based on the ever-changing workforce, 
legislative, legal, and best practice changes.  
 
The attached Handbook updates include legal recommendations from CityCounty Insurance 
Services (CIS) as well as staff recommendations. CIS recommended revisions, in response to 
legislation, are: 

• a revised No-Discrimination, No-Retaliation and No-Harassment Policy 
• a revised No-Harassment policy based including required language from the Crown Act 
• a new policy based on Paid Leave Oregon 
• modifications to sick leave based on Oregon’s Sick Leave Law and Oregon’s Domestic 

Violence leave Law 
• update to Pregnancy Accommodation based on the Pregnant Workers Fairness Act 
• addition of longevity pay 
• updated OFLA verbiage adding “affinity” 
• a new policy prohibiting secret recordings 
• overall modernization of language  

 
Staff is proposing clarifications in the above referenced sections including recruitment, vacation 
leave, sick leave, and bereavement leave. Bargaining units and management will be provided 
with copies and given the opportunity to provide feedback. 
 
Additionally, CIS has recommended all elected officials receive the instruction and reminder that 
their positions are covered by the Handbook and its Equal Employment Opportunity policies, 
including this updated No-Harassment Policy. Staff is available for questions on this and any 
other updated policies to ensure that all representatives of the City understand the responsibilities 
of the City in responding to any complaints of unlawful harassment and the provisions against 
retaliation. When reviewing the handbook, please pay particular attention to the Equal 
Opportunity Policies in pages 8-14.  Elected officials, along with staff and volunteers, will 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
5.4  

 
Revised Silverton Employee 

Handbook 
Agenda Type: 

Action Item 
Meeting Date:  
May 20, 2024 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Tammy Shaver Cory Misley Cory Misley 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

receive a copy of the Handbook’s Acknowledgement Form to sign in advance of the Handbook’s 
effective date. 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. Summary Chart – changes and page numbers 
2. Proposed Employee Handbook   

 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 N/A 



Handbook Section: 
Part 

Proposed Changes to be effective July 1, 2024  
If not noted here, no substantial changes were made (grammar, spelling and 
modernization may have occurred) 

1 

Welcome n/a No changes 
Section I – Equal 
Opportunity 
Employment (EEO) 
Policies 

A • A revised No-Discrimination, No-Retaliation Policy: adds “race” is
defined to include all physical characteristics that are historically
associated with race, including but not limited to natural hair, hair
texture, hair type and protective hair styles. Defines protective
hairstyles. (p. 8)

C • A revised No-Harassment Policy that includes the language
required under the Crown Act (p. 9)

F • Update to Pregnancy Accommodations, includes reference to
Pregnant Workers Fairness Act (PWFA).  EEOC issued final
regulation April 15, 2024. Effective Date:  June 18, 2024. (p. 12)

G • Added verbiage: “A violation of law, regulation, or standard
pertaining to safety and health in the place of employment” (p.
13)

Section II - Employment 
Status  

A • Added, Probationary Period of Employment (p. 16)

F • Updated to include No Discrimination, No Retaliation (p. 20)

L • Added Longevity Pay (p. 22)
Section III – Time Off and 
Leaves of Absence 

B • Clarification of vacation accrual cap and updated procedure for
scheduling vacation, executive and/or comp leave. (p. 25)

D • Updated Eligibility and Accrual of Sick Leave to reflect after 80
contiguous hours of unpaid leave, sick leave does not accrue (Paid
Leave Oregon is deemed unpaid leave by the City).

• Updated Use of Sick Leave to include “affinity” per SB 999 (p. 27)
E • Updated OFLA definitions to include affinity per SB 999 (p. 29)

• Updated One-Year Calculation Period to explain the “forward-
looking” method used to calculate. (p. 31)

• Updated Holiday Pay While on Leave to include verbiage that
“Paid Leave Oregon is deemed unpaid leave by the City). (p. 33)

F • Added Section F Paid Leave Oregon (PLO)
N • Included PLO reference. (p. 38)
O • Included PLO reference. (p. 38)

Section V – Workplace 
Expectations, Conduct, 
and Discipline 

A • Added Performance Reviews (p. 43-44)

C • Improper Employee Conduct.  Added to #1 and #2 including more
clarification to drug and alcohol use. (p.47)

• Added #8 and #11 (p. 47-48)
Section VI – 
Miscellaneous Policies 

B • Added Employee- and City-Owned Communications Devices and
Public Record. (p. 50)

I • Added Prohibition on Secret Recordings (p. 57)

Attachment 1 to Agenda Item No. 5.4 



City of Silverton Employee Handbook 

Adopted June 1, 2020 
Effective July 1, 2020 

    Revised May 2024 



i  

Welcome! 

Welcome to the City of Silverton; we’re glad to have you on our team. At the City, we believe that our 
employees are our most valuable asset. In fact, we attribute our success as an organization in significant 
part to our ability to recruit, hire, and maintain a motivated and productive workforce. We hope that 
during your employment with the City, you will become a productive and successful member of the City’s 
team. 

Commitment to the Public 

The City is committed to quality public service based on high ethical and professional standards. Courtesy, 
honesty, equity, and patience are characteristics that we strive for in our partnership with the citizens and 
elected officials in maintaining and improving the quality of life in Silverton. We also strive for open and 
honest communication with people in our community. Our business is public service and we’re proud of 
the service we provide. 

Commitment to Teamwork 

We work as a team emphasizing: 

• Communication both within our organization and with the public we serve. Friendly, service- 
oriented employees are vital to our success. 

• Fiscal Responsibility when using resources that we are entrusted to manage. 

• Cooperation and respect for co-workers by showing regard for their time, responsibilities, 
efforts, and feelings. 

• Collaboration. We value the contribution and active participation of all team members’ skills, 
diverse backgrounds, and aspirations. 

• Recognition. We believe in celebrating our achievements and those of others that support the 
goals of the community. 

 
 

We encourage you to ask questions if there are policies or procedures you don’t understand. If you have 
any questions about any of the information contained in this Handbook, please contact your Supervisor, 
Department Head, or the Human Resources representative. 

We sincerely hope you will enjoy your employment with the City of Silverton. 
 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
Cory Misley 
 
City Manager 
City of Silverton 

 



ii  

This Handbook: 

This employee handbook describes, in summary, the personnel policies and procedures that govern the 
employment relationship between the City and its employees, other than those found in applicable 
collective bargaining agreements. These policies and procedures apply to all employees of the City of 
Silverton, and to elected officials and volunteers except where noted in this Handbook. 

The policies stated in this handbook are subject to change at any time at the sole discretion of the City 
with or without prior notice. This handbook supersedes any prior handbooks or written policies of the 
organization that are inconsistent with its provisions. It does not, however, substitute for collective 
bargaining agreement provisions or other employment agreements. To the extent that a provision in a 
valid collective bargaining agreement or employment agreement contradicts or is inconsistent with what 
is in this Employee Handbook, the collective bargaining agreement or other employment agreement 
provision controls. 

This handbook does not create a contract of employment between the City and its employees. With the 
exception of employees who are subject to a collective bargaining agreement, all employment at the City 
is “at will.” That means that either you or the City may terminate this relationship at any time, for any 
reason, with or without cause or notice (unless you are subject to a collective bargaining agreement or 
written contract of employment). No supervisor, manager, or representative of the City other than the 
City Manager has the authority to enter into any agreement with you regarding the terms of your 
employment that changes our at-will relationship or deviates from the provisions in this handbook, unless 
the change or deviation is put in writing and signed by the City Manager. 

The City of Silverton operates under the Council-Manager form of government as created by the City 
Charter. The Council sets policy and the Manager is charged with implementing the policies adopted by 
the Council. The City Manager is responsible for personnel administration, including adoption of this 
Handbook, and may delegate this responsibility to another City employee. 

The City reserves the right to change, add to, or delete sections of the Handbook at any time. Amendments 
to the Handbook are handled administratively. The addition of policies, or changes which alter the major 
meaning of existing policies, will be handled by Council Resolution. 

Department Heads are responsible for ensuring the policies are communicated to and understood by 
employees. Each Department Head can assist in keeping this Handbook up to date by notifying Human 
Resource when improvements may be needed. 

You may receive updated information concerning changes in policy from time to time, and those updates 
should be kept with your copy of the handbook. If you have any questions about any of the provisions in 
the handbook, or any policies that are issued after the handbook, please ask your supervisor or the Human 
Resources Representative. 

 
 



iii  

Table of Contents 
I. Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Policies ......................................................................................... 8 

A. No-Discrimination Policy ...................................................................................................................... 8 

B. Statement Regarding Pay Equity ......................................................................................................... 8 

C. No-Harassment Policy .......................................................................................................................... 8 

Sexual Harassment .............................................................................................................................. 9 
Other Forms of Prohibited Harassment ............................................................................................... 9 
Complaint Procedure ........................................................................................................................ 10 
Investigation and Confidentiality ....................................................................................................... 10 
Protection Against Retaliation ........................................................................................................... 10 
Other Resources Available to Employees ..........................................................................................10 

Other Employee Rights ......................................................................................................................11 
D. No Bullying Policy .............................................................................................................................. 11 

E. Disability Accommodation Policy ....................................................................................................... 12 

Accommodations ............................................................................................................................ .12 
Requesting an Accommodation ....................................................................................................... 12 

F. Pregnancy Accommodation Policy ..................................................................................................... 12 
Requesting a Pregnancy-Related Accommodation ............................................................................ 13 

No Discrimination, No Retaliation ..................................................................................................... 13 
Leave of Absence Options for Pregnant Employees .......................................................................... 13 

G. Reporting Improper or Unlawful Conduct — No Retaliation ............................................................. 13 

Employee Reporting Options ............................................................................................................ 14 
Additional Protection for Reporting Employees ............................................................................... 14 
Policy Against Retaliation .................................................................................................................. 14 

II. Employment Status ................................................................................................................................ 14 
A. Recruitment and Selection ................................................................................................................ 14 

Selection ........................................................................................................................................... 15 
Immigration Reform Act .................................................................................................................... 15 
Employment of Relatives (Nepotism) ................................................................................................ 15 
Former Employees/Retiree Rehire .................................................................................................... 15 
Employees as Volunteers .................................................................................................................. 16 
Orientation ....................................................................................................................................... 16 
Probationary Period of Employment ................................................................................................. 16 
Personnel Files………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..17 

B. Employee and Volunteer Classification ............................................................................................. 17 

C. Classification and Compensation ....................................................................................................... 18 

Classification Review and Reclassification ........................................................................................ 18 

D. The Workweek .................................................................................................................................. 19 



iv  

E. Meal Periods and Rest Breaks ........................................................................................................... 19 

F. Rest Breaks for Expression of Breast Milk .......................................................................................... 19 

Notice ............................................................................................................................................... 20 
Storage ............................................................................................................................................. 20 
No Discrimination, No Retaliation……………………………………………………………………………………………….20 

G. Overtime and Compensatory Time .................................................................................................... 20 

H. Timekeeping Requirements ............................................................................................................... 21 

I. General Payroll Policies ..................................................................................................................... 21 

J. Reporting Changes to an Employee’s Personal Data .......................................................................... 21 

K. Pay Administration ............................................................................................................................ 22 

Rates of Pay ...................................................................................................................................... 22 
New Employees ............................................................................................................................... 22 
Salary Increases ................................................................................................................................ 22 
Longevity Pay……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………22 
Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) ..................................................................................................... 22 
Compensation Studies ...................................................................................................................... 22 
Transfers .......................................................................................................................................... 23 
Promotional Increases ...................................................................................................................... 23 
Higher Classification Work ................................................................................................................ 23 
Overpayment ................................................................................................................................... 23 
Underpayment ................................................................................................................................. 23 
Payroll Deductions ........................................................................................................................... 23 
Final Paycheck .................................................................................................................................. 23 
City-Issued Credit Cards .................................................................................................................... 23 
Bilingual Pay ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

III. Time Off and Leaves of Absence ........................................................................................................... 24 

A. Attendance, Punctuality and Reporting Absences ............................................................................. 24 

B. Vacation ............................................................................................................................................ 24 

Procedure for Scheduling Vacation, Executive, and/or Comp Leave ................................................ 25 
C. Holiday Leave .................................................................................................................................... 25 

Floating Holiday................................................................................................................................ 26 
D. Sick Leave ......................................................................................................................................... 26 

Eligibility and Accrual of Paid Sick Leave ........................................................................................... 26 
Pay Rate and Carryover .................................................................................................................... 27 
Use of Sick Leave .............................................................................................................................. 27 
Employee Notice of Need for Sick Leave .......................................................................................... 28 
Sick Leave Documentation ............................................................................................................... 28 
Sick Leave Abuse .............................................................................................................................. 28 

E. Family Medical Leave ........................................................................................................................ 28 



v  

Definitions ........................................................................................................................................ 29 
Reasons for Taking Leave ................................................................................................................. 30 
Length of Leave ................................................................................................................................ 31 
One-Year Calculation Period ............................................................................................................. 31 
Intermittent Leave ............................................................................................................................ 32 
Employee Responsibilities — Notice................................................................................................. 32 
Certification...................................................................................................................................... 32 
Medical Certification Prior to Returning to Work ............................................................................. 33 
Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave .................................................................................... 33 
Holiday Pay While on Leave .............................................................................................................. 33 
On-the-Job Injury or Illness .............................................................................................................. 33 
Benefits While on Leave ................................................................................................................... 33 
Job Protection .................................................................................................................................. 34 

F. Paid Leave Oregon (PLO)…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..34 
G. Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank ............................................................................................................. 34 

Withdrawal Guidelines ..................................................................................................................... 35 
Procedure......................................................................................................................................... 35 
Approval ........................................................................................................................................... 35 
Termination ..................................................................................................................................... 35 
Participation Abuse .......................................................................................................................... 36 

H. Bereavement Leave ........................................................................................................................... 36 

I. Executive Leave ................................................................................................................................ 36 

J. Merit Leave ....................................................................................................................................... 36 

K. Administrative Leave ......................................................................................................................... 37 

L. Jury and Witness Duty ....................................................................................................................... 37 

Jury Duty .......................................................................................................................................... 37 
Witness Duty .................................................................................................................................... 37 

M. Religious Observances Leave and Accommodation Policy ................................................................. 38 

N. Crime Victim Leave Policy .................................................................................................................. 38 

O. Domestic Violence Leave and Accommodation Policy ....................................................................... 38 

P. Military Leave .................................................................................................................................... 39 

Q. Unpaid Personal Leave ..................................................................................................................... 39 

IV. Employee Benefits................................................................................................................................. 40 
A. Insurance and Other Benefits ........................................................................................................... 40 

B. Employee Assistance Program (EAP) ................................................................................................ 40 

C. Workers’ Compensation and Safety on the Job ................................................................................. 40 

Steps to Take if You are Injured, Suffer an Occupational Illness, or have a Near-Miss ...................... 40 
Return to Work ................................................................................................................................. 40 
Early Return-to-Work Program ......................................................................................................... 41 



vi  

Overlap with Other Laws .................................................................................................................. 41 
Additional Safety Information .......................................................................................................... 41 
Safety Committee ............................................................................................................................. 41 
Safety Manual .................................................................................................................................. 41 
Reporting Unsafe Working Conditions ............................................................................................. 42 
Violation of the Safety Policy ............................................................................................................ 42 
Tobacco Products and Marijuana-Free Workplace ........................................................................... 42 

D. PERS (Public Employees’ Retirement System) Benefits ...................................................................... 42 

V. Workplace Expectations, Conduct, and Discipline ................................................................................. 41 
A. Expectations ...................................................................................................................................... 41 

Be on Time and Ready to Perform a Full Day’s Work ........................................................................ 43 
Appearance ...................................................................................................................................... 43 
Respect for City Property ................................................................................................................. 43 
Quality of Work ................................................................................................................................ 43 
Performance Reviews…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…..43 
Work Conduct .................................................................................................................................. 44 
Workspace Inspections and Investigations ....................................................................................... 44 
Confidentiality .................................................................................................................................. 44 
Customer Service ............................................................................................................................. 44 
Insubordination ................................................................................................................................ 44 
Outside Employment ........................................................................................................................ 44 
Work Safely ...................................................................................................................................... 45 

B. Ethics ................................................................................................................................................. 45 
Conflict of Interest ............................................................................................................................ 45 
Misrepresentation............................................................................................................................ 45 
Gifts and Gratuities .......................................................................................................................... 45 
Travel Awards ................................................................................................................................... 46 
Off-Duty Conduct ............................................................................................................................. 46 
Solicitation on City Property ............................................................................................................. 46 
Bulletin Boards ................................................................................................................................. 46 
Political Activity ................................................................................................................................ 46 

C. Improper Employee Conduct ............................................................................................................. 47 

D. Corrective Action/Discipline Policy .................................................................................................... 48 

E. Complaint/Appeal Procedure ............................................................................................................ 48 

Appeal of Disciplinary Action ............................................................................................................ 49 
VI. Miscellaneous Policies ........................................................................................................................... 49 

A. Alcohol/Drug Use, Abuse and Testing ................................................................................................ 49 

B. Communication Devices Policy .......................................................................................................... 49 

Communication Devices in General .................................................................................................. 49 
Use While Driving ............................................................................................................................. 50 



vii  

City-Provided Communication Devices ............................................................................................. 50 
Employee- ad City-Owned Communication Devices and Public Record ............................................. 50 
Employee-Owned Communication Devices……………………………………………………………………………………….50 
Procedure ......................................................................................................................................... 51 
Reimbursement................................................................................................................................ 51 
Separation ........................................................................................................................................ 51 

C. Use of the City Email and Electronic Equipment, Facilities and Services ........................................... 51 

No Expectation of Privacy in the Use of Information Technology ..................................................... 51 
Procedures ....................................................................................................................................... 52 
Electronic Mail .................................................................................................................................. 52 
Acceptable Uses of Information Technologies .................................................................................. 52 
Prohibited Use of Information Technologies .................................................................................... 53 
Network User Security Guidelines .................................................................................................... 53 
Contact Information ......................................................................................................................... 54 
Electronic Records Retention ........................................................................................................... 54 

D. Social Media ...................................................................................................................................... 54 

Prohibited Postings .......................................................................................................................... 54 
Encouraged Conduct ........................................................................................................................ 54 
Request for Employee Social Media Passwords ................................................................................ 55 

E. Open-Door Policy............................................................................................................................... 55 

F. Bad Weather/Emergency Closing ...................................................................................................... 55 

G. Driving While on Business ................................................................................................................. 55 

H. Prohibition of Workplace Violence .................................................................................................... 56 

I. Prohibition on Secret Recordings……………………………………………………………………………………………………….57 

VII. Separation from Employment ............................................................................................................... 57 
A. Job Elimination or Reduction in Work Hours or Staff ......................................................................... 57 

B. Retirement or Resignation from Employment ................................................................................... 58 

C. Separation Polices ............................................................................................................................. 58 

Return of City Property .................................................................................................................... 58 
Exit Interviews .................................................................................................................................. 58 
Final Paychecks ................................................................................................................................ 58 

D. References ........................................................................................................................................ 58 

VIII. Administrative Policies.......................................................................................................................... 58 

Receipt of Acknowledgement Form ............................................................................................................. 59 



8  

I. Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Policies 

The following EEO Policies apply to all employees, elected officials, and all members of City Committees 
and Commissions, as well as City volunteers. All are expected to adhere to and enforce the following EEO 
Policies. Any employee’s failure to do so may result in discipline, up to and including termination. 

All employees are encouraged to discuss these EEO Policies with the Human Resources Representative or 
their Supervisor at any time if they have questions relating to the issues of harassment, discrimination, or 
bullying, or what it means to work in a respectful workplace. 

A. No-Discrimination, No-Retaliation Policy 
The City provides equal employment opportunity to all qualified employees and applicants without 
unlawful regard to race, color, religion, sex, gender identity, pregnancy (including childbirth and related 
medical conditions), sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, genetic information, veteran status, 
domestic violence victim status or any other status protected by applicable federal, Oregon, or local law. 
The City also recognizes an employee’s right to engage in protected activity under Oregon and federal law, 
as discussed in various policies below, and will not retaliate against an employee for engaging in protected 
activity. 

For purposes of this and all other City policies, “race” is defined to include physical characteristics that are 
historically associated with race, including but not limited to natural hair, hair texture, hair type and 
protective hair styles. Further, “protective hairstyles” is defined as “hairstyle, hair color or manner of 
wearing hair, including braids (regardless of whether the braids are created with extensions or styled with 
adornments, locs and twists)”. 

The City’s commitment to equal opportunity applies to all aspects of the employment relationship — 
including but not limited to, recruitment, hiring, compensation, promotion, demotion, transfer, 
disciplinary action, layoff, recall, and termination of employment. 

B. Statement Regarding Pay Equity 
The City supports Oregon’s Pay Equity Law and federal and Oregon laws prohibiting discrimination 
between employees on the basis of a protected class (as defined by Oregon law) in the payment of wages 
or other compensation for work of comparable character. Employees who believe they are receiving 
wages or other compensation at a rate less than that at which the City pays wages or other compensation 
to other employees for work of comparable character are encouraged to discuss the issue with their 
Supervisor or the Human Resources Representative. 

C. No-Harassment Policy 
The City prohibits harassment of any kind in the workplace, or harassment or sexual assault outside of the 
workplace that violates its employees’, volunteers, and interns’ right to work in a harassment-free 
workplace. Specifically, the City prohibits harassment or conduct related to an individual’s race, color, 
religion, sex, pregnancy, gender identity, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, genetic 
information, veteran status, domestic violence victim status, or any other protected status or activity 
recognized under Oregon, federal or local law. 

Each member of management is responsible for creating an atmosphere free of discrimination, 
harassment, and bullying. Further, all employees are responsible for respecting the rights of other 
employees and to refrain from engaging in conduct prohibited by this policy, regardless of the 
circumstances, and regardless of whether others participate in the conduct or did not appear to be 
offended. All employees are encouraged to discuss this policy with their immediate supervisor, any 
member of the management team, or the Human Resources representative at any time if they have 



9  

questions relating to the issues of discrimination, harassment, or bullying. 

This policy applies to and prohibits sexual or other forms of harassment that occur during working hours, 
during City -related or –sponsored trips (such as conferences or work-related travel), and during off-hours 
when that off-duty conduct creates an unlawful hostile work environment for any of the City’s employees. 
Such harassment is prohibited whether committed by City employees or by non- employees, such as 
elected officials, members of the community, volunteers, interns, and vendors. 

Sexual Harassment 

Sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, or other verbal or 
physical conduct of a sexual nature (regardless of whether such conduct is “welcome”), when: 

1. Submission to such conduct is made either implicitly or explicitly a term or condition of 
employment; 

2. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment 
decisions affecting such individual; or 

3. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work 
performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment. 

Some examples of conduct that could give rise to sexual harassment are unwanted sexual advances; 
demands for sexual favors in exchange for favorable treatment or continued employment; sexual jokes; 
flirtations; advances or propositions; verbal abuse of a sexual nature; comments about an individual’s 
body, sexual prowess, or deficiency; talking about your sex life or asking others questions about theirs; 
leering or whistling; unwelcome touching or assault; sexually suggestive, insulting, or obscene comments 
or gestures; displays of sexually suggestive objects or pictures; making derogatory remarks about 
individuals who are gay, lesbian, bisexual or transgender; or discriminatory treatment based on sex. 

This is not a complete list. 

Other Forms of Prohibited Harassment 

City policy also prohibits harassment against an individual based on the individual’s race, color, religion, 
sex, pregnancy, gender identity, national origin, age, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, 
protected activity, and any other status protected by applicable law. 

Such harassment may include verbal, written or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility 
towards an individual because of that individual’s protected class or protected activity, and can include: 

• Jokes, pictures (including drawings), epithets, or slurs; 
• Negative stereotyping; 
• Displaying racist symbols anywhere on City property; 
• “Teasing” or mimicking the characteristics of someone with a physical or mental disability; 
• Criticizing or making fun of another person’s religious beliefs, or “pushing” your religious beliefs 

on someone who doesn’t have them; 
• Threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts that relate to a protected class or protected activity; or 
• Written or graphic material that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an individual 

or group because of the protected status. 
• Negative comments or teasing a person about their natural hair, hair texture, hair type or hair style 

(see definition of “race” on page 8). Employees may not touch another employee’s hair without 
permission to do so, even if the touch is extended out of curiosity or as a compliment.  

This is not a complete list. All employees are expected to exercise common sense and refrain from other 
similar kinds of conduct. 



10  

Complaint Procedure 

Employees, volunteers, or interns who have experienced a sexual assault or any harassment, 
discrimination, who have witnessed such behavior, or who have credible information about such behavior 
occurring, are expected and should bring the matter to the attention of the Human Resources 
Representative or the City Manager as soon as possible. Employees may report a concern to any 
Supervisor or member of management as well. Employees are strongly encouraged to document the 
information or incident in any written or electronic form, or with a voice mail message (or phone call). An 
employee who experiences or witnesses harassment is encouraged, but not required, to tell the harasser 
that the behavior is offensive and unwanted, and that he/she wants it to stop. 

Investigation and Confidentiality 

All complaints and reports will be promptly and impartially investigated and will be kept confidential to 
the extent possible under state law and consistent with the City’s need to investigate the complaint and 
address the situation. If conduct in violation of this policy is found to have occurred, the City will take 
prompt, appropriate corrective action, and any employee found to have violated this policy will be subject 
to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. 

Employees who have been subjected to harassment, sexual assault, or discrimination are encouraged to 
use the City’s complaint-reporting procedure, described above, to ensure a timely, thorough investigation 
and handling of the situation. Employees may, however, seek redress from the Oregon Bureau of Labor 
and Industries (BOLI) pursuant to ORS 659A.820 to 659A.865, or in a court under any other available law, 
whether criminal or civil. Although the City cannot provide employees with legal advice, employees should 
be aware of the statute of limitations applicable to harassment or discrimination claims under ORS 
659A.030, 659A.082 or 659A.121 (five years). Further, before an employee can take any legal action 
against the City, the employee must provide written notice of the claim within 180 days of the act or 
omission the employee claims has caused him/her harm. When an employee can prove harm as a result 
of unlawful harassment or discrimination in an administrative proceeding or in a court, remedies available 
to the employee include enforcement of a right, imposition of a penalty, or issuance of an order to the 
employee’s employer (in limited circumstances). 

Protection Against Retaliation 

The City prohibits retaliation in any way against an employee because the employee has made a good- 
faith complaint pursuant to this policy or the law, has reported (in good faith) sexual assault, harassing, 
discriminatory, or has participated in an investigation of such conduct. 

Employees who believe they have been retaliated against in violation of this policy should immediately 
report it to the Human Resources Representative or City Manager, or any Supervisor or member of 
management. Any employee who is found to have retaliated against another employee in violation of this 
policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. See also the 
No-Discrimination, No-Retaliation Policy, above, and the Reporting Improper and Unlawful Activity Policy, 
below. 

Other Resources Available to Employees 

The City provides an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) to employees and dependents who are enrolled 
in the City’s medical coverage. EAP programs provide access to free and confidential help 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week. Information regarding this service and current contacts can be obtained by contacting 
the Human Resources representative or consulting on the bulletin boards at each work location and 
benefits information on the shared internet drive. 



11  

The City cannot provide legal resources to its employees or referrals to specific attorneys. Employees may 
contact the Oregon State Bar for more information: https://www.osbar.org/public/. 

Other Employee Rights 

Nothing in this policy is intended to diminish or discourage an employee who has experienced workplace 
harassment or discrimination, or sexual assault, from talking about or disclosing his/her experience. 

The City is committed to creating and maintaining a workplace free of sexual assault, harassment, 
discrimination, and retaliation and it has confidence in the process it has developed for addressing good- 
faith complaints. However, Oregon law requires the City to inform employees that if they have been 
aggrieved by workplace harassment, discrimination or sexual assault and want to enter into an agreement 
with the City regarding his/her experience and/or employment status, the employee should contact the 
Human Resources representative or the City Manager. The employee’s request to enter into such an 
agreement must be in writing (email is acceptable). Requests of this nature will be considered on a case-
by-case basis; such agreements are not appropriate for every situation. If the City and employee do reach 
an agreement, the City will not require an employee to enter into a nondisclosure agreement (which 
would prohibit the employee from discussing or communicating about his/her experiences in the 
workplace or the terms of the agreement) or a non-disparagement agreement (which would prohibit the 
employee from speaking slightingly about the City or making comments that would lower the City in rank 
or reputation). If, however, the employee makes a request for an agreement under this paragraph, 
nondisclosure and non-disparagement are terms that the City and the employee may agree to. The 
employee will have seven days to revoke the agreement after signing it. 

D. No Bullying Policy 
The City strives to promote a positive, professional work environment free of physical or verbal 
harassment, “bullying,” or discriminatory conduct of any kind. The City, therefore, prohibits employees 
from bullying one another or engaging in any conduct that is disrespectful, insubordinate, or that creates 
a hostile work environment for another employee for any reason. For purposes of this policy, “bullying” 
refers to repeated, unreasonable actions of individuals (or a group) directed towards an individual or a 
group of employees, which is intended to intimidate and that creates a risk to the health and safety of the 
employee(s). Examples of bullying include: 

 

1. Verbal Bullying: Slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a person or his/her family; persistent name 
calling that is hurtful, insulting, or humiliating; using a person as butt of jokes; abusive and 
offensive remarks. 

2. Physical Bullying: Pushing; shoving; kicking; poking; tripping; assault, or threat of physical assault; 
damage to a person’s work area or property. 

3. Gesture Bullying: Non-verbal threatening gestures, glances that can convey threatening messages. 
4. Exclusion Bullying: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related 

activities. In some cases, failing to be cooperative and working well with co-workers may be 
viewed as bullying. 

5. Cyber Bullying: Bullying that takes place using electronic technology, which includes devices and 
equipment such as cell phones, computers, and tablets as well as communication tools including 
social media sites, text messages, chat, and websites. Examples of cyberbullying include 
transmitting or showing mean-spirited text messages, emails, embarrassing pictures, videos or 

http://www.osbar.org/public/


12  

graphics, rumors sent by email or posted on social networking sites, or creating fake profiles on 
websites for co-workers, managers or supervisors or elected officials. 

This is not a complete list. 
 

Employees who have experienced bullying in violation of this policy, who has witnessed an incident of 
bullying, or who have credible information about an incident, are expected and should bring the matter 
to the attention of their supervisor or a member of management as soon as possible. If conduct in 
violation of this policy is found to have occurred, the City will take prompt, appropriate action, and any 
employee found to have violated this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination of employment. 

 

E. Disability Accommodation Policy 
The City is committed to complying fully with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Oregon’s 
disability accommodation and anti-discrimination laws. The City is also committed to ensuring equal 
opportunity in employment for qualified persons with disabilities. 

Accommodations 

The City will make reasonable efforts to accommodate a qualified applicant or employee with a known 
disability, unless such accommodation creates an undue hardship on the operations of the City. 

Requesting an Accommodation 

A reasonable accommodation is any change or adjustment to a job or work environment that does not 
cause an undue hardship on the department or unit (or, in some cases, City) and that permits a qualified 
applicant or employee with a disability to participate in the job application process, to perform the 
essential functions of a job, or to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment equal to those enjoyed by 
employees without disabilities. For example, a reasonable accommodation may include providing or 
modifying equipment or devices, job restructuring, allowing part-time or modified work schedules, 
reassigning an individual, adjusting or modifying examinations or training materials, providing readers and 
interpreters, or making the workplace readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities. 

Employees should request accommodation as soon as it becomes apparent that reasonable 
accommodation may be necessary to enable the employee to perform the essential duties of a position. 
All requests for accommodation should be made to the Human Resources representative or a Supervisor 
and should specify which essential functions of the employee’s job cannot be performed without 
reasonable accommodation. In most cases, an employee will need to secure medical verification of his or 
her need for reasonable accommodation. 

F. Pregnancy Accommodation Policy 
The City is committed to fully complying with the Pregnant Workers Fairness Act (PWFA), the Oregon 
Pregnancy Disability Act and anti-discrimination laws.    

Employees who are concerned that their pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition (including 
lactation) will impact their ability to work should contact the Human Resources representative to discuss 
their options for continuing to work and, if necessary, leave of absence options. The City will provide one 
or more reasonable accommodations pursuant to this policy for employees with known limitations unless 
such accommodations impose an undue hardship on the City’s operations. 

 
Although this policy refers to “employees,” the City will apply this policy equally to an applicant with 
known limitations caused by pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition. 



13  

Requesting a Pregnancy-Related Accommodation 
 

Employees who are concerned that their pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition will limit 
their ability to perform their duties should request an accommodation as soon as it becomes apparent 
that a reasonable accommodation may be necessary to enable the employee to work. All requests for 
accommodation should be made with the Human Resources representative and should specify which 
essential functions of the employee’s job cannot be performed without reasonable accommodation. In 
most cases, information from the employee’s doctor may be needed to assist the City and the employee 
in finding an effective accommodation, or to verify the employee’s need for an accommodation. Both the 
City and employee must monitor the employee’s accommodation situation and adjust as needed. 

 

No Discrimination, No Retaliation 
 

The City prohibits retaliation or discrimination against any employee who, under this policy: (1) asked for 
information about or requested accommodations; (2) used accommodations provided by the City; or 
(3) needed accommodation. 

Employees who ask about, request, or use accommodations under this policy and applicable Oregon law 
have the right to refuse an accommodation that is unnecessary for the employee to perform the essential 
functions of the job or when the employee doesn’t have a known limitation. Under Oregon law, an 
employer can’t require an employee to use sick leave, OFLA, or FMLA if reasonable accommodation can 
be made that doesn’t impose an undue hardship on the operations of the City. Also, no employee will be 
denied employment opportunities if the denial is based on the need of the City to make reasonable 
accommodations under this policy. 

 
Leave of Absence Options for Pregnant Employees 

 

Employees who are pregnant or experiencing pregnancy-related medical conditions should also be aware 
of their leave of absence options under Oregon’s sick leave law, OFLA, FMLA, and Paid Leave Oregon. See 
Section III Time Off and Leaves of Absence, Section E. Family Medical Leave on page 28 or speak with the 
Human Resources representative. 

G. Reporting Improper or Unlawful Conduct — No Retaliation 
Employees may report reasonable concerns about the City’s compliance with any law, regulation, or 
policy, using one of the methods identified in this policy. The City will not retaliate against employees who 
disclose information that the employee reasonably believes is evidence of: 

• A violation of any federal, Oregon, or local law, rules or regulations by the City; 

• A violation of law, regulation, or standard pertaining to safety and health in the place of 
employment; 

• Mismanagement, gross waste of funds, abuse of authority; 
• A substantial and specific danger to public health and safety resulting from actions of the City ; or 
• The fact that a recipient of government services is subject to a felony or misdemeanor arrest 

warrant. 

Further, in accordance with Oregon law, the City will not prohibit an employee from discussing the 
activities of a public body or a person authorized to act on behalf of a public body with a member of the 
Legislative Assembly, legislative committee staff acting under the direction of a member of the Legislative 
Assembly, any member of the elected governing body of a political subdivision, or an elected auditor of a 
city, county or metropolitan service district. 



14  

Employee Reporting Options 

In addition to the City’s Open Door Policy, an employee who wishes to report improper or unlawful 
conduct should first talk to their supervisor. If you are not comfortable speaking with your supervisor, or 
you are not satisfied with your supervisor’s response, you are encouraged to speak with a Department 
Head or the City Manager. Supervisors and Department Heads are required to inform the City Manager 
about reports of improper or unlawful conduct they receive from employees. 

Reports of unlawful or improper conduct will be kept confidential to the extent allowed by law and 
consistent with the need to conduct an impartial and efficient investigation. 

If the City were to prohibit, discipline, or threaten to discipline an employee for engaging in an activity 
described above, the employee may file a complaint with the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries or 
bring a civil action in court to secure all remedies provided for under Oregon law. 

Additional Protection for Reporting Employees 

Oregon law provides that, in some circumstances, an employee who discloses a good faith and objectively 
reasonable belief of the City’s violation of law will have an “affirmative defense” to any civil or criminal 
charges related to the disclosure. For this defense to apply, the employee’s disclosure must relate to the 
conduct of his/her coworker or supervisor acting within the course and scope of his or her employment. 
The disclosure must have been made to: (1) a state or federal regulatory agency; (2) a law enforcement 
agency; (3) a manager with the City; or (4) an Oregon-licensed attorney who represents the employee 
making the report/disclosure. The defense also only applies in situations where the information disclosed 
was lawfully accessed by the reporting employee. 

Policy Against Retaliation 

The City will not retaliate against employees who make reports or disclosures of information of the type 
described above when the employee reasonably believes he or she is disclosing information about conduct 
that is improper or unlawful, and who lawfully accessed information related to the violation (including 
information that is exempt from disclosure as provided in Oregon law or by City policy). 

In addition, the City prohibits retaliation against an employee because he or she participates in good faith 
in any investigation or proceeding resulting from a report made pursuant to this policy. Further, no City 
employee will be adversely affected because they refused to carry out a directive that constitutes fraud 
or is a violation of local, Oregon, federal or other applicable laws and regulations. The City may take 
disciplinary action (up to and including termination of employment) against an employee who has 
engaged in retaliatory conduct in violation of this policy. 

This policy is not intended to protect an employee from the consequences of his or her own misconduct 
or inadequate performance simply by reporting the misconduct or inadequate performance. Furthermore, 
an employee is not entitled to protections under this policy if the City determines that the report was 
known to be false, or information was disclosed with reckless disregard for its truth or falsity. If such a 
determination is made, an employee may be subject to discipline up to and including termination of 
employment. 

II. Employment Status 

A. Recruitment and Selection 
The City of Silverton complies with all applicable state and federal laws concerning hiring practices and 
procedures. It is City policy to select the most qualified person for each available position. Upon 
Department Head recommendation, the City will consider conducting an internal recruitment for a 
position. The City will comply with federal and state preference for veterans. 



15  

The Human Resources representative will work with the hiring Department Head to determine when a 
recruitment period will be opened for applications, and whether the recruitment will be limited to internal 
candidates or open to the public. If a recall list exists for a classification, it will be exhausted in compliance 
with any collective bargaining agreements or recall rights within this Handbook. All application materials 
will become City property. Internal recruitments are also open to temporary and seasonal employees. 

The Human Resources representative will be responsible for overseeing each phase of the selection 
process. Human Resources may establish a hiring list of qualified applicants that can be used to fill other 
anticipated vacancies, and will determine the duration of the hiring list, but not to exceed six months from 
the date it was created. The list may be discontinued at any time. 

Selection 

Except for appointments reserved to the City Council by statute, ordinance, or charter, the City Manager 
has exclusive authority to select and employ all City employees. 

All job offers with the City are contingent on a background check appropriate for the position, and in 
certain positions, a criminal background check, and any other specific requirements of the position, 
including a pre-employment drug screen. Physical/medical evaluations, psychological testing, and a 
driving record check may be required for some positions. 

Immigration Reform Act 

All employees must be legally authorized to work in the United States. To comply with federal law, 
employment will be contingent upon presentation of acceptable documents verifying identity and 
authorization for employment in the United States. 

Employment of Relatives (Nepotism) 

Nepotism is the showing of favoritism toward a relative. The practice of nepotism in hiring personnel or 
awarding contracts is not allowed by the City. The City recognizes that the employment of relatives in the 
same area of the City has the potential to cause serious conflicts and problems with favoritism and 
employee morale. Therefore, the City shall not hire, promote, or appoint an employee if the position 
exercises direct supervision, appointment, or grievance adjustment authority over a position held by 
immediate relatives of the individual, or an immediate relative would exercise such authority over the 
employee. This applies to promotions, demotions, transfers, reinstatements, and new appointments. 

For purposes of this policy, “immediate relatives” consists of the employee’s spouse, children, 
parents/parents-in-law, grandparents, siblings/siblings-in-law, grandchildren, aunts, uncles, first cousins, 
corresponding in-laws or “step” relations, or individuals with whom the employee resides. In the case of 
employment of more distant relatives and other personal relationships that raise conflict of interest 
issues, the City will use discretion in its decision-making. 

 
In the event one of the above situations occurs, the City will attempt to find a suitable position within the 
City to which one of the affected employees may transfer. If accommodations of this nature are not 
feasible within ninety (90) days, the affected employees will be permitted to determine which of them 
will resign. 

Former Employees/Retiree Rehire 

Former employees who resigned without written notice, who were not in good standing with a 
performance grade of “satisfactory” or better at time of separation, or who were dismissed for disciplinary 
reasons may not be considered for reemployment. 

Former employees who left the City in good standing may be considered for reemployment. Former 



16  

employees who apply to be rehired must complete the same application process and undergo the same 
evaluation process as other applicants. However, special consideration will be given to past job 
performance, the circumstances surrounding termination of previous employment, and the former 
employee’s knowledge of City procedures and functions. 

A former employee who is reemployed will be considered a new employee from the date of 
reemployment. The employee must serve a new 12-month Probationary period and will be considered a 
new employee from the effective date of re-employment for all purposes, including for the purposes of 
measuring benefits. 

Employees as Volunteers 

Consistent with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and Oregon wage and hour law, employees of the City 
may perform volunteer work for the City only if the work is at the employee’s initiative, performed outside 
their regular work hours, without contemplation of payment, and involves performing tasks outside of 
their regular job functions. 

Orientation 

To ensure a positive integration into the City’s operations and to get new employees started on a 
productive and satisfying employment relationship, new employees will be scheduled for an orientation 
by Human Resources on general policies, leave policies, procedures, safety, benefits, and basic 
information on pay. 

Department Heads are responsible to ensure an orientation and training is conducted on the specific 
department, position, and work environment requirements and expectations, including specific safety 
requirements. Whenever possible, employees shall receive on-the-job training under close supervision. 

Probationary Period of Employment 

All new employees, including current employees who are promoted or transferred within the City, are 
hired into a probationary training period of twelve (12) months, except for sworn police officers who will 
serve a probationary period of eighteen (18) months.  If an employee is assigned to modified duty during 
their probationary period as part of a workplace injury and unable to perform all job functions, their 
probationary period will be extended by that amount of time. Represented employees should refer to the 
collective bargaining agreement. 

The probationary period is an extension of the employee selection process.  During this period, the 
employee is considered to be in training and under observation and evaluation by their manager. Evaluation 
of the employee’s adjustment to work tasks, conduct, and other work rules, attendance and job 
responsibilities will be considered during the probationary period. This period gives the employee an 
opportunity to demonstrate satisfactory performance for the position, and provides an opportunity to 
determine the employee’s knowledge, skills and abilities and the requirements of the position match.  It is 
also an opportunity for the employee to decide if the City meets their expectations of an employer. 

During the Probationary period, the City’s goal is to have the employees’ Supervisor conduct three (3) 
month, six (6) month and nine (9) month performance reviews. These reviews will be used to determine 
if the employee is performing the essential functions of the job to department standard and can be 
released from probation at twelve (12) or eighteen (18) months.  Underperforming or not performing to 
standard, is cause to extend probation or terminate employment.   

At or before the end of the probationary period, a decision about the employee’s employment status will 
be made.  The City will decide whether to: (1) Extend the probationary period; (2) Move to regular full-time, 
or regular part-time status; or (3) Terminate employment.   



17  

Employees are not guaranteed any length of employment upon hire or transfer/promotion; both the 
employee and the City may terminate the employment relationship during the probationary period for any 
lawful reason.  Further, completion of the probationary period or continuation of employment after the 
probationary period does not entitle the employee to remain employed by the City for any definite period 
of time.  Both the employee and the City are free to terminate the employment relationship, at any time, 
with or without notice and for any reason not prohibited by law.  

Personnel Files 

All official personnel records will be maintained in the Human Resources office. The Police Department 
also maintains personnel files for its employees, however, upon termination, resignation or retirement, 
personnel files from the Police Department will be turned over to Human Resources for retention in 
accordance with state law. The personnel file will contain information on each employee to meet state 
and federal legal requirements and to assure efficient personnel administration. Records that are exempt 
from disclosure under state and federal law shall be maintained in the Human Resource office and will be 
kept separate if required and confidential if allowed by law. The Finance Department retains information 
necessary for pay administration. 

The City will not release personal information to outside sources without the employee’s written approval, 
unless legally required to do so. Verifications of employment dates, position, salary, and title may be 
provided without prior approval of the employee. A written request by the employee to review their 
personnel file can be made to Human Resources. Any copy of the file will be supplied within 45 days of 
the written request. Requests by persons other than the employee will be handled through a public 
records process and subject to applicable state public records laws. 

B. Employee and Volunteer Classification 
All employees are classified as regular full-time, regular part-time, or seasonal/ temporary, as explained 
below. The City uses Employee and Volunteer classifications to determine compensation, benefit eligibility 
and other conditions. Please refer to these definitions as you read the City’s policies. If you have any 
questions about your position or classification, please contact your Supervisor or the Human Resources 
representative. 

All employees are classified according to federal and state regulations and wage and hour laws as 
“Exempt” or “Non-exempt”. Exempt employees are not entitled to overtime compensation. Non- exempt 
employees are eligible to receive overtime compensation. The appropriate designation of each City 
position or when a position changes substantially is made by Human Resources with input from the 
Department Head and approval of the City Manager. Also refer to Classifications and Compensation, 
below. 

Employee and Volunteer Classifications are as follows: 

Regular Full-Time: A position that is scheduled for forty (40) continuous hours per workweek for a period 
longer than six (6) months. Regular Full-Time status is achieved at the conclusion of the initial or promoted 
probationary period. This appointment is made by the Department Head, and carries with it the rights, 
privileges, and protections extended to the employee by this Handbook. 

Regular Part-Time: A position that is scheduled for a yearly average of less than forty (40) hours per week 
for a period longer than six (6) months. Those part-time employees scheduled for a yearly average of more 
than twenty (20) hours per week are eligible for pro-rated City benefits. Regular Part-Time status is 
achieved at the conclusion of the initial or promoted probationary period. This appointment is made by 
the Department Head, and carries with it the rights, privileges, and protections extended to the employee 
by this Handbook on a pro-rated basis, depending upon the regularly scheduled hours. 



18  

 

Temporary/Seasonal: An appointment may be made to prevent undue delay or interference with 
necessary public services, or when a short-term increase in workload requires additional employees, 
provided budgeted funds are available. Temporary/Seasonal employees are eligible to receive sick leave 
in accordance with state laws. Temporary/Seasonal positions normally will last no longer than six (6) 
months, or 600 hours, whichever comes first. 

Volunteer: An appointment, as defined in ORS 657.015, to which the appointee volunteers or donates 
services without receiving or expecting remuneration. Volunteer appointments are not eligible for 
benefits, except that the City Manager may authorize workers’ compensation coverage for specified 
categories of volunteers. Refer to the City’s Volunteer Handbook. 

C. Classification and Compensation 
Every position in the City is allocated a classification and salary range. Each position classification has a 
position description containing the specific duties and responsibilities of the position. Position 
descriptions are intended to be explanatory and flexible. Any employee may be asked to perform tasks 
not specifically included in the position description. Department Heads are responsible for ensuring the 
content of the descriptions are current and retain the ability to modify specific and/or daily tasks as 
required, including assigning employees’ higher-level duties for limited periods of time. Human Resources 
will maintain the official record of all active position descriptions and will ensure employees are notified 
of their position classification. 

Department Heads are responsible for ensuring that the number of current employees does not exceed 
the number of budgeted positions. 

Compensation levels will be evaluated against the comparable current labor market and will be subject to 
available funds and the City budget. For purposes of this policy, compensation includes both salary and 
benefits. Compensation levels will be based on all relevant information including, but not limited to: 
internal equity, compensation provided by other employers for comparable work, and the City’s financial 
condition. 

Classification Review and Reclassification 

If an employee is to be assigned a new ongoing duty or set of duties, the Department Head will review the 
classification specifications to determine if the duties are appropriate for that employee’s classification. 
After a review, if there continues to be a question about the appropriateness of the duty, the Director will 
request a determination by Human Resources prior to the assignment of the duty to the employee. Human 
Resources allocates positions to the appropriate classification and may make revisions in the Classification 
System including the reclassification of existing positions, addition of new classes, combination and/or 
revision of existing classes, and deletion of obsolete classes, with review and approval of the City 
Manager. 

If an employee believes their duties and responsibilities have changed significantly since their position 
classification, they may request a review of their position classification by submitting a written request to 
the Department Head. The Department Head will forward the request to Human Resources, who will then 
conduct an analysis of the duties and responsibilities of the position and determine the appropriate 
classification with the approval of the City Manager. 

When an employee’s position has been re-classified to a higher-level position, the employee will be 
assigned to the position without a competitive recruitment process and will not be required to serve a 
transitional probationary period. 

Nothing in this section affects any rights under collective bargaining agreements or other employment 



19  

agreements. 

D. The Workweek 
The workweek is defined as a seven (7)-day period commencing at 12:01 a.m. Saturday and ending at 
12:00 midnight Friday. 

E. Meal Periods and Rest Breaks 
Non-exempt employees working six (6) or more hours are required to take an uninterrupted meal period 
of at least thirty (30) minutes about midway through the workday. The length of time designated 
for meal periods may vary from department to department and position to position but in no event will 
be less than 30 minutes. Employees will be assigned meal periods of either thirty (30) minutes or one 
hour. All meal periods are unpaid, except for Sworn Police Officers. If, because of the nature or 
circumstances of the work, an employee is required to remain on duty or to perform any tasks during the 
meal period, the employee must inform his or her Supervisor before the end of the shift so the City may 
pay the employee for that work. 

The City also provides all non-exempt employees with a fifteen (15) minute paid rest break period for 
every four (4) hours worked. Rest breaks should be taken as nearly as possible to the middle of each four 
(4) hours worked and must be uninterrupted. The City will accommodate employees requiring lactating 
breaks as set forth below. 

Break and lunch period times may be adjusted by a Supervisor due to emergencies or operational needs 
of the City but any adjustment must be approved in advance by the employee’s Supervisor. In the event 
of an emergency the adjustment may be approved after the fact by the employee’s Supervisor. 

Meal periods and rest breaks are mandatory and are not optional. An employee’s meal period and rest 
break(s) may not be taken together as one break. Meal periods and rest breaks may not be “skipped” to 
come in late or leave early. An employee who fails to abide by this policy and applicable laws may be 
subjected to discipline, up to and including termination. 

Failure to adhere to state mandated rest and meal periods without approval could result in discipline of 
an employee. 

F. Rest Breaks for Expression of Breast Milk 
The City is committed to complying with the Oregon Rest Periods for Expression of Breast Milk and the 
federal Providing Urgent Maternal Protections for Nursing Mother (PUMP) Act.  

The City will provide reasonable rest periods to accommodate an employee who needs to express milk for 
her child who is eighteen (18) months or younger. If possible, the employee will take the rest periods to 
express milk at the same time as the rest breaks or meal periods that are otherwise provided to the 
employee. If not possible, or if the employee is exempt from overtime laws, the employee is entitled to 
take reasonable time as needed to express breast milk. 

The City will treat the rest breaks used by the employee for expressing milk as paid rest breaks up to the 
amount of time the City is required to provide as paid rest breaks and/or meal periods under applicable 
personnel rules or collective bargaining agreements. Additional time needed beyond the paid rest breaks 
and/or meal periods may be taken as unpaid time. 

If an employee takes unpaid rest breaks, the City may, at the discretion of the employee’s supervisor, 
allow the employee to work before or after her normal shift to make up the amount of time used during 
the unpaid rest periods. The City will allow, but not require, an employee to substitute paid leave time for 
unpaid rest periods taken in accordance with this rule. 



20  

The City will make a reasonable effort to provide the employee with a private location within close 
proximity to the employee’s work area to express milk. For purposes of this policy, “close proximity” 
means within walking distance from the employee’s work area that does not appreciably shorten the rest 
or meal period. A “private location” is a place, other than a public restroom or toilet stall, near the 
employee’s work area for the employee to express milk concealed from view and without intrusion by 
other employees or the public. 

If a private location is not within close proximity to the employee’s work area, the City will identify a 
private location the employee can travel to. The travel time to and from the private location will not be 
counted as a part of the employee’s break period. 
Notice 

An employee who intends to express milk during work hours must give their Supervisor or the Human 
Resources representative reasonable oral or written notice of her intention to do so in order to allow the 
City time to make any preparations necessary for compliance with this rule. 

Storage 

Employees are responsible for storing expressed milk. Employees may bring a cooler or other insulated 
food container to work for storing the expressed milk. If an office provides access to refrigeration for 
personal use, an employee who expresses milk during work hours may use the available refrigeration. 

No Discrimination, No Retaliation 
The City prohibits discrimination and harassment against any employee who, under this policy, asked for 
information about or requested or used break time to express milk.  Conduct that violates the City’s no-
harassment and no-discrimination policies will not be tolerated and may subject an employee to discipline, 
up to and including termination.  See the No-Harassment Policy on page 9.   

 
Employees who have experienced discrimination or harassment or believe the City is not compliant with 
federal or Oregon law regarding rest breaks to express milk, should discuss it with Human Resources or the 
City Manager as soon as possible.     

G. Overtime and Compensatory Time 
If your position is eligible for overtime, you must have prior approval from your Supervisor before working 
overtime. If you are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, you should refer to the applicable 
section of the agreement for information regarding overtime pay. Exempt employees are paid a salary that 
covers all their hours worked and are not entitled to additional pay for overtime. 

Sergeants follow the Silverton Police Officers Association (SPOA) agreement with regards to overtime and 
compensatory time; compensatory time may be banked up to a maximum of 40 hours. 

Supervisors and employees will make every effort to keep the hours worked to the regular 40-hour work 
week. This may be accomplished by flexing the hours worked during the week with the Supervisor’s 
approval. Supervisors should attempt to avoid overtime and accumulated compensatory time by 
employees. 

Non-exempt employees are eligible for overtime compensation. Compensation shall be paid at the rate 
of time-and-one-half for all hours worked, to the nearest quarter, more than forty hours in one workweek. 

Compensatory time, in lieu of overtime pay, may be granted in the event the City does not have budgeted 
funds to cover overtime payments. Compensatory time will be earned at one and one-half times the 
number of hours worked when you work more than 40 hours in the workweek and may be accrued up to 
a maximum of forty (40) hours. Once the forty-hour maximum has been reached, the employee will 



21  

receive compensation at the rate of time-and-one-half. 

H. Timekeeping Requirements 
All non-exempt employees must accurately record time according to the procedure approved by the 
Finance Department. 

Salaried exempt employees are also required to record their time. These employees will be instructed on 
this process. 

I. General Payroll Policies 
As a City employee you will typically be paid on a bi-weekly basis. The pay period ends on Friday at 12:00 
midnight and employees are paid the second Friday after a pay period ends for the completion of work 
performed during the previous pay period. If a regularly scheduled payday falls on a holiday, paychecks 
will be issued on the last workday before the holiday. The City reserves the right to deviate from this 
schedule due to extenuating circumstances, such as a natural disaster. 

The City does not provide advance payments of salary or loans from salary to be earned. Net pay will be 
directly deposited into the employee’s bank account. If an employee requests to pick up his/her check from 
the City, only the employee named on the paycheck will be allowed to do so unless the employee provides 
written permission to the City for someone else to receive the check. 

J. Statement Regarding Pay Practices 

The City makes all efforts to comply with applicable Oregon and federal wage and hour laws. In the event 
you believe that the City has made any improper deductions, has failed to pay you for all hours worked or 
for overtime, has failed to pay you in accordance with the law, or has failed to properly calculate your 
wages in any way, you must immediately report the error to the Finance Director. The City will investigate 
all reports of improper pay practices and will reimburse employees for any improper deductions or 
omissions. No employee will suffer retaliation or discrimination for reporting an error or complaint 
regarding the City’s pay practices. 

K. Reporting Changes to an Employee’s Personal Data 
Because personnel records are used to administer pay and benefits, and other employment decisions, 
employees are responsible for keeping information current regarding changes in name, address, phone 
number, exemptions, dependents, beneficiary, etc. Keeping your personnel records current can be 
important to you with regard to pay, deductions, benefits and other matters. If you have changes in any 
of the following items, please notify the Human Resources representative to ensure that the proper 
updates/paperwork are completed as quickly as possible: 

• Name 
• Marital status/Domestic Partnership (for purposes of benefit eligibility determination only) 
• Address or telephone number 
• Dependents 
• Person(s) to be notified in case of emergency and their contact information 
• Other information having a bearing on your employment 
• Tax withholding 
• Emergency contact information for yourself so that the City may contact you related to work 

emergencies, including a personal email address 
• Bank account information for payroll purposes 

Employees may not intentionally withhold information from the City about the items listed above in order 



22  

to continue to receive benefits or anything of value for themselves or anyone else. Upon request, the City 
may require employees to provide proof of marital status/domestic partnership status. Employees who 
violate this policy may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination. 

L. Pay Administration 
The City of Silverton values its employees and is committed to compensating them for their work efforts 
and results. It is the City’s intent to provide a competitive compensation package that will attract, retain, 
and motivate employees and be administered consistently throughout the City. The compensation of 
employees covered by collective bargaining agreements will be governed by the terms of the applicable 
agreement. All compensation is based upon budgetary considerations. 

Rates of Pay 

The rate of pay may be hourly or monthly depending on the conditions of employment. Hourly rates for 
40-hour per week employees are determined by dividing the annual salary by 2,080. 

New Employees 

New employees normally start at the beginning of the salary range for their position. Upon successful 
completion of their Probationary Period and a successful performance evaluation, a step increase may be 
recommended by the Department Head and authorized by the City Manager. The Human Resources 
representative will prepare a Personnel Action Form for the increase in the base pay. 

Salary Increases 

It is the City’s policy to reward employees with increases in pay for their dedication to work, extra effort, 
and contributory performance. Wage increases with the City are not automatic, and are made at the 
discretion of the City. Employees will be eligible for pay increases based on but not limited to performance, 
attendance, customer service, safety on the job, interpersonal skills, and contributions to the City. For 
additional information, please review the most recent version of the Step Increases and Performance 
Policy 2.6. 

Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) 

Employees may be granted COLAs on an annual basis as a modification to base salary. The City is not 
obligated to provide COLAs, and any potential increase is subject to budget appropriation and City 
Manager directive. 

Longevity Pay 

It is the City’s policy to celebrate employees’ time with the City. Employees who achieve ten (10) years of 
continuous service with the City of Silverton will on their one-hundred and twenty-first (121st) month, be 
compensated fifty-dollars ($50) per month. 

Employees who achieve fifteen (15) years of continuous service with the City of Silverton will on their one 
hundred and eighty-first (181st) month, be compensated with an additional fifty dollars ($50) per month 
for a total of one hundred ($100) per month. 

Employees who achieve twenty (20) years of continuous service with the City of Silverton will, on their 
two hundred and forty-first (241st) month, be compensated with an additional fifty dollars ($50) per 
month, for a total of one hundred and fifty dollars ($150) per month. 

Longevity pay will be reflected as a line item on the employee's wage statement. 

Compensation Studies 

To ensure that pay and benefits are reasonable, compensation studies will be conducted on a periodic 



23  

basis. The information obtained will be considered and, when applicable, salary ranges and benefits will 
be adjusted accordingly by the City Manager. The collection of data will be by the City Manager or his/her 
designated representative. Department Heads shall notify the City Manager when conditions warrant a 
study of special cases. 

Transfers 

If you are transferred to a position with the same salary range, there will be no adjustment of salary. 

Promotional Increases 

Upon promotion, an employee is eligible for a pay adjustment to the first step of the new range. If the 
employee’s pay already exceeds this step, the employee will be placed at the next step of the new range. 

Higher Classification Work 

At the discretion and direction of the City Manager, employees assigned to work in a higher classification 
for periods of two (2) weeks or longer (excludes periods for vacation, sick leave, workshops, etc.) may 
receive a five percent (5%) wage differential. To receive this premium pay, the employee must be assigned 
the full range of duties and have full authority and responsibilities of the position being filled. This 
premium does not apply in situations where you are performing higher level duties for the purposes of 
professional development. 

Overpayment 

The City has a legal obligation to collect wages or reimbursement for overpayments made to the 
employee. The City must be able to show the employee received more than the employee was due for 
hours actually worked, or more than what should have been appropriately reimbursed. Upon verification, 
the City will notify the employee of the overpayment and work with the employee on an agreeable 
repayment plan to be formalized in writing. If an employee should separate from their employment from 
the City before the overpayment is recovered, the final balance will be deducted from the employee’s final 
paycheck. 

Underpayment 

In the event it has been determined that an employee has been underpaid, the underpayment will be 
handled according to ORS 652.120(5). Payment arrangements to pay the unpaid amount will be discussed 
and mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Finance Department. 

Payroll Deductions 

Certain mandatory and elective deductions are made from your pay and are noted on the paycheck stub. 
Only those deductions authorized by law and those you have authorized in writing are made. The City is 
required by law to recognize certain court orders, liens, and wage assignments to an employee’s paycheck. 
When the City receives notice of a pending garnishment or wage assignment, the Finance Department is 
compelled to comply with such valid wage garnishments. 

Final Paycheck 

Final paychecks will be in paper form and distributed in accordance with federal and state laws. 

City-Issued Credit Cards 

Employees are generally encouraged to pay for City-related business transactions through regular 
accounts payable procedures rather than with credit cards. However, the City may issue credit cards to 
facilitate City-related business transactions. Credit cards are issued at the discretion of the Department 
Head with the approval of City Manager. No cardholder may procure goods or services for personal 
purposes using the City-issued credit cards. 



24  

Lost or stolen credit cards must be reported immediately to the Finance Department. All credit cards must 
be returned to the Finance Department upon termination of employment. Contact the Finance 
Department for all City-issued credit card questions or concerns. 

Bilingual Pay 

Employees who are certified by the City for bilingual proficiency shall receive three percent (3%) added to 
their base wage. The City retains the discretion to determine the need for certification and the criteria 
for certification. The City also reserves the right to contract out language services as it deems necessary 
and to determine which languages are eligible for bilingual pay. 

 

III. Time Off and Leaves of Absence 

A. Attendance, Punctuality and Reporting Absences 
Employees are expected to report to work as scheduled, on time and be prepared to start work. 
Employees are also expected to remain at work for their entire work schedule, except for unpaid break 
periods or when required to leave on authorized City business, and perform the work assigned to or 
requested of them. Late arrivals, early departures, or other absences from scheduled hours are disruptive 
and must be avoided. 

Unless specified otherwise in a policy below, employees who will be unexpectedly absent from work for 
any reason or who will not show up for work on time must inform their Supervisor via phone no later than 
30 minutes before the start of the employee’s shift. Not reporting to work and not calling to report the 
absence is a no-call/no-show and is a serious matter. Please see “Improper Conduct” below. 

B. Vacation 
It is the policy of the City to provide each benefits-eligible employee with vacation time on a periodic basis. 
The amount of vacation to which an employee becomes entitled is determined by the employee’s length 
of service as of his or her hire date. 

Eligible employees accrue vacation leave based on years of continuous service according to the table 
below. Employees with a hire date between the 1st and 15th of the month will accrue vacation leave 
time for that month. Employees with a hire date on the 16th or later of the month will begin accruing 
vacation leave the following month. Employees are not eligible to take vacation until they have completed 
(6) months of employment. 

 
Years of 
Service 

Monthly 
Accrual (hours) for fulltime employee 

0 thru year 4 
(through month 48) 

8 

5 thru year 9 
(months 49 – 108) 

10 

10 thru year 14 
(months 109-168) 

12 

year 15+ 
(month 169+) 

16 

 
• Part-time employees regularly scheduled to work at least twenty (20) hours or more per week are 

eligible for pro-rated vacation and sick leave accrual based on hours hired to work and will begin 
to accrue leave as per eligible employees. 



25  

• Vacation leave will be deposited into the employee’s bank following the month in which it was 
earned. Vacation must be earned before it may be used. 

• After 80 contiguous hours of unpaid leave, vacation does not accrue (PLO is deemed unpaid leave by 
the City). 

• Regular employees that leave City service shall be entitled to payment for unused vacation leave 
at their current rate of pay. In the case of death, compensation for accrued vacation leave shall 
be paid to the beneficiary of the employee. 

• Employees should strive to be at or below two hundred forty (240) hours by July 1 of each year. 
Employees shall schedule vacation to use any amount above two hundred forty (240) hours. If two 
(2) months have passed and the employee has not submitted a plan to use the hours by the end 
of the third (3) month or has not used the hours in excess of two hundred and forty (240), the 
excess vacation shall be forfeited to the City. If the work of the City interferes with an employee’s 
ability to use this vacation, the balance over two hundred forty (240) hours may be paid with the 
City Manager’s approval. 

 
Procedure for Scheduling Vacation, Executive, and/or Comp Leave 

A regular full-time employee desiring to take leave must provide the City appropriate advance notice.  To 
this end, an employee must request their preferences for use of leave in accordance with the following 
schedule: 

Reason or Duration of vacation, executive 
and/or comp time 

Required Notice and Approval* 

One day Minimum of 24 hours advance notice to (and approval from) your 
direct supervisor and in his or her absence, the City Manager 

Two to Three Days Two weeks’ advance notice to (and approval from) your direct 
supervisor. 

Four or more Days 30 days’ advance notice to (and approval from) your direct supervisor. 

Requests for vacation time should be made using Caselle Connect.  Vacation must be taken in a manner 
that will not materially and unreasonably interfere with City’s operations. Although an employee’s vacation 
preferences will be given deference, City does not guarantee that each employee will be permitted to use 
his or her vacation during the period(s) preferred by the employee. The City Manager may waive or accept 
less advance notice than required under extenuating circumstances. 

*The Collective Bargaining Agreement, Section (2) Vacation Scheduling, for the Silverton Police Officer’s 
Association supersedes this procedure. 

C. Holiday Leave 
Eligible employees working forty (40) hours per week shall receive eight (8) hours of paid time off on each 
of the holidays listed below which falls within their work week and on which they perform no work. 
Employees working between twenty (20) and forty (40) hours per week will receive Holiday Leave on a 
prorated basis based on hours hired to work. 

If an eligible hourly employee works on any of the holidays listed, they shall receive time-and-one-half 
compensation for all hours worked in addition to the holiday pay. If a holiday falls on an employee’s 
regular day off, he/she shall receive holiday hours to be taken at the option of the employee, subject to 
the operating requirements of the department and Supervisor approval. 

 

 



26  

 

The holidays observed are: 

# MONTH DAY HOLIDAY 
1 January 1st New Year’s Day 
2 January 3rd Monday Martin Luther King Day 
3 February 3rd Monday President’s Day 
4 May Last Monday Memorial Day 
5 June 19th Juneteenth National Independence 

Day 
6 July 4th Independence Day 
7 September 1st Monday Labor Day 
8 November 11th Veteran’s Day 
9 November 4th Thursday Thanksgiving Day 
10 November 4th Friday Day after Thanksgiving Day 
11 December 25th Christmas Day 
12 N/A N/A Floating Holiday 

A holiday that falls on a weekend will be observed on either the preceding Friday or the following Monday 
to coincide with local custom. The exception to this rule is the Police Sergeants, who take holidays on the 
observed day. 

If a holiday occurs during an employee’s vacation or sick leave, the time shall be charged as holiday leave. 

Floating Holiday 

Employees may select 1 additional day off with pay (known as “floating holiday”) during a fiscal year. 

Employees must coordinate requests for Floating Holiday with their Supervisor. 

The floating holiday is awarded on July 1 of each year. New employees receive their floating holiday during 
their first pay period. If an employee has not used the Floating Holiday prior to the last day of June in the 
year in the fiscal year any remaining unused hours will be added to the employee’s vacation hours. 

D. Sick Leave 
The City of Silverton provides eligible employees with sick leave in accordance with Oregon’s Paid Sick 
Leave Law (not the same as Paid Leave Oregon). This policy will be updated as necessary to reflect changes 
in and to ensure compliance with Oregon law. 

Employees with questions about this policy may contact the Human Resources representative. Please also 
refer to the Oregon Sick Leave Law poster that is posted in City Hall and all worksites and is incorporated 
here by reference. 

Eligibility and Accrual of Paid Sick Leave 

Oregon’s Paid Sick Leave Law and this policy covers all employees. Sick leave runs concurrently with 
Oregon Family Medical Leave, federal Family and Medical Leave and other leave where allowed by law. 

Eligible employees accrue sick leave at the rate of 8 hours per month. Employees with a hire date between 
the 1st and 15th of the month will accrue sick leave for that month. Employees with a hire date on the 
16th or later of the month will begin accruing sick leave the following month. 

Part-time employees regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) hours or more per week are eligible for pro-
rated sick leave accrual based on hours hired to work and will begin to accrue leave as per eligible 
employees. 



27  

Part-time employees scheduled to work less than 20 hours per week will accrue in accordance with 
Oregon’s Sick Leave Law. 
 
Temporary and seasonal employees are eligible for pro-rated sick leave in accordance with State laws, 
with a maximum annual accrual limit of eighty (80) hours. 

 
• After 80 contiguous hours of unpaid leave, sick leave does not accrue (Paid Leave Oregon is deemed 

unpaid leave by the City). 

Pay Rate and Carryover 

Paid sick leave will be paid at the employee’s regular rate of pay. Exempt employees are presumed to 
work 40 hours in each workweek for purposes of their sick leave accrual unless their normal workweek is 
less than 40 hours, in which case sick leave is accrued based on the employee’s normal workweek. 
Generally, sick leave pay will be included in the paycheck for the next payroll period after sick leave is 
used, provided the employee submits adequate documentation verifying that the absence was for a 
qualifying reason as defined in the “Use of Sick Leave” section below. 

Sick leave is meant to be used or carried over; any unused sick leave will not be cashed out upon separation 
from employment for any reason, including death. If an employee leaves employment and is rehired 
within 180 days, the employee’s sick leave balance will be restored. 

Use of Sick Leave 

Accrued paid sick leave may be used for any of the following reasons: 

• For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of a mental or physical illness, injury or health condition or 
need for preventive medical care. This is available for the employee or his/her covered family 
member. 
a. “Family member” means “Family member” means:  

- The spouse of an eligible employee;  

- A child of an eligible employee or the child’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- A parent of an eligible employee or the parent’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- A sibling or stepsibling of an eligible employee or the sibling’s or stepsibling’s spouse or domestic 
partner;  

- A grandparent of an eligible employee or the grandparent’s spouse or domestic partner;  

-  A grandchild of an eligible employee or the grandchild’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- The domestic partner of an eligible employee; or  

- Any individual related by blood or affinity whose close association with an eligible employee is 
the equivalent of a family relationship. 

 
• For any purpose allowed under the Oregon Family Leave Act, including bereavement leave. 
• If the employee, or the employee’s minor child or dependent, is a victim of domestic violence, 

harassment, sexual assault or stalking as defined by Oregon law and requires leave for any of the 
purposes under Oregon’s domestic violence leave law (ORS 659A.272). 

• In the event of certain public health emergencies or other reasons specified under Oregon’s sick 
leave law. 
 
 



28  

Employees absent from work for a qualifying reason must use accrued sick time hours for that reason 
and on each subsequent day of absence unless they are utilizing Paid Leave Oregon (PLO). 

Paid sick leave may be taken in increments to the nearest quarter hour.  

Employee Notice of Need for Sick Leave 

Foreseeable. If the need for sick leave is foreseeable or planned, an employee must notify their Supervisor 
as soon as practicable before the leave is to begin.  Generally, an employee must provide at least 10 days’ 
notice for foreseeable sick leave. The request shall include the anticipated duration of the sick leave, if 
possible. Employees must make reasonable effort to schedule foreseeable sick leave time in a manner 
that minimally disrupts the operations of the City. Employees must notify the Human Resource Manager 
and their Supervisor of any change in the expected duration of leave as soon as known. 

Unforeseeable: If the need for sick leave is unforeseeable, the employee must notify their Supervisor as 
soon as practicable and comply with the City’s call-in procedures. Generally, an employee should notify 
their Supervisor of unforeseeable sick leave at least 30 minutes prior to the beginning of his/her shift,  

An employee must contact his/her supervisor daily while on sick leave unless an extended period of sick 
leave has been prearranged and approved by the supervisor, when off work on protected leave. The 
employee shall inform his/her supervisor of any change in the duration of sick leave as soon as practicable. 
Any change in the duration of sick leave, the Human Resource Manager shall be notified as soon as 
feasible. 

If an employee fails to provide proper notice or make a reasonable effort to schedule leave in a manner 
that is only minimally disruptive to the organization and operations, the City may deny the use and legal 
protections of sick leave.  

Sick Leave Documentation 

If an employee takes more than three consecutive scheduled workdays as sick leave, the City may require 
reasonable documentation showing that the employee was absent for an approved reason. Reasonable 
documentation includes documentation signed by a healthcare provider, or documentation for victims of 
domestic violence, harassment, sexual assault, or stalking. 

Sick Leave Abuse 

If the City suspects sick leave abuse, including but not limited to repeated use of unscheduled sick leave 
or repeated use of sick leave adjacent to weekends, holidays, vacations and paydays, the City may require 
documentation from a healthcare provider. Employees found to have abused sick leave as described here 
may also be subject to discipline, up to and including termination. 

E. Family Medical Leave 
The following is a summary of Family and Medical Leave policy and procedures under the federal Family 
Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA). Generally, and as will be discussed, 
eligible employees are entitled to 12 weeks of unpaid leave of absence for the reasons identified below. 
Federal and state law prohibit retaliation against an employee with respect to hiring or any other term or 
condition of employment because the employee asked about, requested, or used Family and Medical 
Leave. In all cases, applicable Oregon and federal laws, rules, policies, and collective bargaining 
agreements govern the employee’s and the City’s rights and obligations, not this policy. 

Employees seeking further information should contact the Human Resources representative. Please also 
refer to the “Employee Rights and Responsibilities Under the Family Medical Leave Act” and “Oregon 
Family Leave Act” notices posted in City Hall and other City worksites, which are incorporated here by 



29  

reference. Employee must take leave under PLO/OFLA/FMLA concurrently if it is for the same qualifying 
event. 

Definitions 

Child/Son or Daughter 

For purposes of OFLA, “child” includes a biological, adopted, foster or stepchild, the child of a registered 
same-sex domestic partner or a child with whom the employee is in a relationship of in loco parentis. For 
purposes of OFLA Serious Health Condition Leave, the “child” can be any age; for all other types of leave 
under OFLA, the “child” must be under the age of 18 or over 18 if incapable of self-care. 
A “son or daughter” is defined by FMLA as a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal ward, 
or a child of a person standing in loco parentis who is either under 18 years of age or is 18 years of age or 
older and “incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability” at the time FMLA leave is to 
commence. FMLA also provides separate definitions of “son or daughter” for FMLA military family leave 
that are not restricted by age — see below. 

Eligible Employee 

OFLA – To qualify for OFLA leave for a Serious Health Condition or Sick Child Leave, an employee must 
have been employed for at least 180 days and worked an average of at least 25 hours per week. To qualify 
for Parental Leave under OFLA, an employee must have been employed for at least 180 days (no per-week 
hourly minimum is required). 

OMFLA — For purposes of Oregon Military Family Leave Act leave, the employee need have only worked 
20 hours per week (no minimum length of employment required). A different calculation method applies 
for reemployed service members under USERRA who seek OMFLA leave; see the Human Resources 
representative for more information. 

FMLA — Employees are eligible for FMLA leave if they have worked for a covered employer for at least 
one year (which may be based on separate stints of employment) and for 1,250 hours during the 12 
months preceding the date leave is to begin. They must also be employed at a worksite where 50 or more 
employees are employed by the employer within 75 miles of that worksite. 

Leave under Oregon and federal law will run concurrently when permitted. 

Family Medical Leave 

This includes all the types of leave identified in the section below, entitled “Reasons for Taking Leave,” 
unless otherwise specified (see PLO for the program’s definitions). 

Family Member 
• For purposes of FMLA, “family member” is defined as a spouse, parent or a “son” or “daughter” 

(defined above). 
 

For purposes of OFLA, “family member” includes: 

- The spouse of an eligible employee;  

- A child of an eligible employee or the child’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- A parent of an eligible employee or the parent’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- A sibling or stepsibling of an eligible employee or the sibling’s or stepsibling’s spouse or domestic 
partner;  

- A grandparent of an eligible employee or the grandparent’s spouse or domestic partner;  



30  

-  A grandchild of an eligible employee or the grandchild’s spouse or domestic partner;  

- The domestic partner of an eligible employee; or  

- Any individual related by blood or affinity whose close association with an eligible employee is 
the equivalent of a family relationship. 
 

Serious Health Condition 

“Serious health condition” is defined under FMLA and OFLA as an illness, injury, impairment, or physical 
or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing 
treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing 
the functions of the employee’s job or prevents the qualified family member from participating in school 
or other daily activities. Under OFLA only, “serious health condition” includes any period of absence for 
the donation of a body part, organ, or tissue, including preoperative or diagnostic services, surgery, post-
operative treatment, and recovery. 

Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity 
of more than three consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider 
or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a 
chronic condition. 

Other conditions may meet the definition of a “serious health condition”; see the Human Resources 
representative for more information. The common cold, flu, earaches, upset stomach, minor ulcers, 
headaches other than migraine, routine dental or orthodontia problems, periodontal disease, and 
cosmetic treatments (without complications), are examples of conditions that are not generally defined 
as serious health conditions. 

Reasons for Taking Leave 

Family Medical Leave may be taken under any of the following circumstances: 

• Call to Active Duty Leave: Eligible employees with a spouse, son, daughter or parent on active duty 
or call to active duty status in the regular Armed Forces, National Guard or Reserves in support of 
a contingency operation may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain “qualifying 
exigencies.” “Qualifying exigencies” may include attending certain military events, arranging for 
alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain 
counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings. This type of leave is 
available under FMLA only; however, under OFLA, specifically under the Oregon Military Family 
Leave Act, during a period of military conflict, as defined by the statute, eligible employees with a 
spouse or registered same-sex domestic partner who is a member of the Armed Forces, National 
Guard, or military reserve forces of the U.S. and who has been notified of an impending call or 
order to active duty, or who has been deployed, is entitled to a total of 14 days of unpaid leave 
per deployment after the military spouse or registered same-sex domestic partner has been 
notified of an impending call or order to active duty and before deployment and when the military 
person is on leave from deployment. 

• Employee’s Serious Health Condition Leave: To recover from or seek treatment for an employee’s 
serious health condition, including pregnancy-related conditions and prenatal care. 

• Family Member’s Serious Health Condition Leave: To care for a family member with a serious 
health condition. 

• Parental Leave: For the birth of a child or for the placement of a child under 18 years of age for 
adoption or foster care. Parental leave must be completed within 12 months of the birth of a 
newborn or placement of an adopted or foster child. 



31  

• Pregnancy Disability Leave: For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or birth. 
• Service member Family Leave: Eligible employees may take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a 

“covered service member” during a single 12-month period. A “covered service member” is a 
current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who 
has a serious injury or illness incurred in the line of duty on active duty that may render the service 
member medically unfit to perform his or her duties for which the service member is undergoing 
medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; or is in outpatient status; or is on the temporary 
disability retired list. Under some circumstances, a veteran will be considered a “covered service 
member.” This type of leave is available under FMLA only. 

• Sick Child Leave: To care for a child who suffers from an illness or injury that does not qualify as a 
serious health condition but that requires home care. This type of leave does not provide for 
routine medical and dental appointments or issues surrounding the availability of childcare when 
the child is not ill or injured. Sick child leave is not available if another family member is able and 
willing to care for the child. This type of leave is available only to employees who are eligible under 
OFLA. 

• Bereavement Leave: This type of leave is addressed under OFLA; see the Bereavement Leave 
Policy for more information. 

 
Length of Leave 

In any One-Year calculation period, eligible employees may take: 

• Up to twelve (12) weeks of Parental Leave, Serious Health Condition Leave (employee’s own or 
family member), Sick Child Leave, or Call to Active Duty Leave; 

• In some cases, an additional twelve (12) weeks of leave may be available to an eligible employee 
for an illness, injury or condition related to pregnancy or childbirth that disables the employee; 
and 

• In some cases, employees who take the entire twelve (12) weeks of OFLA Parental Leave will be 
entitled to an additional twelve (12) weeks of Sick Child Leave. 

When leave is taken for Service member Family Leave, an eligible employee may take up to 26 weeks of 
leave during the One-Year Calculation Period to care for the service member. During the One-Year 
Calculation Period in which Service member Family Leave is taken, an eligible employee is entitled to a 
combined total of 26 weeks of FMLA Leave (some of which may include other types of FMLA-specific 
leaves of absence). 

One-Year Calculation Period 
 
The “12-month period” during which leave is available (also referred to as the “One-Year Calculation 
Period”) will be the “forward-looking” method and determines the benefit year. 
 
A benefit year is a 52-week (one-year) period that begins on the Sunday before the day you start your 
leave.  For example, if you start your leave claim on Monday, Oct.2, 2024, your benefit year starts on 
Sunday, Oct.1, 2024, and ends on Saturday, Sept. 28, 2025.  You can claim up to 12 weeks of leave during 
this time frame. On Sept. 29, 2025, your leave amount resets, which means that you can apply to start 
another benefit year if you have a new or continuing qualifying event and get a new 12 weeks of benefits. 
 
Please note that the “forward-looking” method for FMLA leave is effective 30 days after implementation 
of this Handbook, until such time, the current calendar year period will be used.   

 



32  

 

Intermittent Leave 

Intermittent or reduced schedule leave may be taken during a period of Family Member or Employee 
Serious Health Condition Leave or Service member Family Leave. Additionally, Call to Active-Duty Leave 
may be taken on an intermittent or reduced leave schedule basis. An employee may be temporarily 
reassigned to a position that better accommodates an intermittent or reduced schedule; employees 
covered by OFLA will not be reassigned without their express consent and agreement. Employees must 
make reasonable efforts to schedule planned medical treatments so as to minimize disruption of City 
operations, including consulting management prior to the scheduling of treatment in order to work out a 
treatment schedule which best suits the needs of both the City and the employee. Intermittent leave for 
Parental Leave is not available. 

Employee Responsibilities — Notice 

If using Paid Leave Oregon (PLO), employee must follow PLO notification requirements, failure to follow PLO 
notification requirements may result in reduced PLO benefits. 

Employees must provide at least 30 days’ notice before Family Medical Leave is to begin if the reason for 
leave is foreseeable based on an expected birth, placement for adoption or foster care, planned medical 
treatment for a serious health condition of the employee or of a family member, or the planned treatment 
for a serious injury or illness of a covered service member (Service member Family Leave). If 30 days’ 
notice is not practicable, such as because of a lack of knowledge of approximately when leave will be 
required to begin, a change in circumstances, or a medical emergency, notice must be given as soon as 
practicable. If the situation giving rise to a Sick Child Leave is unforeseeable, an employee must give verbal 
or written notice to the City within 24 hours of commencement of the leave.  

For Call to Active-Duty Leave, notice must be provided as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in 
advance such leave is foreseeable. 

Whether leave is to be continuous or is to be taken intermittently or on a reduced schedule basis, notice 
need only be given one time, but the employee must let their Supervisor or the Human Resource 
Mmanager know as soon as practicable if dates of scheduled leave change or are extended, or were 
initially unknown. If circumstances change during the leave and the leave period differs from the original 
request, the employee must notify their Supervisor or the Human Resources representative within three 
business days, or as soon as possible. Further, employees must provide written notice within three days 
of returning to work. 

Regardless of the reason for leave, or whether the need for leave is foreseeable, employees will be 
expected to comply with the City’s normal call-in procedures. Employees who fail to comply with the City’s 
leave procedures may be denied leave, subject to discipline, or the start date of the employee’s Family 
Medical Leave may be delayed. 

Certification 

Employees must provide sufficient information for the City to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA 
or OFLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. Sufficient information may 
include that the employee is unable to perform job functions, the family member is unable to perform 
daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or 
circumstances supporting the need for either Call to Active Duty or Service member Family Leave. 

Employees also must inform the employer if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was 
previously taken or certified. Additionally: 



33  

• Employees requesting serious health condition leave for themselves or to care for a covered 
family member will be required to provide certification from the health care provider of the 
employee or the covered family member to support the request. 

• Employees requesting sick child leave under OFLA may be required to submit, at a minimum, a 
note from a doctor if the employee has requested to use more than three days (i.e., one three- 
day occurrence or three separate instances) of sick child leave within a one-year period. 

Employees must furnish the City’s requested medical certification information within 15 calendar days 
after such information is requested by the City. In some cases (except for leave to care for a sick child), 
the City may require a second or third opinion, at the City’s expense. Employees also may be required to 
submit subsequent medical verification. 

Employees will not be asked for, and they should not provide, any genetic information about themselves 
or a family member in connection with a FMLA/OFLA medical certification. 

Medical Certification Prior to Returning to Work 

If Family Medical Leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition, the employee must furnish, 
prior to returning to work, medical certification from their health care provider stating that the employee 
is able to resume work. 

Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave 

Employees are required to use accrued paid leave, including floating holidays, vacation, compensatory 
time, and sick leave prior to a period of unpaid leave of absence on Family Medical Leave unless they are 
utilizing Paid Leave Oregon (PLO). Use of accrued paid leaves will run concurrently with Family Medical 
Leave. Represented employees may reserve accrued leave and compensatory time if provided by their 
collective bargaining agreement. If the employee has no accrued paid leave, floating holidays, vacation, 
compensatory time, or sick leave available to use during a Family Medical Leave, the leave will be unpaid. 
PLO is deemed unpaid leave by the City. 

Holiday Pay While on Leave 

Employees receiving short- or long-term disability will not qualify for holiday pay. Employees using 
vacation pay or sick pay during a portion of approved Family Medical Leave in which a holiday occurs will 
qualify to receive holiday pay. Employees who are on unpaid leave during a holiday will not qualify to 
receive holiday pay (PLO is deemed unpaid leave by the City). 

On-the-Job Injury or Illness 

Periods of employee disability resulting from a compensable on-the-job injury or illness will qualify for 
FMLA Leave if the injury or illness is a “serious health condition” as defined by applicable law. 

OFLA leave will not be reduced by and will not run concurrently with any period the employee is unable 
to work because of a disabling compensable on-the-job injury; however, if the injury or illness is a “serious 
health condition” as defined by Oregon law and the employee has refused a bona fide offer of light-duty 
or modified employment, OFLA leave will commence. 

If the employee’s serious health condition is the result of an on-the-job injury or illness, the employee 
may qualify for workers’ compensation time-loss benefits. 

Benefits While on Leave 

If an employee is on approved FMLA or OFLA Leave, the City will continue the employee’s health coverage 
under any “group health plan” on the same terms as if the employee had continued to work. An employee 
wishing to maintain health insurance during a period of approved FMLA or OFLA leave will be responsible 



34  

for bearing the cost of his/her share of group health plan premiums which had been paid by the employee 
prior to the OFLA/FMLA leave. Employees will not accrue vacation, sick leave, or holiday pay while the 
employee is on FMLA or OFLA leave if they have been in unpaid leave status for more than 80 contiguous 
hours (PLO is deemed unpaid leave by the City). The leave period, however, will be treated as continuous 
service (i.e., no break in service) for purposes of vesting and eligibility to participate in the City benefit 
plans. 

Job Protection 

Employees returning to work from Family Medical Leave will be reinstated to their former position. If the 
position has been eliminated, the employee may be reassigned to an available equivalent position. 
Reinstatement is not guaranteed if the position has been eliminated under circumstances where the law 
does not require reinstatement. 

Employees are expected to promptly return to work when the circumstances requiring Family Medical 
Leave have been resolved, even if leave was originally approved for a longer period. If an employee does 
not return to work at the end of a designated Family Medical Leave period, reinstatement may not be 
available unless the law requires otherwise. 

The use of Family Medical Leave cannot result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior 
to the start of an employee’s leave. 

Employees who work for other employers during a “serious health condition” leave may be subject to 
discipline up to and including termination. Additionally, all employees who use Family Medical Leave for 
reasons other than the reason for which leave had been granted may be subject to discipline up to and 
including termination.  

F. Paid Leave Oregon (PLO) 
Paid Leave Oregon is a program offered by the State of Oregon through the Oregon Employment 
Department.  Employees will be required to follow the City’s PLO policy (Administrative Policy 2.4) and 
should refer to that policy for information on PLO.  

G. Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank 
The City recognizes that employees may have a serious medical hardship, or catastrophic illness or injury 
that causes a severe impact to them resulting in a need for additional time off in excess of their available 
accrued leave or which may not qualify for Paid Leave Oregon (PLO). In response to this need, the City has 
established a Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank where employees can donate sick or vacation leave from their 
unused balance to their co-workers who are in need, in accordance with the policy outlined below. This 
policy is strictly voluntary. 

The Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank is intended to cover serious medical hardship or catastrophic illness or 
injury, such as cancer, major surgery, serious accident, heart attack, etc., and requires completed 
OFLA/FMLA application. 

Note: The Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank must be self-supporting. The Bank shall have a maximum 
accumulation of 2,000 hours. If a request is approved and the bank is low or empty, a notice will be sent 
to all employees indicating that there is a need for additional leave time. If additional leave time is not 
donated, the requesting party will be unable to receive shared leave. 

Employees who donate sick or vacation time from their unused balance must adhere to the following 
requirements: 

• Employee must be a regular, non-probationary City employee accruing sick or vacation leave. 



35  

• Minimum Donation: Eight (8) hours. Donations must be in full day increments. 
• Maximum Donation: Eighty (80) hours per fiscal year. 
• Employees who are currently on an approved leave cannot donate sick/vacation time. 
• Employees who donate time must have a minimum combined total of 120 hours of sick and 

vacation leave after making the donation in case they experience their own personal need for 
time off. 

Note: Employees cannot borrow against future sick or vacation time to donate.  

Withdrawal Guidelines 

Employees who would like to make a request to receive leave Bank time must adhere to the 
following criteria: 

• Employee must qualify for OFLA, FMLA or both. 
• A serious medical hardship or critical or catastrophic illness or injury that poses a threat to life 

and/or requires inpatient or hospice health care must exist. 
• All accumulated sick, vacation, and compensatory leave must first be expended. 
• The event does not qualify for Paid Leave Oregon. 
• An employee is limited to a maximum of 520 hours. Additional time, up to 520 hours, may be 

allowed if crucial circumstances exist and with approval from the City Manager. 
• Applicant is not eligible to draw from the Bank if he or she is receiving long term disability, 

worker’s compensation, or Paid Leave Oregon (PLO) benefits. 
• Employees eligible for City-paid long-term disability insurance shall submit long term disability 

paperwork for the City’s insurance carrier before being able to receive donated leave time. 

Procedure 

Employees who would like to make a request to receive donated time from the Catastrophic Bank must 
complete a Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank Form and must qualify for OFLA, FMLA or both. The application 
must be signed and accompanied by a physician’s certification of a medical hardship or catastrophic injury 
or illness. The physician must also estimate in writing how long, in days, the recovery is expected to take. 

All forms should be returned to the City Manager for approval. All donations and withdrawals will be 
kept in confidence by the Finance Department/Payroll. 

Approval 

The City Manager or designee shall review all forms for compliance with the established conditions and 
requirements and approve or deny the application within five days after receiving the request. During the 
review of the application, the City Manager has the right to request additional information from the 
applicant as necessary. 

Termination 

Leave will be terminated if any of the following conditions apply: 

• The physician’s certification indicates a date certain that leave is no longer necessary. 
• If the recipient recovers more rapidly than the physician initially estimated, the recipient must 

terminate leave as soon as the physician deems appropriate. Failure to notify the physician of this 
requirement, or to report changes in the estimated date of return to the City Manager will subject 
the recipient to disciplinary action, as described in the Participation Abuse section below. 

• The recipient is receiving long-term disability or workers’ compensation benefits. 
• If the balance in the Catastrophic Bank is fully expended. 
• If OFLA and FMLA runs out or employee is disqualified from OFLA and FMLA 



36  

• The recipient dies.  

Participation Abuse 

The City Manager will investigate alleged abuse of the Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank. If an employee is 
found to have abused use of the Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank, the employee may be subject to disciplinary 
action as determined by the City Manager. 

H. Bereavement Leave 
Employees who have worked for the City for 180 calendar days, and averaged at least 25 hours per week, 
may take up to two weeks of unpaid bereavement leave per death of a Family Member (defined below). 
Employees who have worked for the City for 90-180 days, and who have experienced the death of a Family 
member (defined below) may use up to 40 hours of accrued sick leave for bereavement purposes). 
Employees who have worked for the City for fewer than 90 days may not be eligible for leave; see the 
Human Resources representative for more information. 

Full-time employees who have worked for the City for at least 180 days are allowed to receive up to five 
(5) calendar days for Bereavement Leave for a covered family member without loss of pay. Part-time 
employees will receive a pro-rated amount of paid time based on their hours hired to work. If you choose 
to take additional bereavement leave allowed by state law, you must either use accrued leave or take 
unpaid leave. The City Manager has the discretion to award equivalent paid time off for other situations 
of bereavement the City Manager also has the discretion to allow an employee additional leave. 

Bereavement leave may be used to attend the funeral or alternative to a funeral of the family member, 
to make arrangements necessitated by the death of the family member, or to grieve the death of the 
family member. The bereavement leave must be taken in the 60-day period following notice of death of 
a family member and will be deducted from the employee’s available leave time under OFLA. For purposes 
of this policy, “Family Member” is defined to include the employee’s spouse, same-sex domestic partner 
(registered), child, parent, parent-in-law, sibling, grandparent, or grandchild, same relations of an 
employee's same-sex domestic partner (registered) or spouse, or a person with whom the employee was 
in a relationship of in loco parentis. Employees who wish to take bereavement leave must inform the City 
as soon as possible after receiving notification of a Family Member’s death. Although prior notice is not 
required, oral notice must be provided within 24 hours of beginning leave. Written notice must be 
provided to the employer within three days of returning to work. Employees are required to use any 
available sick leave during the period of bereavement leave; vacation time will be used if the employee 
has no available sick leave. 

I. Executive Leave 
The purpose of this leave is to compensate FLSA Exempt employees for times when an employee spends 
more hours at work than normal due to special projects or increased workloads. 

Executive Leave accrues monthly up to a maximum amount determined by the City Manager. These leave 
hours may accrue up to a balance of 80 hours for Department Heads or 40 hours for other qualifying 
exempt employees. If the balance exceeds these limits, then Executive Leave shall no longer accrue. 
Executive Leave hours cannot be cashed out during employment; however, the hours will be paid out 
upon separation from employment with the City. To use Executive Leave, eligible employees shall 
complete a City “Leave Request” form and submit it to the Department Head or City Manager for approval. 

Exceptions to this policy can only be made with the written approval of the City Manager. 

J. Merit Leave 
The purpose of this leave is to recognize an employee for outstanding performance and achievements. 



37  

The granting and use of Merit Leave and the amount of leave awarded is at the recommendation of the 
Department Head and is subject to City Manager approval. Use of merit leave must follow City and 
Department leave procedures. 

To use awarded Merit Leave, eligible employees shall complete a City “Leave Request” form and submit 
it to the Department Head or City Manager for approval. 

K. Administrative Leave 
Bargaining Unit employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreements contracts for 
information. 

An employee may be placed on paid or unpaid Administrative Leave at the City’s discretion. Administrative 
Leaves are not disciplinary in nature and may be used in situations such as internal investigations (e.g., 
after officer involved shootings, investigations of possible misconduct, etc.). An employee placed on 
Administrative Leave may be subject to the following guidelines: 

• Employee may continue to receive regular pay and benefits. 
• Employee may be required by a Supervisor to relinquish any City property, including building 

keys, identification, and assigned weapon(s). 
• Employee may be ordered to refrain from taking any action as a City employee or in an official 

capacity. 
• Employee shall be required to continue to comply with all policies and lawful orders of a 

Supervisor. 
• Employee may be temporarily reassigned to a different shift during the pendency of an 

investigation. 
• Employee may be required to be available for contact at all times during such shift and report as 

ordered. 

• It shall be the responsibility of the Supervisor to promptly notify the Department Head and City 
Manager or designee before any action is taken. 

 

L. Jury and Witness Duty 
Jury Duty 

The City will grant employees time off for mandatory jury duty and/or jury duty orientation. A copy of the 
court notice must be submitted to the employee’s Supervisor to verify the need for such leave. This leave 
shall be with pay; however, all jury fees accepted during jury duty must be turned in to the City’s Finance 
Department (except for mileage). If an employee is dismissed from jury service prior to the end of his/her 
workday, he/she shall report to work for the remainder of the workday. 

The employee is expected to report for work when doing so does not conflict with court obligations. It is 
the employee’s responsibility to keep his or her supervisor or manager informed about the amount of 
time required for jury duty. 

Witness Duty 

Time spent serving as a witness in a work-related, legal proceeding will be treated as time worked for pay 
purposes, provided the time served occurs during regularly scheduled hours, the employee is subpoenaed 
to testify, and the employee submits witness fees to the Finance Department upon receipt. 

Except for employee absences covered under the City’s “Crime Victim Leave Policy” or “Domestic Violence 
Leave and Accommodation Policy,” employees who are subpoenaed to testify in non-work- related legal 
proceedings must use any available vacation time to cover their absence from work. If the employee does 



38  

not have any available vacation time, the employee’s absences may be unexcused and may subject the 
employee to discipline, up to and including termination. Employees must present a copy of the subpoena 
served on them to their supervisor for scheduling and verification purposes no later than 24 hours after 
being served. 

M. Religious Observances Leave and Accommodation Policy 
The City respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees. The City will make, upon request, 
accommodation for such observances when reasonable accommodation is available that does not create 
an undue hardship on the City’s business. Employees may use vacation or unpaid time for religious holy 
days or to participate in a religious observance or practice; if accrued leave is not available, then an 
employee may request to take unpaid leave. Requests for religious leave or accommodation should be 
made with a Supervisor or the Human Resources representative. 

N. Crime Victim Leave Policy 
Any employee who has worked an average of at least 25 hours per week for 180 days is eligible for 
reasonable, unpaid leave to attend criminal proceedings if the employee or his or her immediate family 
member (defined below) has suffered financial, social, psychological, or physical harm as a result of being 
a victim of certain felonies, such as kidnapping, rape, arson, and assault. 

“Immediate family member” includes a spouse, registered same-sex domestic partner, father, mother, 
sibling, child, stepchild, or grandparent. 

Employees who are eligible for crime victim leave must: 

• Use any accrued, but unused vacation/sick leave during the leave period, unless using PLO benefits 
(see Paid Leave Oregon for notification requirements); 

• Provide as much advance notice as is practicable of his/her intention to take leave (unless giving 
advance notice is not feasible); and 

• Submit a request for the leave in writing to the Human Resources representative as far in advance 
as possible, indicating the amount of time needed, when the time will be needed, and the reason 
for the leave. 

In all circumstances, the City may require certification of the need for leave, such as copies of any notices 
of scheduled criminal proceedings that the employee receives from a law enforcement agency or district 
attorney’s office, police report, a protective order issued by a court, or similarly reliable sources. 

O. Domestic Violence Leave and Accommodation Policy 
All employees are eligible for reasonable unpaid leave to address domestic violence, harassment, sexual 
assault, or stalking of the employee or his or her minor dependents. 

Reasons for taking leave include the employee’s (or the employee’s dependent’s) need to: seek legal or 
law enforcement assistance or remedies; secure medical treatment for or time off to recover from injuries; 
seek counseling from a licensed mental health professional; obtain services from a victim services 
provider; or relocate or secure an existing home. 

Leave is generally unpaid, but the employee may use any accrued vacation or sick leave while on this type 
of leave or may apply for PLO benefits (see Paid Leave Oregon for notification requirements). 

When seeking this type of leave, the employee should provide as much advance notice as is practicable 
of his or her intention to take leave, unless giving advance notice is not feasible. 

Notice of need to take leave should be provided by submitting a request for leave in writing to the 
Supervisor or the Human Resources representative as far in advance as possible, indicating the time 



39  

needed, when the time will be needed, and the reason for the leave. The City will then generally require 
certification of the need for the leave, such as a police report, protective order or other evidence of a 
court proceeding, or documentation from a law enforcement officer, attorney, healthcare professional, 
member of the clergy, or victim services provider. 

If more leave than originally authorized needs to be taken, the employee should give the City notice as 
soon as is practicable prior to the end of the authorized leave. When taking leave in an unanticipated or 
emergency situation, the employee must give oral or written notice as soon as is practicable. When leave 
is unanticipated, this notice may be given by any person on the employee’s behalf.  See Paid Leave Oregon 
(PLO) for Safe Leave notification requirements. 

Finally, employees who are victims of domestic violence, harassment, sexual assault or stalking may be 
entitled to a “reasonable safety accommodation” that will allow the employee to more safely continue to 
work, unless such an accommodation would impose an “undue hardship” on the City. Please contact the 
Human Resources representative immediately with requests for reasonable safety accommodations. 

P. Military Leave 
Employees who wish to serve in the military and take military leave should contact the Human Resources 
representative for information about their rights before and after such leave. You are entitled to 
reinstatement upon completion of military service, provided you return or apply for reinstatement within 
the time allowed by law. 

Further, eligible employees called for initial active duty for training and for all periods of annual active 
duty for training as a member of the National Guard, National Guard Reserve or of any reserve 
component of the Armed Forces of the United States or of the United States Public Health Service, may 
be entitled to leave with pay for all regular workdays that fall within a period not to exceed 21 work days   
in any federal training year (October 1 – September 30), provided you are employed at least six months 
prior to the leave ORS 408.290(2). Weekend drill obligations are not considered “federal active duty” for 
training under this policy; other requirements apply. Please contact the Human Resources representative 
for more information and to make arrangements for this paid leave. 

Additional military leave is without pay unless you elect to utilize vacation, compensatory time, or other 
benefits earned before commencement of the leave and are otherwise eligible to use such benefits. You 
must request and obtain approval to use leave accrual pay during military leaves of absence. 

Q. Unpaid Personal Leave 
An employee may be eligible for Unpaid Personal Leave after twelve months of continuous service. This 
leave may be granted for up to ninety (90) days if the leave does not adversely affect the operations of 
the City and the Department, and for reasons that are not covered by the Family and Medical Leave policy 
or other protected leave. 

Request for such leave must be submitted in writing at least five (5) working days in advance, except in 
cases of emergency, and must include an expected date of return. Requests must be approved by the 
Department Head and City Manager. Unpaid Personal Leave will be granted only after all accumulated 
vacation time, holiday time, executive leave, and compensatory time has been used. 

An employee who does not return within three days of the expected date of return, and where no 
extension has been requested and approved, will be assumed to have voluntarily resigned. 

Benefits do not accrue during an Unpaid Personal Leave of absence but are retained at the same level. 

Employees on Unpaid Personal Leave must pay the premium for Group Benefits by the first of each month 
to continue the coverage. 



40  

IV. Employee Benefits 

A. Insurance and Other Benefits 
Employees who meet the definition of “benefit eligible” under both City policy and that of its insurance 
providers are entitled to the benefit options offered by the City. Please consult the Human Resources 
representative for the most recent premiums information. 

The group insurance policies and the summary plan descriptions issued to employees set out the terms 
and conditions of the insurance plans offered by the City. These documents govern all issues relating to 
employee insurance. As other employee benefits are offered by the City, employees will be advised and 
provided with copies of relevant plan documents. Copies are available from the Human Resources 
Representative. 

B. Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
This free, confidential service is provided to all employees covered by our medical insurance benefits, and 
their covered dependents who may be experiencing life problems. Information regarding this service can 
be obtained by contacting the Human Resources representative or consulting the bulletin boards at each 
work location and the benefits information on the shared internet drive. 

C. Workers’ Compensation and Safety on the Job 
You are protected by workers' compensation insurance under Oregon law. This insurance covers you in 
case of occupational injury or illness by providing, among other things, medical care, and compensation 
and temporary or other disability benefits. Employees are expected to work safely and in a safe 
environment. You are also expected to follow all safety rules and regulations at all times, including the 
use of protective clothing and equipment, attendance at all training sessions related to their job 
description, and following the directions of warning signs or signals and/or directions of Supervisory 
personnel. 

Steps to Take if You are Injured, Suffer an Occupational Illness, or have a Near-Miss 

If you are injured on the job or have a safety incident, the City wants to know about it and expects to learn 
about it no later than 24 hours afterwards (report all work-related injuries to your supervisor). 

You are expected to complete the Incident/Accident Form as soon as possible, but no later than the next 
shift, after any incident or near-miss and submit it to your Supervisor for review and signatures. 

If you seek treatment for a work-related injury and want to apply for workers' compensation benefits, you 
must do all the following: 

1. Report any work-related injury to your supervisor. You must report the injury within 24 hours 
after the injury. 

2. Seek medical treatment and follow-up care if required. 
3. Promptly complete a written Employee’s Claim Form (Form 801) and return it to the Human 

Resources representative. 

Failure to timely follow these steps may negatively affect your ability to receive benefits. 

In the case of a work-related accident or injury, you may use accrued leave to be made whole for your net 
pay based on a regular workweek. At no time, however, can the combination of these exceed normal 
earnings, nor can you use more sick time than what you have accumulated. 

 



41  

Return to Work 

If you require workers’ compensation leave, you will — under most circumstances — be reinstated to the 
same position that you held at the time your leave began, or to an equivalent position, if available. 
However, you must first submit documentation from a health care provider who is familiar with your 
condition certifying your ability to return to work and perform the essential functions of your position. 

When returning from a workers’ compensation leave you have no greater right to reinstatement than if 
you had been continuously employed rather than on leave. For example, if you would have been laid off 
had you not been on leave, or if your position is eliminated, and no equivalent or comparable positions 
are available, then you may not be entitled to reinstatement. These are only examples, and all 
reinstatement/reemployment decisions are subject to the terms of any applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. The City does not discriminate against employees who suffer a workplace injury or illness. 

Early Return-to-Work Program 

Our Return-to-Work program provides guidelines for returning you to work at the earliest possible time 
after you have suffered an on-the-job injury or illness that results in time loss. This program is not intended 
as a substitute for reasonable accommodation when an injured employee also qualifies as an individual 
with a disability. The Return-to-Work Program is intended to be transitional work, to enable you to return 
to your regular job in a reasonable period of time. The Return-to-Work program for job-related injuries 
consists of a team effort by the City, injured employees and their treating physicians, and our workers’ 
compensation insurance carrier claims staff. The goal is to return our employees to full employment at 
the earliest possible date that is consistent with their medical condition and the advice of the treating 
physician. 

If your doctor determines that you are able to perform modified work, the City will attempt to provide 
you with a temporary job assignment for a reasonable period of time until you can resume your regular 
duties (except where provided as an accommodation for a disability). If, due to a work-related injury, you 
are offered a modified position that has been medically approved, failure to phone in or report at the 
designated time and place may affect your compensation and employment with the City. While you are 
on modified or transitional work, you are still subject to all other City rules and procedures. 

Overlap with Other Laws 

The City will account for other leave and disability laws that might also apply to your situation, such as the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and FMLA or OFLA. If, after returning from a workers’ compensation 
leave, it is determined that you are unable to perform the essential functions of your position because of 
a qualifying disability, you may be entitled to a reasonable accommodation, as governed by the ADA 
and/or applicable Oregon laws covering disabilities in the workplace. 

Additional Safety Information 

All newly hired employees are to receive the proper safety training from their departments for their 
position. Providing education to employees helps to empower them to take responsibility for their own 
safety. All City employees must receive training from their department when new equipment or processes 
are introduced, or when procedures have been revised or updated. 

Safety Committee 

The City has established a Safety Committee to bring employees and management together in a non- 
adversarial, cooperative effort to promote safety and health. The Safety Committee has representatives 
from various departments and holds monthly meetings to review workplace hazards and make 
recommendations for change. Anyone interested in serving on the Safety Committee should contact their 
Supervisor. 



42  

 

Safety Manual 

The workplace Safety Manual incorporates specific policies, procedures, work rules, regulations, and 
practices. Each Department shall be issued a Safety Manual by the Safety Officer. Updates, when 
developed, will be sent to each department. The Supervisor or designee is responsible for the 
maintenance of the Safety Manual issued to their department. 

Reporting Unsafe Working Conditions 

The City believes that all employees are responsible for helping ensure a safe workplace by alerting their 
Supervisor to potentially unsafe conditions. An employee who sees an unsafe or dangerous working 
condition that can easily be corrected, (such as a cord lying across a walkway), should immediately fix 
the problem. Employees are expected to report any unsafe working conditions or other safety concerns 
to their Supervisor, a member of the Safety Committee or submit complete the Safety Reporting Form. 

Violation of the Safety Policy 

To maintain a safe and productive work environment, a violation of departmental safety rules and 
procedures will be considered a very serious case of misconduct and will be subject to disciplinary action. 

Tobacco Products and Marijuana-Free Workplace 

If you wish to smoke or chew you must do so outside of City facilities/buildings, and only in designated 
areas. Check with your Supervisor for the location of designated areas. 

Under Oregon’s Indoor Clean Air Act (ORS 433.835-870), smoking, aerosolizing, or vaporizing of inhalants 
is not allowed within 10 feet of building entrances, exits, windows, air intake vents, and accessibility 
ramps. The City buildings, vehicles, equipment, or machinery are tobacco and marijuana- free areas. Use 
of any of these products is prohibited during working hours. 

The City of Silverton provides a tobacco and marijuana-free environment for all employees and visitors. 
For purposes of this policy, “tobacco” includes the smoking or vaping of any tobacco-based product, 
smoking, or vaping in any form (including, without limitation, cigars and e-cigarettes), the use of oral 
tobacco products or “chew/spit” tobacco, and marijuana used by smoking, vaporization, within food, as 
an extract, or any other means. This policy applies to all individuals while on City property, in City vehicles, 
or City-owned facilities/buildings. 

D. PERS (Public Employees’ Retirement System) Benefits 
The City participates in the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS); therefore, your designation as a 
Tier I, Tier II, or Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) member will depend on your prior PERS 
service and PERS rules. An employee’s designation and eligibility for participation in PERS or the OPSRP 
are determined by law. Unused sick leave may be used by PERS in calculating PERS retirement benefits. 
For more information about these plans, please contact PERS at 1-888-320-7377 or visit their website at 
www.oregon.gov/PERS. For information about the City’s contributions to employee PERS or OPSRP plans, 
please see the Finance Department. 

 

V. Workplace Expectations, Conduct, and Discipline 

A. Expectations 

The following standards are not all-inclusive but serve as a guide to demonstrate work behaviors 
considered important to the City. 

http://www.oregon.gov/PERS


43  

In addition to following these rules, you are urged to always use reasonable judgment and to seek 
Supervisory advice in any doubtful or unclear situation. If everyone does their best to meet both the spirit 
and intent of these guidelines, disciplinary issues should be minimal. 

As a matter of policy, the City seeks to resolve conduct and performance problems in the most informal 
and positive manner possible. However, when someone does not conduct themselves in accordance with 
the intent of the standards, action will be taken to correct the situation promptly and completely. Outright 
violations of workplace rules will result in corrective action, up to and including termination. 

Be on Time and Ready to Perform a Full Day’s Work 

Employees’ punctuality and regular attendance are essential functions of each employee’s job and critical 
for efficient operation. Employees are expected to report to work as scheduled, on time, and prepared to 
start work.   Any employee who is unable to get to work on time is expected to notify their Supervisor in 
the event other arrangements need to be made.  

Unauthorized or excessive tardiness or absenteeism (excused or not) may be cause for disciplinary action 
up to and including termination. Performing other than City work during work hours, deliberately delaying, 
or limiting work tasks, or inciting others to delay or limit work tasks are unacceptable standards and may 
be cause for discipline. Each situation of excessive tardiness or absenteeism will be evaluated on a case-
by-case basis. 

Appearance 

Employees are expected to maintain an appropriate appearance that is businesslike, neat, and clean as 
determined by the requirements of the area in which the employee works. Clothing that displays offensive 
slogans is prohibited. 

Respect for City Property 

Employees are expected to regard their workplace with respect and attention. City records, equipment, 
and property are to be treated carefully and appropriately. Employees should practice fiscal responsibility 
in the discharge of their duties, including but not limited to turning off lights, electric heaters, motors, etc. 
when not needed, maintain City equipment, and be conservative in the use of City supplies. Employees 
are responsible for those items in their custody and are accountable for their maintenance, appropriate 
use, and/or accuracy. 

Quality of Work 

Employees are expected to deliver quality work. Potential infractions include careless, inaccurate, 
unreliable, or otherwise unsatisfactory work performance or productivity. 

Performance Reviews 

All City employees will receive performance reviews.  Performance reviews serve as one factor in decisions 
related to employment, such as training, merit pay increases, job assignments, employee development, 
promotions, retention, and discipline/termination.  Any employee who fails to satisfactorily perform the 
essential duties of their position is subject to disciplinary action (including termination). 

The City’s goal is to provide an employee with their first formal performance evaluation/review within 
three (3) months after hire or promotion and, during probation, every three (3) months thereafter until 
one year (performance reviews at three, six and nine months). After the probationary reviews, the City 
will strive to provide a formal performance review on an annual basis.   

Reviews will generally include the following:  

• An evaluation of the employee’s quality and quantity of work  



44  

• A review of exceptional employee accomplishments  
• Establishment of goals for career development and job enrichment  
• A review of areas needing improvement  
• Setting of performance goals for the employee for the following year. 

Employees who disagree with a performance review may submit a written response with reasons for 
disagreement. The employee’s response shall be filed with the employee’s performance evaluation in the 
employee’s personnel file. Such response must be filed not later than 30 days following the date the 
performance evaluation was received. 

Supervisors and managers are encouraged to provide employees with informal evaluations of their 
employees’ work on an as-needed basis.   

Work Conduct 

Employees are expected to conduct themselves in a professional manner that will exemplify such 
characteristics as honesty, integrity, constraint, impartiality, and dedication to the public interest. 
Employees are expected to be courteous and considerate to everyone with whom they come into contact. 
Telephones should always be answered in a friendly manner, and persons greeted in an office or over the 
counter should be given the impression that our employees are capable and anxious to help them. 

Employees are expected to report hours worked accurately on timecards and to follow the City’s 
purchasing policy. 

Workspace Inspections and Investigations 

The City reserves the right to search all City property, including desks, computers, file cabinets, lockers, 
and City vehicles with or without cause. Employees should not bring anything to work or put or store 
anything in City files, closets, shelves, boxes, workstations, computers, and computer files (including 
email, voice mail, etc.), desks, file cabinets, lockers, vehicles, etc. that could embarrass or otherwise cause 
discomfort or problems for any employee if the item were found or seen by others. Employees should 
have no expectation of privacy in the use of City property, or any information contained therein at any 
time. 

Confidentiality 

Employees are expected to maintain the confidentiality of City information or customer information in 
their possession. 

Customer Service 

Public relations are an integral part of each employee’s job. Employees are expected to be professional 
and courteous when dealing with co-workers, managers, customers, or business associates. Discourteous 
or threatening behavior or failing to come to the aid of a co-worker when a legitimate need is known or 
apparent is unacceptable and cause for disciplinary action. 

Insubordination 

Failure to follow any verbal or written instruction issued by a person in the position of authority as 
determined by the City is unacceptable and cause for disciplinary action, including termination. 

Outside Employment 

Outside employment by full-time employees is permitted with prior written approval of the Department 
Head and City Manager. Employees must be able to meet performance, attendance, overtime and other 
requirements of the City. Off-duty work must not, in the City’s view, interfere with or negatively reflect 
on the interests and reputation of the City. 



45  

Any employee with existing outside employment on the effective date of this Handbook shall notify their 
Supervisor within thirty (30) days thereafter. The City requires employees to report outside employment 
to their Supervisor on an annual basis, or sooner if any changes in outside employment occur. 

Work Safely 

Potential infractions include, but are not limited to: failure to follow safe working practices, provoking or 
instigating arguments, dissension or fights during working hours or on City premises or engaging in 
horseplay which results in injury or property damage, any unauthorized, careless act of destroying or 
damaging City property, tools or equipment, or the property of others on City premises, (Note: When we 
determine an employee has committed a serious safety violation, that employee is subject to immediate 
discharge). 

B. Ethics 
At the City of Silverton, we believe in treating employees with respect and adhering to ethical and fair 
practices. We expect employees to avoid situations that might cause their personal interests to conflict 
with the interests of our organization or to compromise the City’s reputation and integrity. Employees 
who conduct themselves inappropriately or who create a detrimental impact on the City may be subject 
to corrective action up to and including termination. 

Employees are responsible for carrying out their duties in a manner that contributes to a positive and 
productive work environment and further achieves City goals and objectives. All behavior should reflect 
favorably on the City and serve the public interest as opposed to individual interest. 

Supervisors and Department Heads are responsible for providing leadership that encourages high 
performance and good conduct and holds employees accountable for their actions. 

City employees are subject to the State of Oregon’s ethics laws which prohibit certain gifts and conflicts 
of interest. If you have any questions about the City’s ethics standards, please consult your Supervisor. In 
addition to the Oregon Government Ethics Laws, City employees are also subject to the following 
standards. 

Conflict of Interest 

You may not solicit, obtain, accept, or retain any personal benefit from any supplier, vendor, 
customer/client, or individual or organization doing or seeking business with the City. This means you may 
not maintain an outside business or financial interest or engage in any outside business or financial activity 
that conflicts with the interests of the City or interferes with your ability to fully perform your job 
responsibilities. 

Misrepresentation 

As an employee, you should consider how you represent the City in your transactions and interactions. 
You should be careful not to misrepresent City policies, practices, or procedures, and you should not 
misrepresent your status and authority to enter into agreements. You should also not use the City’s name, 
likeness, facilities, assets, or other resources or use the authority of your position with the City for personal 
gain or private interests. 

Gifts and Gratuities 

Occasionally City employees are offered personal gifts, discounts, or gratuities in connection with their 
employment. While such offers may be made in good faith, it is important that everyone representing the 
City avoid any appearance of inappropriate business practices or other impropriety. Each employee is 
expected to exercise good judgment and politely refuse such personal gifts, cash, discounts, or gratuities 
offered in connection with their employment with the City. Employees should notify their Department 



46  

Head in the event they have questions regarding any offer. To avoid a violation of State Ethics law, no gift 
accepted by the City shall exceed more than $50.00 in a year from a single source. 

Travel Awards 

Travel awards, including frequent flier miles, compensation for being displaced, and related items accrued 
or earned by officials and employees on official City business, are part of the salary and benefits to which 
you are entitled. You should make decisions regarding travel arrangements and expenses in the best 
interest of the City rather than maximize accrual of this benefit. Abuse of this benefit, including influencing 
travel arrangements so as to maximize accrual of awards to the detriment of the City or public is prohibited 
and is cause for discipline. You are responsible for ensuring that this compensation is reported as income 
for tax purposes to the extent required by law. 

Off-Duty Conduct 

As a rule, the City regards off-duty activities to be a personal matter. However, certain types of positions 
are more restrictive than others and off-duty activities are of concern due to the potential negative impact 
on the City’s reputation. For that reason, employees who engage in or are associated with illegal or other 
conduct that adversely affects the City or the employee’s ability or credibility to carry out their 
employment responsibilities, may be subject to corrective action up to and including termination. 

Solicitation on City Property 

The City strives to establish a work environment that is productive and without undue disruptions to the 
workday. Therefore, soliciting by one employee of another, or collecting from one employee by another, 
is prohibited while either employee is on work time. Distributing literature and circulating petitions during 
work time or in work areas at any time is also prohibited. However, employees may use areas designated 
by the City Manager, such as bulletin boards in break rooms, to post notices of items for sale or otherwise 
of interest to other employees. It is the obligation of employees wishing to utilize this privilege to do so 
during off-duty hours, and in a manner which does not interfere with their work, or the work of other 
employees. 

Bulletin Boards 

City bulletin boards are intended to keep you up to date on work-related notices and events and are used 
to post information required by law. Employees covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement may also 
fund a union bulletin board in the Department. Please refer to your Collective Bargaining Agreement for 
additional details. Bulletin boards are to be used only for posting or distributing notices 
or announcements of a business nature that are equally applicable and of interest to employees or are 
directly concerned with City business. The City may have bulletin boards open to employee postings in 
lunch rooms/break areas. 

Political Activity 

Employees may engage in political activity except to the extent prohibited by Oregon law when on the 
job, during working hours. This means employees cannot: 

• Be required to give money or services to aid any political committee or any political campaign; 
• Solicit money or services (including signatures) to aid or oppose any political committee, 

nomination or election of a candidate, ballot measure, or referendum, or political campaign while 
on the job, during working hours (this is not intended to nor does it restrict the right of City 
employees to express their personal political views) or 

• Be disciplined or rewarded in any manner for either giving or withholding money or services for 
any political committee or campaign. 



47  

City employees also may not hold an elected office within the Silverton City government. 

 

C. Improper Employee Conduct 
The term “improper conduct” shall mean any action by an employee which affects the employee’s ability 
to perform assigned duties properly, threatens the safe and productive conduct of City operations, or 
endangers City personnel or property. “Improper conduct” is grounds for disciplinary action, and includes 
but is not limited to: 
 

1. Use of intoxicants, or being under the influence of intoxicants, while on duty, on call, or on 
standby. Intoxicant is defined as a liquor or brew containing alcohol as the active agent, and a 
drug that can produce a state of intoxication. Refer to the City’s Alcohol and Drug Policy for more 
information. 

• The conduct prohibited by this rule includes consumption of any intoxicating liquor within 
four hours of reporting to work or during rest breaks or meal periods.  If use of alcoholic 
liquor or an alcohol “hangover” adversely affects an employee's physical or mental 
faculties while at work to any perceptible degree, or the employee’s blood alcohol 
content exceeds .02 percent, the employee will be deemed “under the influence” for 
purposes of this rule. 

2.    Possession, distribution, dispensing, sale, attempted sale, use, manufacture or being under the     
influence of any narcotic, hallucinogen, stimulant, sedative, drug, or other controlled substance while 
on City of Silverton property, on City of Silverton time, while driving City of Silverton vehicles (or 
personal vehicles while on City of Silverton business), or in other circumstances which adversely affect 
the City of Silverton operations or safety of City employees. Employees may not have any detectable 
amount of narcotic, hallucinogen, stimulant, sedative, drug, or other controlled substance in system 
while on City property or on City time. 

• The conduct prohibited by this rule includes consumption of any such substance prior to 
reporting to work or during rest breaks or meal periods. If use of such substances or 
withdrawal symptoms adversely affects an employee's physical or mental faculties while at 
work to any perceptible degree, or the employee tests "positive" for any such substances 
by screening and confirmation tests, the employee will be deemed "under the influence" 
for purposes of this rule.  

• As used in this policy, "controlled substance" includes, but is not limited to, any controlled 
substance listed in Schedules I through V of the Federal Controlled Substance Act, 
including marijuana that is otherwise lawful to use under Oregon, Washington, or any 
other state’s law. 

3. Discourteous treatment directed towards a Supervisor, Department Head, City Manager, City 
Councilor, the public, a co-worker, or a volunteer. 

4. Threatening, intimidating, coercing, or interfering with fellow employees, or use of improper or 
offensive language or gestures toward the public or other employees. 

5. Falsifying employment application, timecard, personnel, or other City documents or records. 
6. Engaging in acts of dishonesty, fraud, theft, or sabotage. 
7. Fighting, throwing things, horseplay, practical jokes, or other disorderly conduct which 

may endanger the well-being of co-workers or of City operations. 
8. Unauthorized possession of City or employee property, gambling, carrying unauthorized 

weapons, dangerous weapons, firearms, or explosives, or violating criminal laws on City 



48  

premises. 
9. Use of any City-granted leave under false pretenses or abuse of said leave. 
10. Conviction of a crime which, in the City’s judgment, would impair effectiveness as a City employee 

or renders the employee incapable of performing essential job functions as defined in the job 
description. 

11. Communication, written or verbal, to Council, City Staff members, or the public about 
employment with the City, a supervisor(s) or a co-worker(s) which is negative and could reflect 
adversely on the City or impact the individuals’ ability to successfully perform their job. 

12. Use of the employee’s position for personal advantage. 
13. Absence from duty without approved leave, failure to report after leave of absence has expired, 

or after such leave of absence has been disapproved or revoked by the Supervisor, Department 
Head or City Manager. 

14. Outside employment or private activities that are conducted on City time, or with City resources. 
15. Solicitation of a contribution, response or action in the name of the City, or solicitation designed 

to further a political or charitable cause while on duty, unless specifically authorized by the City 
Manager. 

16. Failure to report to work. Not reporting to work and not calling to report the absence is a no- 
call/no-show and is a serious matter. The first instance of a no call/no show will result in a final 
written warning. The second separate offense may result in termination of employment with no 
additional disciplinary steps. A no call/no show lasting three days may be considered job 
abandonment and may be deemed an employee’s voluntary resignation of employment. 

D. Corrective Action/Discipline Policy 
Employees are expected to perform to the best of their abilities at all times. There will be occasions, 
however, where employees perform at an unsatisfactory level, violate a policy or law, or commit an act 
that is inappropriate. When performance or conduct does not meet the City standards, the City will 
determine whether it will terminate the employee’s employment or provide the employee a reasonable 
opportunity to correct the deficiency through progressive discipline (such as, in no particular order, verbal 
warnings, written warnings, suspensions without pay, and demotions). The corrective action process will 
not always commence with verbal counseling or include a sequence or steps. Some acts, particularly those 
that are intentional or serious, warrant more severe action (including termination) on the first or 
subsequent offense. 

In lieu of terminating the employment of an employee for serious violations of policies, procedures, and 
rules and for other inappropriate behavior or conduct, the City may choose to provide the employee a 
final opportunity to continue employment in the form of a last-chance agreement. The City may also 
choose to send the employee to training or provide an education opportunity. 

In all cases, the City will determine the nature and extent of any discipline based upon the circumstances 
of each individual case and, where applicable, collective bargaining agreement provisions. The City may 
proceed directly to a written warning, demotion, last chance agreement, or termination for misconduct 
or performance deficiency, without any prior disciplinary steps, when deems such action appropriate. The 
City retains the right to terminate any employee’s employment at any time and for any reason, with or 
without advance notice or other prior disciplinary action (other than those employees who are subject to 
a collective bargaining agreement or contract of employment). 

E. Complaint/Appeal Procedure 
It is the City’s policy to assure all employees, using a formalized procedure, a method and procedure 
whereby they may have their complaints or appeals considered as fairly and as rapidly as possible without 



49  

fear of reprisal. This procedure does not apply to complaints involving discrimination/harassment or 
complaints involving retaliation for raising concerns related to unlawful discrimination or harassment. 

This complaint procedure applies to all employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement. 

Appeal of Disciplinary Action 

All employees to whom this provision is applicable and who are not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement may appeal disciplinary actions, except oral reprimand, in the following manner: 

STEP 1: The employee shall orally present the concern or complaint to the immediate Supervisor as soon 
as possible after the disciplinary action is finalized but in no event later than within ten 
(10) working days of the final action. The Supervisor shall have five (5) working days from receipt 
of the grievance to provide an oral response. 

STEP 2: If the concern or complaint remains unresolved, the employee shall submit the concern or 
complaint in written form within ten (10) working days of receipt of the Supervisor’s reply. The 
written complaint shall be signed and delivered to the Department Head. The Department 
Head shall respond to the employee in writing within ten (10) working days after receipt of the 
employee’s written statement. 

STEP 3: If the employee is not satisfied with the Department Head’s response, the employee may appeal 
to the City Manager. The appeal shall be submitted in writing within five (5) working days of the 
completion of Step 2. All documents shall be attached to the appeal. The City Manager shall 
meet with the aggrieved party and the Department Head and shall respond to the grievance in 
writing within ten (10) working days. The decision of the City Manager shall be final and binding 
upon all parties. 

 
VI. Miscellaneous Policies 

A. Alcohol/Drug Use, Abuse and Testing 
Please see your Supervisor or the Human Resource Manager for the most recent adopted Alcohol 
Drug/Use, Abuse, and Testing policy (City of Silverton Administrative Policy 2.1). All employees will be 
provided a copy for their signature at hire and will be notified of any regulatory changes which affect their 
position. 

B. Communication Devices Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines on the use of Communication Devices (CD) and 
accessories, which includes cell phones, smart phones (iPhones, Androids, PDAs), tablets or any mobile 
wireless access, all of which are referred to as “CD” in this policy. 

The use of a CD includes, but are not limited to, placing and receiving calls, text messaging, blogging and 
microblogging, emailing, using video or camera features, playing games and accessing sites or services on 
the Internet. 

Violation of this policy will subject an employee to discipline, up to and including termination.  

Communication Devices in General 

Employees are allowed to bring personal CDs to work with them. During working hours, however, 
employees should refrain from using them except in an emergency or during a meal period or rest break. 

Employees who use personal or City-issued CDs may not violate City policies against harassment and 



50  

discrimination. Employees who use personal or City-issued CDs to send a text or instant message to 
another employee, a citizen or someone not employed by the City that is harassing or otherwise in 
violation of the City’s harassment and discrimination policies will be subject to discipline up to and 
including termination. 

Employees are responsible to maintain reasonable care to protect City-owned CDs from damage and 
misuse. 

Use While Driving 

Oregon law prohibits the use of hand-held cell phones while driving, even if the driving is for work- related 
reasons, except for a few narrow exceptions for emergency or public safety purposes. 

The use of a CD while driving adversely affects safety, causes unnecessary distractions, and presents a 
negative image to the public, as well as being a hazard to the driver, other employees, and the public. This 
policy is meant to ensure the safe operation of City vehicles and the operation of private vehicles while an 
employee is on work time. It applies equally to the usage of personal CDs and city-issued or subsidized 
CDs. 

Employees are prohibited from using “hand-held” CDs for any purpose while driving on City-authorized or 
City-related business. This policy also prohibits employees from using a CD to send or receive text or 
“instant” messages while driving on City business. Should an employee need to make a business call while 
driving or receive a call and choose to answer it, the employee must immediately locate a lawfully 
designated area to park, pull off the road and continue the call. Employees may use “hands-free” CD to 
make or receive business calls. Such calls should be kept short.  

City-Provided Communication Devices 

CDs are made available to City employees to conduct City business. Determinations as to which employee 
receives City-issued CDs will be made on a case-by-case basis by the Department Head and/or City 
Manager; employees are not guaranteed a CD. 

Employees who receive a CD from the City must agree not to use the device for personal use except in 
emergency situations and must abide by all aspects of this policy. 

Employees who receive a CD from the City must acknowledge and understand because the device is paid 
for and provided by the City, or subsidized by the City, any communications (including text messages) 
received by or sent from the CD may be subject to inspection and review.  Employees have no reasonable 
expectation of privacy in a City-provided or -paid for CD.  An employee who refuses to provide the City 
access to his/her personal mobile device in connection with an investigation and after reasonable notice 
may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination.   

Employees are expected to keep their data usage to a minimum. Family and friends may not use an 
employee’s City-issued CD. Employees may not use City-issued CD to access 1-900, 1-976 or similar “pay 
per minute” services. 

Employee- and City-Owned Communication Devices and Public Record 

Without approval, employees shall not use employee-owned CDs to conduct City business (see Employee-
Owned Communication Devices).  City-related business conducted on City-provided or personal 
communication devices may be subject to disclosure and production under Oregon’s Public Records laws 
or in connection with litigation filed against the City or individual employees. 

Retention periods for text messages, phone logs, and/or photos are specific to the message’s content. 
ORS 192.311(5)(a) Includes not only physical records, but digital records as well, and not only traditional 
“documents,” but also photographs, videos, spreadsheets, text messages, and other media.   



51  

Employee-Owned Communication Devices 

In some cases, the City may approve the usage of employee-owned CDs to conduct City business. 
Determination as to which employees are authorized to use their personal CD will be made on a case- 
by-case basis by the Department Head and/or the City Manager. 

Procedure 

1. The Supervisor and/or Department Head shall complete and sign the Communication Device 
Approval Form and submit it to the City Manager for approval. 

2. Once approved, the original shall be forwarded to the Finance Department for processing with a 
copy sent to Human Resources for the employee’s personnel file. 

3. The approval remains in effect until revoked by the authorized approval agent. 

Reimbursement 

Employees who are required, as a responsibility of their position and as designated by the City Manager, 
to be available for City business outside of regular business hours and while away from City Hall for 
personal or business reasons, may be entitled to a reimbursement up to $45 per month for a smart 
phone and $25 per month for all other phones, in lieu of using a City-issued CD. Any reimbursement shall 
end on the employee’s last day of employment with the City. 

To receive the reimbursement, the employee must complete the Communication Device Approval Form, 
which will be forwarded to Finance. A copy of the phone expenses must be submitted to Finance on a 
quarterly basis. 

The City shall not be responsible for any monetary loss or damages to an employee’s phone or for any 
personal contract entered with a CD service plan under this policy. 

Separation 

In the event an employee who has been provided a City-issued CD leaves the employment of the City, for 
whatever reason, all City-issued equipment shall be immediately returned to the City. Failure to return all 
equipment in good working condition upon separation may result in criminal charges being filed. 

C. Use of the City Email and Electronic Equipment, Facilities and Services 
(Information Technologies) 

The City provides information technologies to its employees to use in the course of doing their jobs. This 
policy covers the use of information technologies for internal and external communication as a tool for 
conducting the City’s business, and as a research tool and information resource. The term information 
technologies includes, but is not limited to, computer and personal communications hardware, software, 
and systems that utilize the Internet and/or any other communications network, including landlines, and 
faxes. All communication and information transmitted by, received from, or stored in these systems are 
the property of the City and as such these systems are to be used for job-related purposes. 

The City Manager shall appoint a Network Administrator who, in conjunction with any assigned 
Information Technology representatives, is responsible for managing information technologies. Human 
Resources is responsible for employee behavior in the use of those technologies. 

No Expectation of Privacy in the Use of Information Technology 

All computer applications, programs, and information created or stored by employees on City owned 
information systems are City property. Employees shall have no expectation of personal privacy in the use 
of the City’s information technologies. Passwords are used to protect the security of City data and 
information technologies and are not intended to convey an expectation of personal privacy or exclusion 



52  

from monitoring. Evidence of misuse of the internet gathered through monitoring may be used in 
disciplinary actions. 

Departments may develop more restrictive work rules based on the operations needs of the specific 
department. Each Department Director is responsible for their respective employees’ use of information 
technologies and for the contents of their information presented using information technologies. 

The City reserves the right to monitor and disclose internet use. Monitoring may occur without notice. 
There is no reasonable expectation of privacy in internet use, even if the system utilizes passwords. Such 
passwords are for the City’s protection, not for the privacy of employee internet use. 

Procedures 

It is important that these technical tools are used appropriately. The following procedures address 
appropriate use of City assets, and the responsibilities of users and management. 
Users are responsible for the care and maintenance of the desktop hardware assigned to them. Users 
should avoid subjecting the hardware in their care to damaging environmental conditions, including but 
not limited: excessive heat, humidity, or dust; exposure to liquids (e.g., coffee spills); or physical vibrations 
or bumps that may cause damage to the hardware. 

Computer games are not to be installed on City-owned computers. Due to the potential of introducing 
data destroying viruses into computer systems, only software and hardware owned by the City shall be 
used on City computer systems. Exceptions may be approved by the Network Administrator. If a user 
becomes aware of a virus, the user must immediately contact the Network Administrator and take no 
further action without authorization by the Network Administrator. Software shall be used in accordance 
with the software license supplied by the software’s publisher, provided the software license complies 
with state and federal law. 

Copyrighted software shall be copied for backup or archive purposes only as permitted by the license 
agreement. Duplication of software or documentation for any other purposes is prohibited. 

Electronic Mail 

E-mail is intended for business use. Incidental personal use by employees may be permitted, but such use 
comes with both the implicit and express consent of the employee for the City to monitor and disclose 
email. Incidental personal use of e-mail should occur briefly, infrequently, and shall not be conducted 
while on-duty. Commercial use of the City’s e-mail system is expressly prohibited. 

Acceptable Uses of Information Technologies 

The City’s information technologies are intended for professional business use in performing the duties of 
an employee’s job. Business related use includes, but not limited to: 

1. Communication with federal, state, or local government agencies, their committees, boards and 
commissions. 

2. Communications, including information exchange, research, professional development or to 
maintain job knowledge or skills. 

3. Communications and information exchanges directly relating to the mission and Charter of the 
City of Silverton and the work tasks of individual departments in support of work-related 
functions. 

Unless otherwise prohibited by law or department-specific work rules, limited personal use is permitted 
according to the following guidelines: 

1. It is incidental, occasional and of short duration. 
2. It is done on the employee’s personal time. Personal time means during breaks, lunch and/or 



53  

before and after work as defined by collective bargaining agreements, City and/or Department 
work rules. 

3. It does not interfere with any employee’s job activities. This includes activities which might pose 
a conflict of interest or appearance of impropriety with an individual’s employment with the City. 

4. It does not result in an expense to the City. 
5. It does not solicit for or promote commercial ventures, religious or political causes, outside 

organizations or other non-job related solicitations. 

Prohibited Use of Information Technologies 

The following list of prohibited uses for information technologies is not intended to be all-inclusive: 
1. To cause a breach of security or any action to attempt to circumvent or reduce the security of the 

City’s computer and network resources or of any confidential information, regardless of physical 
or electronic form or media, entrusted to the City’s custody. 

2. Misuse of service or any action that renders the user’s computer equipment unusable, or that 
interferes with another City employee’s use. 

3. Illegal use of any City information resources, regardless of physical or electronic form or media. 
4. To grant or allow personnel access by any person or entity to City information technology systems, 

regardless of physical or electronic form or media, for which they are not authorized to do so. 
5. Failure to limit the recipients of messages appropriately, propagating virus hoaxes, “spamming” 

(spreading e-mail or postings widely and without good purpose), or “bombing” (flooding an 
individual or group with numerous or large e-mail messages). 

6. Accessing or transmitting information that conflicts with City or Department work rules for non- 
job-related reasons, such as information in violation of the City’s non-discrimination policy. 

7. Accessing racist and sexually explicit sites. 
8. Neither the City’s e-mail system nor the City’s intranet may be used for commercial activities, 

religious causes, or support for other activities that are not related to the direct conduct of City 
business. 

9. Use of City information technologies for political activity or in a manner that would directly or 
indirectly assist a campaign for election of any person to any office, or for the promotion of or 
opposition to any ballot proposition. 

10. Altering electronic communications to hide one’s identity or to impersonate another individual. 
All e-mails, news posts or any other form of electronic communication must contain the sender’s 
real name and/or e-mail address. 

11. Buying, selling, or trading goods, services, or financial instruments via the City’s 
information technologies for personal financial gain. 

12. Using City information technologies to avoid the expense of personally purchasing comparable 
hardware, software, and/or internet access. 

13. Removing City owned IT equipment from City premises without prior approval from the 
employee’s Supervisor. 

14. Installing any software not previously approved by the Network Administrator, including 
unlicensed software. 

15. Copying and/or using City data, regardless of physical or electronic form or media, for personal 
use, except as permitted by law. 

16. Destroying City records in violation of retention and preservation policies or state law. 

Network User Security Guidelines: 

1. The use of passwords is a primary method of securing the City’s personal computer based wide 
area network. Users have the obligation to maintain the security of the network by safeguarding 
their passwords. Each network user shall be established with his or her own password. New 



54  

employees will be added following a request by a Supervisor or Department Director. 
2. The primary function of passwords is to keep unauthorized users off the network. Passwords are 

for the City’s protection, not for the privacy of employees’ use of hardware and software. 
3. The Network Administrator must be immediately informed when an employee separates from 

City employment. 
4. Employees should logout when not working in the network. Network users must treat their 

information resources like any critical work tool. Logging out at the conclusion of a session secures 
against unauthorized use. 

Contact Information 

Technical questions regarding the use of information technologies should be directed to the Network 
Administrator or assigned Information Technology representatives. 

Human resources related issues should be directed to Human Resources. 

Electronic Records Retention 

Please refer to the City’s Public Records Policy. 

D. Social Media 
For purposes of this policy, “social media” includes all means of communicating or posting information or 
content of any sort on the Internet, including to your own or someone else’s web log or blog, journal, or 
diary, personal or commercial website, social networking web site, web bulletin board or a chat room, 
whether or not associated or affiliated with the City, as well as any other form of electronic 
communication. 

Ultimately, you are solely responsible for what you post online. Before creating online content, consider 
some of the risks and rewards that are involved. Keep in mind that any of your conduct that adversely 
affects your job performance, the performance of co-workers, or otherwise adversely affects our citizens 
or people who work on behalf of the City or the City’s legitimate business interests may result in 
disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

Prohibited Postings 

Employees will be subject to discipline, up to and including termination, if they create and post any text, 
images or other media that violate any of the City policies, including the City’s no-harassment and no- 
discrimination and workplace violence policies. Similarly, postings that include threats of violence, that 
are physically threatening or intimidating, bullying, or harassing, will not be tolerated and may subject an 
employee to discipline, up to and including termination. 

Do not create a link from your blog, website or other social networking site to City-owned or maintained 
website without identifying yourself as a City employee. 

Express only your personal opinions. Never represent yourself as a spokesperson for the City, unless you 
are authorized by your manager/supervisor to do so. If the City is a subject of the content you are creating, 
be clear and open about the fact that you are a City employee, and make it clear that your views do not 
represent those of the City or its employees or elected officials. 

Encouraged Conduct 

Always be fair and courteous to co-workers, the citizens we serve, the City’s employees and elected 
officials, volunteers, and suppliers or other third parties who do business with the City. 

Also, keep in mind that you are more likely to resolve work-related complaints by speaking directly with 
your co-workers, or by utilizing our Open-Door Policy, than by posting complaints to a social media outlet. 



55  

If you decide to post complaints or criticism, avoid using statements, photographs, video, or audio that 
reasonably could be viewed as malicious, obscene, threatening or intimidating, that disparage citizens, co-
workers, the City employees, or elected officials, that might constitute harassment or bullying, and/or 
that violate the City policies. Examples of such conduct might include offensive posts that a reasonable 
person would perceive as calculated to intentionally harm an individual’s personal or professional 
reputation, posts that could contribute to a hostile work environment based on race, sex, disability, 
religion or any other status protected by law or the City policy. 

Maintain the confidentiality of the City’s confidential information. Do not post internal reports, policies, 
procedures or other internal, City -related confidential communications or information. 

Nothing in this policy is meant to prevent an employee from exercising his or her right to make a complaint 
of discrimination or other workplace misconduct, engage in lawful collective bargaining activity, or to 
express an opinion on a matter of public concern that does not unduly disrupt City operations. Employees 
are free to express themselves as private citizens on social media sites, but an employee’s exercise of 
expression is balanced against the City’s interest in the effective and efficient fulfillment of its 
responsibilities to the public. 

Request for Employee Social Media Passwords 

The City’s supervisors are prohibited by law from requiring or requesting an employee or an applicant for 
employment to disclose or to provide access through the employee's or applicant's username and 
password, password or other means of authentication that provides access to a personal social media 
account. This includes, without limitation, a username and password that would otherwise allow a 
supervisor/manager to access a private email account not provided by the City. 

Nothing in this policy prohibits the City from requiring an employee to produce content from his or her 
social media or internet account in connection with a City sponsored investigation into potential 
misconduct, unlawful or unethical behavior, or policy or rule violations. 

E. Open-Door Policy 
The City’s Open Door Policy is based on our belief that open, honest communication between supervisors 
and employees should be a common business practice. The City’s supervisors are responsible for creating 
a work environment where employee input is welcomed, and where issues are identified early and shared 
without the fear of retaliation (when the employee provides the input in good faith). If you have a 
complaint, suggestion, or question about your job, working conditions, or the treatment you are receiving 
from anyone in the City, please raise them first with your immediate supervisor. If you are not satisfied 
with the response from your immediate supervisor, or if your issue involves your immediate supervisor, 
request to have the facts/situation reviewed by the Human Resources representative. 

F. Bad Weather/Emergency Closing 
If there are circumstances beyond our control, such as inclement weather, a national crisis, or other 
emergencies that make one or more of our office locations inaccessible for all or part of a regularly 
scheduled workday, the City Manager (or his/her designee) will decide whether to and to what extent the 
City will close. 

In the event of extreme bad weather, the City recognizes that each employee’s ability to safely reach work 
may be different. If you cannot safely report to work in such circumstances, you should contact your 
manager. If staff cannot reach the office and are able to serve the City from home, you should do so 
subject to approval by your Supervisor. Safety and a trustworthy approach are your guides. 

 



56  

G. Driving While on Business 
This section provides a summary. Please also reference the “Driving Policy and Acceptable Driving Records 
Policy”. Employees using a private vehicle to conduct the City’s business must possess a valid driver’s 
license and must carry auto liability insurance. Employees who use their own vehicles for authorized City 
business use should make any necessary arrangements with their insurance carriers. 

The City may verify the validity of your driver’s license and/or your driving record at the time of hire and 
at any point during your employment if driving is an essential function of your job or if doing so relates to 
a legitimate business purpose of the City. Once you are employed with the City, we will receive automated 
reports from the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV). The reports notify the City when there are 
transactions on your driving record such as speeding tickets and citations. 

While on City business, drivers are expected to make every reasonable effort to operate their vehicle 
safely, with due regard for potential hazards, weather, and road conditions. Drivers are to obey all traffic 
laws, posted signs and signals, and requirements applicable to the vehicle being operated. Seatbelts are 
to be used in all vehicles while on business. Drivers are to ensure that the use of prescribed or over the 
counter drugs does not interfere with their ability to drive while on business; operating a vehicle under 
the influence of alcohol or controlled substances is prohibited. Employees are responsible for notifying 
their manager of any subsequent restrictions, limitations, or other change in their driving status within 72 
hours of the change or new restrictions/limitations. See also, “Communication Device” policy, above. 

Employees who receive a ticket or citation while driving a City-owned vehicle or while on City business 
will generally be responsible for paying the fine (if any) associated with the ticket or citation and may face 
discipline up to and including termination. 

H. Prohibition of Workplace Violence 
The City recognizes the importance of a safe workplace for employees, customers, vendors, contractors, 
and the general public. A work environment that is safe and comfortable enhances employee satisfaction 
as well as productivity. Therefore, threats and acts of violence made by an employee against another 
employee, volunteer, elected official, or member of the public with respect to that person’s life, health, 
well-being, family, or property will be dealt with in a zero-tolerance manner by the City. 

All employees have an obligation to report any incidents that pose a real or potential risk of harm to 
employees or others associated with the City, or that threaten the safety, security, or financial interests 
of the City. Employees are also strongly encouraged to report threats or acts of violence by non- 
employees, such as vendors or citizens, against any employee, volunteer, or elected official. Employees 
should make such reports directly to their Supervisor or the Human Resources representative. 

The City also may conduct an investigation of a current employee where the employee's behavior raises 
concern about work performance, reliability, honesty, or potentially threatens the safety of co-workers or 
others. 

Bringing a deadly weapon to any City facility or carrying a deadly weapon while at work is strictly 
prohibited. This prohibition does not apply to persons authorized to carry weapons as part of their job 
responsibility, such as public safety officers. For the purpose of this policy, “deadly weapon” means a 
device, instrument or object that is specifically designed for causing death or serious physical injury and 
does not include tools primarily used for construction, demolition or similar work. The prohibition applies 
even if you have a concealed weapon permit. Under no circumstances shall an individual who has not 
already been exempt from the prohibition have a weapon stored in a City-owned vehicle or facility. The 
prohibition does not apply to personal defense devices, such as personal attack alarms, nor to chemical 
defense sprays, such as Mace. 



57  

If an employee feels threatened or in danger of imminent bodily harm, they should take the following 
steps: 

1. Leave the scene if it can be done safely. Do not attempt to control a violent person. 
2. Call law enforcement (911) if the situation warrants this action. 
3. The incident should be reported to the Supervisor, Department Head or Human Resources 

immediately or as soon as possible. 

If the threatening individual poses no immediate physical threat, but is making verbal threats or is 
otherwise intimidating employees or others in the area, then the employee should: 

1. Keep back or move away from the individual, if possible, in a way as not to provoke violence. 
2. Notify a Supervisor, Department Head, or Human Resources as soon as possible. 

The City understands there may be situations that demand immediate action to protect oneself or others 
against an act of violence. If such an incident occurs and there is no time to follow procedures, workers 
may protect themselves or abandon their position in order to do so. Workers are still required to report 
the incident as soon as possible. 

The employee assistance program (EAP) is available to provide confidential and individual personal 
counseling to employees involved in a violent incident. 

Any intimidation, coercion, discrimination, or retaliation against an individual who reports an act of 
workplace violence or who assists, participates, or testifies in any manner in an investigation will not be 
tolerated. All such acts should be reported immediately. Workers who engage in any act of retaliation, 
intimidation or harassment will be subject to discipline, up to and including termination. 

I. Prohibition on Secret Recordings 
Employees may not obtain or attempt to obtain the whole or any part of a conversation by means of any 
device without first obtaining permission from all the people in the conversation.  This rule applies to the 
recording of conversations made during work hours, while at work-related functions, or in connection with 
work between or among employees, supervisors/managers, elected officials, or members of the public.  It 
does not apply to conversations where there is no expectation of privacy, such as a City Council, Committee, 
Commissioner, or Task Force meeting, or work session, and the like. 

This policy does not apply to law enforcement employees who record conversations in connection with 
their official public safety duties.  Nothing in this policy prohibits or restricts an employee’s right under the 
federal or Oregon constitutions to make recordings outside of working hours or while not representing or 
working on behalf of the City. If anything in this policy contradicts existing CBA provisions on the 
recordings of personnel meetings, or Oregon or federal law that provide for lawful secret recordings, the 
CBA provision or law will apply.   

Employees who secretly record meetings with supervisors, coworkers, elected officials, members of the 
public or others while on duty will be subject to discipline, up to and including termination of employment. 
VII. Separation from Employment 

A. Job Elimination or Reduction in Work Hours or Staff 
The City desires to avoid circumstances that require a reduction in hours or staff, but recognizes that 
situations may arise where there may be a need to reduce staffing levels. Depending upon the 
circumstances, the City may respond in a variety of ways, including voluntary or mandatory reduction in 
hours or days of work, reducing expenses by other means, or by a reduction of the workforce. The City 
retains the right to determine the method by which to select employees for any reduced hours or 
reduction in force. 



58  

Affected employees will be given two weeks’ notice of lay off, during which time the employee shall be 
allowed reasonable time off with pay to pursue other employment. 

B. Retirement or Resignation from Employment 
If you choose to resign or retire, it is anticipated that you will give the City as much notice as possible — 
preferably a minimum of two weeks. When giving your two-weeks’ notice, accrued leave may not be used 
in lieu of notice. If you do not give two-weeks’ notice of your intent to leave the City, you will not be 
eligible for re-employment at a later date. 

Employees who miss three or more consecutive workdays without contacting their immediate supervisor 
are typically considered to have resigned their employment. 

If the employee’s decision to resign is based on a situation that could be corrected, the employee is 
encouraged to discuss it with the Human Resources representative before making a final decision. 

C. Separation Polices 
Return of City Property 

Upon separation from employment, either voluntarily or otherwise, you must return all City property, 
including phones, pagers, tools, uniforms, parking permits, computers, identification cards, credit cards, 
vehicles, keys, and manuals, and any other items that belong to the City to their Supervisor on or before 
your last day of work. You must also provide computer passwords or program log-in information to your 
Department Head or their designee. 

Exit Interviews 

Whenever possible, employees who leave the City’s employment will be given the opportunity to provide 
the City with information regarding their perceptions of employment before their last day of work and 
address any unresolved issues before leaving the City. Exit interviews will be conducted by Human 
Resources using a standardized form. 

Final Paychecks 

Final paychecks will be issued in accordance with Oregon state law. 

The final paycheck will be in the form of a paper check which will include all wages due and owed through 
your final day of employment as well as payment for earned and unused vacation benefits and 
compensatory time. Any money owed to the City or other authorized deduction will be deducted from 
the final paycheck. 

D. References 
All requests for references or recommendations must be directed to the Human Resources representative. 
By policy, the City discloses only the dates of employment and position(s) held of former employees. 
Former employees who authorize additional disclosures must make a request to do so in writing. 

No manager, supervisor or employee is authorized to release references for current or former employees 
in their official City capacity. Managers and supervisors are expressly prohibited from providing LinkedIn 
“recommendations” or using a website on the internet to discuss a current or former employee’s 
performance or termination of employment. 

 

VIII. Administrative Policies 
The City maintains administrative and Human Resources-related policies and procedures that are 
reviewed and administered independently from the Employee Handbook, but which still bear a significant 



59  

impact on employment matters and the overall operation of the City. 

Please refer to your department manager for this information.   



60  

 
CITY OF SILVERTON 
EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Adopted by City Council June 1, 2020 
Effective July 1, 2020 
Updated May 2023 

Effective July 1, 2024 

RECEIPT ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM 
 

I have received a copy of the City of Silverton EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK. I understand that I have 
the responsibility to read and understand the information in the Handbook, and to ask my 
Supervisor for clarification of any information I do not understand. 

 
I understand that this Handbook is not a contract of employment or a guarantee of specific 
treatment in specific situations. I understand that this Handbook supersedes all prior Manuals, 
policies, and understandings on the subjects contained in it. I understand that the City has 
adopted the Handbook only as a general guide about policies, work rules and the work 
environment, and that they are subject to change at any time in the City’s sole discretion. 

 
I understand that unless stated in a collective bargaining agreement, the City has the right to 
revise any policy described in this Handbook, and the City will require an additional signed 
Acknowledgement Form from me to indicate that I am aware of the changes. 

 
I also understand that the policies listed in the Handbook do not constitute or present an 
employment agreement or a guarantee of continued employment. I also understand my 
employment relationship with the City is “at-will”, and that either the City or I can terminate the 
relationship at any time, with or without reason or notice. 

 
I have reviewed the City’s policies regarding equal employment opportunity, and I understand 
that the City aims to provide a workplace free of harassment and discrimination. I will bring any 
questions or concerns I have regarding equal employment opportunities, discrimination, 
retaliation, or harassment to Human Resources. 

 
I agree to read this Handbook and follow it during my employment with the City. I further agree 
that I have had an opportunity to have the contents of this Handbook clarified through my 
Supervisor, Department Head, City Manager or Human Resource Manager/ 

 
 

 
Employee Signature Date 

 
 

 
Employee's Name (Printed) 


	Agenda and Packet
	Item 2.1 Republic Services
	Item 2.2 Presentation DevNW
	Item 2.2 Presentation Hacienda
	Item 4.1 Res 24-08 - Authorizing Signers on City Bank Accounts
	Item 5.1 Ord 24-07 allowing the City to implement 20 MPH speed zones in select areas
	Item 5.2 Senior Center Contract Award
	Item 5.3 Authorize City Manager to enter into Contract with RL Reimers
	Item 5.4 Revised Silverton Employee Handbook
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Thank you

	Untitled



